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ABOUT CIFI

Headquartered in Shanghai, CIFI Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd. (“CIFI" or
the "Company”, which together with its subsidiaries is referred to
as the “Group”) is engaged in the property development, property
investment and property management business in China. CIFl was
ranked 25th nationally in terms of contracted sales by value in 2015
according to the “China Real Estate Enterprises Top 100 Sales
Ranking in 2015" jointly published by CRIC Information Group and
China Real Estate Appraisal Center.

We principally focus on developing high quality and end-users driven
properties in first- and second-tier cities in China. Our development
projects cover various properties types like residential, office and
commercial complexes. For our residential property development,
we mainly develop end-users driven residential products with
comfortable living environment and at locations with good ancillary
facilities. For our commercial property development, we mainly
develop offices primarily for sale as well as community commercial
properties. Additionally, we provide property management services to
our residential and commercial customers through our own property
management companies. Leveraging our effective business model,
strong execution capabilities, as well as business strategies developed
in line with government policies on China’s real estate sector, we
are poised to continue our rapid growth and develop into a leading
nationwide property developer.

We have achieved a nationwide operating coverage and a strong
presence in selected first-tier cities and second-tier cities in China.
Currently, we have property projects in 15 cities in the Yangtze
River Delta (covering Shanghai, Suzhou, Hangzhou, Hefei, Nanjing,
Zhenjiang and Jiaxing), the Pan Bohai Rim (covering Beijing, Tianjin,
Shenyang and Langfang), the Central Western Region (covering
Chongging, Changsha and Wuhan), and Guangzhou in Guangdong
Province. As at 31 December 2015, we had a land bank with total and
attributable GFA of approximately 12.5 million sg.m. and 8.5 million
sqg.m. respectively.

Looking forward, under our missions of “creating value for our
customers” and “building for a better life”, CIF| strives to become a
leading and well-respected real estate enterprise in China.

CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. LIN Zhong (Chairman)

Mr. LIN Wei (Vice-chairman)

Mr. LIN Feng (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. GU Yunchang

Mr. ZHANG Yongyue

Mr. TAN Wee Seng

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. TAN Wee Seng (Chairman)
Mr. GU Yunchang

Mr. ZHANG Yongyue

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. ZHANG Yongyue (Chairman)

Mr. LIN Zhong

Mr. TAN Wee Seng

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. LIN Zhong (Chairman)

Mr. GU Yunchang

Mr. ZHANG Yongyue

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. LIN Zhong
Mr. LIN Feng

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. LO Tai On

COMPANY’S WEBSITE ADDRESS

www.cifi.com.cn

REGISTERED OFFICE
P.O. Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS

CIFI Honggiao International

5th Floor, Block 3, Lane 288, Tongxie Road
Changning District

Shanghai

PRC
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Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Suites 2002-2003, 20th Floor

One Pacific Place, 88 Queensway

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited

P.O. Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman KY1-1102

Cayman lIslands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd

China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited

Ping An Bank Co., Ltd.

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd
Bank of Shanghai Co., Ltd.

Hong Kong

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
The Bank of East Asia, Limited

Wing Lung Bank Limited

China CITIC Bank International Limited

Bank of Shanghai (Hong Kong) Limited

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

LISTING INFORMATION

The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 00834)

CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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Performance Highlights

REER
—E-RF —Z—JU%  Year-on-Year
2015 2014 Growth
EREE Contracted sales
LREELE(ARERET) Contracted sales (RMB'million) 30,209 21,206 42.5%
EREERERE(TTK) Contracted GFA (sq.m.) 2,056,200 1,733,200 18.6%
AREETHEB(ARE T,/ THK) Contracted ASP (RMB/sg.m.) 14,692 12,235 20.1%
FTENBER(AREEER) Selected financial information (RMB'million)
ERERBA Recognized revenue 18,231 16,179 12.7%
EF Gross profit 4144 4,187 -1.0%
FAFE(BEATERR) Profit for the year (including fair value gains)
— B R SE I AR RS - Including non-controlling interests 24N 2,000 23.6%
— R R AR E(S — Attributable to equity owners 2,095 1,861 12.6%
ANV E Core net profit
— BRI RS — Including non-controlling interests 2,574 2,064 24.7%
— PRERAERSEG — Attributable to equity owners 2,210 1,939 14.0%
TEEEEBEREB(ARBEER) Selected balance sheet data (RMB’'million)
wEE Total assets 67,452 43539 54.9%
WA NIRS Bank balances and cash 14,905 1,124 109.2%
EfiEs Total indebtedness 23,955 13,861 72.8%
MR i 4850 Total equity 15,283 11,583 31.9%
% R RS FE (G PR AN 25 Equity attributable to equity owners 12,827 10,205 25.7%
—E-HF | ZTMF
2015 2014
TEHHLLE Selected financial ratios
ERIE () Gross profit margin (adjusted) 24.1% 25.9%
BN EFE =R Core net profit margin 12.1% 12.0%
FREREF - AR Earnings per share (basic), RMB cents 32 31
GIREARZOEF] - AR Core earnings per share (basic), RMB cents 34 32
AR AR B 2R & Return on average equity 19.2% 20.6%
FRBHRALE  FX Net debt-to-equity ratio, at the end of year 59.2% 58.2%
IR ERRARA - FK Weighted average cost of indebtedness,
at the end of year 1.2% 8.3%
TibRE(BEEE  BBFHEK) Land bank (GFA, million sq.m.)
THRFEECGEERE  ThHK) FR Land bank (GFA, sq.m.), at the end of year
— A&t ~Total 125 96
— G — Attributable 8.5 74
R EEE New land acquisition
(B&EmiE - FHK) &R (GFA, sq.m.), during the year
— &5t — Total 44 13
— (L — Attributable 20 1.0

CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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“Contracted sales” includes contracted sales by the Group's
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated company. Contracted sales
data is unaudited and is based on internal information of the Group,
Contracted sales data may be subject to various uncertainties during
the process of collating such sales information and is provided for
investors' reference only.

“Core net profit” excludes fair value gain in investment properties,
net exchange loss, expenses relating to share option grants, interest
expenses on settlement of trust and other loans with derivative
nature, loss on repurchase of senior notes, and share of fair value gain
and net exchange loss at joint ventures and associates companies, net
of deferred taxes.

“Bank balances and cash” include pledged bank deposits.

“Total indebtedness” includes bank and other borrowings, onshore
corporate bonds and offshore senior notes.

“Core net profit margin” is calculated based on core net profit
attributable to equity owners over total recognized revenue.

The calculation of “return on average equity” is based on our core net
profit divided by average equity attributable to equity owners for each
financial year.

“Net debt-to-equity ratio” is calculated by the Group's total
indebtedness under IFRS less bank balances and cash (including
pledged bank deposits) as a percentage of total equity at the end of
each financial year.

“Weighted average cost of indebtedness” is the weighted average of
interest costs of all indebtedness outstanding as at the end of each
financial year.

The expression “we"”, “us” and "our Company” may be used to refer
to our Company or our Group as the context may require.

References to our “land bank”, “development projects”, "“property
projects” or “projects” refer to our property projects with land
for which we have obtained land-use rights and property projects
for which we have not obtained land-use rights but have entered
into the land grant contracts or received successful tender auction
confirmations as at the relevant dates.

The site area information for an entire project is based on the relevant
land use rights certificates, land grant contracts or tender documents,
depending on which documents are available. If more than one
document is available, such information is based on the most recent
document available.

The figures for GFA are based on figures provided in or estimates
based on the relevant governmental documents, such as the property
ownership certificate, the construction work planning permit, the pre-
sale permit, the construction land planning permit or the land use
rights certificate.
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Dear shareholders:

| am pleased to present to you the business review and outlook of CIFI
Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd. (“CIFI” or the “Company”, which together
with its subsidiaries, is referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2015.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend for 2015
(payable in cash with a scrip option) of RMB9.35 cents per share (the
“Proposed Final Dividend”). The Company paid an interim dividend
("Interim Dividend"”) of 3 HK cents per share paid in respect of the
first six months of the year.

The Proposed Final Dividend shall be declared in RMB and paid in
Hong Kong dollars and will be converted from RMB into Hong Kong
dollars at the average middle rate of RMB to Hong Kong dollars
as announced by the People's Bank of China (“PBOC Exchange
Rate”) for the five business days preceding the date of declaration
of dividend. Based on the prevailing PBOC Exchange Rate and the
total outstanding number of issued shares of the Company as at
the date of this annual results announcement, the Proposed Final
Dividend is equivalent to 11 HK cents per share, which together with
the Interim Dividend, will bring the total dividends to approximately
14 HK cents per share or approximately RMB784,800,000 for the
year under review. The total dividend payout ratio for the year will be
approximately 35% of the core net profit attributable to equity owners.

RESULTS

In 2015, driven by favourable government policies, China’s real estate
market started to recover. Leveraging the industry turnaround, the
Group continued to achieve sustainable and quality growth, pushing
its sales and profits up to record highs.

In 2015, the Group's contracted sales rose by 42.5% to RMB30.21
billion from RMB21.21 billion in the previous year, exceeding its
target of RMB25 billion for the year by 20.8%. In 2015, the Group's
attributable contracted sales amounted to approximately RMB20.29
billion, representing an increase of approximately 23.8% over
RMB16.39 billion in 2014.



£ E 8

Chairman’s Statement

ES {0}

R-E—HF BHEIAVRABEARE
18,230,800,000 T * MEAF W AR
16,179,300,000 7B MN12.7% - R =F
—hF  AEERRREEREGZOF
A B EE ARE2,209,800,0007T * &
—Z—F AR %1,938,600,0007T
F14.0% o

AEER-_ZT—RAFEABRNNEF X
(Mg ETHE CRENSTFE)
KAz F R EED N A24.1%%12.1% -
T —UF5 R A25.9% K 12.0%
WIEFTE AEBPN -_ZE—AFERD
2R ARBREA19.2% °

—E-HFEE

HiEE R
PEEMETERE_T—NFNHE
1& - o BT SR B HE H BOR S BV E R
HE  BREZANEERE  REEN
LBl ~ BERRRIE S (BR — &I HN) ~ A
ERXGHMEBROBAFHE - —T—1
FERFNSBEREER 2T $&
FHEMSHHRLE - HERL AL

=
= °

—E-AETERBETS  2RUT
R
HELEHT
BRGHBAGHEHET - BREH

ELHEOARESIBET  KELFA
144%  BmEHEBEELN128EF A
Ko RFELEFA65%  BmEEEHE
HEGFHZ KRR/ ARES7397TH
6.4747C * RE DRI EFH7.4%HM1% °
REERTKE —E—HEEREH
ELHBY _T—=FKE  BIEE
ES IS

RESULTS (Continued)

In 2015, recognized revenue was RMB18,230.8 million, representing
an increase of 12.7% over RMB16,179.3 million in the previous year.
The Group’s core net profit attributable to equity owners increased
by 14.0% to RMB2,209.8 million in 2015 from RMB1,938.6 million in
2014.

The Group's adjusted gross profit margin (excluding the accounting
effects due to acquisition of equity interests in certain projects)
and core net profit margin were 24.1% and 12.1% respectively in
2015, both of which remained stable compared to 25.9% and 12.0%
respectively in 2014. The Group delivered a core return on average
equity of 19.2% in 2015.

REVIEW OF 2015

Market review

As the real estate industry of China experienced a correction in 2014,
the Chinese government decisively launched policies to stimulate
housing consumption. These policies included a number of cuts in
interest rate and banks' reserve requirement ratio, relaxations of down
payment requirements for mortgage loans, lifting of home purchase
restrictions in most cities (except first-tier cities) and adjustments in
transaction taxes. In 2015, driven by the government’s favourable
policies, the real estate market of China recovered and overall sales
recorded a new high.

The real estate market in China in 2015 showed the following features
and changes:

Record-high sales

According to data published by the China National Bureau of Statistics,
sales of commodity properties were RMB8.7 trillion, up by 14.4% on
a year-on-year basis; transaction volume of commodity properties was
1.28 billion sg.m., up by 6.5% on a year-on-year basis; average selling
prices of commodity properties and residential properties reached
RMB6,739 per sg.m. and RMB6,474 per sq.m. respectively, up 7.4%
and 9.1% respectively on a year-on-year basis. Based on historical
transaction data, sales of commodity properties in 2015 surpassed the
level in 2013, reaching a record high.

CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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REVIEW OF 2015 (continued)

Market review (Continued)

Market variation widened

Despite the record-high sales in 2015, volume and price performance
in different regions and cities varied significantly. In general,
economically-robust cities performed well, whereas cities with weaker
economy had a much slower recovery.

According to the data released by the National Bureau of Statistics, of
the country’s sales of commodity properties in the first eleven months
of 2015 (which increased by 15.6%), those in first-tier cities increased
by 44.7%, while those in second- and third-tier cities increased by
13.8% and 9.6% respectively. Sales growth in third-tier cities lagged
far behind the national average. Year-on-year sales growth in certain
first-tier cities and robust second-tier cities such as Shenzhen,
Shanghai, Beijing, Nanjing, Tianjin, Hangzhou, Suzhou and Wuhan
were strong at around 40%, significantly outperforming the national
average.

According to the commodity residential property price index from the
China Index Academy, in 2015 and amongst the first- and second-
tier cities, residential property prices in Shenzhen, Shanghai, Beijing,
Nanjing, Hefei, Wuhan showed strongest increases; while those in
Tianjin and Suzhou showed mild increases; and those in Guangzhou
and Hangzhou were relatively flat. On the other hand, residential
prices in Chongging, Changsha, Chengdu and Shenyang still remained
lower than the level in 2014. Residential prices recovery in third-tier
cities generally remained difficult.
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REVIEW OF 2015 (continued)

Market review (Continued)

Lackluster investments, uneven land market

Despite the rebound in sales, growth in investments in real estate
development, new construction and land acquisition fell to their lowest
level in more than 10 years. According to the research data from
World Union Properties Consultancy, land acquisition by area and land
premium paid by real estate developers in the country were down by
32% and 24% respectively.

On the other hand, transacted land prices in first- and second-tier
cities in China showed uptrend in 2015 as real estate developers were
typically chasing to acquire sites in top-ranked cities. Land markets in
first-tier cities heated up, with the premium of land sales rising sharply
in the second half. Land markets in certain second-tier cities were also
on the uptrend, whereas land transactions in third-tier cities remained
weak.

Overall inventory still rising, but at a slower pace as investments
down

In general, real estate inventory was declining in first-tier and robust
coastal second-tier cities, flat in inland second-tier cities, but remained
high in third- or lower-tier cities. It is anticipated that investments in
real estate development will continue its lackluster growth as long as
the inventory problem remains unresolved.

CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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REVIEW OF 2015 (continued)

Sales performance

As the sentiment of the real estate market in China improved in 2015,
the Group outperformed the market by achieving significant growth in
terms of both contracted sales and average selling price.

In 2015, the Group's contracted sales and contracted gross floor area
("GFA") reached RMB30.21 billion and 2,056,200 sg.m. respectively,
representing year-on-year growth of 42.5% and 18.6% respectively.
In 2015, the Group's attributable contracted sales amounted to
approximately RMB20.29 billion, representing an increase of
approximately 23.8% over RMB16.39 billion in 2014. Due to higher
proportion of upgraders’ products and enhanced brand premium, the
Group’s contracted average selling price (“ASP”) in 2015 increased
by 20.1% to approximately RMB14,700/sq.m., compared with
RMB12,235/sgq.m. in 2014. Approximately 96.6% of the Group's
contracted sales in 2015 were derived from first- and second-tier
cities. The Group achieved a cash collection ratio of about 90% of the
contracted sales in 2015.

Since the end of 2014, the Group had well anticipated the recovery
of the real estate markets in first- and second-tier cities in China, and
positioned itself with abundant saleable resources accordingly in first-
tier and robust second-tier cities, with an emphasis on upgraders’
products. Our optimal operational pace were evidenced in our well-
timed sales pace. Before the market prices picked up in the first half
of 2015, the Group adopted a more patient strategy by holding back its
sell-through ratio; when the market in the first- and second-tier cities
showed turnaround in the second half of 2015, the Group became
aggressive in launching new sales projects and achieved increases
in both sales volume and selling prices. The contracted sales of the
Group achieved in the second half of 2015 almost doubled that in the
first half of the year. By adopting such a flexible sales strategy and
accurate market timing, the Group strived to strike a balance amongst
volume, price and profit margin.
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REVIEW OF 2015 (continued)

Sales performance (Continued)

The Group’s contracted sales in 2015 were dispersed among more
than 50 projects in 14 cities. During the year, the Group launched pre-
sale of 18 new projects, including:

° Shanghai Park Mansion Riverside

o Shanghai CIFI Pure Center

o Shanghai Shangkun CIFI Villa

° Shanghai BCL CIFI The Great City

o Shanghai CIFI Park Mansion West

° Shanghai Amber Garden

° Beijing MOMA CIFI Residence

o Beijing Longxi CIFI No. 6 Courtyard

o Suzhou CIFI Shangli

o Suzhou CIFI Park Mansion

o Suzhou Henderson CIFI City

° Suzhou CIFI Xiyue

° Hangzhou Longfor CIFI Chunjiang City
° Hangzhou Shunfa CIFI Honor Mansion
° Hefei CIFI Original Villa

° Nanjing CIFI Yincheng Dream Garden
o Nanjing CIFI Nine Modern Life; and

° Tianjin CIFI Yannan Garden.

The Group also continued to record contracted sales in other projects
whose pre-sale launched in previous year(s).

CIFI was ranked 25th nationally in terms of contracted sales by value
in 2015 according to the “China Real Estate Enterprises Sales Ranking
Top 100 in 2015" jointly published by CRIC Information Group and
China Real Estate Appraisal Center.

CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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REVIEW OF 2015 (continued)

Profit margins

The negative impact on profits recognized in 2015 by correction in
property prices in 2014 was mitigated by the benefits of the Group's
lower finance cost, defensive land costs, product premium through
improving quality and brand, and more efficient management of selling
and general administrative expenses.

In 2015, the Group's adjusted gross margin (excluding the accounting
effects due to increase of equity interests in certain projects, by re-
adjusting the accounting treatment of business combination and
remeasurement of fair value of the costs of relevant properties
delivered as gross profit rather than as other income), and net core
profit margin remained stable.

Land acquisitions

In 2015, the Group was proactive and decisive in land acquisitions
during this round of real estate market recovery in China. We have
captured the ideal land-banking window and acquired a significant
amount of land at attractive costs, securing abundant saleable
resources in the next two years.

For the full year of 2015, the Group acquired interests in 25 new
projects with an aggregate land consideration attributable to the
Group of approximately RMB13.1 billion. For land acquisitions made
during the year, the Group placed strong emphasis in the two first-
tier cities, Shanghai and Beijing, as well as robust second-tier cities,
Suzhou, Hangzhou, Nanjing, Hefei and Tianjin; while only selectively
replenished its land reserve in Chongging, Wuhan and Shenyang.
During the year, the Group also entered the market of Guangzhou and
acquired a minority interest in a property development project.

During the early stage of the market recovery in the first half of 2015,
we captured the ideal land-banking window and acquired large amount
of sites at superb locations in first-tier and robust second-tier cities
suitable for developing upgraders’ products. Such product segment
offers better profit margin potential in the present phase of the market
cycle. During the second half of 2015 when land markets in first-
tier and robust second-tier cities heated up, we promptly shifted our
emphasis to other second-tier cities where land prices had not yet
recovered, and selectively acquired sites with good value there.
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REVIEW OF 2015 (continued)

Joint venture strategies

The Group continued with its strategy of utilizing joint ventures
for acquiring lands with a key objective of diversifying its financial
exposure and achieving win-win cooperation.

During the year, we expanded our co-operations with new joint
venture partners. The Group's current joint venture partners are mainly
property developers, which include blue-chip foreign developers
(Henderson China, Hongkong Land China), state-owned and privately-
owned developers (such as Vanke, Greenland, Longfor, Beijing Capital
Land, Beijing North Star, Gemdale, Powerlong, Future Land and
Modern Land, etc.).

The Group’s comprehensive co-operations with renowned property
developers demonstrate the industry’s recognition of CIFl’s strong
execution ability, reputation and governance standards. The Group will
continue to solidify its cooperation with joint venture partners in the
future.

Financing and liability management

In 2015, the Group made major breakthrough in financing. Our
emphasis in the past years on diversifying our financing channels and
penetrating different funding markets (both onshore and offshore)
started to pay off. During the year, we decisively captured the market
window and completed financing exercises in both onshore and
offshore capital markets at the lowest finance costs amongst privately-
owned Chinese real estate companies with similar credit ratings.

We captured the opportunity in the stock market in the first half of
2015 and completed our equity placement, which further strengthened
our equity, broadened our shareholder base and improved our
share liquidity. When the stock market fell in the second half, we
repurchased our shares at lower prices. The repurchased shares after
cancellation enhanced the Company’s net asset value and earnings
per share. We believe that repurchase of shares at the time when our
share price undervalues the Company’s performance and potential,
can effectively improve shareholders’ value.

CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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REVIEW OF 2015 (Continued)

Financing and liability management (Continued)

We have successfully issued onshore corporate bonds at low costs.
We have thus utilized lower-cost funding to replace higher-cost debts,
thus improving our liability structure and lowering our average funding
cost to a level that matched our growth in scale.

On the other hand, we have closely monitored and adopted measures
to mitigate the risks induced by the Renminbi devaluation during the
year. We repaid ahead of maturity the entire offshore syndicated
loan with final maturity in July 2016 and a total principal amount of
US$156.5 million, and repurchased an aggregate principal value of
US$30,800,000 of the 12.25% coupon US Dollar senior notes due
2018 ("2018 Due USD Bonds"). In addition, we conducted our first
offshore Renminbi financing, to reduce our reliance on offshore US
dollar financing. These measures have effectively reduced the interest
carry, the US or Hong Kong dollar-denominated debts and mitigated
the risks associated with Renminbi’s depreciation.
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—E-HFEE® REVIEW OF 2015 (continued)
BEERNEEMERS Major financing deals completed by CIFI
RORE RO Share placement, share buybacks
—h&EARA PABFA%2 2098 7T 55 & 14 L E600,000,0008% Bk 1 - FTSEE  Top-up placement of 600 million shares at HK$2.20 per share, with the net proceeds of
May 2015 #8491,300,000,0007% 7T (47449170000, 000 7T ) © approximately HK$1.3 billion (approximately USD 170 million).
—RnENENA DA I786E T (RARFER) EMSREBEH Repurchased 90,338,000 shares from the market at an average cost of HK$1.3786 (before

August & September of 2015

90,338, 00088 KRR 15 + & F£B) 491245400007 T

transaction costs) per share for a total consideration of approximately HK$124,540,000

e S BINATHENGR M0BT(RARHEBR ) EMEEE Further repurchased 18,500,000 shares from the market at an average cost of HK$1.4101
January 2016 £ 21850000082 4% 1% - & 580 4926,086,000/ T © (before transaction costs) per share, with a total consideration of approximately
HK$26,086,000
BAEEEL Onshore liability management
—1FR AREBELOREK AL S ERNERTERRIENKAERT Fully redeemed all higher cost onshore non-bank loans and anshore perpetual capital
During 2015 Ao instruments
—RF+E+-A ARAHHEERN2BHBATBEEERMER AT The Company's domestic wholly-owned subsidiary in China, CIFI Group Co., Ltd. (“CIF
October & November 2015 ERE | ESHENERTREE DB R EETERER  China’), received an “AA” rating on the issuer and its domestic bonds from Shanghai
BEBATHETARERERATAITR ; &mﬁ@éﬁﬁ Brilliance Credit Rating & Investors Service Co., Ltd. (an onshore credit rating agency),
HiA £ AR ¥53.995,000 000 KRN AR BT ARIES (35 and completed the issue of publicly offered domestic corporate bonds (“Public Domestic
ARAEES]) - Bonds") in two tranches with an aggregate size of RMB3.995 billion.
BHRERNABESTRET - RIEAARS495,000,0007T Issued the First Tranche of the Public Domestic Bonds of RMB3.495 billion with a maturity
FHEE  NEEIFRRETAREZAFRBREERSE of 5 years, with the issuer's right to adjust the coupon rate and a right of redemption
BADEREE  ZEHNEARLPY exercisable by the holders at the end of the first 3-year period, and a coupon rate of 4.95%.
EHRRNARESRTRET - RERARKES00000,000 Issued the Second Tranche of the Public Domestic Bonds of RMB500 million with a
L FHIARSE - ZEFIEA596% ° maturity of straight 5 years and a coupon rate of 5.96%.
—E-RF-A TR B A BISIREE 2175 % ARE6,000,000000  CIFl China received approval for the issuance of domestic non-public corporate honds
January 2016 TRRRFRRETAREFEALEESR]) ("Private Domestic Bonds”) of up to RMBB hillion to qualified investors.
BERRLEESFTRET - REAARK2000000,0007T Issued the First Tranche of Private Domestic Bonds RMB2.0 billion with maturity of
FHAF WEFRETAFEZANREEERSAA 2 years, with the issuer's right to adjust the coupon rate and a right of redemption
EEEER  REFXA99% exercisable by the holders at the end of the first year, and a coupon rate of 4.99%.
BT AR EE4,000,000000T ZEATLEBEEEEEE-Z  The remaining RMB4.0 billion Private Domestic Bonds will be issued later in 2016
—NERFEEHT according to needs.
20 CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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REVIEW OF 2015 (Continued)
Major financing deals completed by CIFI (Continued)

B EHENL

Offshore liability management

—ET-F%ZR
February 2015

“Z-hF-f
January 2015

—E-REFXA
June 2015

“F-EF+-A
November 2015

“Z-RF+=A
December 2015

—E-RFEA
Before the end of 2015

ZE-RETETA
QOctober and December of 2015

—Z-R¥-%ZR
January and February 2016
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Standard & Poor's upgraded the Company's issuer's rating to “BB-"(with “Stable”
outlook).

Fitch and Moody maintained the Company's credit ratings at “BB-" (with “Stahle"
outlook) and “Ba3” (with “Stable” outlook) respectively. All three credit rating agencies
unanimously endorsed CIFI's track record in sales execution, disciplined financial
management and strong financial liquidity.

Further issued the 8.875% coupon US Dollar Bonds Due 2019 (“2019 Due USD Bonds”)
with an additional principal amount of US$200 million. The issue price of this additional
issue was 102% with an effective interest cost of approximately 8.3% per annum.

Signed a syndicated loan facility with a total size of US$130 million (2018 Due Offshore
Syndicated Loan"). Such loan has a final maturity of 3 years and interest rate of LIBOR or
HIBOR plus 4.75% per annum.

Issued the 7.75% coupon US Dollar Bonds Due 2020 (“2020 Due USD Bonds") with a
principal amount of US$400 million. The issue price of this new issue was 99.491% with
an effective interest cost of approximately 7.875% per annum.

The 50:50 owned joint venture companies between the Group and Hongkong Land China
Holdings Limited in respect of Shanghai Lujiazui Yangjing project signed offshore and
onshore syndicated loan facilities. Such loans comprise:

(i) an offshore US dollar term loan with a facility amount of US$ 600 million, a
final maturity of 5 years and an interest rate of LIBOR plus 2.55% per annum;
and

(ii) an onshore RMB project development loan with a facility amount of RMB1.3
billion, a final maturity of 5 years and an interest rate of 107% times PBOC
base lending rate per annum.

The Company provided guarantees covering 50% of any and all obligations under such
offshore loan facility, but it did not provide any guarantee in respect of such onshore loan
facility.

Signed an offshore Renminbi loan facility with a total size of RMB268.7 million (2018
Due Offshore CNH Loan"). Such loan has a final maturity of 3 years and interest rate of
Hang Sang Bank Offshore RMB Prime Rate plus 1.90% per annum.

Repaid ahead of maturity the entire syndicated loan facility signed in July 2013, with
final maturity in July 2016 and a total principal amount of US$156.5 million (“2016 Due
Offshore Syndicated Loan”). Such loan had an interest rate of LIBOR or HIBOR plus 5.65%
per annum.

Repurchased an aggregate principle value of US$30.8 million of the 12.25% coupon US
Dollar Bonds Due 2018 (*2018 Due USD Bonds").

Further repurchased an aggregate principle value of US$10.0 million of the US Dollar
Bonds Due 2018. These repurchased 2018 Due USD Bonds will be cancelled later.
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REVIEW OF 2015 (continued)

Healthy financial positions

As a result of the Group’s strong cash collection derived from
its property sales, balanced land acquisition and construction
expenditures, the Group sustained a healthy financial position with
lower interest costs and better debt structure.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group's:

o net debt-to-equity ratio was 59.2% (as at 31 December 2014:
63.2%, with onshore perpetual capital instrument as debt instead
of equity for the purpose of calculating this ratio);

° net debts (total indebtedness with onshore perpetual
capital instrument as debt less cash-on-hand) amounted
to RMB9,049,657,000 (as at 31 December 2014:
RMB7,322,803,000);

° cash-on-hand level remained high at RMB14,905,236,000 (as at
31 December 2014: RMB7,124,000,000);

° weighted average cost of indebtedness decreased to 7.2% (as at
31 December 2014: 8.3%);

° proportion of short-term borrowings in overall indebtedness
remained low at 11.7% (as at 31 December 2014: 21.9%);

o proportion of unsecured indebtedness in overall indebtedness
was 62.7% (as at 31 December 2014: 38.2%); and

° proportion of US dollar/HK dollar-denominated (non RMB-
denominated) indebtedness in overall indebtedness was 43.8%
(as at 30 June 2015: 51.6%; as at 31 December 2014: 38.2%).

CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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REVIEW OF 2015 (Continued)

Healthy financial positions (Continued)

As at 31 December 2015, unpaid committed land considerations
attributable to the Group were approximately RMB3,236 million. The
Group continued with its prudent approach to liabilities and kept its
debts and off-balance sheet commitments at reasonable levels.

Enhancing product capabilities and brand-building

We established the "CIFI Product Research Center” in 2014. Its
research of standardized fully-fitted residential products has greatly
improved the Group's product capabilities in application of fitting
materials, simulating different unit layouts and configurations, as well
as precise assessment of relevant customer experience.

During the year, the Group and Tsinghua University of China jointly
established “Tsinghua University CIFI Joint Research Center for
Sustainable Residential Developments” to research and develop low-
energy consumption, green and environmental-friendly, sustainable
residential products specifically for China’s urbanization.

Since last year, we have increased our investments in land sites
suitable for development of products for home upgraders, and
adjusted our product mix by promoting fully-fitted residential products.
During 2015, fully-fitted residential products increased to more than
50% of our total residential contracted sales. Our product structure
now has higher emphasis on upgraders’ residential products with
higher profit margin potential.

During the year, CIFI combined its refined fitting specifications,
environmentally-friendly and energy-saving technologies and elegant
brand image to develop and launched three new high-end residential
projects under its “Park Mansion” brand in Shanghai and Suzhou.
The projects received overwhelming market responses and greatly
enhanced our brand recognition.
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REVIEW OF 2015 (continued)

Customer satisfaction

The Group is dedicated to improving its product quality and customer
service to meet consumers’ needs and ever higher requirements.
Based on the customer satisfaction survey conducted annually by
the third-party consultancy firm engaged by the Group, we recorded
new highs in overall customer satisfaction in both property sales and
property management services in 2015 compared with that for the
previous year, demonstrating enhanced recognition of our brand.

Innovations

The Group acknowledges the need of the industry to revolutionize
its operations and embrace innovations. \We have been pro-active in
applying new concepts of mobile Internet and big data to such aspects
as product design, sales and marketing and value-added customer
services, with an objective of creating better products, services and
communities for our customers.

We have implemented management project co-investment scheme
in newly acquired projects since last year. Under such project co-
investment scheme, both the key local management team of the
projects in relevant cities and the key management team at the
headquarters of the Group (other than the Company’s directors and
their respective associates) are in-principle required to invest in the
minority “shadow equity” in new development projects together with
the Company, while other employees (other than the Company’s
directors and their respective associates) can also choose to co-
invest. The co-investment scheme has achieved its intended effects,
promoting a sense of ownership of our key management teams and
aligning their common interests with those of our shareholders.
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OUTLOOK FOR 2016

Real estate industry environment

As China’s economic growth slows down, it is expected that in 2016,
the central government will continue to adopt loose monetary policies
and favourable polices to foster housing consumption (save for the
possibility of adjusting the policies at first-tier cities due to overheating
in property prices), in order to promote inventory clearance in the real
estate industry especially in the second-, third- or lower-tier cities and
to ensure stable domestic economic development.

Under the current macro-economic environment, we expect that
overall transaction volume in China’s real estate market will grow
steadily in 2016 compared to 2015. On the other hand, variation by
different cities and uneven market situation will continue. We expect
that transaction volume and prices in most first- and second-tier cities
will grow steadily; whereas recovery in third-tier cities remains most
uncertain. In first- and second-tier cities, there will be sustainable
growth in self-use housing demand. Growth in home upgraders’
demand will be even higher, as driven by favourable policies.

In the long run, housing demand in China’'s first- and second-tier cities
remains robust. Real estate is still a pillar industry in China. Fluctuation
in government policies becomes normal. It implies more controls
when the market overheats; on the other hand, more favourable
measures when the market weakness effects economy. Accordingly,
the real estate market in China will follow the features of short-cycle
fluctuation from time to time.

The Group’s development strategies

The Group adopts the strategy of pursuing “sustainable, balanced and
quality growth” which targets an expansion pace higher than growth
rates of the industry average and those of top developers, while
stresses balances and disciplines avoiding ruthless land acquisitions,
high gearing and low margin expansions. CIFI emphasizes both
growth in scale and profitability. We believe that growth in scale can
only create shareholders’ value by maintaining strong profitability.
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OUTLOOK FOR 2016 (Continued)

The Group’s development strategies (Continued)

As our scale of contracted sales surpassed RMB30 billion level and our
funding costs significantly decreased, we have further strengthened
our operating model, by adopting both high asset turnover and high
profitability development features. For upgraders’ projects located
in first-tier and robust second-tier cities, we adopt a high profitability
model to develop refined and high-end products to maximize
profitability. For mass market projects located in other second-tier
cities, we continue to adopt high-asset turnover, standardized and
low-cost development model. We aim to adopt appropriate turnover
models based on the needs of different products and cities, in order
to achieve optimal investment returns and most balanced cash flow
situations, to maintain asset-light and healthy gearing level, and to
increase our scale and profits at the same pace.

We anticipate that 2016 will be a favourable year for real estate sales
in China. Our planned operating rhythm stresses accelerating sell-
through and inventory clearance, expediting construction, balanced
launches of new projects in both first- and second-half of the year and
realizing saleable resources at high prices. The Group has set an initial
contracted sales target for the full year of 2016 at RMB36.5 billion,
representing an increase of approximately 21% from the contracted
sales in 2015. Based on our anticipation of the market, our abundant
saleable resources and conservative sell-through assumption, we are
confident of achieving our 2016 yearly sales target.

As the land markets in most first- and second-tier cities have heated
up, land prices in certain cities have already deviated from the
affordability levels as reflected by their property prices. Our land
acquisition approach this year stresses the importance of reducing
risk, adopting more private acquisition measures, and acquiring land
sites omitted by the market but with good value. We expect that we
may reduce our land investments this year to well-position ourselves
in the next ideal landbanking period. As the land acquisitions last year
already secured adequate saleable sources in the next two years, we
should have enough patience and flexibility to avoid buying over-priced
land sites.
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OUTLOOK FOR 2016 (Continued)

The Group’s development strategies (Continued)

Our lean and clean land bank coupled with our asset-light development
model and low inventory level offer us burden-free advantage in
future expansion over other real estate developers. We firmly believe
in the prospects of China’s real estate industry. Our track records
have demonstrated that it is indeed CIFI's strength to leverage upon
opportunities from industry’s fluctuation and achieve growth.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere
appreciation to all employees for their dedication and hard work, and
to our shareholders, bondholders and business partners for their
support in the past year.

CIFl Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd.
LIN Zhong
Chairman
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

Contracted sales

In 2015, the Group achieved contracted sales of approximately
RMB30.21 billion, representing a growth of 42.5% as compared to
2014. In 2015, the Group's attributable contracted sales amounted
to approximately RMB20.08 billion, representing an increase of
approximately 22.5% over RMB16.39 billion in 2014. The growth
in the Group's contracted sales was mainly attributable to the
corresponding increase in the Group's saleable resources and
effective sell-through strategies. In 2015, the Group contracted sales
in GFA was approximately 2,056,200 sg.m. representing an increase
of 18.6% over the previous year. The Group’s contracted ASP in 2015
was approximately RMB14,692/sg.m., representing an increase of
20.1% from RMB12,235/sg.m. in 2014.

Contracted sales from Yangtze River Delta, Pan Bohai Rim and Central
Western Region contributed to approximately 71.7%, 20.9% and 7.4%
of the Group's total contracted sales respectively. Contracted sales
from first- and second-tier cities accounted for approximately 96.6%
of the Group's total contracted sales whereas those from third-tier
cities accounted for the remaining 3.4%. Contracted sales derived
from residential projects contributed to approximately 90.0% whereas
those from office projects contributed to the remaining 10.0%.

Cash collection from property sales by the Group’s subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associated company during the year represented around
90% of yearly contracted sales.

As of 31 December 2015, the Group's subsidiaries, joint ventures
and associated company had approximately RMB18 billion contracted
but unrecognized sales which formed a solid basis for Group's future
growth in recognized revenue.
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EERZ e PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT (continued)
AR%E®) Contracted sales (Continued)
-  CE-AFARYEEHE Table 1: Details of contracted sales in 2015
RIBBES By project
EHEERE
AEE HESH
BEHFE FEfE R aF BAL REHE SRHE
HEpR Interest HESE % of total BEmE THER
Primary intended attributable Contracted Contracted Contracted Contracted
EH Project use of the Project  to the Group sales Sales GFA ASP
(AR¥Tx/
(AR¥TR) (EAHK) T5K)
(%) (RMB'000) (%) (sqm.)  (RMB/sq.m.)
R=A Yangtze River Delta
e fAET Shanghai Park Mansion Riverside ix 50.0 2,043,060 6.8 21,781 93,800
Residential
5 EEEERL Shanghai Hendersan CIFI Center g/ EE 500 1,626,299 54 45,197 35,962
Office/Commercial
e EERAERD Shanghai Henderson CIFI Center i 50.0 63181 02 1517 41,649
Residential
& EBgESL Shanghai CIF Pure Center BNV ES 450 838,421 28 39,386 21,267
Office/Commercial
e HeRE Shanghai Shangkun CIFI Villa = 500 712,880 24 21710 32836
Residential
8 HelEEn Shanghai BCL CIFI The Great City FE 400 600,278 20 27811 21,584
Residential
8 RN Shanghai Elite Mansion = 500 47783 16 44454 10,749
Residential
5 BEREED Shanghai CIFI Park Mansion West i 33 426,800 14 15,349 27806
Residential
18 mEIEE Shanghai CIFI Jiangwan Mansion = 755 382,451 13 6,943 55,084
Residential
& EEsLER Shanghai CIFI Haishang International YNV SES 530 375,290 12 9,732 38,562
Office/Commercial
e ZABTER Shanghai Amber Garden ix 350 354,895 1.2 20,707 17139
Residential
e BERE Shanghai CIFI Shilu FE 100.0 135,696 04 3,033 44,740
Residential
8 BELER Shanghai CIFI Arthurshire 23 1000 117,098 04 3632 32,041
Residential
& Bl Shanghai CIFI Pleasant Garden FE 1000 90,704 03 8,805 10301
Residential
L gkt Shanghai Greenland CIFI E Warld Center YN VE S 500 73541 02 3129 23,503
Office/Commercial
1§ JeEIRS Shanghai CIFI U Block BN Y SE 1000 31,424 0.1 1,704 18,441
Office/Commercial
BN mBERE Suzhou CIFI Shangli jixa 1000 1,160,150 38 9,521 12,539
Residential
BN SBESLT Suzhou CIFI Park Mansion i) 125 1,049,925 35 37,038 28,347
Residential
BN eEERS Suzhou CIFI Elegant City i3 1000 763,683 25 74,839 10,204
Residential
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT (continued)

Contracted sales (Continued)

Table 1: Details of contracted sales in 2015 (Continued)

REE&D (B By project (Continued)
EAERE
i3] HELH
BHAXE EfbER G BAk SRHE REHE
HERE Interest HESE % of total ELmE THERE
Primary intended attributable Contracted Contracted Contracted Contracted
EHE Project use of the Project  to the Group sales Sales GFA ASP
(AR¥T/
(AR®T ) (AR FAK)
(%) (RMB'000) (%) (sqm.)  (RMB/sq.m.)
BN BEREY Suzhou Henderson CIFI City FE 50.0 751,083 25 71,178 10,552
Residential
BN BEEReR Suzhou CIF| Apple Paradise = 500 545,253 18 71,948 7578
Residential
M mEEl Suzhou CIFI Xiyue FE 1000 403,807 13 44,291 9117
Residential
N EEE Suzhou CIF! Private Mansion Usonian City ¥ 1000 362,678 12 26,065 13922
Villa Residential
BN eEE Suzhou CIFI Sunny Life fFx 1000 248,463 08 21192 9,137
Residential
N SieEs Hangzhou Greenland CIFI Glorious City = 50.0 1,736,737 57 67,670 25,665
Residential
M EREEEINE Hangzhou Longfor CIFI Chunjiang City = 30 1,169,030 39 70057 16,687
Residential
mN BEMBER Hangzhou Henderson CIFI Palace FE 1000 542,086 18 69,384 7813
Residential
Ml BB Hangzhou Shunfa CIFl Honor Mansion FE 300 516,347 17 21,002 24,586
Residential
B EERLRE Hefei CIFI Original Villa = 1000 1,650,082 55 126,832 13,010
Residential
A EEER Hefei CIFl Private Mansion fFE 1000 212,021 07 18,766 11,298
Residential
HI BEREE Zhenjiang CIFI East One Place =2 1000 251,293 09 48800 5,272
Residential
BT RERAR Zhenjiang CIFI Times F=x 1000 67557 02 10,461 6,458
Residential
BT B Zhenjiang CIFI Times HIN: Y SE 100.0 68,727 02 8557 8032
Office/Commercial
BR BERSASEL Nanjing CIFI Yincheng Dream Garden FE 51.0 779,300 26 46,701 16,687
Residential
BR JEEAE Nanjing CIFI Nine Modern Life FE 1000 607,134 20 31,912 19,025
Residential
=@ JBBEE Jiaxing CIFI Ronchamp Town fFx 100.0 192,852 06 2753% 7,004
Residential
SR JEEAF Jiaxing CIFI Private Mansion i) 100.0 142,926 05 19,459 7,345
Residential
RBEE Pan Bohai Rim
IR EREEE Beijing MOMA CIFI Residence F=E 50.0 1,681,082 5.6 112374 14,960
Residential
IR BEHE Beijing CIFI The Upper House =z 80.0 999,600 33 40,616 24,611
Residential
BB (EE)BRAR | —T—RFFR 31
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT (continued)
Contracted sales (Continued)
Table 1: Details of contracted sales in 2015 (Continued)
By project (Continued)

EAERE
KEE HESE
BHHXE s &R BAt BREE BRHE
HERE Interest HESE % of total BEERE THEE
Primary intended attributable Contracted Contracted Contracted Contracted
HE Project use of the Project  to the Group sales Sales GFA ASP
(AR¥T/
(AR®T ) (FAK) FAK)
(%) (RMB'000) (%) (sqm)  (RMB/sq.m.)
IR EREEER Beijing Longxi CIFI No.6 Courtyard F=E 200 718,782 24 28,765 24,988
Residential
X2 BEMFT Tianjin CIFI Private Mansion FE 1000 1,197 494 40 86,914 13778
Residential
K2 IBEEE Tianjin CIFI Rosedale FE 100.0 420875 14 60,441 6,963
Residential
X2z BEREE Tianjin CIFl Yannan Garden Fx 100.0 374,590 12 26,500 14,135
Residential
X IBERALE Tianjin CIF! Paradise Bay FE 250 150,341 05 30,846 4874
Residential
& R Shenyang CIFI Private Mansion FE 1000 363,923 12 45,556 7988
Residential
B BB NS Langfang CIFI Path Walf Fx 1000 290517 10 44,028 6,598
Residential
HEEH Central Western Region
EE BEN Chongging CIFI City FE 1000 386,302 13 49,956 7733
Residential
£ UERERES Changsha CIFI International Plaza FE 67.0 833,671 28 80,352 10375
Residential
Y JBEEF Changsha CIFI Private Mansion Fx 1000 235,691 08 36,889 6,389
Residential
R BRRELRE Changsha CIFI Dream Mansion % 800 195,257 06 29,854 6,540
Residential
RE BEMER Wuhan CIFl Private Mansion [Ex=2 1000 591570 20 70,983 8,334
Residential
BEUREM Carpark and others 192,189 05 24,979 7,694
G Total 30,209,041 1000 2,056,152 14,692
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT (continued)

Contracted sales (Continued)

Table 1: Details of contracted sales in 2015 (Continued)

RIEEERE D By type of project
HEERIME
SHEEIL ERHE ERME
SRHESE % of total EEEE FI9EE
Contracted contracted Contracted Contracted
sales sales GFA ASP
ON:S: -5
(AR®T ) (EFHXK) EI3K)
(RMB'000) (sq.m.)  (RMB/sq.m.)
F= Residential 27,195,339 90.0 1,948,447 13,957
FEN: VA SES Office/Commercial 3,013,702 10.0 107,705 27,981
&&t Total 30,209,041 100.0 2,056,152 14,692
BT E D By city
hBEE
HESE
aE Aot EEHE EREME
HESHE % of total BEMmME EIHEE
Contracted contracted Contracted Contracted
sales sales GFA ASP
(AR¥%~
(AR®T ) (FF73K) F7K)
(RMB'000) (%) (sq.m.) (RMB/sq.m.)
s Shanghai 8,408,236 278 278,629 30,177
R Suzhou 5,286,718 175 445,072 11,878
A Hangzhou 3,979,520 13.2 228,295 17,431
bl Beijing 3,510,721 116 198,997 17,642
RE Tianjin 2,143,300 7.1 204,701 10,470
& Hefei 1,867,826 6.2 149,414 12,501
B Nanjing 1,386,434 46 78,613 17,636
& Changsha 1,264,619 42 147,095 8,597
E Wuhan 591,570 20 70,983 8,334
BT Zhenjiang 393,577 13 67,818 5,803
5E Chongqing 386,302 1.3 49,956 7,733
&5 Shenyang 363,923 12 45,556 7,988
] Jiaxing 335,778 1.1 46,995 7,145
8%) Langfang 290,517 0.9 44,028 6,598
= Total 30,209,041 100.0 2,056,152
BB (EE)BRAR | —T—RFFR 33
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EihERR e PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT (continued)
EREE®H) Contracted sales (Continued)
it EE 5 By region
HEEE
HESH
&R Bkt ERHE ERHE
HESHE % of total BEEE FHEE
Contracted contracted Contracted Contracted
sales sales GFA ASP
(AR®x,/
(AR¥F ) (FAK) FEHK)
(RMB’000) (%) (sq.m.) (RMB/sq.m.)
E=A Yangtze River Delta 21,658,089 ni 1,294,836 16,727
REE Pan Bohai Rim 6,308,461 209 493,282 12,789
R ER Central Western Region 2,242,491 74 268,034 8,366
&5t Total 30,209,041 100.0 2,056,152 14,692
B8 —ER=EHTES By first-, second- and third-tier cities
HHEEE
HESHE
&R Bot EEHE ERHEE
HESHE % of total BEMmE FIHEE
Contracted contracted Contracted Contracted
sales sales GFA ASP
(AR¥x,
(AR#F ) (EFK) FERHK)
(RMB'000) (%) (sq.m.) (RMB/sq.m.)
— &R First-tier cities 11,918,958 395 477,626 24,955
it 470051 Second-tier cities 17,270,211 57.1 1,419,685 12,165
=&WH Third-tier cities 1,019,872 3.4 158,841 6,421
A&t Total 30,209,041 100.0 2,056,152 14,692
Bi5E Notes:
1. A A RHE BB BIEHEEET - 1. The above contracted sales data includes sales of carparks.
2. —fEWmE b RS . 2. First-tier cities refer to Shanghai and Beijing.
3. ZERWTIEEM N R AR KRB 3 Second-tier cities refer to Suzhou, Hangzhou, Nanjing, Hefei, Tianjin, Shenyang,

&S BE - RORRE - Chongaing, Changsha and Wuhan.

4. ZHMTIEET - ZEREL o 4. Third-tier cities refer to Zhenjiang, Jiaxing and Langfang.
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT (continued)

Revenue recognized from sales of properties

Revenue recognized from sales of properties in 2015 was
approximately RMB17,046.7 million up by 8.9% year-on-year,
accounted for 93.5% of total recognized revenue. In 2015, the Group
delivered approximately 1,324,200 sg.m. of properties in GFA, down
by 6.5% year-on-year. In 2015, the Group's recognized ASP from sales
of properties was approximately RMB12,873/sqg.m., representing an
increase of 16.5% from RMB11,047/sgq.m. in 2014.

The increase in the Group’s revenue recognized from sales of
properties was attributable to the increase in recognized ASP and GFA
delivered.

Table 2: Breakdown of recognized revenue from property sales in

U AR 2015
REBE S By project
‘ FEENE
EEFERAMR HENEBEIKA ERAWAEDL
Primary intended use Recognized revenue % of recognized revenue from BRAGRERE ERATHEE
B Project of the project from sale of properties sale of properties Total GFA delivered Recognized ASP
(ARBTT) (EHX) (ARET/FHX)
(RMB'000) (%) (sq.m.) (RMB/sq.m.)
ZE-RE | Z2-F (ZB-1F | ZE2-0F |Z2-RE | Z2-0F (ZB-1f | Z2-DF
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
bE EEmERL Shanghai Henderson CIFI Centre F% WA/ EE| 2336084 - 137 - 64,082 - 36,454 -
Residential, Office/
Commercial
i EELER Shanghai CIFI Arthur Shire i3 1,002,206 - 59 - 327182 - 30,572 -
Residential
g mEres Shanghai CIFl Jiangwan Mansion =z 423,850 718,225 25 46 7,764 17519 54,592 40,997
Residemia\
bE BESLEER Shanghai CIFI Haishang International N 420,494 - 25 - 10915 - 38524 -
ﬂce/Commerma\
bE feEmtiE Shanghai CIF| Park Mansion FE 232,282 - 14 - 6,788 - 34,220 -
Residential
B JEEHE Shanghai CIFI Shilu i3 164,053 - 10 - 3,597 - 45,608 -
Residential
HE BERAEE Shanghai CIFl Private Mansion = 147,858 475914 09 31 6,455 29404 22,906 16,185
Residential
g eEmE Shanghai CIFl Pleasant Garden FE 106,425 309,755 06 20 10371 32,228 10,262 9611
Residential
5 e Shanghai CIFI City = 65,456 2074122 04 133 2,109 166,725 24,162 12,440
Residential
g mEEE Shanghai CIFI Luxury Courtyard i 29,054 79705 02 05 1,358 2,804 21,395 28425
Residential
5 eEERE Shanghai CIFl Pebble Beach = 16,634 66,929 01 04 1,267 5375 13129 12452
Residential
i feBuxt Shanghai CIFI U Block LN VA 1233 670,863 01 43 709 43925 17,381 15273
Office/Commercial
b5 8@ Shanghai CIFI Samite Life = - 1,129,601 - 72 - 75,334 - 14,99
Residential
1§ BEEIER Shanghai CIFI Pujiang International g/ EE - 234,527 - 15 = 13616 = 17,204
Office/Commercial
e eERE Shanghai CIFI Comfortable Joyous Bay % - 15,247 - 0.1 = 1,201 = 126%
Residential
BN R Suzhou CIFl Private Mansion Usonian City (£ 1,249,645 - 13 - 97,290 - 12,845 -
Villa Residential
BN BEERS Suzhou CIF| Elegant City fiEe 1,023,108 - 60 - 109,373 - 9,354 -
Residential
BN REfE Suzhou CIFI Sunny Life i 599,201 - 35 - 68,254 - 8,780 -
Residential
B ERRAEE Suzhou CIFI Private Mansion [i=2 25,19 723638 01 46 1,598 86,185 15,767 8,3%
Residential
BN REERE Suzhou CIFI Luxary Courtyard i 5,068 1913699 * 122 703 227,380 1718 8416
Residential

TR (RE)BRARF | —E—RFFH
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Eﬂﬁéﬁﬁ?ﬁ(%) PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT (continued)
HEMECERWA ) Revenue recognized from sales of properties (Continued)
RT ZE-HEFEREAYEKENTHE  Table 2: Breakdown of recognized revenue from property sales in
U B4 (&) 2015 (Continued)
REBE D (®) By project (Continued)
HEENE
ERFEREMAR HEMECBIKA ERARARD L
Primary intended use Recognized revenue % of recognized revenue from ERTAREER ERATHIER
B Project of the project from sale of properties sale of properties Total GFA delivered Recognized ASP
(AR¥TT) (FHX) (ARBT/FHK)
(RMB’000) (%) (sq.m.) (RMB/sq.m.)
—2-1f | ZZ-UF |ZB-1F |ZZ-OF |ZB-1fF |ZZ-MF |ZB-EfF |ZT-OF
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
B B LTE Suzhou CIFI Canal County FE 3,059 62,086 * 04 359 3,778 8521 16,434
Residential
BN EERER Suzhou CIFI Ronchamp Town iz - 6,670 - * = 583 = 11,441
Residential
AE EEPREER Hefei CIFI Central Park = - 22003 - 01 - 4677 - 4705
Residential
Al JBEHR Hefei CIFI Private Mansion FE 1,549,300 788,406 9.1 51 186,005 92973 8329 8,480
Residential
BT BERRH Zhenjiang CIFl Times e 91,178 138437 05 09 13,008 18,364 7,009 7538
Residential
=8 JEEHED Jiaxing CIFI Ronchamp Town e na27 - 24 - 60,791 - 6,814 -
Residential
28 JBEMR Jiaxing CIFI Private Mansion FE 26731 - 16 - 36,018 - 1423 -
Residential
RA 0BRSS Jiaxing CIFI Square £ - 12,400 - 01 - 1016 - 12,205
Residential
M EEBER Hangzhou Henderson CIFI Palace = 796,754 - 47 - 100,932 - 7,894 -
Residential
bR JBBER Beijing CIFI The Education Park YN V- 1,424,629 - 84 - 62324 - 2,858 -
Office/Commercial
TR JBEE Beijing CIFI The Upper House i 1,195,060 1,785,712 70 14 48501 73,604 24,640 24261
Residential
IR JBEHRF Beijing CIFI Private Mansion (e 80,000 - 05 - 3510 - 2,409 -
Residential
1R BEEERL Beijing CIFI International Negotiate Garden #7318 /7% - 1,506,720 - 96 - 105,874 = 14231
Office/Commercial
R BERH Beijing CIFI Olympic City BB/ R - 29% - . - 171 - 17532
Office/Commercial
B IBE+ A Langfang CIFI Path Walf = 123,125 678,847 07 43 19,631 86,125 6272 7,882
Residential
XE BEHRF Tianjin CIFI Private Mansion FE 1,243,746 - 13 - 93,774 - 13,263 -
Residential
K& JBERE Tianjin CIFl Rosedale FE 249,645 777503 15 51 31,99 102,902 7,802 7556
Residential
B RREHR Shenyang CIFI Private Mansion FE 159,450 - 09 - 12,733 - 12523 -
Residential
BE BERER Chongging CIF Ronchamp Town FE 16,180 84,226 01 05 1,290 13,607 12503 6,190
Residential
BE JBE%H Chongqing CIFI Fashion Tribe LI/ V< 4,696 411,894 * 26 43 50,700 6,320 8124
) Office/Commercial
EF BB Chongging CIFI Langyuejun jix=d - 115422 - 07 - 21,269 = 5427
Residential
Y BEERES Changsha CIFl International Plaza (e 431,325 - 26 - 39,480 - 10m -
Residential
R JBEHR Changsha CIFI Private Mansion FE 241,639 779,848 14 5.1 37,581 111,257 6,430 7,009
Residential
Y BEEE Changsha CIFI Luxury Courtyard e - 4883 - * = 914 = 5342
Residential
RE BEHF Wuhan CIFI Private Mansion FE 700,121 - 41 - 8,850 - 7,880 -
Residential
BB REM Carpark and others 189,809 63,404 10 03 60,613 21429 3131 2312
Ait Total 17,046,700 15,653,684 100 100 1,324214 1,416939 128713 11,048
* DRR0.1% * less than 0.1%
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EihERR e PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT (continued)
HEMECERKWA®) Revenue recognized from sales of properties (Continued)
RIEBEE D By type of project
hHEm=
HENXSEIUA BRAUABSL
Recognized revenue from % of recognized revenue from ERfIAREEE ERRTHER
sale of properties sale of properties Total GFA delivered Recognized ASP
(ARBT ) (F5%) (AE#7/FHR)
(RMB'000) (%) (sq.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)
ZEB-0F | ZTEF | ZB-1F | Z20F | Z%-0F | Z20F | 28-5F | Z2EF
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
= Residential 15,184,558 12,829,681 891 820 1,249,523 1,202,823 12152 10,666
NP Office/Commercial 1,862,142 2,824,003 109 180 74,691 214116 2931 13,189
At Total 17,046,700 15,653,684 100 100 1,324.214 1416939 12873 11,048
e ) By city
EHENE
HENXDREIUA BRAUABAL
Recognized revenue from % of recognized revenue ERAEREEE ERATIER
sale of properties from sale of properties Total GFA delivered Recognized ASP
(AR#%FT) (FHX) (AR¥T/FHR)
(RMB'000) (%) (sq.m) (RMB/sg.m.)
“E-%% | ZT-NF | ZE-1F | ZEWF | ZB-1% | Z2-NF | ZE-8F | ZEIF
2015 2014 2015 2014 215 2014 2015 2014
! Shanghai 4,990,753 5778522 293 369 155,072 389,492 32183 14,836
BN Suzhou 2932912 2,709,977 112 173 291,169 319,806 10073 8,474
IR Beijing 2,743,658 3,295,804 161 210 124215 179,769 22,088 18,334
BIE Hefei 1,574,451 810409 92 52 193492 97,650 8137 8299
Kz Tianjin 1,495,757 777,503 87 50 126,888 102,902 11,788 7,55
Al Hangzhou 803,806 - 47 - 103,962 - 1732 -
3 Changsha 1,367 809,438 42 52 86,264 124970 8,246 6471
Y= Wuhan 700,121 - a4 - 88,850 - 7880 -
3 Jiaxing 684,739 12,400 40 0.1 96,409 1,016 6,958 12,205
EG Shenyang 159,450 - 09 - 12733 - 12523 -
i Langfang 128510 678,847 08 43 20423 86,125 6,292 7882
#I Zhenjiang 94,679 140,680 06 09 13540 19,564 6,993 719
EE Chongging 26491 640,104 02 41 9191 95,645 2,881 6,692
A3 Total 17,046,700 | 15653684 100 100 1324214 1416939 12813 11,048
R (RBDBR AR | ZT—AFFH 37
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Ei&EFa‘ﬁﬁ(%) PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT (Continued)
HEMECDERRA(E) Revenue recognized from sales of properties (Continued)
Rt EE 5 By region
ThHEMR
HENFERIUA ERAUABIL
Recognized revenue from % of recognized revenue ERAARERR ERRTHER
sale of properties from sale of properties Total GFA delivered Recognized ASP
(AR¥TT) (F5%) (ARET/EHX)
(RMB'000) (%) (squm.) (RMB/sq.m.)
ZB-0F | ZTEF | ZB-1F | ZT0F | Z%-0f ( Z20F | Z8-1F | Z2EF
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
R=A Yangtze River Delta 11,081,340 9,451,988 65.0 60.4 855,644 827528 12,951 11422
e Pan Bohai Rim 4521315 4752,154 266 304 284,259 368,79 15,921 12,886
HFEE Central Wester Region 1,431,985 1449547 84 92 184,311 220615 1802 6,570
At Total 17,046,700 | 15653684 100 100 1324214 1416939 12813 11,048
BR—EB 8 R=ERTED By first-, second- and third-tier cities
fhHEMR
HENFERIUA BREARABAL
Recognized revenue from % of recognized revenue ERfTAREER ERRTHER
sale of properties from sale of properties Total GFA delivered Recognized ASP
(AR%TT) (F5%K) (ARHT/EHX)
(RMB'000) (%) (squm.) (RMB/sg.m.)
“%-BF | ZF-0F | —F-EF | ZF-0F | ZF-EF [ ZFMF | 2F-EF | ZF R
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
—&uim First-tier cities 1,134 9,074,326 454 5.0 219,281 569,261 21693 15,941
Z&Bm Second-tier cities 8,404,361 5741431 493 36.7 912,555 740973 9210 1,75
B vl Third-tier cities 907,928 831927 53 53 132312 106,705 6,859 7797
At Total 17,046,700 15,653,684 100 100 1324214 1416,939 12873 11,048
FA5E Notes:

1. AL HEBIRBIRHEREA -

2. —A T LRI R -

3. TR AR AU RE B B
4. SRR - RERERY -

38

The above sales data includes sales of carparks.

First-tier cities refer to Shanghai and Beijing.

Second-tier cities refer to Suzhou, Hefei, Hangzhou, Tianjin,

Changsha and Wuhan.

Third-tier cities refer to Zhenjiang, Jiaxing and Langfang.

Shenyang, Chongging,

CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT (continued)

Completed properties held for sale

During the year 2015, the total GFA of newly completed projects of
the Group amounted to approximately 3.6 million sgq.m. (2014: 1.6
million sg.m.) comprising 3.1 million sg.m. by its subsidiaries (2014: 1.6
million sg.m.) and 0.5 million sg.m. by its joint ventures or associated
companies (2014: nil). As at 31 December 2015, the Group had 42
completed properties projects with a total and attributable unsold or
undelivered GFA of approximately 3.9 million sgq.m. and 3.5 million
sqg.m. respectively.

Properties under development/held for future development

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had 41 property projects
under development or held for future development with a total and
attributable GFA of approximately 8.6 million sg.m. and 4.9 million
sqg.m. respectively.
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PROPERTY INVESTMENT

Rental income

The Group's rental income in 2015 was approximately RMB41.0
million, down by 1.7% year-on-year. Overall rental income slightly
decreased because portion of Jiaxing CIFI Square’s retail spaces was
undergoing transformation from a department store to retail arcade
and the re-leasing caused loss of rental during the process.

Table 3: Breakdown of rental income in 2015

—E-hF —E-E
2015 2014
WA
L 5% BR=
HEWA WKWABSHE HEWA  WAEBEZDEL Rental income
Rental % of Rental Rental % of Rental growth
income income income income rate
AR%T T ARETT
RMB'000 % RMB'000 % %
Txé“%% Investment properties

= ERIEES Jiaxing CIFI Square 31,505 76.9 38,161 915 -17.4
HEmREYE Other investment properties 5,288 12.9 2,614 6.3 102.3
AR E Y Other non-investment properties 4,180 10.2 913 2.2 357.8
At Total 40,973 100.0 41,688 100.0 1.7

Eﬁ%¥ Investment properties

—E—RAF+ZA=+—8 &%
l*ﬁ_ﬁﬁ&é%% BEEMBENA
147,400 F 5 K - REBZEFREWEA
EEF - 6IHMEEEMEIEL A136,400°F
FRMGEMECRBDE - MEKD
FZEH o

40

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had 7 investment properties with
a total GFA of approximately 147,400 sg.m. Out of such investment
properties portfolio of the Group, 6 investment properties with a total
GFA of approximately 136,400 sgq.m. had commenced leasing, while
the remaining was under development.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

In 2015, the Group's recognized revenue was approximately
RMB18,230.8 million, up 12.7% year-on-year. Out of the Group's total
recognized revenue in 2015, (i) sales of property increased by 8.9%
from the previous year to approximately RMB17,046.7 million; (ii)
rental income decreased by 1.7% from the previous year; (iii) property
management income increased by 73.9% from the previous year, as
boosted by additional new property projects completed and added in
our property management portfolio during the year; and (iv) project
management and other property related service income increased by
179.2% from the previous year.

Table 4: Breakdown of recognized revenue in 2015

—E-hfF —Z—OF
2015 2014
HE BB A EEERBA
WENBEDL BEMB DL
EREZBA %of Total | THERUA % of Total RESE
Recognized recognized Recognized recognized  Year-on-year
revenue revenue revenue revenue change
ARBT T ARETT
RMB'000 % RMB'000 % %
YIEHE Sales of properties 17,046,700 93.5 15,653,684 96.8 8.9
HEBWA Rental income 40,973 0.2 41,688 03 17
MESIBILA Property management income 343,638 1.9 197,579 12 73.9
EEEEREMYE  Project management and other
FRE AR WA property related service income 799,471 4.4 286,383 17 179.2
Bt Total 18,230,788 100.0 16,179,334 100.0 12.7
HEM A Cost of sales

AEBR T —RAFHREREEK ALY
A AR #14,087,200,0007T @ & EF1E
1117.5% °

FA - ANEREIRFE THEEOBREEH
ZEFRBMBEAARSKHBAR
FEIBFFHHME TR B BEM ST RIE B -
ZEHAE_Z-HAFERNHMEN
HEKRARAFEEHE -

TE-RHEWNHEREERNEIBEDH
AR#243,300,000708 BE R ER
N ERE - MBZEAFERT - =
T-AFHABRENHEHER TN ABAREK
13,843,900,0007T @ EXEFIEN15.4% °

fBEER(EE)BRAR | —T-HFFR

The Group's reported cost of sales in 2015 was approximately
RMB14,087.2 million, up 17.5% from the previous year.

During the year, the Group increased equity interests in certain
projects resulting in financial consolidation of these projects as
subsidiaries. Due to the accounting treatment of increase of equity
interests in certain projects, cost of sales of those delivered properties
for such projects in 2015 were remeasured at fair value.

The reported cost of sales in 2015 included RMB243.3 million of fair
value gains related to such properties delivered. Eliminating such fair
value gains, the adjusted cost of sales in 2015 was approximately
RMB13,843.9 million, up by 15.4% from the previous year.
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AEE —_FT-AFENEE_T—NF
U THRIEARNR T MOFERENE
RIRITHEYRERABTENERE
RN T RFREIBR/UA -

E R ERTFE

RZE—R1F  A5EEERFRAARE
REVYENELELEBEBFEARE
302,100,0007T * M —Z—MFERE 5 E
85585 A K#19,800,0007T °

EFTTENREREBS /RS
FA - NEEIREE T IR B BOE M BE
ZERAMBERAEARSHBAR -

Hit - RZZT—h1F  A&EEEHERE
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's reported gross profit in 2015 was approximately
RMB4,143.6 million, down 1.0% year-on-year compared to
RMB4,186.8 million in 2014. The reported gross profit in 2015 was
understated by the accounting treatment due to increase of equity
interests in certain projects. Eliminating the accounting effect of
remeasurement of fair value of the costs of relevant properties
delivered, the adjusted gross profit in 2015 would be approximately
RMB4,386.9 million, up 4.8% year-on-year compared to RMB4,186.8
million in 2014.

Our adjusted gross profit margin (excluding the accounting effects due
to increase of equity interests in certain projects) was 24.1% in 2015,
compared to 25.9% in 2014.

The slight decrease of the Group's gross profit margin in 2015 (on
adjusted basis) compared to 2014 was primarily due to the recognition
as revenue in 2015 of the sales contracted in 2014 which were
affected by the then prevailing market correction in property prices.

Net exchange loss

In 2015, the Group incurred net exchange loss of RMB302.1 million
due to the effects of the depreciation of RMB during the year,
compared to RMB19.8 million of net exchange loss in 2014.

Gain on remeasurement and gain from business combinations
During the year, the Group increased equity interests in certain
projects resulting in financial consolidation of these projects as
subsidiaries.

Accordingly, in 2015, the Group recognized a gain of RMB166.5
million from remeasurement of the fair value of the equity interests
in certain project companies (which were previously recognized as
joint ventures, before acquisition of the equity interests during the
year and thereafter they were recognized as subsidiaries) and a gain
of RMB76.8 million from business combination for the acquisition of
interest of the aforesaid companies, for the excess of fair value of net
assets acquired over the consideration.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Changes in fair value of investment properties

In 2015, the Group recognized a fair value gain on investment
properties of approximately RMB128.1 million versus a corresponding
gain in 2014 of approximately RMB241.2 million. The fair value gain
on investment properties was mainly due to the appreciation of the
overall capital value.

Selling and marketing expenses

The Group's selling and marketing expenses increased by 16.1% to
approximately RMB370.9 million in 2015 from RMB319.4 million in
2014. This increase was in line with the Group’s new launch of more
property projects available for pre-sale in 2015. During the year, the
Group kept its selling expenses at an appropriate level.

Administrative and other expenses

The Group's administrative expenses increased by 14.7% to
approximately RMB607.4 million in 2015 from RMB529.4 million
in 2014. This increase was primarily due to the Group's business
expansion. During the year, the Group’s administrative expenses were
kept at a reasonable level due to implementation of stringent cost
control and improvement in per capita efficiency.

Share of results of joint ventures and associates

The Group's share of results of joint ventures and associates
amounted to profits of RMB172.6 million in 2015, versus losses of
118.7 million in 2014. Included in the share of results of joint ventures
and associates in 2015 were RMB175.6 million share of exchange
loss and RMB348.7 million share of gain in the fair value of investment
properties under construction.

Eliminating the effects of exchange loss and fair value gain, the
Group's share of results of joint ventures and associates were losses
of RMBO0.5 million in 2015, compared to losses of RMB118.7 million in
2014,
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Finance costs

The Group's finance costs expensed in 2015 was approximately
RMB202.9 million, versus RMB386.2 million in 2014. The change in
finance costs expensed was primarily attributable to the change in
the total finance costs incurred, net of the portion being capitalized in
properties under development during the year.

The Group's total finance costs expensed and capitalized increased by
23.6% to approximately RMB1,774.0 million in 2015 from RMB1,435.6
million in 2014. The increase in total finance costs expensed and
capitalized was due to the increase of the Group's total indebtedness
to RMB24.0 billion as at 31 December 2015 from RMB13.9 billion
as at 31 December 2014, partly set off by the decrease in weighted
average cost of indebtedness during the year was primarily attributable
to the effective liability management exercise by the Group. The
Group’s weighted average cost of indebtedness as at 31 December
2015 was 7.2%, compared to 8.3% as at 31 December 2014.

Income tax expenses

The Group's income tax expenses increased by 0.7% to approximately
RMB1,334.0 million in 2015 from RMB1,325.2 million in 2014. The
Group's income tax expense included payments and provisions made
for enterprise income tax (“EIT") and land appreciation tax (“LAT")
during the year. The Group's effective income tax rate decreased to
35.1% in 2015 from 39.9% in 2014.

The Group made LAT provisions of approximately RMB317.9 million in
2015, versus RMB472.9 million in 2014. The Group made actual LAT
payments of RMB549.7 million in 2015, versus RMB314.5 million in
2014. As at 31 December 2015, the Group had accumulated unpaid
LAT provisions of RMB229.8 million.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Profit for the year

As a result of the factors described above, the Group’s profit before
taxation increased by 14.4% to approximately RMB3,804.8 million
in 2015 from RMB3,324.8 million in 2014. The Group's profit and
total comprehensive income for the year increased by 23.6% to
approximately RMB2,470.8 million in 2015 from RMB1,999.6 million
in 2014. The Group's net profit attributable to equity owners increased
by 12.6% to approximately RMB2,095.5 million in 2015 from
RMB1,861.1 million in 2014.

The Group's core net profit attributable to equity owners increased by
14.0% to approximately RMB2,209.8 million in 2015 from RMB1,938.6
million in 2014. Core net profit attributable to equity owners in 2015
excluded fair value gain in investment properties, net exchange
loss, expenses relating to share option grants, loss on repurchase of
senior notes, and share of fair value gain and net exchange loss at
joint ventures and associates companies, net of deferred taxes. The
corresponding core net profit margin was 12.1% in 2015 and 12.0% in
2014,

The Group maintained its return on average equity at 19.2% in 2015
versus 20.6% in 2014.
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LAND BANK

As at 31 December 2015, the total GFA of the Group’s land bank
was approximately 12.5 million sg.m., and the attributable GFA of
the Group's land bank was approximately 8.5 million sqg.m. As at
31 December 2015, average acquisition cost of the Group's overall
land bank based on attributable GFA and attributable cost was
approximately RMB5,900 per sq.m.

Table 5: Breakdown of the Group’s land bank as at 31 December
2015

BYEE D By property
CANEEN V4
AHE WA
EFEREREE
(TEEFEN)
Remaining
unrecognized/ AEE
Saleahle/ PEfhRER
BEEXEREAE Rentable GFA Interest
Primary intended remaining unsold attributable
1HE Project use of the project (carpark excluded) to the Group
(FAK)
(sq.m.) (%)
BIYE Completed properties
R=F Yangtze River Delta
8 REETIRE Shanghai CIFI Pujiang International WAE/EE Office/Commercial 41,684 1000
b jeEEE Shanghai CIFI Luxury Courtyard FE Residential 7,238 100.0
e eEEaE Shanghai CIF| Pebble Beach = Residential 71,758 100.0
B BIEBRAYIE Shanghai CIFI Pleasant Garden F=E Residential 26,401 100.0
b5 s Shanghai CIFI City F= Residential 14,666 100.0
b8 feERE Shanghai CIF Samite Life FE Residential 7,866 100.0
b eBTEs Shanghai CIFI Jiangwan Mansion F=E Residential 8,817 755
L& JBEUXH Shanghai CIFI U Block PO EE Office/Commercial 10,166 100.0
EE eEGER Shanghai CIFI Arthur Shire F=E Residential 5,718 100.0
1§ 4iBEER#  Shanghai Greenland CIFI E Park WOMEEE Office/Commercial 13578 500
B SleER Shanghai Elite Mansion = Residential 120,939 50.0
b EEBEEDN Shanghai Henderson CIFI Centre % 8/ B%E  Residential, Office/ 106,518 50.0
Commercial
5 s LA Shanghai CIFI Haishang International DN =YF Office/Commercial 8,685 53.0
b5 eEE LR Shanghai CIFI Haishang International BEME Investment 45,400 53.0
properties
b5 EEANEDS Shanghai CIFI Park Mansion West F=E Residential 53,912 383
bE eEEE Shanghai CIFI Shilu (e Residential 1,803 100.0
BN MBYE LA Suzhou CIFI Canal County E=c Residential 11,083 100.0
BN JEEERE Suzhou CIFI Luxury Courtyard F=E Residential 30917 1000
BN MEEEEE Suzhou CIFI Private Mansion F=E Residential 10,817 100.0
BN IR Suzhou CIFI Private Mansion Usonian F=® Residential 11,510 100.0
City Villa
BN TEREEEM Suzhou CIFI Elegant City F=E Residential 147527 100.0
BN BREYE Suzhou CIFI Sunny Life F=E Residential 11,646 100.0
BN BEERERE Suzhou CIFI Apple Paradise FE Residential 50,679 50.0
B JEEERT Hefei CIFI Private Mansion FE Residential 34,122 100.0
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LAND BANK (continued)
Table 5: Breakdown of the Group’s land bank as at 31 December
2015 (Continued)

RYEE D (5 By property (Continued)
FANCER =
AEE T HE
EFERHNREE
(FEfEEEN)
Remaining
unrecognized/ KEE
Saleahle/ PEfERER
EHIEREARE Rentable GFA Interest
Primary intended remaining unsold attributable
HH Project use of the project (carpark excluded) to the Group
(ERK)
(sq.m.) (%)
L JEERRM Zhenjiang CIF| Times F=E Residential 24,832 1000
20 JREES (%) Jiaxing CIFI Square (Commercial) REME Investment properties 82,600 100.0
SE AR Jiaxing CIFI Private Mansion F=E Residential 40,982 100.0
=E JHERRER Jiaxing CIFI Ronchamp Town F=® Residential 105,709 100.0
N EEEEAT Hangzhou Henderson CIFl Palace Ex=2 Residential 119,868 100.0
BEE Pan Bohai Rim
bR fBIBEEEE &AL Beijing CIFl Wangxin Commercial Centre & 1% Investment properties 4,900 100.0
IR JEERE Beijing CIFI Olympic City YN Y SES Office/Commercial 5,629 100.0
bR BB Beijing CIF The Upper House F= Residential 20,395 80.0
bR JBRBEXH Beijing CIFI The Education Park WRE/ HE Office/Commercial 24,276 100.0
By BB AU Langfang CIFI Path Walf F=E Residential 201,544 100.0
K2 BERE Tianjin CIFl Rosedale F=E Residential 137,102 1000
RE EEEF Tianjin CIFl Private Mansion F=F Residential 228526 100.0
KE JBERAYE Tianjin CIFl Paradise Bay = Residential 117,383 250
B TREE Shenyang CIFI Private Mansion (e Residential 150,067 100.0
oyt Central Western Region
EF JBEBRER Chongging CIFI Ronchamp Town FE Residential 59,904 100.0
BE ELR Chongging CIFI Purple City WME B Office/Commercial 100,456 100.0
&Y MREER Changsha CIFI Private Mansion F=E Residential 125,319 100.0
£Y BRERES Changsha CIFI International Plaza F=E Residential 91,720 67.0
BZE B Wuhan CIFl Private Mansion F=E Residential 259,850 100.0
Hih Other 6,650 100.0
FEfL Carparks 1,097,861
3,859,003
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ii&fﬁ{ﬁ(%) LAND BANK (Continued)
KE AXEBEBNR_-_ZFE—-—HFE+=H Table 5: Breakdown of the Group’s land bank as at 31 December
=+— Bt FEEHMEE) 2015
EYEE D (8) By property (Continued)
R REE
ARERD
AREEE
(TefEEEl)
Total GFA under
development
BEXE and held rEF
RERZ for future [EfbiER
Primary PRI ER development Interest
intended use Estimated Year {hibmEE (excluding BEE attributable
EHE Project of the project of Completion Site Area carparks) Pre-sold to the Group
(FFK)  (FBK) (FEKR)
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (%)
BBt HERRBAZMIMIE  Properties under development and
held for future development
RZA Yangtze River Delta
e BRKEE Shanghai CIFl La Baie D'Evian = 2017 189,800 24,500 - 100.0
Residential
8 mEgERD Shanghai CIFI Pure Center i/ 2016 41,500 106,300 39,386 450
Office
e ARET Shanghai Park Mansion Riverside (Shanghai {+% 2016 30,000 2,781 490
(HEEFEETEEEE)  Lujiaai Yangding Project Residential)  Residential
HE AmET Shanghai Park Mansion Riverside (Shanghai i AB T 7% ylif] 87,200 196,700 - 490
(LgERE+FTIER Lujiazui YangJing Project Office Office and Commercial
WABEEE) and Commercial)
e ZERTE Shanghai Amher Garden (Shanghai = 2017 103,900 98,900 20,707 350
(BBNTIEEREER) Songjiang District Chedun Town Project]  Residential
8 bHEEE Shanghai Shangkun CIFI Villa = 2017 61,200 61,800 21,710 50.0
(EBRTRRTEER) (Shanghai Songjiang District Dongjing ~ Residential
Town Project)
5 HelemEy Shanghai BCL CIFI The Great City (Shanghai  ¥¢ 2016-2018 128,100 246,200 27811 400
(LEETERIZEER) Jiading District Industrial Zone Project)  Residential
L& INTBASH$EAET  Shanghai Songjiang District, Jiuting Town, AR R % 2018-2019 83,400 227,100 - 340
TAQIA/IBAQTAS: S UnitA, No. 11A-01A/15A-01A Project  Office and Commercial
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ii&fﬁ{ﬁ(%) LAND BANK (Continued)
KE AXEBEBNR_-_ZFE—-—HFE+=H Table 5: Breakdown of the Group’s land bank as at 31 December
=t+— Bt FEERAE 2015
EYEE D (8) By property (Continued)
R REHE
AR
BEREE
(FEfEEN)
Total GFA under
development
BEFE and held rEF
BHER forfuture EfhER
Primary PRI ER development Interest
intended use Estimated Year {5 ERE (excluding BHEE  attributable
HE Project of the project of Completion Site Area carparks) Pre-sold to the Group
(FAR) (FAX) (FAR)
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (%)
BN MBEBY(ENSEHE  Suzhou CIFl Xiyue (Suzhou Gaoxin District 5 2016 21,600 47,600 44291 100.0
HEREERER) Hushuguan Sunny Life South Project) Residential
BN BEBEKRE Suzhou CIFI Shangli (Suzhou Wuzhong EES 017 68,000 147,100 92,521 100.0
(MR RERREE) District Tayuan Road Project] Residential
M mERRE Suzhou CIFI Park Mansion (Suzhou Industrial 3¢ 2017 68,000 108,000 37,038 125
(BNI£EEER) Park District Project) Residential
BN EEMEER Suzhou Henderson CIFI City (Suzhou Gaoxin (£ 20172019 171,300 394,100 71,178 500
(BN RERRER) District Luxury Courtyard South Project) ~ Residential
M JLRMEES ST (BRI Suzhou North Star CIFI No.1 Courtyard = 20172018 178,700 180,500 - 500
BHRELRER) (Suzhou Hi-Tech District Huashan Road  Residental
Project)
BN mEniEY Suzhou CIFI Park Mansion Lakeside (Suzhou £ 2018 131,000 209,700 - 400
(BMNIZERMEATE  Industrial Park District No. 3, MoonBay  Residential
i) Project)
N R Hangzhou Greenland CIFI Glorious City =z 2016 235,100 160,984 50.0
Residential 58500
N e s Hangzhou Greenland CIFI Glorious City bUNES 2016 ' 31,000 - 50.0
Office
N RMEREIH Hangzhou Yuhang District Chongxian fFE 017 35,300 90,800 - 50.0
185578 8 Xincheng No. 18 Site Project Residential
M EERBEETHE (L Hangzhou Longfor CIFI Chunjiang City i3 017 39,200 109,800 70,057 3.0
MNELRILEENER) (Hangzhou Xiaoshan District North Residential
XingyiCun Project)
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ii&fﬁ{ﬁ(%) LAND BANK (Continued)
KE AXEBEBNR_-_ZFE—-—HFE+=H Table 5: Breakdown of the Group’s land bank as at 31 December
=+—BH L EERMAE) 2015 (Continued)
BYIEE D (8 By property (Continued)
BB REE
RREIBH
AREEE
(TEfEER)
Total GFA under
development
BEFE and held rEF
RERZ for future i3 d
Primary PRI ER development Interest
intended use Estimated Year b EE (excluding BHEE  attributable
HE Project of the project of Completion Site Area carparks) Pre-sold to the Group
(®5K)  (FEK) (FEK)
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (%)
TN IEZEBRBE FF (M Hangzhou Shunfa CIFl Honor Mansion = 2017-2018 55,400 98,300 21,002 300
ZRTEER) (Hangzhou Xiaoshan District Zhonghui ~ Residential
Project)
T TBBESHI (M A Hangzhou CIFl Times City (Hangzhou Yuhang - $#/ME e 2 2018 54,100 129,800 - 1000
BRREHB-4hiE) District Chongxian Xin Cheng B-4 Project) - Office and Commercial
N BLEEER Hangzhou Xiaoshan District Baolong Project  $/ME | 72 018 57,600 143,900 - 30
Office and Commercial
TN ELREERFG16-0403%  Hangzhou Xiao Shan District, Olympic Park 752 2018 29,800 86,400 - 1000
FG16-04 Project Commercial
AfF BERLEE Hefsi CIFl Original Villa frE 2016-2017 199200 206,500 126,832 1000
Residential
A BN Hefei Luyang District, 212 acres Project {52 20182019 141,700 239,000 - 50.0
Residential
HI BEREE Zhenjiang CIFI Fast One Place F=x 2017 49,400 146,400 84,134 1000
Residential
BR BENE Nanjing CIFI Nine Modern Life (Nanjing ¥ 017 17,300 51,300 31,912 100.0
(BRIZERER) Jiangning District Project) Residential
BR BERHAEREL Nanjing CIFI Yincheng Dream Garden fTE 2016 81,700 109,500 46,701 510
(BRBOFNER) (Nanjing Pokou New District Project) Residential
HR eBRiRE Nanjing CIFI Park Mansion Qin Huai =z 2018 28,700 80,400 - 1000
(BRIZREREWEAER  (Nanjing Jiangning District Nanjing South  Residential
@34-355708 8 ) StationWest Area No. 34-35 Project)
BR JRBERAL 5 Nanjing North Star CIFI Park Mansion i 2017-2018 25,300 70,700 - 190
(HrEBRERAERELX  JinLingNanjing Jianye District North ~ Residential
KA A6 %) YingSan Street No.26 Project)
Ria Pan Bohai Rim
IR EREEE Beijing MOMA CIFl Residence = 2016 73,400 134,900 112,374 50.0
Residential
R BRX# Beijing Vianke World WOERESE 2017 16924 94,800 - 265
(R AER=MNEER) (Beijing Daxing District Huangcun Office and Commercial
Town Project)
IR BENREE Beijing CIFI No.26 Block (Beijing Shunyi MAEREE 217 88,700 206,700 - 100
(L RIEREEAEER) District Nan Fa Xin Project] Office and Commercial
IR AERFSEESN  Beiing Daxing District Yinghai Town /NG 2017 13,500 19,000 - 595
02-1-1438 Jiangchang Cun 02-1-1 Project Office
7 AERESIHEPGIN-  Beijing Daxing District Pangge Zhuang Town B2 REE 2017-2018 158,300 266,200 28,765 190
01 » PGZ01-0238 PGZ01-01, PGZ01-02 Project Commercial and
Residential
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T f#EE LAND BANK (continued)

RE . XEBEBR=ZZ—HRHFE+=H Table5: Breakdown of the Group’s land bank as at 31 December
=t+— Bt FEERAE 2015 (Continued)

BRYEE D (5) By property (Continued)

X% JBEHEE Tianjin CIFl Yannan Garden (Tianjin Xiging (52 20172018 122,600 208500 26,500 1000
(RERmEREBREX District Jingwu Town Dananhe North  Residential
BAER) Project)

& 2EE Tianjin Jinnan District No.2013-26 Project (=2 2018 82,200 147,900 - 200
(5)2013-26%% 3% Residential

&G IBESBE(EBEAE  Shenyang CIFl Jin Court F=E 2018 20,000 70,100 - 1000
EEERIFILIER) (Shenyang Tiexi District Xinghua Residential

Printing Factory North Project)

i Central Western Region

EFE JEER Chongging CIFI City i3 2016-2017 192400 448,200 128,658 100.0
Residential '

BE BN Chongging CIFI City EE3 2016-2017 143,000 - 1000
Commercial

EFE EER Chongging CIFI City RENE 2016-2017 44,300 - 1000
Investment property 325,600

EF JBETLM(EEIZ  Chongging CIF Jiangshan Yue HEREE 2018-2019 635,700 - 300

FEAMMIIE) {Chongging New Norther Commercial and
District Dazhulin Project) Residential
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T i EE e LAND BANK (continued)
KA AXEBRNR_-_ZFE—FF+=H Table 5: Breakdown of the Group’s land bank as at 31 December
=+—BH L EERMAE) 2015 (Continued)
EYEE D (8) By property (Continued)
RERREE
ARRBRH
HREER
(TEfEEN)
Total GFA under
development
BEEXE and held iy
RERZ for future PSR
Primary BRI E R development Interest
intended use Estimated Year {hibEE (excluding BEE attributable
EHE Project of the project of Completion Site Area carparks) Pre-sold to the Group
(F7K) (F5K) (F7K)
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (%)
Y BEEELE Changsha CIFl Dream Mansion =z 2016 41,500 148,800 55,328 80.0
Residential
£ ERERES Changsha CIFl International Plaza N 2016 o5 400 136,800 - 67.0
Office '
RE EERELE Wuhan Yulong CIFI Peninsula BERAEE 2017-2019 129,900 289,000 - 5.0
(REEHFEEBMIR) (Wuhan Hanyang District Hangiao Commercial and
Cun Project) Residential
At Other
BN ZEREERING Guangzhou Liwan District No.111, Bahua ~ f£52 2018 31,900 143,600 - 190
BREANBITR Road, Bai Hua Xiang Liao Chang Project ~Residential
BEfL Carpark 1,588,235 9,248
BIERRBEEAMELS TOTAL Properties under development and 8,639,135 1,250,152
held for future development
B (BRI FER GRAND TOTAL (Completed, under 12,498,138 1,250,152

ERRER) development and for future development)
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LAND BANK (continued)
Table 5: Breakdown of the Group’s land bank as at 31 December

2015 (Continued)

RILEE D By region

1h4a+ i fEE
(UEFKEBEDL
% of total land bank
in sq.m.
(%)
"= Yangtze River Delta 55
REE Pan Bohai Rim 18
REEEp Central Western Region 27
100

RIEBHERE S By type of project
{548 £
(LEFKHEDEE
% of total land bank
in sq.m.
(%)
*= Residential 79
NS Office/Commercial 20
HEMERHM Investment properties and others 1
100

Z? ﬁiﬂﬁiiﬂﬂﬁlﬂ%

—hEHE  AEERBES K25
fl%ﬁlﬁﬁﬁé/\ cBFAN - AEEEEE
BEEREARFENKIBIER -

AEBR_ZT-—HFRE T MV ERE
FEELE TE 4 /34,400,000 F 77 K EEP

7K £ ] {% A # 2% 1 2,000,000 F 5 K
ZK%@ifMﬁz,ﬁﬁméHwﬁfﬁ;%ﬁz%)\ﬁ

#29,537,000,0007T * AASKEREE
MEEBERERAERENERARKE
13,122,400,000 7T © 181K 7~ & [ FE 5 U
BHOZEEREREGHRERE  ~5E
RZE—RAFNFH L BERALN A
¥ HRARKEG,6807T ©
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Land acquisition in 2015

During the year 2015, the Group purchased interests in a total of
25 new projects. During the year, the Group continued utilizing joint
ventures strategies to jointly develop the newly acquired projects.

Total planned GFA of the Group’s land acquisition in 2015 amounted
to approximately 4.4 million sg.m., out of which 2.0 million sq.m.
were attributable to the Group's equity interests. Total contracted
consideration of the Group's land acquisition amounted to
approximately RMB29,537.0 million, out of which RMB13,122.4
million were payable by the Group according to its equity interests in
relevant projects. Based on the Group’s attributable GFA acquired and
the attributable acquisition considerations, the Group’s average land
acquisition cost in 2015 was approximately RMB6,680 per sg.m.

53



W P W B o B

Management Discussion and Analysis

iiﬂ’,fﬁﬁ(%) LAND BANK (Continued)

RN BEER-Z—AFHN IS Table 6: The Group’s land acquisition in 2015
EERE T4
AE  B%@R THEA
BEER (FeRER (FekEf)
H (REeBEf) Attributable & Average
ffi R & Planned GFA planned GFA ~ #{E# %  E{i%{  land cost
W EH IZRYRE Theequity ~ fi#E®  (exclding  (excluding Total  Attributable  (excluding
City Project Intended Primary Use interest Site Area carparks) carparks) ~consideration consideration carparks)
(ARER/

(Fr%)  (Fr%) (¥R (AE¥R) (AR%7%) T 5 k)
(%) (sqm.) (sq.m.] (sqm.) (RMB) (RMB)  (RMB/sg.m.)

Z2-REMIHYE

Land acquisition in 2015

i BRREE frE 1000 122600 208500 208500 672,100,000 672,100,000 30
Tanjin (EERERAARTIES) Residential

CIFI Yannan Garden
(Xiging District Jingwu Town Dananhe North Project)

Ik LS frE 100 128100 246,200 %480 1332000000 532,800,000 5410
Shanghai (ETIZEER) Residential
BCL CIFI The Great City
(Jiading Industrial Zone Project)
bl ERKi B0/ BE %5 16,94 9,800 10 763,000,000 202,195,000 8049
Beijng (REREHERS) Offce/Commercia
Vanke World
(Daxing District Huangeun
Town Project)
&/l EEfR, Fz 500 171,300 394100 197050 1,400,000,000 700,000,000 3552
Suzhou (BHEZERER) Residential
Henderson CIFI City
(Hi-Tech District Luxury
Courtyard South Project)
I THBEE s 500 61,200 61,800 30,900 780,000,000 390,000,000 12601
Shangha (NIEREEER) Residential

Shangkun CIFl Vila
[Songjiang District DongjingTown Project]

il EARREINZ iz 30 38,200 109800 38430 823,686,000 288,360,100 750
Hanghou (BUELREMAR) Residential
Longfor CIFI Chunjiang City
[Xiaoshan District North Xingyi Cun Project]
il JEEERR iz 300 55,400 9,300 20090 1,084,100,000 325230000 11,08
Hangzhou (BLEHRE®RR) Residential

Shunfa CIFt Honor Mansion
(Xiaoshan District Zhonghui Project)

IR TBERERE o/ mE 100 88,700 206,700 20670 1,380,000,000 138,000,000 6676
Beijing (BsEEEERE) Offce/Commercial
CIFI No.26 Block
(Shunyi District Nan Fa Xin Project
& IRBES SR =z 500 178,700 180,500 90,250 960,000,000 480,000,000 5319
Suzhou (BHRELRER) Residential

North Star CIFt No.1 Courtyard
(Hi-Tech District Huashan Road Project)
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T & o) LAND BANK (continued)
RN REEBR-Z-HFENLEE(E)  Table 6: The Group's land acquisition in 2015 (Continued)
EhHRE T4
RE BEER THARK
BEME (FREEM) (FeRER)
£E (FEBEN)  Attributable £E Average
fitbEs Planned GFA planned GFA ~ #E4%E  E{E#HE  land cost
W %A IERYRE Theequity  f#E®  (excluding (excluding Total  Attributable  (excluding
City Project Intended Primary Use interest Site Area carparks) carparks) consideration consideration carparks)
(AE®T/
(Frk)  (FrK) (¥5K) (AR%7) (AR%%) THK)
(%) (squm) (sqm) (squm.) (RMB) (RMB)  (RMB/sg.m.)
IR AEERSEZEN0 05 =z 55 13500 19000 11,305 225,000,000 133,875,000 11802
Beijing Daxing District Yinghai Town Residential
Jiangehang Cun 02-1-1 Project
IR AEREEIERGN - HEREE 190 158,300 266,200 130438 2410000000 1,180,900,000 9053
Beijing PGZOT-028 Commercial and residential
Daxing District Pangge Zhuang
Town PGZ01-01, PGZ01-02 Project
E BT HERAEE 300 35,600 635,700 190710 238,000,000 698,700,000 3664
Chongging (LHFEAMMR) Commercial and residential
CIFl Jiangshan Yue
New Northern District
Dazhulin Projectd
L s i=3 33 264000 60,700 B2 BN HBI}AHD 14788
Shanghei (EEEFZR=RBARIEEE) Residential
CIFI Park Mansion West
(Jia Ding District Ying Yi An Ting Golf Villa Prject]
B BRAEN iz 100 131,000 209,700 83680 3100000000 1,240,000,000 14763
Suzhou (IXRENSAzEHSR) Residentia
CIFI Park Mansion Lakeside
(Industrial Park District No. 3, Moon Bay Project)
AR BEAlEE iz 1000 28,700 80400 80400 1150000000 1,150,000,000 14303
Nanjing (IZERRAUEREUHEER) Residentia
CIFI Park Mansion Qinhuai
(Jiangning District Nanjing South Station West Area
No. 34-35 Project]
&5 BEHE iz 1000 20,000 70,100 70,100 294,590,000 294,590,000 40
Shenyang (BRREZDRELEE) Residentia
CIFIJin Court
(Tiexi District Xinghua Printing Factory North Project|
K EEEEIBTR =z 200 82,200 147900 29590 431,550,000 86,310,000 2918
Tianjin Jinnan District No.2013-26 Project Residential
RE HRATS BEREE 50 129800 289,000 158,950 909,090,909 500,000,000 3146
Wuhan (EBEERR) Commercial and residential
Yulong CIFI Peninsula
(Hanyang District Hangiao Cun Project]
il BRI BEREE 1000 54,100 129800 19800 A0 337430000 2600
Hangzhou (FEZEABLAE) Commercial and esidential
CIFI Times City
(Vuhang Distrct Chongyian Xin Cheng B4 Project)
R (EBDBR AR | ZT—AFFH 55
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T & o) LAND BANK (continued)
RN REEBR-Z-HFENLEE(E)  Table 6: The Group's land acquisition in 2015 (Continued)
(13 T4
RE REER THRE
BEEOE (FREEM) (F2fER)
£ (FEBEM) Attributable H Average
fEEs Planned GFA planned GFA ~ #{E# %  E{i%{  land cost
W EH IZRYRE Theequity ~ fi#E®  (exclding  (excluding Total Attributable  (excluding
City Project Intended Primary Use interest Site Area carparks) carparks) ~consideration consideration carparks)
(AR®T/
(Fr%)  (FH%)  (F5K) (AR¥7) (AR¥7) 5K
(%) (sqm.) (sqm) (sqm.) (RMB) (RMB)  (RMB/sq.m.)
M FlEERDR EEREE 10 57400 143900 a4 THSSEL uI000 5111
Hangzhou Xiaoshan District Baolong Project Commercial and residential
AR Bl iz 40 B0 70700 UGH 1500000000 735000000 1.8
Nanjing (EHEERAGLEBTR Residential
North Star CIFl Park Mansion Jinling
(Jianye District North YingSan Street No.26 Project)
b INTENZEAETIAANADIAS 5 FREREE 30 83400 21,100 7214 1,236,000,000 420,240,000 543
Shanghai Songjiang District, Jiuting Town, Unit A, No. 11A-01A/15A01A Office and Commercial
Project
Al ARERIER iz 500 141,700 239,000 119500 2233030000 1126515000 940
Hefi Luyang District, 212 acres Project Residential
iRl BIERERGI605E % 1000 29800 86400 86,400 522,000,000 522,000,000 6,002
Hangzhou Xiao Shan District, Olympic Park FG16-04 Project Commercial
B HERRTRNRALEHRLR iz 180 3190 143600 728 201100000 382096700 14004
Guangzhou Liwan District No.111, Baihua Road, Bai Hua Xiang Liao Chang  Residential
Project
“E-RE+ZHA=+—-RENLTHKE (REZEEQE A
Land acquisition subsequent to 31 December 2015 (and up to the date of the results announcement)
il BLERHE LG iz 1000 57400 11480 114800 73,000,000 73,000,000 5862
Hangzhou Xiaoshan District, Xiaozhengchuchu 2015-No.32 Project Residential
i BEHRGIEAT LR iz 100 9,100 9900 69930 256,571,430 179,600,001 2568
Tianjin Binhai New Avea, Sino-Singapore Eco City, 2015-No.3 Project~ Residential
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Cash position

The Group had bank balances and cash of approximately RMB14,873.7
million (2014: RMB7,093.7 million) and pledged bank deposits of
approximately RMB31.5 million (2014: RMB30.0 million) as at 31
December 2015.

Indebtedness

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had outstanding total borrowings
amounted to approximately RMB23,954.9 million (2014: RMB13,860.7
million), comprising bank and other loans of approximately
RMB11,657.9 million (2014: RMB9,503.8 million), onshore corporate
bonds with a carrying amount of RMB4,021.0 million (2014 nil) and
offshore senior notes with a carrying amount of RMB8,276.0 million
(2014: RMB4,356.9 million). As at 31 December 2015, the Group had
un-utilized banking facilities of RMB1,520.9 million (2014: RMB2,854.5
million).
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Indebtedness (Continued)

Table 8: Breakdown of indebtedness
By type of borrowings and maturity

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

—E-hF —Z—mEF
+=A=+—-8B | +t=ZA=+—H
31.12.2015 31.12.2014
ARET ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BRRITER Onshore bank loans
—FR Within one year 2,793,500 2,301,650
—FP L BNEBBME Over one years and within two years 2,101,200 3,434,803
MEE - B BB=F Over two years and within three years 2,772,900 1,450,860
=FP L BRNEBBEF Over three years and within four years 954,700 -
AFENE Over five years 546,569 571,635
INET Subtotal 9,168,869 7,758,948
BRGEEREMER Onshore trust and other loans
—FR Within one year - 500,000
MEE - BRBB=F Over two years and within three years - 310,000
INEE Subtotal _ 810,000
BAQARES Onshore corporate bonds
MEME - BETBARSE Over four years and within five years 4,021,032 -
NEt Subtotal 4,021,032 -
BIMRITER Offshore bank loans
—FR Within one year - 233,712
—F Pk BRBBME Over one year and within two years 1,467,881 701,137
ME L - BRBB=F Over two years and within three years 1,021,153 -
INEE Subtotal 2,489,034 934,849
BIMBEARE Offshore senior notes
MEAE - BRBB=F Over two years and within three years 3,096,327 -
=FP L BERBBEF Over three years and within four years 2,624,258 3,138,677
WFELAE - BTNEBBRF Over four years and within five years 2,555,373 1,218,273
INEE Subtotal 8,275,958 4,356,950
st TOTAL 23,954,893 13,860,747
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(Continued)
Indebtedness (Continued)

Table 8: Breakdown of indebtedness (Continued)

By currency denomination

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

—E-hEF —ZT—NEF
+=B=+—-8| +=A=+—H
31.12.2015 31.12.2014
AR¥T T AREBFIT
RMB'000 RMB’000
INEEE DR BRI Analysis of borrowings by currency
—AARKEEE — Denominated in RMB 13,458,603 8,568,948
—AZEITEHE — Denominated in USD 8,965,013 4,804,851
—LABTTEHE — Denominated in HKD 1,531,277 486,948
23,954,893 13,860,747
REESZEFZRE D By fixed or variable interest rates
—E-RfF —E O
+=A=+-8 | +t=A=+-8
31.12.2015 31.12.2014
AR¥T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
EF A& Fixed interest rates 13,782,490 7,243,650
TFENFR Variable interest rates 10,172,403 6,617,097
23,954,893 13,860,747
JEIEEE (AR AR | —E—REER 59
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
(Continued)

Cost of borrowings

The Group's total finance costs expensed and capitalized in 2015 was
approximately RMB1,774.0 million, representing an increase of 23.6%
from RMB1,435.6 million in 2014. The increase in total finance costs
incurred was due to higher average balance of indebtedness in 2015
versus 2014.

The Group’s weighted average cost of all indebtedness (including
bank and other loans, onshore corporate bonds and offshore senior
notes) as at 31 December 2015 was 7.2%, compared to 8.3% as
at 31 December 2014. The decrease in weighted average cost of
indebtedness during the year was primarily attributable to the effective
liability management exercise by the Group.

Foreign currency risk

The Group conducts its business primarily in Renminbi. The Group’s
certain bank deposits are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
United States dollars, and the Group’s offshore bank loans and senior
notes are denominated in United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars.

Other than those disclosed, the Group does not have any material
exposures to foreign exchange fluctuations. The Group does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the Group monitors
its foreign currency exposure closely and may, depending on the
circumstances and trend of foreign currencies, consider adopting a
significant foreign currency hedging policy in the future.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
(Continued)

Financial guarantees

The Group has provided mortgage guarantees to PRC banks in respect
of the mortgage loans provided by the PRC banks to the Group's
customers. The Group’s mortgage guarantees are issued from the
dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and released upon
the earlier of (i) the relevant property ownership certificates being
obtained and the certificates of other interests with respect to the
relevant properties being delivered to the mortgagee banks, or (i) the
settlement of mortgage loans between the mortgagee banks and the
Group's customers. As at 31 December 2015, the Group provided
mortgage guarantees in respect of mortgage loans provided by the
PRC banks to the Group's customers amounting to RMB3,644.2
million (versus 31 December 2014: RMB2,761.5 million).

During the year, the Group's joint venture companies in respect of the
development Hangzhou Greenland CIFI Glorious City and Shanghai
Lujiazui Yangjing project have utilized offshore and onshore bank
loans. The Company provided guarantees on several basis covering
its respective equity shares of outstanding obligations under certain
offshore and onshore bank loans incurred by the joint venture
companies developing these projects. As at 31 December 2015, the
Group's aggregate share of such guarantees provided in respective
of loans incurred by these joint ventures amounted to approximately
RMB2,744.2 million.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
(Continued)

Gearing ratio

The Group's net debt-to-equity ratio (total indebtedness net of
bank balances and cash divided by total equity) was 59.2% as at 31
December 2015 versus 58.2% as at 31 December 2014. With onshore
perpetual capital instrument as debt instead of equity for the purpose
of calculation, net debt-to-equity ratio was 59.2% as at 31 December
2015 versus 63.2% as at December 2014. The Group’s debt-to-asset
ratio (total indebtedness divided by total assets) was 35.5% as at 31
December 2015 versus 31.8% as at 31 December 2014. The Group's
current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) was 1.8 times
as at 31 December 2015 versus 1.5 times as at 31 December 2014.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND COMPENSATION POLICY
As at 31 December 2015, the Group had approximately 4,950 full-time
employees in China including Hong Kong, out of them, approximately
1,900 employees worked for the property development and related
businesses, approximately 200 for the commercial property leasing
and management business, and approximately 2,850 for the property
management business.

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
working experience and the prevailing market wage level. The total
remuneration of the employees consisted of basic salary, cash bonus
and share-based incentives.

The Group adopts and implements a policy for human resources
conducive to its sustainable development. Professional ethics and
expertise are important criteria for the employment and promotion
of the staff members. Each of the Group’'s employees is encouraged
to seek self-improvements, development and mutual growth. The
Group offer in-house training programmes for employees at various
levels. Solid measures are being taken to enhance staff training
and continuous learning. Career opportunities for existing staff
are emphasized when we seek to select outstanding personnel
for appointments. The ongoing train-up of managers with high
professional standards, passion and commitment remains an
important mission for the Group’s human resources development.

CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LIN Zhong, aged 47, our founder, is the executive Director and
Chairman of the Company. Mr. Lin Zhong has about 25 years of
experience in the real estate business. He was appointed as Director
on 20 May 2011, and is the chairman of the Nomination Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company and is
also a substantial shareholder of the Company and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Lin Zhong was appointed as a member
of the board of directors of the Oriental Real Estate Institute, council
member of the Council Board of Shanghai Land Institute in 2011,
the vice chairman of Fujian Chamber of Commerce in Shanghai, vice
chairman of Shanghai Population Welfare Foundation, vice chairman
of National Real Estate Chamber of Commerce and honorary chairman
of its Shanghai Sub-Chamber in 2013, and the deputy chief council
member of the Eighth Term of Council of the Shanghai Real Estate
Association and the rotating chairman of New Shanghai Businessman
Federation in 2014. Mr. Lin Zhong graduated from the Xiamen
University with a bachelor’'s degree in economics. He further pursued
and obtained an executive master of business administration degree
from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business. Mr. Lin Zhong is a
brother of Mr. Lin Wei and Mr. Lin Feng. Mr. Lin Zhong is a director of
Rosy Fortune Investments Limited (“Rosy Fortune”) and Ding Chang
Limited, substantial shareholders of the Company, whose interests
in shares of the Company are disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Securities” in the "Directors’
Report"” section of this annual report.

Mr. LIN Wei, aged 43, is the executive Director and Vice-chairman
of the Company. He was appointed as Director on 20 May 2011, and
is also a substantial shareholder of the Company and a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Lin Wei has about 20 years of
experience in the real estate business. He laid the foundation of our
Group's development with Mr. Lin Zhong. Mr. Lin Wei is a brother
of Mr. Lin Zhong and Mr. Lin Feng. Mr. Lin Wei is a director of Rosy
Fortune and Eminent Talent Limited, substantial shareholders of the
Company, whose interests in shares of the Company are disclosed
in the paragraph headed “Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in
Securities” in the "Directors’ Report” section of this annual report.
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Mr. LIN Feng, aged 40, is the executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company. He is also a substantial shareholder of the
Company and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Lin
Feng has about 16 years of experience in the real estate business.
He joined our Group in 2001 and was appointed as Director on 20
May 2011. Mr. Lin Feng is currently the vice chairman of China Real
Estate Chamber of Commerce, a council member of All-China Youth
Federation, executive council member of Shanghai Youth Federation,
executive council member of Shanghai Federation of Industry and
Commerce (Commerce Chamber), council member of Shanghai
Changning District Association of Industry and Commerce (Commerce
Chamber), executive council member of Shanghai Putuo District Youth
Federation, representative of the Shanghai Putuo District People's
Congress, chairman of the executive council of China Urban Realty
Association and director of CIFI Charity Foundation. Mr. Lin Feng
graduated from the Xiamen University with a bachelor’'s degree in
economics and further obtained a master of business administration
degree from the University of Dundee. Mr. Lin Feng is a brother of Mr.
Lin Zhong and Mr. Lin Wei. Mr. Lin Feng is a director of Rosy Fortune
and Rain-Mountain Limited, substantial shareholders of the Company,
whose interests in shares of the Company are disclosed in the
paragraph headed “Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Securities”
in the “Directors’ Report” section of this annual report.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. GU Yunchang, aged 71, was appointed as our independent non-
executive Director on 9 October 2012 and is a member of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Gu was
the vice chairman of the China Real Estate Research Association from
2006 to May 2013 and had also been the vice chairman and secretary-
general of the China Real Estate Association from 1998 to 2006.

Mr. Gu formerly served at different positions in the Ministry of
Construction of the PRC, including the deputy director at Policy
Research Centre of Ministry of Construction from 1988 to 1998;
the person-in-charge of the City and Township Residence Research
Centre of Ministry of Construction from 1986 to 1988; and the deputy
division head and division head at Urban Residence Bureau of Ministry
of Construction from 1979 to 1986.
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Mr. Gu specializes in theory and policy research, market research
and analysis concerning China real estate industry. In the 1980s, he
participated in the policy research and formulation of China’s city
and village residential construction techniques, carrying on a State
key project “2000 China”, and won the First Class National Science
Technology Advance Award in China twice. After joining the China
Real Estate Association in 1998, he has been involved in promoting the
development of the China real estate industry as well as undertaking
the research and analysis of the national real estate market. He is also
the main organizer and writer of the China Real Estate Market Report,
an annual analysis report issued by the China Real Estate Association.
Mr. Gu was an independent non-executive director of Shimao Property
Holdings Limited (SEHK stock code: 813) from April 2006 to May 2011
and was an independent non-executive director of E-House (China)
Holdings Limited (NYSE stock code: EJ) from August 2008 to March
2014. Mr. Gu is currently an independent non-executive director of
Sino-Ocean Land Holdings Limited (SEHK stock code: 3377), COFCO
Property (Group) Co., Ltd. (SZSE stock code: 000031), Zhejiang Yasha
Decoration Co., Ltd. (SZSE stock code: 002375) and Sunshine 100
China Holdings Ltd (SEHK stock code: 2608). Mr. Gu obtained a
bachelor’'s degree in urban planning from Tongji University.

Mr. ZHANG Yongyue, aged 61, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 9 October 2012, and is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang obtained a
bachelor’'s degree in economics from East China Normal University
where he taught since his graduation and he had become a professor
of the Business School at the same university since 1998. He is
currently a tenured professor at East China Normal University, and
the Dean of Shanghai E-house China R&D Institute, concurrently as
the vice president of the China Institute of Real Estate Appraisers
and Agents, Shanghai Economist Association, Shanghai Real Estate
Economy Society, as well as a council member of China Real Estate
Association. Mr. Zhang was an independent director of Shanghai
Wanye Enterprises Co. Ltd. (SSE stock code: 600641) from May 2010
to August 2015.
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Mr. TAN Wee Seng, aged 60, was appointed as our independent non-
executive Director on 9 October 2012, and is the chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Tan is a professional in value and business management
consultancy. He is currently an independent non-executive director
(re-designated from a non-executive director to an independent non-
executive director with effect from May 2015) of Xtep International
Holdings Limited (SEHK stock code: 1368), an independent non-
executive director of Sa Sa International Holdings Limited (SEHK stock
code: 178), an independent non-executive director and the chairman
of the remuneration committee of Biostime International Holdings
Limited (SEHK stock code: 1112) and an independent non-executive
director, member of the remuneration committee (re-designated
from the chairman to a member of the remuneration committee with
effect from 8 March 2016) and the chairman of the audit committee
(appointed as the chairman of the audit committee with effect from 8
March 2016) of Sinopharm Group Co. Ltd. (SEHK stock code: 1099),
the shares of all of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, an independent director and the chairman of the audit
committee (appointed as the chairman of the audit committee with
effect from 8 March 2016) of ReneSola Ltd (NYSE stock code: SOL),
the shares of which are listed on the New York Stock Exchange. He
is also a board member and the chairman of the finance and operation
committee of Beijing City International School, an academic institution
in Beijing. Mr. Tan had been an independent director of 7 Days Group
Holdings Limited whose shares were listed on the New York Stock
Exchange between November 2009 and July 2013 until the group
was privatized and he was the chairman of the special committee for
privatization from October 2012 to July 2013.

Mr. Tan has over 32 years of financial management, corporate
finance, merger and acquisition, business management and strategy
development experience. He has also held various management
and senior management positions in a number of multi-national
corporations. From 2003 to 2008, he was an executive director,
chief financial officer and company secretary of Li Ning Company
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. From 1999 to 2002, he was the senior vice president of
Reuters for China, Mongolia and North Korea regions, and the chief
representative of Reuters in China. Prior to that, he had served as
the managing director of AFE Computer Services Limited, a Reuters
subsidiary in Hong Kong which was a company mainly engaged in
domestic equity and financial information services, and as director
of Infocast Pty Limited, a Reuters subsidiary in Australia and as
the regional finance manager of Reuters East Asia. Mr. Tan is a
professional accountant and a fellow member of the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants in United Kingdom, and the
Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. YAU Sze Ka (Albert), aged 44, is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Group. Mr. Yau has over 21 years of experience in capital markets
and corporate management, and has successfully executed numerous
capital markets transactions including initial public offerings, equity
and bond issues, syndicated loans, project financings, mergers and
acquisitions and corporate restructuring. He joined the Group in July
2011.
Group of Hong Kong and a number of international investment banks.
Mr. Yau graduated from the University of California at Berkeley with a
bachelor of science degree. He is also a holder of Chartered Financial

Before joining CIFI, he had held senior positions at Lai Sun

Analyst.

Mr. CHEN Dongbiao, aged 48, is the Executive Vice President
of the Group, responsible for overall management of operations,
construction, procurement and cost, and land investments. Mr. Chen
joined the Group in August 2013. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen
worked for China Vanke Co., Ltd., and held the positions of director of
Engineering of China Vanke Co., Ltd., general manager and chairman
of Shanghai Vanke Real Estate Co., Ltd. Mr. Chen graduated from the
China Europe International Business School with a master of business
administration degree, and Shanghai City Construction Institute with
a bachelor of engineering degree. Mr. Chen was a representative of
Shanghai Pudong District People’s Congress from 1997 to 2002 and
has been a committee member of Shanghai Minhang District Political
Consultative Conference.

Mr. ZHANG Liang, aged 42, is the Vice President and the Chief
Human Resources Officer of the Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group
in February 2012. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhang worked in SPH
Ke Yuan Xinhai Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd (formerly known as CITIC
Pharma Co., Ltd.) as the chief human resources officer from July 2010
to January 2012. He also worked in Tianjin Tasly Group Co., Ltd. as
the president assistant and the director of the human resources centre
from April 2005 to July 2010. Mr. Zhang had worked in Motorola (China)
Electronics Limited from December 1995 to April 2005, as the human
resources manager of semi-conductor department and the Asia Pacific
representative of Global Performance Management Project. Mr. Zhang
graduated from the China Europe International Business School with a
master of business administration degree, and Tianjin Foreign Studies
University with a bachelor of arts degree.
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Mr. ZHU Yu, aged 53, is the Vice President of the Group. Mr. Zhu
joined our Group in March 2006. Prior to joining our Group, he was
the secretary of the board and deputy general manager of Jiangsu
Xiake Color Spinning Co., Ltd, a listed company in the PRC. Mr.
Zhu graduated from Nanjin Normal University (F 7 ET%5A53) with a
bachelor’'s degree in mathematics. He also obtained the qualification
of associate professor in the PRC.

Mr. ZHOU Qijia, aged 39, is the Vice President and General Manager
of Sales and Marketing of the Group. Mr. Zhou joined the Group in
July 2015. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhou worked for Greenland
Holdings Corporation Limited as deputy general manger from 2006 to
2015 and held the position of client director for Shenzhen Worldunion
Properties Consultancy Incorporated from 2004 to 2006. Mr. Zhou
graduated from Jiaxing University, majoring in management of
investment and economics.

Ms. FAN Yiting, aged 43, is the Vice President (Design) of the Group.
Ms. Fan joined the Group in October 2015. Prior to joining the Group,
Ms. Fan worked for China Overseas Grand Oceans Group Limited as
assistant president and vice chief architect from 2011 to 2015. She
held the positions of director, design director (Eastern China), design
director (Northern China), general manager of planning and design
management center and deputy manager of Shenzhen branch for
China Overseas Property Group Co., Ltd. from 2000 to 2011. Ms. Fan
worked for Beijing Architectural Design Institute of China Construction
as an architect from 1993 to 1997. Ms. Fan graduated from South
China University of Technology with a master’'s degree in architecture
and obtained a bachelor’'s degree in architecture from Chang’an
University (formerly known as The Northwest Institute of Construction
Engineering). She is also a certified architect with professional
qualification.

Mr. PAN Taoyuan, aged 48, is the President Assistant and Director of
Investment and Development of the Group. Mr. Pan joined the Group
in February 2008 and was previously the Group’s General Manager of
Sales and Marketing Management Centre of the Group. Before joining
our Group, Mr. Pan worked in Shanghai P & R Real Estate Consultant
Co., Ltd as the deputy general manager from October 2004 to January
2007. Mr. Pan graduated from the National Taichung Institute of
Technology majoring in Japanese language.
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Mr. YANG Xin, aged 42, is the President Assistant and the General
Manager of Finance Center of the Group. Mr. Yang joined the Group
in July 2010. He has experience in banking and finance. Prior to joining
the Group, he worked in various management positions at Agricultural
Bank of China Limited. Mr. Yang graduated from the Shanghai Jiao
Tong University with a bachelor’'s degree in international finance and
further obtained a master of business administration degree. He also
holds the Senior International Finance Manager qualification issued by
International Financial Management Association.

Mr. LEUNG Yuk Ming (Lawrence), aged 41, is the Director of
Investor Relations of the Group. He has extensive experience in
investor relations, investment banking, Listing Rules compliance and
accounting. In his career, Mr. Leung worked for Powerlong Real Estate
Holdings Limited, Macquarie Capital (Hong Kong) Limited, DBS Asia
Capital Limited, the Listing Division of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong and Ernst & Young. Mr. Leung received his bachelor’s degree in
commerce and LLB from the University of Calgary and the University
of London respectively. He is a holder of Chartered Financial Analyst,
member of Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts and member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He joined the
Group in June 2013.

Mr. LIU Feng, aged 40, is the Director of Cost Management of the
Group. Mr. Liu joined in the Group in August 2011. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Liu worked for China Resources Land (Shanghai) Co.
Ltd from 2003 to 2011 and held the position of contract manager,
Shanghai and Zhejiang Area contract responsible officer. Before
that, he worked for Shanghai Vanke Real Estate Co., Ltd. as head
of procurement in engineering management department. Mr. Liu
graduated from Zhejiang University majoring in civil engineering, with
a master degree in engineering.

Mr. GE Ming, aged 36, is the Director of Human Resources of the
Group. Mr. Ge joined the Group in April 2012 and have vast experience
in human resources management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ge
worked at Oriental Cambridge Education Group as the director of
human resources and a member of the executive committee. Prior to
that, Mr. Ge worked at Shanghai Tuosheng Associates and Longfor
Properties. Mr. Ge graduated from Fudan University with a bachelor’'s
degree in economics, majoring in international finance.
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Mr. WU Chenguang, aged 46, is the Director of Engineering and
Procurement of the Group. Mr. Wu joined the Group in February
2014. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wu worked for China Vanke Co.,
Ltd. from September 2002 to February 2014 and held the positions
of manager of the procurement center of China Vanke Co., Ltd. and
engineering director and assistant general manager of Shanghai Vanke
Property Management Co., Ltd.. Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor’s degree
in engineering management from Southeast University of China,
majoring in civil engineering.

Mr. DING Zhaohui, aged 43, is the Director of Legal and Internal
Audit of the Group. Mr. Ding joined the Group in September 2014.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ding worked for China Vanke Co., Ltd.
from October 2000 to September 2014 and held the positions of
deputy general manager and general manager of legal department of
China Vanke Co., Ltd.. Mr. Ding graduated from East China Normal
University with a bachelor’s degree in history and later obtained a
master of laws degree from Renmin University of China.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. LO Tai On, aged 61, was appointed as our Company Secretary
in October 2012. Mr. Lo is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He has over 28 years of experience
in the field of company secretarial services and is now a director of
Fair Wind Secretarial Services Ltd., a secretarial company rendering
secretarial services. Mr. Lo is also the company secretary of several
companies listed on the Stock Exchange, including AAC Technologies
Holdings Inc. (SEHK stock code: 2018), Pak Fah Yeow International
Limited (SEHK stock code: 239), and Good Friend International
Holdings Inc. (SEHK stock code: 2398).
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The Board of the Company is pleased to present the corporate
governance report for the year ended 31 December 2015.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognizes the importance of corporate transparency
and accountability. The Company is committed in achieving a high
standard of corporate governance and leading the Group to attain
better results and improve its corporate image with effective corporate
governance procedures.

During the year under review, the Board is of opinion that the
Company had adopted, applied and complied with the code provisions
as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) contained
in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

In view of the new requirements in respect of risk management and
internal control systems of listed issuers under the revised Code
which apply to accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016, the terms of reference of the Audit Committee were revised in
December 2015 to align with the revised Code. The Audit Committee
will continue to oversee the Company’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems.

(A) THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

As at 31 December 2015, the Board consisted of six Directors
comprising Mr. LIN Zhong (Chairman), Mr. LIN Wei (Vice-chairman),
Mr. LIN Feng (Chief Executive Officer) as the executive Directors; and
Mr. GU Yunchang, Mr. ZHANG Yongyue and Mr. TAN Wee Seng as
the independent non-executive Directors. The overall management
and supervision of the Company's operation and the function of
formulating overall business strategies were vested in the Board.

There are no financial, business, family or other material relationships
among members of the Board except that Mr. LIN Zhong, Mr. LIN Wei
and Mr. LIN Feng are brothers.

During the year under review, the Board has at all times met the
requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors
with at least one independent non-executive director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

71



1 3% 4% 16 B

Corporate Governance Report

(A) BEEEwm

EEEHMAE)
CHRBUFRTESHERETS —F
REAZ - hlER Em R BIZEI 10AK
FTiRE - AT - BT AZEILIE
HWTESEAMNESTEE L= 2—KE
A -EESHE EESHELHNE
7 AR BE AR SR 2% o

EEEMR
EEENBEREEARTIMBEES
% BEHERMEMERRER &
RIS c NEPEERAKRERRES - U
RERSMITHRABRREIL - EFEMN
RABZFZEHBEBAATE - RZF
—RF+-A=+—H EEgH A
EE BRE-AWTESK=-HRBUIF
WITESRHEK - ESREREFFET
BEREAFRIEERSREEABEHN]
ﬁq o

ARREREERARASREREAR
BEAETRR IRFETREARSIE
HETEREEREEZRE -

ExeERED
EFEeRETEE(ANTESERAMLS
MITHABHAK)  AFEETHESE T
R R AN RO SRBE e 5 81 - WERIE RSB A
BEEER - WTEFRSRITHAER
SEHEH  BRIAKEEBNEBR
B HRBEERIELIBEREER
T EFENHERREZIEEED B
EEEERANESSHFERENER - 1F
BT AR S - W& E MR E R S
MZH  BR—EVEAEENTE -

72

(A) THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board composition (Continued)

The three independent non-executive Directors represent half of the
Board, the proportion of which is higher than what is required by
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules whereby independent non-executive
directors of a listed issuer must represent at least one-third of the
board. The Board believes there is sufficient independence element in
the Board to safeguard the interest of shareholders.

Directors’ responsibilities

The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the
Company, including the formulation and approval of all policy matters,
overall strategies, internal control and risk management systems, and
monitor the performance of the senior executives. The Directors have
to make decisions objectively in the interests of the Company. As at
31 December 2015, the Board comprised six Directors, including three
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
Their names and biographical details are set out in the “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Management” section of this annual report.

Liability insurance for Directors and senior management of the
Company is maintained by the Company with appropriate coverage
for certain legal liabilities which may arise in the course of performing
their duties.

Delegation by the Board

The management, consisting of executive Directors along with other
senior executives, is delegated with responsibilities for implementing
the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board from time to time,
and conducting the day-to-day operations of the Group. Executive
Directors and senior executives meet regularly to review the
performance of the businesses of the Group as a whole, co-ordinate
overall resources and make financial and operational decisions. The
Board also gives clear directions as to their powers of management
including circumstances where management should report back, and
will review the delegation arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure
that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.

CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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(A) THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Model code for securities transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “"Model Code"”) contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct of dealings
in securities of the Company by Directors. Upon specific enquiries of
all the Directors, each of them confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the Model Code during the year under
review.

As required by the Company, relevant officers and employees of the
Company are also bound by the Model Code, which prohibits them
to deal in securities of the Company at any time when he possesses
inside information in relation to those securities. No incident of non-
compliance of the Model Code by the relevant officers and employees
was noted by the Company.

Directors’ responsibilities for financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Group in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors
also acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that the financial
statements of the Group are published in a timely manner. The
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Directors have
prepared the financial statements of the Company on a going concern
basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company's external auditor on
the financial statements of the Group are set out in the “Independent
Auditor’'s Report” of this annual report.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the
Board by virtue of their independent judgment and their views carry
significant weight in the Board’s decision. They bring an impartial view
on issues of the Company's strategies, performance and control.

All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive academic,

professional and industry expertise and management experience and
have provided their professional advice to the Board.
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(A) THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

The Board also considers that the independent non-executive
Directors can provide independent advice on the Company’s business
strategies, results and management so as to safeguard the interests
of the Company and its shareholders.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of
three years. As at 31 December 2015, none of the independent non-
executive Directors held any other offices in the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or is interested in any shares of the Company. For the year
under review, all independent non-executive Directors have confirmed
respectively their independence to the Company in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment, re-election and removal of Directors

Each of the executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a service contract or a letter of appointment
with the Company for a specific term. Such term is subject to his
retirement by rotation and re-election at an annual general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association. The Company’s Articles of Association provide that any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board
or as an additional member of the Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting and shall then be eligible for re-
election at such meeting.

In accordance with the Company's Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for
the time being, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The members of the Company may, at any general meetings
convened and held in accordance with the Company's Articles of
Association, remove a Director by ordinary resolution at any time
before the expiration of his period of office notwithstanding anything
contrary in the Company'’s Articles of Association or in any agreement
between the Company and such Director and may by ordinary
resolution elect another person in his stead.

CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2015



1 3% 4% 16 B

Corporate Governance Report

A) EEgw)

EEEEeE
EEerHemEmmsT il EAEBRANE
BRI LE @&Bﬁr&?@fﬁ EE50H
BEESAETFBRMTAREEE -

o
}

FRSF AR SFAIME XA %%ﬁé
THeRATHRIBFETUAEES
w°%@%¢&’$Aﬂ%%ﬂ@m%

(A) THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board meetings

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall
strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group. Directors may participate either in person or through electronic
means of communications.

Pursuant to code provision A.1.1 of the Code, the Board should meet
regularly and board meetings should be held as least four times a year.
During the year under review, the Company held four Board meetings

RN ABRRRE - and one general meeting.
BEEMLERSNT ¢ The attendance of each Director is as follows:
No. of Board No. of general
meetings attended/ meetings attended/
Total no. of Total no. of
Board meetings general meetings
HEESESRAE HERRAERE
BEEME Name of Directors EESSEAY BRERASEE
HITEF Executive Directors
MRS A Mr. LIN Zhong 4/4 171
WERE Mr. LIN Wei 4/4 0/1
RIS A Mr. LIN Feng 4/4 0/1
BUIHBITESE Independent Non-Executive Directors
EESLAE Mr. GU Yunchang 4/4 0/1
SRR Mr. ZHANG Yongyue 4/4 0/1
PRIZR & Mr. TAN Wee Seng 4/4 171
R (EBDBR AR | ZT—AFFH 75
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(A) THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board meetings (Continued)

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company has arranged in-house trainings for Directors in the form of
seminar and provision of training materials, and all Directors received
their training by attending either in person or through electronic means
of communications. A summary of training received by Directors
during the year under review according to the records provided by the
Directors is as follows:

BHEER -
EERRR

H A AHBA = REE I
Training on
corporate governance,
regulatory development

EElR Name of Directors and other relevant topics
HITEE Executive Directors

A S A Mr. LIN Zhong v/
N Mr. LIN Wei v/
PRI 52 A Mr. LIN Feng v/
BB TESE Independent Non-Executive Directors

BEEENRE Mr. GU Yunchang v
RKERE Mr. ZHANG Yongyue v/
FRIZA JC Mr. TAN Wee Seng v/
TEERIIRE Corporate governance functions

EEQRERTHREE BB The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance

(@) BEREBHAAREREABRE
A

b) BAREEEEREREEAEN
BIIRSEERER

© BWAREEARRRBERNMER @ A
BTERENMEERE

(d) ¥R RIMEBERNEELE

SMRTEARERFM(H)
K

(e) AmEf AR B EST AR B 810
ZER(EREETAREEE AR

&)

REEFE  EFECETLHIBE
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duties including:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) toreview the Company’'s compliance with Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules (Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report).

The Board had performed the above duties during the year under
review.
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(A) THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

During the year under review, the positions of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer were held separately. The role of Chairman
was held by Mr. LIN Zhong, and the role of Chief Executive Officer
was held by Mr. LIN Feng. The segregation of duties of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer ensures a clear distinction in the
Chairman’s responsibility to manage and provide leadership for the
Board and the Chief Executive Officer's responsibility to manage the
Company's business.

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees (the “Board
Committees”) and has delegated various responsibilities to the
committees including the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and
the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”). All the
Board Committees perform their distinct roles in accordance with their
respective terms of reference which are available to shareholders on
the Company’s website. The Board Committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company's expense.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph C.3 of the Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
are to provide the Board with an independent review of the
effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal control and
risk management systems of the Group, to oversee the audit process
and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the
Board.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. TAN Wee Seng (being the chairman of the
Audit Committee), Mr. GU Yunchang and Mr. ZHANG Yongyue.
In compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the chairman of
the Audit Committee possesses the appropriate professional and
accounting qualifications.
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(A) THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held two meetings
with the senior management and independent auditor of the Company
to consider the independence and audit scope of independent auditor,
and to review and discuss the internal control system, interim and
annual financial statements of the Company and the opinion and
report of independent auditor before submitting to the Board for their
approval.

BB ERsENT The attendance of each member is as follows:
No. of
meetings attended/
Total no. of meetings
HESBRE
REHEH Name of members SEEH
PRIERK S A (EFF) Mr. TAN Wee Seng (Chairman) 2/2
BEEXE Mr. GU Yunchang 2/2
RAKELAE Mr. ZHANG Yongyue 2/2

FHEESE Remuneration Committee

ARARRIFMEZE S - WERTRIE
BABRKRE » Al EMBERE - Z
ZEGNIZBAEBKEERRR) : (a)
REREENSRERASFHIEE R
g MR ZIERMEERAZNRERF
HEHMEE  AEEFSREER © (b)
MEESERRTEERSREREAE
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ORI BRI & B R MR Rt
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The Company established the Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B.1 of the Code.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but not
limited to): (a) making recommendations to the Board on the policy
and structure for all Directors’ and senior management remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy; (b) making recommendations on
the terms of the specific remuneration package of the executive
Directors and senior management; and (c) reviewing and approving
performance—-based remuneration proposals with reference to
corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to
time.

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, of whom
two are independent non-executive Directors. The three members
are Mr. ZHANG Yongyue (being the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee), Mr. LIN Zhong, the executive Director and Chairman and
Mr. TAN Wee Seng.
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(A) THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held
one meeting to review the remuneration structure of the Directors
and senior management of the Group and appraisal system of the
key positions of the Group, discuss the challenges of attracting
and retaining senior level staff of the Company, and make
recommendations on the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and senior management for 2015.

EXERHFLHAT - The attendance of each member is as follows:
No. of
meetings attended/
Total no. of meetings
HESERE
REHA Name of members i gy
FKERE(ER) Mr. ZHANG Yongyue (Chairman) 1/1
A S A Mr. LIN Zhong 1”1
BRIE K S Mr. TAN Wee Seng 1/1

REEFERENGEENAEERE R
SEA L Z HF B EN RS SR
FBEIEETT o

REZES

ARBIEKZIEREZEE > WERLES
A RIP SR+ 5T RISEA BERRIARTE » AT3L
EHRESRE - REZEENTIEREA
REMNETINRE - RERERK - I
RIBLEEEOAR  BERESE &
FREFILRFAEBLIFERTESTNE
TYHMEESRHES -
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Details of the remuneration payable to the Directors and five highest
paid individuals of the Group during the year under review are set out
in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with paragraph A.5 of the Code
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties
of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board, and select and make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment of Directors, re-appointment of
Directors, succession planning for Directors and assesses the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.
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(A) THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, of whom two
are independent non-executive Directors. The three members are Mr.
LIN Zhong (being the chairman of the Nomination Committee), the
executive Director and Chairman, Mr. GU Yunchang and Mr. ZHANG
Yongyue.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting to review the composition of the Board and its committees
as well as the background and experiences of the Board members and
evaluate the contributions of the Board members to the Group in 2015
and make recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of
Directors and assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

BB EREIT The attendance of each member is as follows:

No. of
meetings attended/
Total no. of meetings
HESERE
REHA Name of members iy
MAPEE(ER) Mr. LIN Zhong (Chairman) 1/1
BEEELE Mr. GU Yunchang 1/1
RoKELAE Mr. ZHANG Yongyue 11

EESHESTLER Board Diversity Policy
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The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”)
which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the
Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

Currently, no measurable objectives to implement the Policy has
been set. The Board will consider to set measurable objectives to
implement the Policy and review such objectives from time to time to
ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards
achieving those objectives.

The Nomination Committee will review the Policy from time to time to
ensure its continued effectiveness.
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(B) FINANCIAL REPORTING AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Financial reporting

The Board, supported by the finance department, is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company and the Group.
In preparation of financial statements, International Financial Reporting
Standards have been adopted and the appropriate accounting policies
have been consistently used and applied. The Board aims to present
a clear and balanced assessment of the Group's performance in the
annual and interim reports to the shareholders, and make appropriate
disclosure and announcements in a timely manner. Pursuant to
code provision C.1.1 of the Code, management would provide such
explanation and information to the Board as will enable the Board to
make an informal assessment of the financial and other information
put before the Board for approval.

The working scope and reporting responsibilities of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, the Company’s external auditor, are set out in the
“Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 107 to 108 of this annual
report.

External auditor’s remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the remunerations paid or
payable to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in respect of its audit services
and non-audit services are approximately RMB3,830,000 and
RMB92,500, respectively. The amount for 2015 non-audit services
comprised mainly the tax-related services fee. The Audit Committee
was satisfied that the non-audit services in 2015 did not affect the
independence of the auditor.

Internal control

The Board is responsible for the internal control of the Group and
for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have been designed
for safeguarding assets against unauthorized use or disposition,
the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or for publications and the
compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The internal control are reviewed and assessed on an on-going basis

by the executive Directors, and will be further reviewed and assessed
at least once each year by the Board.
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(C) COMPANY SECRETARY AND SHAREHOLDERS’
RIGHTS

Company Secretary

The Company engages an external service provider to provide
secretarial service and has appointed Mr. LO Tai On as its Company
Secretary. Mr. LO has confirmed that for the year under review, he
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training. The
biography of Mr. LO is set out in the “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” section on page 70 of this annual report. Mr.
LO is not an employee of our Group and Mr. YAU Sze Ka (Albert), our
Chief Financial Officer, is the person whom Mr. LO can contact for the
purpose of code provision F.1.1 of the Code.

Shareholders’ rights

Convening extraordinary general meeting and putting forward
proposals at shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands
Companies Law (2015 Revision). However, shareholders are
requested to follow article 12.3 of the Company's Articles of
Association. Pursuant to article 12.3 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, general meetings shall be convened on the written
requisition of any two or more members of the Company deposited at
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists,
provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company. General meetings may also be convened on the written
requisition of any one member of the Company which is a recognized
clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of
the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to
have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects
of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist, provided that such
requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company. If the Board does
not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more than
one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that
in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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(C) COMPANY SECRETARY AND SHAREHOLDERS’
RIGHTS (Continued)

Shareholders’ rights (Continued)

Convening extraordinary general meeting and putting forward
proposals at shareholders’ meetings (Continued)

If a shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote at the relevant
general meeting, wishes to nominate a person (not being the
nominating shareholder) to stand for election as a Director, he or she
should give to the secretary of the Company notice in writing of the
intention to propose a person for election as a Director and notice in
writing by that person of his or her willingness to be so elected, no
earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the relevant
general meeting and no later than 7 days prior to the date appointed
for the relevant general meeting.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election
as a Director are available on the Company's website.

Constitutional Documents

There was no change to the Company's constitutional documents
during the year. The Company’'s Memorandum and Articles of
Association is available on the Company's website and Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited’s website.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may make enquiries to the Board by contacting the
Company either through the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong at Suites 2002-2003, 20th Floor, One Pacific Place, 88
Queensway, Hong Kong or email at ir@cifi.com.cn or directly by raising
questions at general meetings.

(D) INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The management of the Company believes that effective and proper
investor relations play a vital role in creating shareholders’ value,
enhancing the corporate transparency as well as establishing market
confidence. Effective investor relations can contribute towards lower
cost of capital, higher market liquidity for the Company’s stocks and
bonds as well as a more stable investor base. The Company'’s investor
relations team is committed to maintaining a high level of corporate
transparency and following a policy of disclosing relevant information
to investors, analysts and bankers in a timely manner to keep them
aware of the Group's corporate strategies and business operations.
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(D) INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

The Company has adopted a stringent internal control system to

ensure true, accurate, complete and timely disclosure of relevant

information pursuant to requirements of relevant laws and regulations

in order to ensure all shareholders and investors equal access to

information.

During the year, the Company has proactively taken the following
measures to ensure effective shareholders’ communication and
transparency:

° maintained frequent contacts with shareholders and investors
through various channels such as meetings, conference calls,
video meetings and emails;

o held numerous roadshows and participated in investor
conferences introducing the Group’s development strategies and
recent business developments;

° regularly update the Company’s news and developments through
the investor relations section of the Company's website;

° arranged on-site visits to the Group's projects for investors and
research analysts.

Through the above measures, the Company endeavours to
communicate with the investment community and provide them with
the latest development of the Group and the real estate industry in
China.

In addition, the annual general meeting also provides a useful forum
for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. In 2015, an
annual general meeting was held on 17 April 2015. The Chairman of
the Board, as well as chairman of each of the Board Committees, or
in their absence, members of the respective committees, and the
representative of external auditor of the Company, were available to
answer questions from shareholders at the annual general meeting.
At the annual general meeting, procedures for conducting a poll were
explained by the Chairman and a resolution was proposed in respect
of each separate issue itemized in the agenda.

The forthcoming 2016 annual general meeting will be held on
Wednesday, 27 April 2016.
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(D) REEBERERKNEE (D) INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
() WITH SHAREHOLDERS (continued)
AATR=ZBE—FHE/=—ZF—E2HE Major Investor Relations Events Participated by the Company in

NERREERBREE 2015/2016
—ZE-hF 2015

— AJanuary BrfxrBEEEARH(EE) Barclays China Property Corporate Day (Hong Kong)
FERTAMERSRE®E(BE) BNP Paribas Asia Pacific Property & Financial Conference (Hong Kong)
mEh Rk EeZ(LE) UBS China Investment Conference (Shanghai)

— AFebruary TEIEEF R ETINE) Citi Fixed Income Conference (Singapore)

= AMarch PEEENMRERFERDTEGR Final Results Announcement Press Conference and Analysts Meeting

(B%) {Hong Kong)

RERIERFEE(DE K - HEE - Post-Results Non-Deal Roadshows (Hong Kong, Singapore, Kuala Lumpur,
B85 % 4t m) Shanghai, Shenzhen, Beijing)

e EER(ES) Credit Suisse Asia Investment Conference (Hong Kong)

79 A April IR AR ERMESE(ES) UBS Hong Kong/China Property Conference (Hong Kong)

F A May ERBEARERGR(BEE) Macquarie Greater China Conference (Hong Kong)
fELdEex( 8) HSBC China Conference (Shanghai)
BErXxonlEtEez(EE) Barclays Asia Property Conference (Hong Kong)

R EEE (I R) Morgan Stanley China Summit (Beijing)

7~ A June ERAXBEPEEeZHULR) JP Morgan China Conference (Beijing)

RN ERECn) Nomura Investment Forum Asia (Singapore)
TEETAKEESZ(EE) Citi's Asia Pacific Property Conference (Hong Kong)

+ A July Iz P BEE AT B ) Credit Suisse China Property Corporate Day (Singapore)
ERMEE NRE | Grani) DBS Vickers “Pulse of Asia” (Singapore)
EMAPERMENRA(EE) BofAML Greater China Property Corporate Day (Hong Kong)

J\HAugust H HH¥Z§ MR EBRFER Interim Results Announcement Press Conference and

NITEEHER) Analysts Meeting (Hong Kong)
REBIERFREEE  FNE - Post-Results Non-Deal Roadshows (Hong Kong, Singapore,
HES - B§) Kuala Lumpur, Shanghai)
-+ A October ERANBIFEMGEFEZ(RE) JP Morgan Emerging Markets Credit Conference (London)

—+— A November

-+ — A December

— HJanuary

— HFebruary

R mETs M e Gring)
EMPEEHELR)
TEEPEEREEEHORP)
FERR TR T K& & (T AnE)
BNPEEHEARR(EE)
—E—XEF
ERLRER - BHERMTEE
(&)
Er¥pEEMEARR(ES)
mRFEg®H( )
TEEESEH(EE)

TR (RE)BRARF | —E—RFFH

UOB Kay Hian Asian Gems Conference (Singapore)
BofAML China Conference (Beijing)
Citi China Investor Conference (Macau)

Morgan Stanley Asia Pacific Summit (Singapore)

Nomura China Property Corporate Day (Hong Kong)
2016

BNP Paribas Asia Pacific Financials, Property & Logistics Conference

(Hong Kong)
Barclays China Property Corporate Day (Hong Kong)
UBS China Conference (Shanghai)
Citi Fixed Income Conference 2016 (Hong Kong)
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The board of directors (the “Board”) presents the annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company, and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in property development, property investment
and property management. The activities and particulars of the
Company's subsidiaries are shown under note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s turnover and operating
profit for the year by principal activities is set out in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” section of this annual report and notes 5 and
10 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 are set
out in the “Chairman’s Statement” section of this annual report and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 109.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group's future business development are set
out in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” sections of this annual report. Description of possible
risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing can be found
in the “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report. The financial
risk management objectives and policies of the Group are set out
in note 42(c) to the consolidated financial statements. Particulars of
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the
end of the financial year ended 31 December 2015 are set out in
note 45 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the
Group's performance during the year using financial key performance
indicators is set out in the “Performance Highlights” section on page
8 of this annual report.

PAYMENT OF FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend for 2015
(payable in cash with a scrip option) of RMB 9.35 cents per share (the
“Proposed Final Dividend"”). The Proposed Final Dividend shall be
declared in RMB and paid in Hong Kong dollars and will be converted
from RMB into Hong Kong dollars at the average middle rate of RMB
to Hong Kong dollars as announced by the People’s Bank of China for
the five business days preceding the date of declaration of dividend.

Subject to the approval of the Proposed Final Dividend by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting to be held on Wednesday,
27 April 2016 (the “2016 AGM"), the Proposed Final Dividend will be
payable in cash but shareholders will have an option to receiving the
Proposed Final Dividend in cash or in form of new fully paid shares
of the Company (“scrip shares”) in respect of part or all of such final
dividend (the “Scrip Dividend Scheme”).

CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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PAYMENT OF FINAL DIVIDEND (continued)

The Scrip Dividend Scheme is conditional upon the passing of the
resolution relating to the payment of final dividend at the 2016 AGM
and the Listing Committee of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) granting the listing of and permission
to deal in the new shares to be issued under the Scrip Dividend
Scheme.

A circular containing details of the Scrip Dividend Scheme together
with relevant election form will be dispatched to shareholders on or
about Monday, 9 May 2016. It is expected that the cheques for cash
dividends or if scrip shares are elected, the certificates for the scrip
shares will be sent on or about Tuesday, 31 May 2016 to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on
Thursday, 5 May 2016.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS
(a) For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
2016 AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
25 April 2016 to Wednesday, 27 April 2016, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In
order to determine the identity of members who are entitled to attend
and vote at the 2016 AGM, all share transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with
the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 22 April 2016.

(b) For determining the entitlement to the Proposed Final
Dividend

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 4 May 2016 to Thursday, 5 May 2016, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company
will be effected. In order to qualify for the Proposed Final Dividend,
all share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Tuesday, 3 May 2016.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

SENIOR NOTES AND CORPORATE BONDS

Details of senior notes and corporate bonds of the Company during the
year are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the year are set out on pages 112 and 242 of this annual report.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings are set out in the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” section of this annual report and note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year,the Company purchased a total of 90,338,000 shares
of the Company on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate consideration
of HK$124,507,979.37. The repurchases were effected by the
Directors for the enhancement of shareholders’ value. Details of the
repurchases are as follows:

ROBH FAEREEE FIERSEE EHAE
B#& Total number Highest price Lowest price Aggregate
Month of the shares  paid per share paid per share  consideration
BT BT BT
HK$ HK$ HK$
—T—-RFNA 51,948,000 1.4 1.34 71,657,159.98
August 2015
—Z-hFNA 38,390,000 1.40 1.34 52,850,819.39
September 2015
90,338,000 124,507,979.37

RERE B[O A 2 £90,338,000 A% I 15
BEER IR ER G o
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During the year, all the 90,338,000 shares purchased were cancelled
on delivery of the share certificates.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES (continued)

Subsequent to 31 December 2015 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company purchased a total of 18,500,000 shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate consideration of
HK$26,086,000. The cancellation of such repurchased shares is under
progress. Details of the repurchase are as follows:

RHBEY FAERESE ANERFEE EHRE
=RV Total number Highest price Lowest price Aggregate
Month of the shares  paid per share paid per share consideration

BT BT B TT

HK$ HK$ HK$

—E—RF—A 18,500,000 1.45 1.37 26,086,000
January 2016

18,500,000 26,086,000

ZE-RFFRN ARANEEKNB
Qﬂﬁ%@m/ﬂ& %57%30800000%7_%
KRR —E—N\FEHHERHF12.25%
E’\J%n@f‘aﬂ%f—f—/@@@ﬁ%mﬁ
) (BB Em) - @RE(RER
FIE81) £33,618,8003% T °

RZFB-—RF+-A=t—HRKEER
FHEH - ARRNEEN B AR BEE
& HAREFR10,000,000E T —F—/\
FRMETES - AREREFFER)
7$10,811,500% 7T °
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During the year of 2015, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
repurchased an aggregate principal value of US$30,800,000 of the
12.25% coupon US Dollar senior notes due 2018 of the Company
(“2018 Due USD Bonds"”), which are listed on the Stock Exchange,
for an aggregate consideration (before accrued interest) of
US$33,618,800.

Subsequent to 31 December 2015 and up to the date of this
annual report, the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company further
repurchased an aggregate principal value of US$10,000,000 of the
2018 Due USD Bonds for an aggregate consideration (before accrued
interest) of US$10,811,500.

The cancellation of the repurchased 2018 Due USD Bonds is under
progress.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its

subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year under review.

89



o0 W

Directors’ Report

BERBERE
AAFEBERER A HS (AR
RIREM AR L AT 7E Rl R ) AR 3 A R
ERBEROEMAE  HRARFA
IR A AR SRR FE AR L R AL TR o

5=
REBEFERBEAREBHZESZN
I

BITES
MR EE (£5E)
WEEE (/)
Mg ST (7TIBAREL)

BYFHITES
BEESE
SFOKERE
BRIZRKSEE

WRANRMMERAR =0 —2&
FARBRRBEFASRERT  HERSF
MEEBREEEE - W ARFAER
ERANACES SR INERAESE
HMEZTERRBFRE  ERNTAE
RAINZAE LEEBE - B - MfE
FTERREREEHNARAR] ZF—X
FERRBFRE LRERE  HERET
BERYRAEERET -

AARDERERBIFNTESREL
MHRAESIBEREBIEELNFE
MR - ARARSERBIUIFNTES
BRBIYAL -

90

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association, or the law of Cayman Islands being the
jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated under which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. LIN Zhong (Chairman)

Mr. LIN Wei (Vice-chairman)

Mr. LIN Feng (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. GU Yunchang

Mr. ZHANG Yongyue

Mr. TAN Wee Seng

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, one-third
of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation at annual general
meeting and be eligible for re-election. Further, the Company’s Articles
of Association requires that any Director appointed by the Board shall
hold office only until the following annual general meeting and shall
be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Accordingly, Mr. LIN Wei
and Mr. TAN Wee Seng shall retire from office by rotation at the 2016
AGM of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company and each of the independent non-executive
Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company. The
appointment of all the Directors is for a period of three years and shall
continue thereafter until being terminated by either party giving not
less than six months’ (in case of executive Directors) or three months’
(in case of independent non-executive Directors) prior written notice.

None of the Directors who are proposed for election or re-election at
the 2016 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors, the management shareholders
of the Company nor their respective associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that competed or might
compete with the business of the Group. In particular, Mr. LIN Zhong,
Mr. LIN Wei and Mr. LIN Feng, being the executive Directors and the
controlling shareholders of the Company declared that they did not
engage in business competed or might compete with the business
of the Group during the year and they have complied with the
undertakings given under the Deed of Non-competition as disclosed
in the prospectus of the Company dated 13 November 2012. The
independent non-executive Directors did not notice any incident of
non-compliance of such undertakings.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are set
out in the "Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” section
of this annual report.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS UNDER RULE 13.18 OF THE LISTING
RULES

The Group entered into a number of loan agreements containing
covenants relating to specific performance of the controlling
shareholders of the Company (the “Loan Agreements”) which were
subject to announcement disclosure under Rule 13.18 of the Listing
Rules and requirements of disclosure in this annual report under Rule
13.21 of the Listing Rules, the details of which are set out below:

() On 8 July 2013, the Company as borrower, and certain offshore
subsidiaries of the Company as guarantors, entered into a
syndicated loan agreement with a group of financial institutions
as lenders for a US dollar/Hong Kong dollar dual currency term
loan facility with an aggregate loan amount of approximately
US$156.5 million, with final maturity of three years from the date
of the relevant agreement and interest of LIBOR or HIBOR plus
5.65% per annum. Such loan was fully repaid ahead of maturity
before the end of 2015.

(i)~ On 29 January 2014, the Group’s 50:50 joint venture companies
formed with Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited in respect
of Hangzhou Greenland CIFI Glorious City project signed an
onshore and offshore syndicated loan facilities agreement with
a consortium of offshore and onshore banks as lenders for an
aggregate loan amount of approximately US$320 million divided
into two tranches: (i) an offshore US dollar/Hong Kong dollar
dual currency term loan facility with an aggregate amount of
approximately US$320 million, with a final maturity of three years
from the first utilization date; and (ii) an onshore RMB project
development loan facility with a facility amount of RMB1 billion,
with final maturity of three years from the first utilization date.

(i)  On 4 November 2014, the Group’s 50:50 joint venture companies
formed with Henderson Land Development Company Limited
in respect of Shanghai Henderson CIFI Center project entered
into an offshore facility agreement and an onshore facility
agreement with a group of offshore financial institutions and
a group of onshore financial institutions. The relevant offshore
agreement is a Hong Kong dollar denominated term loan facility
with an aggregate amount of HK$1.44 billion with final maturity
of three years from the first utilization date. The relevant onshore
agreement is a Renminbi denominated term loan facility with an
aggregate amount of RMB1.5 billion with final maturity of three
years from the first utilization date.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS UNDER RULE 13.18 OF THE LISTING
RULES (Continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

On 20 January 2015, the Company entered into a facility
agreement with a group of financial institutions. The relevant
facility is a US dollar/Hong Kong dollar dual currency term loan
facility with an aggregate amount of approximately US$130
million, with final maturity of three years after the first utilization
date.

On 19 May 2015, the Company as borrower, accepted a facility
letter (the “Facility Letter”) relating to a HK$360 million two-
year term loan facility offered by The Bank of East Asia, Limited
as lender which shall be available for drawdown within three
months from the date of acceptance of the Facility Letter.

On 6 November 2015, the Group's 50:50 joint venture companies
formed with Hongkong Land China Holdings Limited in respect
of Shanghai Lujiazui Yangjing project entered into an offshore
facility agreement and an onshore facility agreement with a
group of offshore financial institutions and a group of onshore
financial institutions. The relevant offshore agreement is a United
States dollar denominated term loan facility with an aggregate
amount of US$600 million with final maturity of five years from
the relevant offshore loan agreement. The relevant onshore
agreement is a Renminbi denominated term loan facility with an
aggregate amount of RMB1,300 million with final maturity of five
years from the relevant onshore loan agreement.

On 21 December 2015, the Company as borrower, and certain
offshore subsidiaries of the Company as original guarantors,
entered into a facility agreement (the “Hang Seng Facility
Agreement”) with Hang Seng Bank Limited as lender. The Hang
Seng Facility Agreement refers to a US dollar/RMB dual currency
term loan facility with a principal amount of RMB268.7 million
and a final maturity of thirty six months after the first utilization
date.

Pursuant to the loan agreements as above-mentioned (except for the
offshore facility agreement and onshore facility agreement entered on
6 November 2015 which do not require (i) below), it is required that (i)
Mr. LIN Zhong, Mr. LIN Wei and Mr. LIN Feng, their family trust and
the companies beneficially owned by them will collectively maintain
beneficial ownership of at least 51% of the entire issued share capital
of the Company; and (i) any one of Mr. LIN Zhong, Mr. LIN Wei and
Mr. LIN Feng shall remain as the chairman of the Board.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”)
adopted by the Company on 9 October 2012, the Directors may invite
participants to take up options at a price determined by the Board
provided that it shall be at least the highest of (a) the closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date on which an offer is made by the Company to the grantee
(which date must be a business day, “Offer Date"); (b) a price being
the average of the closing prices of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5
business days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and (c) the
nominal value of a share of the Company.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate the
Directors, senior management and employees to optimize their future
contributions to the Group and reward them for their past contribution.

The Board may, at their discretion, invite any Directors (including
executive Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors) and employees of any member of the Group
and any advisers, consultants, distributors, contractors, contract
manufacturers, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners,
joint venture business partners, service providers of any member
of the Group who the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have
contributed or will contribute to the Group to participate in the Share
Option Scheme.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed
577,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the total number of Shares
in issue as at the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme unless
the Company obtains a fresh approval from the Shareholders to
refresh the limit.

A total of 74,600,000 shares (representing 1.1% of the existing issued
shares of the Company) may be issued upon exercise of all options
which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and a total of
494,967,902 shares (representing approximately 7.4% of the existing
issued shares of the Company) may be issued upon exercise of all
options which had been granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum entitlement for any one participant is that the total
number of the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the Share Option Scheme to each participant
(including both exercised and outstanding Options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue
unless otherwise approved by the Shareholders at a general meeting
of the Company.

The options may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during the option period which
may be determined and notified by the Board to the grantees at the
time of making an offer which shall not expire later than 10 years
from the grant date. The amount payable on acceptance of an option
is HK$1.00. The Share Option Scheme has a life of 10 years from 9
October 2012. Particulars of the movement of options in respect of
the year under review are as follows:

2= Directors
BREHE
Number of Share Option
fTEER R-B-1F REFE REFE R-EB-I1F
(%7 —-A-H Rl it +=A=t-H
Exercise e RATRE Granted Exercised i RATHE
®E 54 RiLAH Price  Outstanding during during  Outstanding
Name Capacity Date of Grant (HK$)  at 1Jan 2015 the year the year at 31 Dec 2015
gL BEHAA “F-Z5TA-thA 15587 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
Mr. LIN Feng Beneficial Owner 29 October 2013 HK$1.55
—Z-RFtAT=H 1TTATT - 2,800,000 - 2,800,000
13 July 2015 HK$1.77
BEER%SE BaEEA e Skl ol A =! 18848 800,000 - - 800,000
Mr. GU Yunchang Beneficial Owner 26 February 2013 HK$1.684
“E-=5+AZ1AH 156/ 7T 700,000 - - 700,000
29 October 2013 HK$1.55
“E-RFtA+=H VT8 - 600,000 - 600,000
13 July 2015 HK$1.77
FoKERAE BREEA “T-=F#-A=1+H 168478 7T 800,000 = - 800,000
Mr. ZHANG Yongyue Beneficial Owner 26 February 2013 HK$1.684
ZEZHETAZTNE 1557 7T 700,000 - - 700,000
29 October 2013 HK$1.55
“Z-nEtAT=H 13T - 600,000 - 600,000
13 July 2015 HK$1.77
BRER LA BREEA —T-=F#-A=1+H 168478 7T 800,000 - - 800,000
Mr. TAN Wee Seng Beneficial Owner 26 February 2013 HK$1.684
ZEZFtAZTNRE 1558 7T 700,000 - - 700,000
29 October 2013 HK$1.55
—E-RFtA+=H 11187 - 600,000 - 600,000
13 July 2015 HK$1.77
R (EBDBR AR | ZT—AFFH 95
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Eg Employees
BREZE
Number of Share Option
THEER HNZZ-IF REFE REFE RHIEB-IF
(B7) —B—H =i i t=A=+-—H
Exercise e RATE Granted Exercised e RATE
B A 51 Price  Outstanding during during  Outstanding
Date of Grant Capacity (HK$) at1Jan 2015 the year the year at 31 Dec 2015
ZE-ZF-AZ+RBE  EmBEA 168478 7T 150,000,000 - 3,366,878) 146,633,122
26 February 2013 Beneficial Owner HK$1.684
—E-=F1+HAZthBE ExmBEAA 1558 7T 144,900,000 - (4,042,220) 140,857,780
29 October 2013 Beneficial Owner HK$1.55
—E-AFtA+=H EnlAA 177787 - 95,400,000 - 95,400,000
13 July 2015 Beneficial Owner HK$1.77
FfEx - Notes:

1.
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As for the share option granted on 26 February 2013, the closing price of the shares on
the Stock Exchange immediately before the date on which the options were granted
was HK$1.65. The options are exercisable in 4 tranches of 25% each, from 1 July 2014
to 30 June 2018.

As for the share option granted on 29 October 2013, the closing price of the shares on
the Stock Exchange immediately before the date on which the options were granted
was HK$1.52. The options are exercisable in 4 tranches of 25% each, from 1 July 2014
to 30 June 2018.

As for the share option granted on 13 July 2015, the closing price of the shares on the
Stock Exchange immediately before the date on which the options were granted was
HK$1.77. The options are exercisable in 4 tranches of 256% each from 13 July 2015 to
30 June 2019.

No option was lapsed or cancelled during the year.

The weighted average closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange immediately
before the dates on which the options were exercised was HK$2.02.

The values of options are subject to (i) subjectivity and uncertainty relating to the
assumptions to which such values are subject; and (i) limitation of the model used to
estimate such values. The fair value of options as at the date of grant during the year, its
calculation and the model and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of options are
set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-IPO SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Group adopted a Pre-IPO share award scheme in December 2010
(amended in August 2011)(the “Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme") so
as to build up medium and long term incentive mechanism, retain and
cultivate talent, maintain the stability of the management team and
corporate business and to align the interests of the management team
with those of the shareholders. Selected employees were awarded
shares of the Company which are held by Full Happiness International
(PTC) Limited (“Full Happiness") as trustee for the benefits of the
selected employees under the Full Happiness Trust. The total number
of the shares of the Company granted to Full Happiness as trustee on
the grant date was 136,500,000, representing approximately 2.04% of
the total issued share capital of the Company (the “Awarded Shares”)
as at the date of this annual report. No further shares can be issued by
the Company pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme.

The selected employees are entitled to exercise or enjoy the rights
to the Awarded Shares after the vesting of the Awarded Shares in
accordance with the applicable vesting period. Vesting period is four
years during which the Awarded Shares granted to any particular
selected employee will vest on each anniversary of the first vesting
date in equal portions. The first vesting date for all the relevant
selected employees under the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme is 1
January 2013. Prior to vesting, the selected employees are not entitled
to the rights to and interests in the Awarded Shares, including voting
and distribution rights.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTEREST IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2015, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO"), which (a) were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Division 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be recorded in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as
follows:

RO REEROGHNEE : Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares:
fEARAF
ERTRAOH
BABEIL
JR13, 48  Approximate
R EE percentage
Number  of the issued
EEER of Shares/  shares of the
Name of B EREnyg underlying Company
EEER Name of Director Corporation  Capacity/Nature of interest Shares (%)
Mhrp SEAE Mr. LIN Zhong NG| PREEFERRISZA (BIEE) 1,175,675,671 17.61%
Company Founder of a discretionary trust (Note 1)
ZN/NG| SRR HRBIA (BFE2) 2,222,129,975 33.29%
Company Co-founder of a discretionary trust (Note 2)
A /NE] BB AHE3) 5,978,000 0.09%
Company Beneficial Owner (Note 3)
MR TEE Mr. LIN Wei NS RIS EE R (M 5E4) 613,765,775 9.19%
Company Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4)
PN REEFNHRAILA (HE2) 2,222,129,975 33.29%
Company Co-founder of a discretionary trust (Note 2)
PRI ST Mr. LIN Feng NS EHEEFERRISZA (M3E5) 205,136,580 3.07%
Company Founder of a discretionary trust (Note 5)
VNN SRR HRBIA (BFE2) 2,222,129,975 33.29%
Company Co-founder of a discretionary trust (Note 2)
ZAUNE] EaEB AMES) 5,800,000 0.09%
Company Beneficial Owner (Note 6)
BEE%R4E M GU Yunchang ZA/NE] Bz A A (5Ee) 2,100,000 0.03%
Company Beneficial Owner (Note 6)
FOKERLE  Mr.ZHANG Yongyue A - Eaz LN 2,100,000 0.03%
Company Beneficial Owner (Note 6)
PRIERCSCHE  Mr. TAN Wee Seng PA/NC] Ema A(H5E6) 2,100,000 0.03%
Company Beneficial Owner (Note 6)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTEREST IN
SECURITIES (Continued)

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares: (Continued)
Notes:

1. These Shares are held by Ding Chang Limited (“Ding Chang”). The entire issued share
capital of Ding Chang is wholly owned by Eternally Success International Limited
("Eternally Success”), the entire issued share capital of which is in turn held by Standard
Chartered Trust (Singapore) Limited (“Standard Chartered Trust”) as the trustee of the
Sun Success Trust via SCTS Capital Pte. Ltd. ("SCTS Capital”). The Sun Success Trust
is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. LIN Zhong as settlor and Standard Chartered Trust
as trustee on 11 May 2012. The beneficiary objects of the Sun Success Trust include
certain family members of Mr. LIN Zhong. Mr. LIN Zhong as founder of the Sun Success
Trust is taken to be interested in the 1,175,675,671 Shares held by Ding Chang pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.

2. These Shares are held by Rosy Fortune Investments Limited (“Rosy Fortune”). The
entire issued share capital of Rosy Fortune is wholly owned by Gentle Beauty Assets
Limited (“Gentle Beauty"), the entire issued share capital of which is in turn held by
Standard Chartered Trust as the trustee of the LIN’s Family Trust via SCTS Capital. The
LIN's Family Trust is a discretionary trust set up jointly by Mr. LIN Zhong, Mr. LIN Wei
and Mr. LIN Feng as settlors and Standard Chartered Trust as trustee on 11 May 2012.
The beneficiary objects of the LIN's Family Trust include certain family members of Mr.
LIN Zhong and Mr. LIN Feng. Each of Mr. LIN Zhong, Mr. LIN Wei and Mr. LIN Feng
as a co-founder of the LIN's Family Trust is taken to be interested in the 2,222,129,975
Shares held by Rosy Fortune pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

3. These Shares are directly held by Mr. LIN Zhong.

4. These Shares are held by Eminent Talent Limited (“Eminent Talent”). The entire issued

share capital of Eminent Talent is wholly owned by Mr. LIN Wei.

5. These Shares are held by Rain-Mountain Limited (“Rain-Mountain”). The entire issued
share capital of Rain-Mountain is wholly owned by Beauty Fountain Holdings Limited
("Beauty Fountain”), the entire issued share capital of which is in turn held by Standard
Chartered Trust as the trustee of the Sun-Mountain Trust via SCTS Capital. The Sun-
Mountain Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. LIN Feng as settlor and Standard
Chartered Trust as trustee on 11 May 2012. The beneficiary objects of the Sun-Mountain
Trust include certain family members of Mr. LIN Feng. Mr. LIN Feng as founder of the
Sun-Mountain Trust is taken to be interested in the 205,136,580 Shares held by Rain-
Mountain pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

6. The relevant Director was granted options to subscribe for such number of Shares under
the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 9 October 2012. Please refer to
the section on “Share Option Scheme" for further details.
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EERFTETHAENZES#EZ DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTEREST IN
() SECURITIES (continued)
REHFNEFE - Long positions in the debentures:

RIS A Mr. LIN Feng FiN/NE] A A B 05EEETT 0.1

Company Beneficial owner (Note) US$0.5 million

B EE - Note:

FZERARAN T -=FBITWABT EWHIEL  These are the senior notes issued by the Company in 2013 for the aggregate principal amount
=y . A& 48%E3%500,000,0003TT - 2E/512.25% of US$500 million at a coupon rate of 12.25% due 2018 (“2018 Due USD Bonds") which are
RZZE-NFIH(ZZE-NFHEETEH L) o M listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. LIN Feng beneficially owned the principal amount of US$0.5
I 5c 4 B 2 R 5 8 £ #E500,000€ LH) = F — \FE#] million 2018 Due USD Bonds, representing 0.1% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2018
ENES  MERZT—\FIHWETESFAESELE  Due USD Bonds.

0.1% °
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, as at 31 December
2015, the following shareholders, other than those disclosed in
the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interest in
Securities”, had notified the Company of its interests and/or short
positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO:

As at 31 December 2015, so far as the Directors were aware, persons
other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company, who had
an interest or a short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under section

REFENECMOERIOAR

336 of the SFO were as follows:

EERR
BETRHB
LESIER
Approximate
percentage of

13 HHERAEE the issued shares
TERRERE 510 REME Number of Shares/ of the Company
Name of substantial shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest underlying Shares (%)
Gentle Beauty SPEHl AR (M) 2,222,129,975 33.29%
Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)
%= EmEAAME) 2,222,129,975 33.29%
Rosy Fortune Beneficial owner (Note 1)
Eternally Success Sy EE R (1 EE2) 1,175,675,671 17.61%
Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2)
88 EmEAA(ME2) 1,175,675,671 17.61%
Ding Chang Beneficial owner (Note 2)
=5 Ema APHE3) 613,765,775 9.19%
Eminent Talent Beneficial owner (Note 3)
Standard Chartered Trust SEEA(HiEE4) 3,602,942,226 53.97%
Trustee (Note 4)
SCTS Ryt EE R (M) 3,602,942,226 53.97%
Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4)
BB (B BRAR | —T—RFFR 101
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES (Continued)

Notes:

1.  The entire issued share capital of Rosy Fortune is wholly owned by Gentle Beauty, the
entire issued share capital of which is in turn held by Standard Chartered Trust as the
trustee of the LIN's Family Trust via SCT Capital. The LIN’s Family Trust is a discretionary
trust set up jointly by Mr. LIN Zhong, Mr. LIN Wei and Mr. LIN Feng as settlors and
Standard Chartered Trust as trustee on 11 May 2012. The beneficiary objects of the LIN's
Family Trust include certain family members of Mr. LIN Zhong and Mr. LIN Feng.

2. The entire issued share capital of Ding Chang is wholly owned by Eternally Success, the
entire issued share capital of which is in turn held by Standard Chartered Trust as the
trustee of the Sun Success Trust via SCT Capital. The Sun Success Trust is a discretionary
trust set up by Mr. LIN Zhong as settlor and Standard Chartered Trust as trustee on 11 May
2012. The beneficiary objects of the Sun Success Trust include certain family members of
Mr. LIN Zhong.

3. The entire issued share capital of Eminent Talent is wholly owned by Mr. LIN Wei.

4. These include 2,222,129,975 Shares held by Rosy Fortune, 1,175,675,671 Shares held by
Ding Chang and 205,136,580 Shares held by Rain-Mountain. The entire issued share capital
of Rain-Mountain is wholly owned by Beauty Fountain, the entire issued share capital of
which is in turn held by Standard Chartered Trust as the trustee of the Sun-Mountain Trust
via SCT Capital. The Sun-Mountain Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. LIN Feng as
settlor and Standard Chartered Trust as trustee on 11 May 2012. The beneficiary objects of
the Sun-Mountain Trust include certain family members of Mr. LIN Feng.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme, at no time during the year was
the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities including debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation
to which the Company, its holding company or subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director or his connected entities had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year under review.

SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the year under review, the Group's five largest suppliers and
customers together accounted for less than 10% of the Group's
purchases and sales respectively.

The Group keeps a high standard in selecting reputable and
reliable suppliers and contractors, in order to meet our own quality,
safety, environmental and product criteria. During the year ended
31 December 2015 and up to the date of this report, the Group
maintained good relationship with its suppliers and contractors.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Sales of Properties

During the year under review, the Group entered into the following
transactions as described below with persons who are “connected
persons” as pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(i)

(ii)

On 28 August 2015, B Z=EX AR A (Shanghai
Xin'anting Real Estate Co., Ltd.*) (“Shanghai Xin'anting”)
(as vendor), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, and F#E5MEXERER AT (Shanghai Huaichi
Industrial Development Co., Ltd.*) (“Shanghai Huaichi”) (as
purchaser), entered into the commodity property sale and
purchase agreement in respect of the residential unit within
Shanghai An Ting Golf Villa located at No.6155 Bo Yuan
Road, Jiading District, Shanghai, the PRC, pursuant to which
Shanghai Xin'anting agreed to sell and Shanghai Huaichi
agreed to purchase, the said property for a consideration of
RMB48,930,000.

Shanghai Huaichi is wholly owned by Ms. ZENG Yirong, the
spouse of Mr. LIN Zhong. Mr. LIN Zhong is an executive Director
and a controlling Shareholder of the Company. As such, Shanghai
Huaichi is an associate of Mr. LIN Zhong and hence, a connected
person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the sale of the said property constituted a
connected transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules.

On 28 December 2015, E)BTEMAE ZEBFR A A (Shanghai Xubai
Property Co., Ltd.*) (“Shanghai Xubai”) (as vendor), an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and Mr. LIN Xiang Lin
(as purchaser), entered into the commodity property sale and
purchase agreement in respect of the residential unit located
at Sub-lane 169, Lane 81, Hongsong Road, Minhang District,
Shanghai, the PRC, pursuant to which Shanghai Xubai agreed to
sell and Mr. LIN Xiang Lin agreed to purchase, the said property
for a consideration of RMB5,801,129.

Mr. LIN Xiang Lin is the father of Mr. LIN Zhong, Mr. LIN Wei
and Mr. LIN Feng. Mr. LIN Zhong, Mr. LIN Wei and Mr. LIN Feng
are all executive Directors and controlling Shareholders of the
Company. As such, Mr. LIN Xiang Lin is an associate of Mr. LIN
Zhong, Mr. LIN Wei and Mr. LIN Feng and hence, a connected
person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the sale of the said property constituted a
connected transaction of the Company.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION (Continued)

Disclosure under Rule 14A.72 of the Listing Rules

The related party transaction disclosed in note 40(a) to the consolidated
financial statements was a connected transaction under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules, however, since all the relevant percentage ratios
in respect of the transaction were less than 0.1%, the transaction fell
within de-minimis exemption under 14A.76 of the Listing Rules and
was exempted from the annual review, disclosure and shareholders’
approval requirements. The related party transactions set out in note
40(c) to the consolidated financial statements include transactions
that constitute connected transactions for which the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been
met and are mentioned in the above paragraph headed “Sales of
Properties” in this section. Other related party transactions taken
place in 2015 which were disclosed in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements did not constitute connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM EQUITY PLACEMENT
The net proceeds from the equity placement in May 2015 amounted
to approximately HK$1,300 million (approximately US$170 million),
which was fully utilized for general working capital of the Group in
accordance with the disclosure in the relevant announcement.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained the public float as required by the
Listing Rules during the year under review.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is subject to a number of laws and regulations in
China concerning overall environmental protection, impact to the
environment, noise pollution and environmental protection for
development projects.

We place high emphasis on complying with relevant environmental
laws and regulations. We require our own staff and construction
contractors to comply with the relevant PRC laws and regulations
relating to the quality of construction including environmental, labour,
social and safety regulations, as well as our own standards and
specifications.

We believe that we are in compliance in all material respects with
applicable environmental laws and regulations in China.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman lIslands with its shares
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. The Group's subsidiaries are incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands, Hong Kong and China. The Group's operations are mainly
carried out by the Group's subsidiaries in China while the Group also
has a corporate and administrative office in Hong Kong.

Our establishments and operations accordingly shall comply with
relevant laws and regulations in the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin
Islands, China and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 December
2015 and up to the date of this report, we have complied with all the
relevant laws and regulations in the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin
Islands, China and Hong Kong that have a significant impact on the
Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is of opinion that the Company had complied with the code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the year under review.

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are
set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section of this annual
report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company's Articles of Association provides that every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a
Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in
which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. In
addition, liability insurance for directors and senior management of the
Company is maintained by the Company with appropriate coverage for
certain legal actions against the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the above paragraphs headed “Share Option
Scheme” and “Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme” in this section, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year and
subsisted at the end of the year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of any business of the Company were
entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2015 have been audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu who will retire at the forthcoming AGM. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By order of the Board

LIN Zhong
Chairman
Hong Kong, 9 March 2016

Note: The English names marked with “*" of the PRC entities are provided for identification
purpose only. The Chinese names are the official names of the PRC entities.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CIFI
Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 109 to 279,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2015, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

9 March 2016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE-_T—AF+_A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2015

—E-RfF —ZT—NOF
2015 2014

iz AR®BTRT ARETRT
NOTES RMB'000 RMB'000
PN Revenue 5 18,230,788 16,179,334
SHE K ARFE AL AR Cost of sales and services (14,087,196) (11,992,548
EF Gross profit 4,143,592 4,186,786
HaA - Wz K& e Other income, gains and losses 7 541,660 246,604
BEMEANTEES Change in fair value of investment properties 128,100 241,166
EEMEMEFIABITET AR Change in fair value of
NEEE trust and other loans related derivatives - 4,000
EHENTISHEER S Selling and marketing expenses (370,910) (319,404)
THAX Administrative expenses (607,355) (529,391)
BheE R Share of results of joint ventures 205,533 (118,708)
ek NCIE Share of results of associates (32,908) -
BERK AN Finance costs 8 (202,885) (386,228)
R0 R Profit before taxation 3,804,827 3,324,825
REY R Income tax expense 9 (1,334,039) (1,325,237)
FRABREZEBALE Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year 10 2,470,788 1,999,588
AT RIERE - Attributable to:
RNATRERER Equity owners of the Company 2,095,464 1,861,149
KABRITEHFBA Owners of perpetual capital instruments 38,030 35,913
HAb IR Other non-controlling interests 337,294 102,526
375,324 138,439
FRFEEEEWRALLE Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 2,470,788 1,999,588
BREMAR%RT) : Earnings per share, in RMB:
F-WiN Basic 13 0.32 0.31
3 Diluted 13 0.32 0.31
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R-Z—HF+_-_A=+—H At 31 December 2015

—E-RfF —Z—NOF
2015 2014
izt AR¥Tn ARETT
NOTES RMB'000 RMB'000
FERBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
BB Investment properties 14 5,842,300 5,206,200
ME - R NERE Property, plant and equipment 15 48,604 48,078
Tt EE Prepaid lease payments 16 32,742 57,645
REE D ERER Interests in associates 17 588,620 15,300
NE & ENER Interests in joint ventures 18 7,109,797 7,891,784
AEHERE Available-for-sale investments 19 54,023 54,023
EILEFTAEE Deferred taxation assets 31 286,753 213,551
13,962,839 13,486,581
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
FIELEYE Properties held for sale 20 6,917,170 5,419,473
BREHENRZEDYE Properties under development for sale 21 20,167,382 9,803,747
JRE s R R I LAt PR LKURRIE Accounts and other receivables, deposits and
we MENRE prepayments 22 5,711,469 3,975,308
JE W S 2R s e e 3R 1B Amounts due from non-controlling interests 23 831,339 104,704
JEWA S NIE ARIAZIE  Amounts due from joint ventures and associates 24 2,593,242 1,041,654
BERSEMELI M FERELRS Deposits for land use rights for properties held
for sale 1,818,236 2,256,720
EIEE ] Taxation recoverable 544,851 326,798
EEMIRITER Pledged bank deposits 25 31,500 30,000
RITHEBRER S Bank balances and cash 25 14,873,736 7,093,654
53,488,925 30,052,058
REBEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
FESBR R BT S Accounts payables and accrued charges 26 7,319,089 5,183,049
BElEEERS Deposits received from property sales 10,396,275 5,015,996
FE FEVE R b 25 BUE Amounts due to non-controlling interests 23 995,208 477,307
JES A EE NS ARIAEIE  Amounts due to joint ventures and associates 24 6,895,062 4,926,725
TR IE Taxation payable 1,334,245 1,472,710
BITRHEMER — A —ERNE|E  Bank and other borrowings — due within one year 27 2,793,500 3,035,362
29,733,319 20,111,149
FBEETE NET CURRENT ASSETS 23755546 9940909
HEERRBAR TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 37,718,385 23427490
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2015 2014

fizx AR%®TR ARETT
NOTES RMB'000 RMB'000

BEAXRGHE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
B Share capital 30 537,157 487,896
1] Reserves 12,289,940 9,717,153
RN RS Equity attributable to equity owners
FE(R AR AN fE 21 of the Company 12,827,097 10,205,049
KABNRT A Perpetual capital instruments 29 - 585,710
H e i e Other non-controlling interests 2,456,065 792,159
2,456,065 1,377,869
MR EE TOTAL EQUITY 15,283,162 11,582,918
ERBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
RITREMER — A —E%Z|E  Bank and other borrowings — due after one year 27 8,864,403 6,468,435
BhRERE Senior notes 28(a) 8,275,958 4,356,950
NEIEE Corporate bonds 28(b) 4,021,032 -
BERIBEEE Deferred taxation liabilities 31 1,273,830 1,019,187

22,435,223 11,844,572
37,718,385 23,427,490

F109E279E WG M BMK<EN-E The consolidated financial statements on pages 109 to 279 were
—RNF=ZAhNBE==el# £ NE#ET| approved and authorized for issue by the Board of directors on 9

WA TNIIALREREE - March 2016 and are signed on its behalf by:
e PR LIN Zhong LIN Feng
Ea B DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

2T —RF+_-_A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

FRERFEREN
Attributable to equity owners of the Company
BHIR ETE KA
Hihe  RBEE HEGRE BATE JHRRER
BA  RAEE Special  Statutory  EIRIEREE Capital (R FIE Perpetual Non-
Share Share  and other surplus  Shareoption  contribution Retained @it capital  controlling gt foeg
capital premium Teserve reserve Teserve reserve profits Total  instruments interests Subtotal Total
ARETT ARETT ARMTR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Wzt1)  (W3E3)
(Note 1) (Note 3]
RZZ-mE-A-H At1 January 2014 487,89 1169472 202,078 484523 36,581 33031 6,207,372 8,610,953 - 544442 544,442 9,155,395
FRFERZERAES Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - - - 1,861,149 1,861,149 35913 102,526 138439 1,999,588
BEEHE Appropriations to reserve - - - 251745 - - (251,745) - - - - -
FERBRLE (M) Capital contributions from non-controlling
interests (Note 2) - - - - - - - - - 79,000 79,000 79,000
IERIRES M ENBAR  Disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries
BoEs (M) to non-controlling interests (Note 1) - - 206 - - - - 206 - 76616 76,616 76822
HERBAR Disposal of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - (10,425 (10425 (10425)
BANRARREE Recognition of equity-settled share based
I GINE payments - - - - 61574 4437 - 86,011 - - - 66,011
BTRAARTA(MEES)  Issue of perpetual capital instruments
(Note 29) - - - - - - - - 585,710 - 585,710 585,710
PEFAABRTEHEEA  Distribution to owners of perpetual capital
instruments - - - - - - - - (35,913) - (35,913) (35,913
BRKE Dividend paid - (333.270) - - - - - (333,270) - - - (333.270)
i3 At31 December 2014
+ZA=t-8 4878% 826,202 202,284 736,268 98,155 37,468 1816776 10,205,049 585,710 792,159 1377869 11582918
ENFERZENAES Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - - - 2,095,464 2,095,464 38,030 331294 315,324 2,470,788
Appropriations to reserve - - - 108,792 - - (108,792) - - - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 32) - - - - - - - - - 1,166,952 1,166,952 1,166,952
Capital contributions from non-controlling
interests - - - - - - - - - 173,436 173,496 173,49
3E] Disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries
to non-controlling interests (Note 33b) - - - - - - - - - (13,836) (13,836) (13,836)
BN EREE Recognition of equity-settled share based
BB payments - - - - 178% 1912 - 19870 - - - 19870
iR BRERETRG Issue of shares upon exercise of share options
(HizE30) (Note 30) 5% 11,38 - - (2428) - - 9549 - - - 9549
BT AR ER (F13E30)  Issue of shares for share placement (Note 30) 47,260 90,272 - - - - - 102158 - - - 058
BEOARRE 8 B7TARMA (MHEE30)  Issue of shares for scrip - dividend (Note 30) 10430 (10,430) - - - - - - - - _ -
bR R Cancelled upon repurchase of shares (Note 30~ (9,042) (95,179) - - - - - (104.221) - - - (104,221)
BEKABARTA(F29)  Redemption of perpetual capital instrument
Note 29) - - - - - - - - (585,710) - (585,710) (585,710)
DEFKABRTEHEEA  Distribution to owners of perpetual capital
instruments - - - - - - - - (38,030) - (38,030) (38,030)
RS Dividend paid - (456,166) - - - - - 456,166) - - - (456,166)
R-E-1f At31 December 2015
+=zA=t-R 531,157 1,256,083 202,284 845,060 143,625 39,440 9803448 12,821,097 - 2,456,065 2,456,085 15,283,162
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Notes:

On 7 January 2014, CIFI Group Co., Ltd. (JE¥EEE M AR AR (“CIFI (PRC)"), a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, disposed of 49% equity interest in Suzhou
Xubang Property Co., Ltd. to a non-controlling interest at a cash consideration of
RMB19,600,000. The difference between the consideration received and the equity
interest at the date of disposal of partial interest in Suzhou Xubang Property Co., Ltd.
amounted to RMB75,950 was recognized in the reserve.

On 16 April 2014, CIFI (PRC) disposed of 40% and 15% equity interest in Shanghai
Fengxu Property Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Fengxu”) to two non-controlling interests at
an aggregate cash consideration of RMB55,000,000. The difference between the
consideration received and the equity interest at the date of disposal of partial interest
in Shanghai Fengxu amounted to RMB130,530 was recognized in the reserve. Though
the Group only retains 45% equity interest in Shanghai Fengxu after the disposal,
it continues to maintain the majority of the voting rights in the board of directors of
Shanghai Fengxu, which enables the Group to approve relevant activities by simple
majority. As such, Shanghai Fengxu remains as a subsidiary of the Company.

On 23 October 2014, CIFI (PRC) disposed of 10% equity interest of Suzhou Xumao
Property Co., Ltd. to a non-controlling interest at a cash consideration of RMB2,222,000.

On 2 January 2014, a non-controlling interest provided a capital contribution of
RMB13,000,000 to Hunan Ronghui Properties Development Co., Ltd., a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company. On 18 June 2014, two non-controlling interests
provided an aggregate capital contribution of RMB66,000,000 to Shanghai Fengxu. No
dilution of ownership interest resulted from these capital contributions as capital monies
were injected by the Group and these non-controlling interests on a pro-rata basis.

In accordance with the Articles of Association of all subsidiaries established in the
People’s Republic of China, those subsidiaries are required to transfer 5% to 10% of the
profit after taxation to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve reaches 50% of the
registered capital. Transfer to reserve must be made before the distribution of dividends
to equity holders. The statutory surplus reserve can be used to make up for previous
years' losses, expand the existing operations or convert into additional capital of the
subsidiaries.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-_T—AF+-_A=1+—HBHIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2015

“EB-HF Z—T—MF
2015 2014
ARETT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000
RESEE OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Br RIS Profit before taxation 3,804,827 3,324,825
FRA TS IEEL A - Adjustments for:

BERA Finance costs 202,885 386,228
REREAE Allowance for doubtful debts 2573 7
M - BERSETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 18,280 14171

SHEMEMETEBRITE T AR Fair value gain on trust and other loans related derivatives

NEEKE - (4,000)
& E N EREM Increase in fair value of investment properties (128,100) (241,166)
B ERELE NS Gain on remeasurement of deemed disposal (166,498) -
ZEUEE R Gain on bargain purchase (76,770) -
HE—HeatERER Gain on disposal of a joint venture = (80,243)
HERB AR Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (219,296) (62,412)
HEME - BFEREHEN Loss (gain) on disposal of property,

EiE (e )FE plant and equipment, net 216 (837)
HERMBEEFEYE Gain on disposal of prepaid lease payments (60,097) -
EIEEEEEE Share of results of joint ventures (205,533) 118,708
g /NI e Share of results of associates 32,908 -
WA Interest income (97,372) (53,949)
AEEERERBA Dividend income from available-for-sale investments (3,628) (1,958)
R AR AR A E W AR MD T Recognition of equity-settled share based payments 49,870 66,011
SRESIEE M iR Unrealized exchange loss 302,127 20,084

LEECRYRLERASRE Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 3,456,392 3,486,173
BEHEME R (L) Decrease (increase) in properties held for sale 12,265,516 (1,539,006)
BEREMRZEEGEM R (Increase) decrease in properties under development for sale (9,433,955) 3,650,830
JEMER R R E U - e K Decrease (increase) in accounts and other receivables,
B FIERD (38 n) deposits and prepayments 1,956,855 (858,435)
FEHEME L MERERS R Decrease in deposits for land use rights for properties
held for sale (1,721,298) (284,158)
e BRI M AT RS2 (R ) 382 il (Decrease) increase in accounts payables and accrued charges (328,872) 456,154
BUYEEE LS E D Decrease in deposits received from property sales (58,204) (3,051,882)
KEMARE Cash used in operations 6,136,434 1,859,676
B BEER PRC income tax paid (1,882,189) (706,659)
RETHMBRLFR NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 4,254,245 1,153,017
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2015 2014
fizx AR¥Tr ARETT
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB'000
RETE INVESTING ACTIVITIES
B IS NGIEAE Advances to joint ventures and associates (2,565,542) (818,004)
BREDERBENTEN Repayment from joint ventures and associates 1,013,954 -
BEIZaliiy-Fae=5 N Advances to non-controlling interests (726,635) (40,000)
BEDRTIREME Purchase of completed investment properties - (135,914)
NEEEREME Additions to investment properties under construction (494,101) (149,012)
BEWE  BERZE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (15,444) (16,317)
HEME - BFE RZERER Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,651 1,951
HEBMNEERIBAEHE Proceeds from disposal of prepaid lease payments 85,000 -
WEEN B A RIS R A FEE Net cash inflow from acquisition of subsidiaries 32 1,992,452 -
BEDEWIFTER Placement of pledged bank deposits (31,500) (30,000)
B ERRTER Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 30,000 100,000
REXRHHE Withdrawal of restricted cash = 21,768
MEErEIAER Capital injection into joint ventures (3,120,982) (3,882,155)
mEE AT EABK Capital injection into associates (221,410) -
BEHLERE Purchase of available-for-sale investments (3,500) (10,000)
2T & Interest received 97,372 53,949
PRI HEREAIRE Dividends received from available-for-sale investments 3,628 1,958
HERBATNBESRAEE Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries 33 61,680 39,175
HE—ALNENHRLTEAFEE  Netcash inflow from disposal of a joint venture - 196,081
REZDFARL PR NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (3893371 (4,666520)
REEE FINANCING ACTIVITIES
BEDE LB NRIRNER Advances from joint ventures and associates 5,233,769 3,736,967
MEEERBENFER Repayment to joint ventures and associates (3,265,432) -
AR e S By EA R Advances from non-controlling interests 759,770 44,105
MBS IER Repayment to non-controlling interests (241,469) -
MERITREMER New bank and other borrowings raised 10,543,338 7,634,148
EBRBITREMER Repayment of bank and other borrowings (11,494,864) (8,188,226)
BITREEBERAGIES Net proceeds from issue of senior notes and
FTS B #58 corporate bonds 7,659,767 1,174,463
BEERLEER Repayment of senior notes (174,002) -
2R A Interest paid (1,628,133) (1,227.397)
BITKABRITEFMBHIE Proceeds from issue of perpetual capital instruments 29 - 585,710
BEKABAIEA Repayment of perpetual capital instruments 29 (585,710) -
DIRTFKAERTEERA Distribution to owners of perpetual capital instruments (38,030) (35,913)
M FEIRAE AL R E B A A Proceeds from disposal of partial interests in
iy g R S O] subsidiaries to non-controlling interests 33 - 76,822
R T E Capital contributions from non-controlling interests 173,496 79,000
BT D TS IR 558 Net proceeds from issue of shares 1,037,101 -
A B O] Payment on repurchase of shares (104,221) -
BEATRE Dividend paid (456,166) (333,270)
BEEEERETE NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 1.419.214 3,546,409
REeRBESEEYIEMFHE NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,780,082 32,906
FORERFASEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING
OF THE YEAR 1,093,654 7,060,748
FRESRRESEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END
OF THE YEAR 14,873,736 7,093,654
ReRRSEEYERIN ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
RITEART 2 Bank balances and cash 14,873,736 7,093,654
BB (SE)ERAR | —E—RFFR 115
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-_T—AF+-_A=1+—HBHIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2015
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1. GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the corporate information section to the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 44.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB"), which is the functional currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has applied for the first time in the current year the
following amendments to International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs") and International Accounting Standards (“IAS") issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB").

Amendments to Defined Benefit Plans:

IAS 19 Employee Contributions
Amendments to Annual Improvements to
IFRSs IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle

Amendments to
IFRSs

Annual Improvements to
IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

The application of the above amendments to IFRSs and IAS in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group's financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised and
amendment to IFRSs and IAS that have been issued but are not yet
effective.
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IFRS 9

IFRS 14

IFRS 15

IFRS 16

Amendments to IFRS 11

Amendments to |AS 1

Amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 38

Amendments to IFRSs

Amendments to IAS 16

and |AS 41

Amendments to IAS 27

Amendments to
IFRS 10 and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 10,

IFRS 12 and IAS 28

Amendments to IAS 7

Amendments to IAS 12

Financial Instruments!

Regulatory Deferral Accounts?

Revenue from Contracts with Customers!

Leases?

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in
Joint Operations*

Disclosure Initiative*

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortization*

Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2012-2014 Cycle

Agriculture: Bearer Plants*

Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements®

Sale or Contribution of

Assets between an Investor and

its Associate or Joint Venture®
Investment Entities:

Applying the Consolidation Exception*

Disclosure Initiative®

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealized Losses®

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for first annual IFRS financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with Customer”

IFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including IAS 18 “Revenue”, IAS 11
“Construction Contracts” and the related interpretations when it
becomes effective. The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity
should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for goods and
services. Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to
revenue recognition:

° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with customer
° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

° Step b: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognizes revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added
in IFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive
disclosures are required by IFRS 15.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of IFRS 15
in the future may affect the amounts reported and related disclosures.
However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the
effect of IFRS 15 until the Group performs a detailed review.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 11 “Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
in Joint Operations”

The amendments to IFRS 11 provide guidance on how to account
for the acquisition of a joint operation that constitutes a business
as defined in IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”. Specifically, the
amendments state that the relevant principles on accounting for
business combinations in IFRS 3 and other standards (e.g. IAS 36
“Impairment of Assets"” regarding impairment testing of a cash
generating unit to which goodwill on acquisition of a joint operation
has been allocated) should be applied. The same requirements should
be applied to the formation of a joint operation if and only if an existing
business is contributed to the joint operation by one of the parties that
participate in the joint operation.

A joint operator is also required to disclose the relevant information
required by IFRS 3 and other standards for business combinations.

The amendments to IFRS 11 apply prospectively for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The directors of the Company
do not anticipate that the application of these amendments to IFRS
11 will have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle

The Annual Improvement to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle include a number
of amendments to various IFRSs, which are summarized below.

The amendments to IFRS 5 introduce special guidance in IFRS 5 for
when an entity reclassifies an asset (or disposal group) from held for
sale to held for distribution to owners (or vice versa), or when held-
for-distribution accounting is discontinued. The amendments apply
prospectively.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle (Continued)

The amendments to IFRS 7 provide additional guidance to clarify
whether a servicing contract is continuing involvement in a transferred
asset for the purpose of the disclosures required in relation to
transferred assets and clarify that the offsetting disclosures (introduced
in the amendments to IFRS 7 “Disclosure-Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities” issued in December 2011 and effective
for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) are not explicitly
required for all interim periods. However, the disclosures may need to
be included in condensed interim financial statements to comply with
IAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting”.

The amendments to IAS 19 clarify that the high quality corporate
bonds used to estimate the discount rate for post-employment
benefits should be issued in the same currency as the benefits to be
paid. These amendments would result in the depth of the market for
high quality corporate bonds being assessed at currency level. The
amendments apply from the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented in the financial statements in which the amendments
are first applied. Any initial adjustment arising should be recognized in
earnings at the beginning of that period.

The amendments to IAS 34 clarify the requirements relating to
information required by IAS 34 that is presented elsewhere within the
interim financial report but outside the interim financial statements.
The amendments require that such information be incorporated by
way of a cross-reference from the interim financial statements to the
other part of the interim financial report that is available to users on the
same terms and at the same time as the interim financial statements.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of

these will have a material effect on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

IFRS 16 “Leases”

Under IFRS 16 a lessee recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease

liability. The right-of-use asset is treated similarly to other non-financial

assets and depreciated accordingly and the liability accrues interest.

This will typically produce a front-loaded expense profile (whereas

operating leases under IAS 17 would typically have had straight-

line expenses) as an assumed linear depreciation of the right-of-use
asset and the decreasing interest on the liability will lead to an overall
decrease of expense over the reporting period.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted at the rate implicit
in the lease if that can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be
readily determined, the lessee shall use their incremental borrowing
rate.

As with IFRS 16’s predecessor, IAS 17, lessors classify leases as
operating or finance in nature. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset. Otherwise a lease is classified as an
operating lease.

For finance leases a lessor recognizes finance income over the
lease term, based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of
return on the net investment. A lessor recognizes operating lease
payments as income on a straight-line basis or, if more representative
of the pattern in which benefit from use of the underlying asset is
diminished, another systematic basis.
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INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)
Recognition exemptions
Instead of applying the recognition requirements of IFRS 16 described
above, a lessee may elect to account for lease payments as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term or another
systematic basis for the following two types of leases:

° leases with a lease term of 12 months or less and containing no
purchase options — this election is made by class of underlying
asset; and

° leases where the underlying asset has a low value when new
(such as personal computers or small items of office furniture) —
this election can be made on a lease-by-lease basis.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of IFRS
16 in the future may affect amounts reported and related disclosure.
However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the
effect of IFRS 16 until the Group performs a detail review.

Except for the above impact, the directors of the Company do not
anticipate that the application of other new and revised IFRSs will have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The provisions of the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap
622) regarding preparation of accounts and directors' reports and
audits became effective for the Company for the financial year ended
31 December 2015. Further, the disclosure requirements set out in
the Listing Rules regarding annual accounts have been amended with
reference to the new CO and to streamline with HKFRSs. Accordingly
the presentation and disclosure of information in the consolidated
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December
2015 have been changed to comply with these new requirements.
Comparative information in respect of the financial year ended 31
December 2014 are presented or disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements based on the new requirements. Information
previously required to be disclosed under the predecessor CO or
Listing Rules but not under the new CO or amended Listing Rules are
not disclosed in these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain investment properties and
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements
is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of IAS 17, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in IAS 2 or value in use in IAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either

directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights
in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

° the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size
and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or
other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

° any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the

relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at previous shareholders' meetings.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of the other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognized in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the
fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognized
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IAS
39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in
an associate or a joint venture.

Investment in a subsidiary
Investment in a subsidiary is included in the Company's statement of
financial position at cost less any identified impairment loss.

Investments in joint ventures and associates

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those polices.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in joint ventures and associates (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of joint ventures and associates
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, an
investment in a joint venture or an associate is initially recognized in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognize the Group's share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the joint venture and associate. When
the Group's share of losses of a joint venture or an associate exceeds
the Group’s interest in that joint venture and associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net
investment in the joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognized only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the joint venture and associate.

An investment in a joint venture and an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
a joint venture and an associate. On acquisition of the investment
in a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognized as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess
of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment,
is recognized immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The requirements of IAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is
necessary to recognize any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s
investment in a joint venture and an associate. VWhen necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as
a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognized forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognized in
accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of
the investment subsequently increases.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in joint ventures and associates (Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date
when the investment ceases to be a joint venture. When the Group
retains an interest in the former joint venture and the retained interest
is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair
value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on
initial recognition in accordance with IAS 39. The difference between
the carrying amount of the joint venture at the date the equity method
was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the joint venture is
included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the joint
venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognized in other comprehensive income in relation to that joint
venture on the same basis as would be required if that joint venture
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income by
that joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or
loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
when the equity method is discontinued.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture or an associate of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
joint venture and associate are recognized in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the joint venture
and associate that are not related to the Group.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns,
rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue from sales of properties in the ordinary course of business is
recognized when all of the following criteria are satisfied:

° the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the properties
are transferred to buyers;

° neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the
properties are retained;

o the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

° it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group; and

° the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction
can be measured reliably.

Deposits received from purchasers prior to meeting the above criteria
for revenue recognition are included in the consolidated statement of

financial position under current liabilities.

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Property management income is recognized over the period in which
the services are rendered.

Project management and other property related services income is
recognized over the period in which the services are rendered.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income from a financial asset is recognized when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest income from a
financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognized when the Group's
rights to receive payment have been established (provided that it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of revenue can be measured reliably).

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation (including properties under construction
for such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially at
cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair values. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment property are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognized upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognized.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than properties under construction as described
below) are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.

Prepaid lease payments

The prepaid lease payments represent upfront payments for land
use rights and are initially recognized at cost and released to profit
or loss over the lease term on a straight-line basis, except for those
that are classified and accounted for as properties under development
intended to be held for sale.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Properties under development for sale

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for sale, the leasehold land component is amortized
over a straight-line basis over the lease term. During the construction
period, the amortization charge provided for the leasehold land is
included as part of the costs of the properties under development.

Properties under development for sale which are intended to be held
for own use or their investment potential are shown as non-current
assets.

Properties under development for sale which are intended to be held
for sale are shown as current assets and carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost includes the costs of land, development
expenditure incurred and, where appropriate, borrowing costs
capitalized. Net realisable value is determined based on prevailing
market conditions.

Impairment losses on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount (the higher of value
in use and fair value less costs to sell) of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. If the
recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized as an expense
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognized as income immediately.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognized on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. In the
event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases,
such incentives are recognized as a liability. The aggregate benefit of
incentives is recognized as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-
line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each
element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that
both elements are operating leases, in which case the entire lease
is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease
payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and
building element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating
lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is released over the lease term on
a straight-line basis except for those that are classified and accounted
for as investment properties under the fair value model. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
building elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a finance
lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowings costs eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of each group entity are presented
in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (its functional currency, i.e., RMB).

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities,
transactions in currencies other than the entity's functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,

and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognized in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred taxation.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred taxation is recognized on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred taxation liabilities are generally recognized
for all taxable temporary differences and deferred taxation assets
are generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred taxation liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred taxation assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognized to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred taxation assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realized, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred taxation liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred taxation are recognized in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred
taxation is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively.

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation liabilities and deferred
taxation assets for investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged
as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions. Payments made to state-managed retirement
benefit schemes are dealt with as payments to defined contribution
plans where the Group’s obligations under the schemes are equivalent
to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options/share awards to employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair
value of shares options or share granted at the grant date is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period with a corresponding
increase in reserve.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of shares that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact
of the revision of the estimates, if any, is recognized in profit or loss,
with a corresponding adjustment to reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognized
in share option reserve will be transferred to share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognized in
share option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognized in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognized as deferred revenue in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses
or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognized
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into loans and receivables and available-
for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the nature
and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time
of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized
cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognized by applying the effective interest (rate,

except for short-term receivables where the recognition of interest
would be immaterial).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Loans
and receivables (including accounts and other receivables, amounts
due from non-controlling interests, joint ventures and associates,
pledged bank deposits, and bank balances and cash) are measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment of financial
assets below).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available-for-sale or not classified as financial assets at
FVTPL, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured they are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period subsequent to
initial recognition (see accounting policy on impairment of financial
assets below).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have
been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered
to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could
include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

° breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-organization; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognized is the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest
rate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
accounts and other receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When an account or other
receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognized in profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss
is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

For financial assets measured at amortized cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognized.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will not be
reversed through profit or loss in subsequent periods.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are
classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognized at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual capital instruments with no contracted obligation to repay its
principal or to pay any distribution are classified as part of equity.

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is recognized
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognized in profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company's
own equity instruments.

Senior notes and corporate bonds

Senior notes and corporate bonds issued by the Company that contain
both liability, early redemption option and put option (which are not
closely related to the host contract) are classified separately into
respective items on initial recognition. At the date of issue, the liability,
early redemption option and put option components are recognized at
fair value.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the senior notes
is carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The
early redemption option is measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recognized in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the senior notes and
corporate bonds are allocated to the liability, early redemption option
and put option components in proportion to their relative fair values.
Transaction costs relating to the early redemption option and put
option are charged to profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs
relating to the liability component are included in the carrying amount
of the liability portion and amortized over the period of the senior
notes and corporate bonds using the effective interest method.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Senior notes and corporate bonds (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognized on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities of the Group (including accounts and other payable,
amounts due to non-controlling interests, joint ventures and associates,
bank and other borrowings, senior notes and corporate bonds) are
subsequently measured at amortized cost using effective interest
method.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the group entities are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Senior notes and corporate bonds (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVTPL, are
subsequently measured at the higher of:

(i) the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined
in accordance with IAS 37 “Provision, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets”; and

(i)  the amount initially recognized less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortization recognized in accordance with the
revenue recognition policies.

Derecognition

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
is recognized in profit or loss.

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and
the consideration paid and payable is recognized in profit or loss.
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4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the process of applying of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation liabilities or deferred
taxation assets arising from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the directors have reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolios and concluded that the Group's
investment properties are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time. Therefore, in
determining the Group's deferred taxation on investment properties,
the directors have determined that the presumption set out in IAS 12
“Income Taxes” that investment properties measured using the fair
value model are recovered through sale is rebutted.
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4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Construction costs estimation for revenue recognition

Certain projects of the Group are divided into several phases according
to the development and delivery plans. The Group recognizes sales
upon delivery of properties. Cost of sales including construction costs
specific to the phases and common costs allocable to the phases
are calculated based on management's best estimation of the total
development costs for the whole project and the allocation to each
phase at the time when the properties are delivered.

Investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair values based on the valuations
performed by independent professional valuers. In determining
the fair values, the valuers have based on a method of valuation
which involves certain estimates of market condition. In relying on
the valuation report, the directors of the Company have exercised
their judgement and are satisfied that the assumptions used in the
valuation are reflective of the current market conditions. Changes to
these assumptions would result in changes in the fair values of the
Group's investment properties and the corresponding adjustments to
the amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Income tax expense

Deferred taxation assets of approximately RMB286,753,000
(2014: RMB213,551,000) mainly in relation to tax losses and land
appreciation tax (“LAT") that have been recognized at 31 December
2015 as set out in note 31. The realisability of the deferred taxation
assets mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. The directors of
the Company determine the deferred taxation assets based on the
enacted or substantially enacted tax rates and the best knowledge of
profit projections of the Group for coming years during which the tax
losses or/and the deductible temporary differences are expected to be
utilized. The directors of the Company will review the assumptions and
profit projections by the end of the reporting period. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are less than expected, a reversal
of deferred taxation assets may arise, which would be recognized in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the period in which such a reversal takes place.
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4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Land appreciation tax

The Group is subject to LAT in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"). However, the implementation of the tax varies amongst
different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC and certain
projects of the Group have not finalized their LAT calculations with
any local tax authorities in the PRC. Accordingly, significant judgement
is required in determining the amount of land appreciation and its
related income tax provisions. The Group recognized the LAT based
on management's best estimates. The final tax outcome could be
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, and these
differences will impact the income tax expense and the related
income tax provisions in the periods in which such tax is finalized with
local tax authorities.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value
for financial reporting purposes. The directors of the Company are
responsible in determining the appropriate valuation technigues and
inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. \Where Level 1
inputs are not available, the Group engages independent qualified
professional valuers to perform the valuation. The directors of the
Company work closely with the independent qualified professional
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to
the model. The directors regularly assess the impact and the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and liabilities.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not
based on observable market data to estimate the fair value of certain
types of investment properties and financial instruments. Notes 14
and 42 provide detailed information about the valuation techniques,
inputs and key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value
of various assets and liabilities.
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4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Control over Xu An Co. Limited

Xu An was 50% held by the Group and 50% held by the other
shareholder, and was accounted for as a jointly controlled entity
previously. During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
entered into a supplemental agreement with the other shareholder.
By execution of the supplemental agreement, the Group had effective
control over Xu An and Xu An became a subsidiary of the Company.
Details of these are set out in notes 32(g).

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over Xu An based on whether the Group has the practical
ability to direct the relevant activities of Xu An unilaterally. In making
their judgement, the directors considered the Group's voting power
of holding in Xu An. By execution of the aforesaid supplemental
agreement, the board of directors of Xu An increased to comprise
of seven directors and all of the strategic financial and operating
decisions must be approved by simple majority of the board of
directors, of which four directors and three directors are to be
nominated by the Group and the other shareholder, respectively. After
assessment, the directors concluded that the Group has sufficiently
dominant voting power to direct the relevant activities of Xu An and
therefore the Group has control over Xu An.
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5. REVENUE

Revenue represents income from sales of properties, rental income
and income from provision of property management and property
related services earned during the year, net of discounts allowed, and is
analysed as follows:

—EB-HF —TIF
2015 2014
AR%STR ARBTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
SHEYEE Sales of properties 17,046,700 15,653,684
HaA Rental income 40,973 41,688
PIEEBIA Property management income 343,638 197,579
THE BRI R EAMY)E Project management and other property related
MR RB WA services income 799,477 286,383
18,230,788 16,179,334
6. 7HER 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION
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reports about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by
the chief operating decision maker (being the board of directors of the
Company) in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess
its performance.

Information reported to the Group's chief operating decision maker for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of performance is
focused on three main operations:

o Property development: this segment represents the development
and sales of office and commercial premises and residential
properties. All the Group’s activities in this regard are carried out
in the PRC.

o Property investment: this segment represents the lease of
investment properties, which are developed or purchased
by the Group to generate rental income and to gain from the
appreciation of the properties’ values in the long term. Currently
the Group’s investment property portfolio is located entirely in
the PRC.

o Property management, project management and other property
related services: this segment mainly represents the income
generated from property management and project management.
Currently the Group's activities in this regard are carried out in
the PRC.

The chief operating decision maker regularly reviews the operating
results by property development projects. As property development
projects are all located in the PRC, their revenue is primarily derived
from the sales of properties, and is related and subject to common risk
and returns. All property development projects are aggregated into a
single reportable segment, property development, in accordance with
IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”.
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6. DWER 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(a) ZFBYKRARFHE (a) Segment revenue and profit
EW IR T AREFFBLEREAELL  Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as provided
@Eﬁf&uﬂﬁ“*ﬁi’%fﬁmﬁﬁﬁgl to the Group's chief operating decision maker for the purposes of
WO HNERFHIAT - resource allocation and assessment of segment performance for the
year is set out below.

NEER
BEEEER
H A BB RR
Property
management,
project
management
EHEEE EHERE and other
Property Property related @t
development investment services Total
AR%TT AR%Tn AR%Tn AR%T:n
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BZE-B-TE+-A=+—HLEE  Yearended 31 December 2015
REIMIR PR 2R HUA Reportable segment revenue from external customers 17,046,700 40973 1,143,115 18,230,788
BE G e Reportable segment profit 3,295,106 26,755 450,221 3772,682
VELHR
BHERR
HtriaBRE
Property
management,
project
management
FRERE FHERE and other
Property Property related st
development investment Services Total
ARETT ARETTL ARETT ARETTL
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HE-S-TE+-A=+-HIEE Year ended 31 December 2014
RESNIEEMAZFAPUA Reportable segment revenu from extemal customers 15,653,684 11,688 183,96 16,179,334
PE= R Reportable segment roft 365,574 32000 178,608 3867382

(b) AHEERARE (b) Segment assets and liabilities
HREBLERRENTEASESE  No assets and liabilities are included in the measures of the Group's
ERFIB|IFAEERBE  AWLIE  segment reporting that are used by the chief operating decision
EINEEERBEIE - maker. Accordingly, no segment assets and liabilities are presented.
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6. DEER

(c) T2HDHBBRARFBNE IR

AE2HDBANEERDMESR - Ktk
ZRER [ 3 B AINE A P EE A A I
ARNDE - ROBEABREXAS - ¥
X BEMRETE  RREE KE
 ERERE M EKAARE
T BB K
HEELRNBERREENEMY
- M EERERREERADE

WEDTES
FAETARTES

BRNFHERIRWETE AR -

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue and profit

The reportable segment profit represents the results by each segment
without including any effect of allocation of other income earned
from operations other than the Group’s main operations, unallocated
head office and corporate expenses, depreciation of property, plant
and equipment, allowance for doubtful debts, change in fair value of
investment properties, change in fair value of trust and other loans
related derivatives, finance costs and share of results of joint ventures
and associates. This is the measurement basis reported to the chief

operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment.

—E-HF —ZT-NF
2015 2014
AR®TR AR®BTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
['ON Revenue
A 2HmDEBREERA Reportable segment and consolidated revenue 18,230,788 16,179,334
RS Profit
] 235 E6FE Reportable segment profit 3,772,682 3,867,382
Hag A - Uhss ke Other income, gains and losses 541,660 246,604
EREREMEFHE@AITETA Change in fair value of trust and
N EE other loans related derivatives - 4,000
REMELNFEE Change in fair value of investment properties 128,100 241,166
BhE R AN Finance costs (202,885) (386,228)
EhaEDEEE Share of results of joint ventures 205,533 (118,708)
i kel/NCIE Share of results of associates (32,908) -
Y - BB RRIETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (18,280) (14,171)
REREHE Allowance for doubtful debts (2,573) (711)
AN R ERT Unallocated head office and corporate expenses (586,502) (514,509)
BrE AT AR A FE Consolidated profit before taxation 3,804,827 3,324,825

(d) #HEEFR

HRAEBEHE LR IRPEET

B EZ SR EHY o

(e) EEEF

WERE —INEFPETHRSHMEK

AEREBRWA10%K A E o
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(d) Geographic information

operating activities are carried out in the PRC.

(e) Major customers

amounted to 10% or more of the Group's revenue.

No geographic information has been presented as the Group's

No revenue from transactions with a single external customer

CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2015



7. HMEWA - WEREE

7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

“E-HF —T—mF
2015 2014
ARETR ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000

A HERERREKRA Dividend income from available-for-sale investment 3,628 1,958
FEWA Interest income 97,372 53,949
Bt (FEE32) Gain on remeasurement (note 32) 166,498 -
ERA O (FEE32) Gain from business combinations (note 32) 76,770 -
HEWZE - BEK (Loss) gain on disposal of property, plant and
FEH (B1B) K F88 equipment, net (216) 837
HEBRMNEERERE Gain on disposal of prepaid lease payments 60,097 -
HE—HEEEENKE Gain on disposal of a joint venture = 80,243
B A B AU s (I 5E33) Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 33) 219,296 62,412
BR AT 4R Government grants 38,679 39,058
BRWERY Hize Forfeited deposits paid by purchasers 109,860 2,742
M 5 &1 Exchange loss (302,127) (19,790)
FETEU A Sundry income 71,803 25,195
541,660 246,604
8. RERAK 8. FINANCE COSTS

—E-HF —TNmF
2015 2014
AR¥TRT AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000

RIT M EARE TR RN IHER
R TRMFIE
BEZBERARBERONEFHX
BEATETAMENERR
H B BRI
B BHEHERFEPYER
ERREMENEN S E

Interest on bank and other borrowings and amounts due to

non-controlling interests (994,751) (764,011)
Interest expense on senior notes and corporate bonds (779,275) (503,932
Interest expense on settlement of trust and other loans

with derivatives nature - (167,638)
Less: Amount capitalized to properties under development for

sale and investment properties under construction 1,571,141 1,049,353

(202,885) (386,228)

HERYERTEEEEYED EAXR{LH  Borrowing costs capitalized to properties under development for sale
EFRATIRIESIETREMEZ - 8 and investment properties under construction were determined by
LEEENANREAENELFZE(DRIAKM  the contracted interest rates of respective bank and other borrowings,

E27 28 FE)EEE ©

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR

senior notes and corporate bonds as disclosed in notes 27 and 28
respectively.
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9. FIEBIRAX

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

—E-RF —TOF
2015 2014
ARETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000

P EEFTISH PRC Enterprise Income Tax:
BNEAFTIS AR Current income tax (950,358) (860,973)
BT FERERE Overprovision in respect of prior years - 462
(950,358) (860,511)
THIEET LAT (317,872) (472,916
(1,268,230) (1,333,427)
IRIERETE (M3E31) Deferred taxation (note 31) (65,809) 8,190
(1,334,039) (1,325,237)

BEE -_ZETNF— A —HEEHHNS
Bl EMERERERIEA - ARG F
BB A RIHEEIRE A25% o

KEZEARBEELZRIE  BETHEM
BRRARESBRIEERBMARRE
TEBE25% M - M ERBMARIRIE
HAPRBEEROBRTETB T ENT
WAKIB%ZE10% °©

b 51 5 B 8 T AR AR BB R BT
RRERIMAE E - THBERE
B E R BB R BESRRE
AETHANBERAR) -

REXZBRELHS ([RBERES]) R
MERSNRANMER  AEEHARE
RBRZBESMRASESHMATMAME
i o
HRANEEENERARNEARTES
TMIERBEE - WA EREBEBFEHE
A -

AN BRI MRS

154

Under the Law of Enterprise Income Tax and Implementation Rules of
the PRC effective since 1 January 2008, the statutory tax rate of the
Company's PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

As approved by various competent tax bureaus, certain PRC
subsidiaries are subject to statutory tax rate of 25% on their respective
deemed taxable income, ranging from 8% to 10% of revenue in
accordance with the prescribed tax calculation method pursuant to the
applicable PRC tax regulations.

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the requirements set
forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has been
provided at ranges of progressive rates of the appreciation value, with
certain allowable exemptions and deductions.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin Islands

(“BVI") and the Cayman Islands, the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the BVI and the Cayman Islands.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the income
of the companies comprising the Group neither arises in, nor is
derived from, Hong Kong.

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note 31.
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9. FIEBIMAX

ﬁEE’U%ﬁEEﬁHE@#&é?EﬁT&&ﬁ%%E
Yesa R ARR AT A RO ST AR AT -

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before

taxation per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

—B-EF —mE
2015 2014
ARETRT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BREATHE Profit before taxation 3,804,827 3,324,825
5% B AN R B S ZEFTSHR PRC Enterprise Income Tax at 25% (951,207) (831,206)
GG =Tk %?ﬁ; Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes (97,775) (79,661)
BERHBANT G E Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes 9,108 7,703
T HIERET LAT (317,872) (472,916)
+ IR E R AT S R Tax effect of LAT 79,468 118,229
BTFEEERE Overprovision in respect of prior years = 462
RIERFIBEBN BT Tax effect of tax losses not recognized (88,420) (71,276)
BRI R RN IE B Utilization of tax losses previously not recognized 14,280 3,225
REER ARG = 5B T fs s 2 Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not recognized (41,508) (8,540
B A SRR FERR A P HO R B s = 58 Utilization of deductible temporary differences previously
not recognized 10,859 18,610
ATHBENERRRNETE Effect of adopting prescribed tax calculation method by
BNk certain PRC subsidiaries 15,745 18,547
SN ERBENT G E Tax effect of share of result of joint ventures 51,383 (29,677)
JEIREEE N R EEN G2 Tax effect of share of result of associates (8,227)
HAth Others (9,873) 1,263
FEHBEER Tax charge for the year (1,334,039) (1,325,237)
BffE - Note:

1. ARRER TR i R RIS

TEEER(RE)ERAR | —F

CEEAEARE 1.
BRWIZER X RIR 32 5 P EE A B AT R ER B 2258 o

—RFFR

in relation to construction of properties.

Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not recognized represents the
adjustments of deductible temporary differences arising from inter-company transactions
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10. FARBERZEBAZLE 10. PROFIT AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

—B-REF —TMOF
2015 2014
AR®BTT ARBTT
RMB'000 RMB'000

FRFE N2 B A LT TSR Profit and total comprehensive income for the year

(FFA)ToIEIE - has been arrived at after charging (crediting):
ZHEMEE Auditors’ remuneration 5,225 4,716
SAHE RRBERANDEMERA  Costof properties sold included in cost of sales and services 12,265,516 11,678,446
M - REREETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 18,280 14171
HEWE - BEK Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and
AR EE (Y ) 5 equipment, net 216 (837)
RIREE Allowance for doubtful debts 2,573 71
0E 5 B8 558 Net exchange loss 302,127 19,790
THRIEFHKEHRERS Operating lease rentals in respect of land and buildings 34,423 40,822
REERELARIERERE Loss on senior note early redemption 20,725 -
B TR Staff costs
EEZHM (M) Directors’ emoluments (note 11) 10,396 9,963
Hh 8 TR A Other staff costs
B TN (B IREREFAA) Staff costs excluding retirement benefit costs 451,286 368,599
RREFIBCAR Retirement benefit costs 42,804 32,495
PARR AN RE S 45 E A0 LARR D S 30 Equity-settled share-based payments 49,058 64,392
BB TR A4 Total other staff costs 543,148 465,486
B AERYENENEEE Less: Amount capitalized to properties
under development for sale (197,985) (148,995)
345,163 316,491
LEMERS WA Rental income from investment properties (40,973) (41,688)
B AR Less: Related outgoings 14,218 9,488
(26,755) (32,200)
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11. EEREEEH

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

“E-HF —T—mF
2015 2014
ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000
EEHM Directors’ emoluments
E5He Directors’ fees 676 633
B IEITEEN R AL 42 Equity-settled share-based payment for independent
A HENES non-executive directors an 907
HITE R E M Other emoluments for executive directors
—ERE 4 &EAL — basic salaries and allowances 7,481 6,526
— DARR AN A 2 48 0 DA RR 9 157 3R — equity-settled share-based payment 31 712
— 14T — bonus 1,124 908
— IR — retirement benefit contributions 303 277
10,396 9,963
CARR A
EXFER  £EI1 RIRER
EEHE EREE RBAR AL HR st
Basic Equity-settled Retirement
Directors’ salaries and  share-based benefit
fees allowances payment Bonus contributions Total
ARETT ARETR ARETRT ARETR ARETT AR¥ET:R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
BE-E-1%F Year ended 31 December
+ZA=+—-HBLEE 2015
HTEERZ Name of executive director
MR EAE Mr. LIN Zhong - 2,544 - - 95 2,639
WEEE Mr. LIN Wei - 1,752 - - 113 1,865
MRIE S 4 Mr. LIN Feng - 3185 34 1,124 95 4,745
BYFHTESESE Name of independent
non-executive director
BEZERE Mr. GU Yunchang 200 - 157 - - 357
FoKELAE Mr. ZHANG Yongyue 200 - 157 - - 357
BRIERK SE A Mr. TAN Wee Seng 216 - 157 = = 433
676 1,481 812 1,124 303 10,396
BRI (EEB)AR AR | —E—RAFFR 157
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11. EEREEFMHN =)

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)
PARR A 2
EXFaek H#EIUN BIREH
£ Yk 28 BRHEAR TE4T R st
Basic  Equity-settled Retirement
Directors”  salariesand  share-based benefit
fees  allowances payment Bonus  contributions Total
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HE-Z—NF Year ended 31 December 2014
+-A=Z+—HIEE
HITESHZ Name of executive director
7 Cabitas Mr. LIN Zhong - 1838 - - 87 1925
WEEE Mr. LIN Wei - 1,740 - - 88 1828
MRIE S 4 Mr. LIN Feng - 2,948 712 908 102 4,670
BYFHTESESE Name of independent
non-executive director
BEELE Mr. GU Yunchang 198 - 302 - - 500
FOKELAE Mr. ZHANG Yongyue 198 - 302 - - 500
BREMTE Mr. TAN Wee Seng 237 - 303 - - 540
633 6,526 1,619 908 277 9,963

EXENNATESTTFMEIZARESE
FLE AR R R AR B S5 RHA R
e °

EXEINBIATESHFHEZ K
FHEARREZRENREMIEL

PRI SEAE R RBITHAE - T E3XPT
BEEGNEREEETRERNEM -

FA - BEEEXRTBTHRABRRIL
ME SR B WEEAH M 2k

FA - ETEEREARBBRET S
REAREERHENRFER TEK
& o BEAERT 8RB RS OBTRESD ©
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The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services as director of the Company.

Mr. LIN Feng is the Chief Executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by
him as the Chief Executive.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year.

During the year, certain directors were granted share options, in
respect of their services to the Group under the share option scheme
of the Company. Details of the share option scheme are set out in
note 39.
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11. EEREEFMHN =)

TEREHMAL

Bz E—HRF+-_A=+—HIEF
B AaAsaTMALEE—RESR(—
T—UF : —FEF) - HE_ZT—AF

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals included 1 (2014: 1) director for the
year ended 31 December 2015. The emoluments of the remaining
4 (2014: 4) highest paid individuals for the year ended 31 December

+—A=+—BHItFEMEHNEL&RE 2015 are as follows:
FMALT(ZZ—PUE : UK ) FEIN

T
—E-HFE —T—UF
2015 2014
AR%FTr ARBTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
B8 Employees
—HEARF & ERL — basic salaries and allowances 8,510 7,934
—1EAL — bonus 4,163 3,272
— AR AR RS A E W AR (D ST 3R — equity-settled share-based payments 274 251
—IRRKIEFEH I — retirement benefit contributions 1,078 2,358
14,025 13,815
HENSEBIATEE : Their emoluments were within the following bands:
AE AEK
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
—E-Rf —ET—NOEF
2015 2014
3,000,0017% 7T 23,500,000/ 7T HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 1 -
3,500,001, 7T £4,000,0007% 7T HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 1 2
4,000,001, 7T £ 4,500,000 7T HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 1 1
6,000,001/% 7T 26,500,000 7T HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 1 1

AEBYERNARRERTHAS
B A = SRR BN S 0 B AN SR 3K
HNEE 7SR [BRSs ) B2 Y S B B4R 1 o

= = Lt

BX (7 T

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the
Company or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join

or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR
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12. RE 12. DIVIDEND

—E-HF ZTAF
2015 2014
AR¥TRT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000

BEARE —SRERER Proposed final dividend — RMB9.35 cents (equivalent to

AR 35U FEE 117 HK11 cents (2014: HK11 cents) per ordinary share

624,270 524,572

(P04 : 118D

EFEeRd RE_ZT-AFERER
BEREBBRARKISMLEER11EM)

—E-E 11D (TE2F KRR
81 - AEEHEBERAREER DK
BARFER 2 BN EANT RS EBRIE
il &ABREREBI4EI - ZERH
P SR R IR ERER B AR & ST SUA R 9
s 2 BB X B 2 Fh U B 4 05 AU
U REIAR S,

HE_Z-—AF+_A=+t—HILFE
BRI B AR AR R R IRR N EE
BRERBFERSHE

REBEE-_ZT—AF+-_A=+—HLHF
EA - RRERERAKREGR11BL
(BREERRRERUAERENRNDRER
&I YE R BAAR BRI ARG R BaE 1)
KBRS BB  HREAEE
T—NE+-_A=+—HIEMBFEHD
KB ERBE-_T—RFA=1+H
IEARERABFERE - FIBAT

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend for 2015 of
RMB9.35 cents (equivalent to HK11 cents) (2014: HK11 cents) per
share (the “Proposed Final Dividend”). The Proposed Final Dividend
for the year in aggregate with the interim dividend of HK3 cents per
share paid in respect of the first six months of the year amounted to
total dividends of HK14 cents per share. The Proposed Final Dividend
will be either payable in cash or in form of new fully paid shares of the
Company in respect of part or all of such final dividend at shareholder’s
option.

The Proposed Final Dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015
is subject to the approval of the Company’'s shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, a final dividiend of HK11
cents per share in respect of the financial year ended 31 December
2014, which included scrip dividend alternative offered to shareholders
to elect receiving the final dividend by allotment of new shares in
lieu of cash, and an interim cash dividend of HK3 cents per share
in respect of the six months ended 30 June 2015, were paid to
shareholders, details as follow:

—F-1R% —TMF

2015 2014
FET FBT
HKD'000 HKD'000

& 2 Dividends
Re Cash 565,203 421,861
VARG A B2 3 42 (P 5E30) Scrip dividend alternative (Note 30) 300,721 -
865,924 421,861
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13. BR&RF
RRAEE AEESREAREERT
TYRIE T OB A5

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable
to the owners of the Company is based on the following data:

—Z-RF —TMOF
2015 2014
ARBTRT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000

25 Earnings

TETEFRER K ERTNAT Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted

(RAREE AEREIRFE) earnings per share (profit for the period attributable to
owners of the Company) 2,095,464 1,861,149
—E-R% —T-NF
2015 2014
R EE Number of shares
A ESRERBNNE Weighted average number of ordinary shares
INkEFIIE for the purpose of basic earnings per share 6,447,679,001 6,026,579,000
HEERERE S8 E R Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares on share options 193,094 -
S E GRS BN T m AR Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose
INHEES 8 of diluted earnings per share 6,447,872,095 6,026,579,000

( E-—F-HNFE+T_A=+—HLF
B AREHAETEER T —HFW
R R 1T BRI AR A 2 B B 80 3
B SR ESRETRAE - WEST
BERER-_ZT——FtANLBKANE
BRIEFEDHIR-_ZE—=F_RA=+X
BR-Z—=F+tA-ThARLNE
PRt -

B (RE)BRARF | —FE—RFFH

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the share options granted
on 26 February 2013 and 29 October 2013 under the share option
scheme adopted on 9 October 2012 are not included in the calculation
of diluted earnings per share as the adjusted exercise price was
greater than the average market prices of the Company's share during
the outstanding period in 2014.
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14. BEWE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

ERREMFE BRT

Investment HEME

properties Completed
under investment st
construction properties Total
ARETT ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R-E—NFE—HF—H At 1 January 2014 1,358,000 3,292,400 4,650,400
NE Additions 178,720 135914 314,634
NEER [ncrease in fair value 16,280 224,886 241,166
RZB-NF+-A=+—H At 31 December 2014 1,553,000 3,653,200 5,206,200
STk B B Transfer upon completion (1917.125) 1917125 -
AE Additions 508,000 - 508,000
ANEECE D)0 (Decrease) increase in fair value (17.875) 145,975 128,100
R-E-HF+=-A=1t—H At 31 December 2015 126,000 5,116,300 5,842,300

ERTHREVEREZREDEDLRN
TE BTHEE - FEAKEREE
A E R Y R A RBURA SRR
RIREDIEAFEENGE -

rEER—_ZT—RAF+_A=+—H0K
AR #5,519,000,0007T( = ZF— P4 :
AFR#4,931,000,0007T) B3R EWEE - LA
ERAEBERRITREMER -

AEBERTIREMEREEREY
¥R —AFERFT—WOFF+ZA
Tt HRNRAFEIEREREFET E
BENBYAEREXMAEMTE K
TEEHHEREXEMERARNZ
LHEETHHEMNSE - E—KFH
MHTEENEXBERARATEEAE
& B HR TS ARt B A B U Y
¥ EEEKER -

ERTIREMENEENDRAERLER
FEU2REMCRTIREMENTS L
ZAILE ISR 5 M EBKIRA B
FHSWAFBRENMENTAGE - A
BEEREMEZCRIREYERS
WAREFEN
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The completed investment properties and investment properties
under construction are all situated in the PRC under medium-term
leases. All the Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation are measured using the fair
value model.

The Group had pledged investment properties of RMB5,519,000,000
(2014: RMB4,931,000,000) as at 31 December 2015 to secure bank
and other borrowings of the Group.

The fair values of the Group’s completed investment properties and
investment properties under construction at 31 December 2015 and
2014 have been arrived at on the basis of valuations on those dates
carried out by Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited, a
firm of independent qualified professional valuers not connected with
the Group, who have appropriate qualifications and recent experiences
in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.

The valuations of completed investment properties were arrived at
with adoption of the direct comparison approach by making reference
to comparable market transactions as available in the relevant markets
on completed investment properties and, by capitalising the net
rental income derived from the existing tenancies with due allowance
for reversionary income potential of the respective properties on
completed investment properties.
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The valuations of investment properties under construction were
arrived at with adoption of the direct comparison approach by making
reference to comparable transactions for bare land as available in the
relevant markets and, residual approach, which is based on market
observable transactions of completed properties with the basis that
they will be developed and completed in accordance with the latest
development proposals and taken into account the construction costs
that will be expended to complete the development to reflect the
quality of the completed development and developer’s profit.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in prior
year. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and
best use of the properties is their current use.

Details of the Group's investment properties and information about
the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as
follows:

RZT—hH%F

+=—A=+—8

WA E

Fair value

as at

E= 31 December

Level 3 2015

AREBTIT ARBTT

RMB'000 RMB'000

R BRI ENE Investment properties located in PRC 5,842,300 5,842,300

RZZE—NF

+Z-A=+—H

WAEE

Fair value

as at

E= 31 December

Level 3 2014

ARBTT ARBTT

RMB'000 RMB'000

MBI ENE Investment properties located in PRC 5,206,200 5,206,200

FAVEBAZE=AIBEEPEL - There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.
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14. REWHE )
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continuea)

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of the major investment properties are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorized
(Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair

value measurements is observable.

IS SRR
RREK AR EE
PR B BEBR
Investment A SRR
properties held NFERREF
by the Group mERER BEMELER Relationship of
in the consolidated NEELRR FEHARE BARIE unobservable
statement of Fair value Valuation technique(s) Significant inputs to
financial position hierarchy and key input(s) unobservable input(s) fair value
Completed investment  Level 3 Income method (term and Term yield, taking into account of ~ There is no indication
property — Jiaxing =4k reversionary approach) yield generated from comparable that any slight
CIFI Square WA (HEESR ) properties and adjustment to change in the term
CRTIHENE — = reflect the certainty of term yield would result
EBERES The key inputs are: income secured and to be in significant higher
(1) Term yield; received of 4% (2014: 4%). or lower fair value
(2) Reversionary yield; and A AR[E Y EEERIL measurement.
(3) Market unit rent of individual &% 82 S BRFTHER B UCERAR I S EF R R AR (E (Al
unit HIWARBTEES AR - BRI
TEHABER HW SR B4% (=T —N MBS HAR
(1) TEEA AR F:4%) e BRREENRTF
2)EEbEmE BEiftE -
(3) BRI EE AL BY T35
BMHE Reversionary yield, taking into Asslight increase in the
account annual unit market rental ~ reversionary yield
income and unit market value would result in a
of the comparable properties of significant decrease
45% (2014: 4.5%). in fair value and vice
KT ABMTSFERSHBA  versa.
RAELBRMENELT  BERERGEREMR
B EHREERISN(Z &EEBRATFEKR
T—MF : 45%) ¢ @ - Rk
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

RERE BT
RRKZAREE
PREHR &
Investment
properties held

by the Group

in the consolidated
statement of
financial position

NEERR
Fair value
hierarchy

mERER
FEHABE
Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

BEMELER
BABUR
Significant
unobservable input(s)

BEBR
A\ BUR ER
NHERBR
Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to

fair value

Market unit rent, using direct
market comparables and taking
into account of location and
other individual factors such as
road frontage, size of property
and facilities range from around

RMB110 sq.m./month to RMB610

sg.m./month (2014: RMB102
sg.m./month to RMB567).

R EE IS LB AL L
AIE REREER - MEX

NEHREFEMEIBERE
FEmisENEEN TE
FrRkgGAARENOTE
BFHKBAAREGI0T
(ZZ—F : §EFAKE
AARE102TEEHFH XK
BRAARMS67L) ©

Aslight increase in the
market unit rent would
result in significant
increase in fair value
and vice versa.

M5 BEAHSEM -
RRBHATEK
TBIgM - R2Z7%

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR
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14. BEWHE =)

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continuea)

RERE BT
RRKZAREE
PREHR & BEBR
Investment W A BB ER
properties held NFEMREF
by the Group {HEFENR BE KR Relationship of
in the consolidated RNEERR  EEHABE BB unobservable
statement of Fair value Valuation technique(s) Significant inputs to
financial position hierarchy and key input(s) unobservable input(s) fair value
Completed investment ~ Level 3 Income method (term and Term yield, taking into account of ~ There is no indication
property E=H reversionary approach) yield generated from comparable  that any slight
— Shanghai CIFI WAE(RER1ESE) properties and adjustment to change in the term
Yangpu Commercial reflect the certainty of term yield would result
Centre The key inputs are: income secured and to be in significant higher
DR TIREE — (1) Termyield; received of 5%. or lower fair value
B8 fBIE e 15 (2)  Reversionary yield; and AR BB EESRW  measurement.
FEd (3)  Market unit rent of 2 R FTHEAR S U ERAE I AR SR R BRI
individual unit HIWA BT R FEE - BIRE R A e
TERABER HIW R R R5% © MBS S HARR
(1) HHEMEE RadBENAT
(2) EHRKZFER: Kk Reversionary yield, taking into BftE °
(3) {ARIEBELINTIHEMT S account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of A slight increase in the
the comparable properties of 6%.  reversionary yield
KAt ABNTSFERSUWA  wouldresultina
SIR=ad % E =0k X va] significant decrease
B EHREERE - in fair value and vice
versa.
BRI e N
=R EHRATEKX
e - R27m
166 CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2015



14. BEWHE =)

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

RERE BT

RRKZAREE

PREHR &

Investment

properties held

by the Group

in the consolidated NHERA
statement of Fair value
financial position hierarchy

mERER
FEHABE
Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

BEMELER
BABUR
Significant
unobservable input(s)

BEBR
A\ BUR ER
NHERBR
Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to

fair value

Market unit rent, using direct
market comparables and taking
into account of location and
other individual factors such as
road frontage, size of property
and facilities range from around
RMB219 sq.m./month to RMB398
sg.m./month.

ERAEETISLL BT AN &5t
AGLE MERETEE - MIEK
NREREEEAN R X -
FiEmZENEEN TETF
FTRBAARE219TES
FrokEHAARKE398TT ©

Aslight increase in the
market unit rent would
result in significant
increase in fair value
and vice versa.

M5 BRI HSEM
RRBHATEK
TBIg M - R2Z7%

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR
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15. W% - BMERRE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

MELHR
BF KosEg  RERER @t
Leasehold Equipment
[and and Motor and
buildings vehicles fumiture Total
AREFTT ARETT ARETT ARET:
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
N COoST
RZE-lE-A—H At1 January 2014 12,076 31,962 4725 91,763
NE Additions - 5,029 11,268 16,317
HE—FHBLRA Disposal of subsidiaries - (21) (226) (449)
HeE Disposals (392) (4570) (1915) (6877)
R-Z-NE+-A=1+—H At 31 December 2014 11,684 38,200 50870 100,754
NE Additions - 7075 8,369 15,444
WEEH B A Acquisition of subsidiaries - 3603 1477 5,260
HE-FHBRA Disposal of a subsidiary - (64) - (64)
ik Disposals - (4975 (2.778) (7753
R-E-RE+-A=1+-H At 31 December 2015 11,684 44,039 51,938 113,661
REHTE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
WZE—mE-f—H At 1 January 2014 2416 23,864 18,322 44,602
FRRY Charge for the year 639 5,274 8,258 14,1
LEHBRA Disposal of subsidiaries - 213) (120) (333)
PHERBLH Fliminated on disposals (79) (4,332) (1,353) (5,764
RZE-ME+-A=1—H At 31 December 2014 2976 24593 25,107 52,676
FRRY Charge for the year 550 7703 10027 18,260
HE—FHBRA Disposal of a subsidiary - 13) - (13)
R ERI S Eliminated on disposals - (3,705) (2.181) (5,886)
R-Z-7F+-A=1+-H At 31 December 2015 3526 28518 32,953 65,057
REE CARRYING VALUES
RZE-H%+-A=1-H At 31 December 2015 8,158 15,461 24,985 48,604
RZE-ME+-A=1—-8H At 31 December 2014 8,708 13,607 725,763 48078

168

CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2015



15. Y% BMERSZE®
EaiE - BERREEE IRET RIE
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MELHRRT REAERFH0
FREHABIEE
)

HENEH 20%

S R 20%
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17. REEE QB ERS

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated

using the straight-line method after taking into account of their

estimated residual values at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the estimated useful lives of 20 years
or the term of the leases, whichever

shorter
Motor vehicles 20%
Equipment and furniture 20%

The buildings are all situated on land in the PRC.

16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

The carrying amount of prepaid lease payments represents the land use
rights held in the PRC under medium term leases intended for hotel
property development and administrative usage.

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

—F-RF —T0OF

2015 2014
ARETR ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000
REE N E AR R Details of the Group's interests in associates are as follows:
BT
PREEE N BRI IE E TR E KA Cost of unlisted investments in associates 621,528 15,300
e U 18 348 e ELh 2T s Share of post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
MN% 2L E income, net of dividend received (32,908) -
588,620 15,300
EEER(EE)BRAR | —Z—AFFRH 169
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17. REZE DTSR 17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
RZE—FAFR_ZFT—WME+=H Particulars of the Group’s associates as at 31 December 2015 and
=+—H8 AEENBLRRFESHY 2014 are set out as follows:

M -
Rl
DAvEi AEBMFR R X
Place of M AEE E(hRE Proportion of
BENRLHE incorporation/ Place of Equity interest voting power held TEER
Name of associates establishment operation attributable to the Group by the Group Principal activities
“E-1f —T-UF CF-1fF _—TQF
2015 2014 2015 2014
REtEREHEREERAR el i 2% 25% 5% 2% RIEFE
(TRt 2% ) (fisk) PRC PRC Property development
Tianjin Shijixing Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd.
(“Tianjin Shijixing”) (Note 1)
TRBEERERARAT el el 50% MR 50% NER BHERE
(MHERmEgER ) (ME2) PRC PRC N/A N/A  Property development
Beijing Xuhui Dangdai Property Co., Ltd.
("Beijing Xuhui Dangdai”} (Note 2)
MMEZRHEREERAT HE P 3% - 3% - FHERE
(MMzeE)) PRC PRC Property development
Hangzhou Longzhuo Real Estate Development
Co,, Ltd. {"Hangzhou Longzhuo”)
BREREXERAR el e 19% - 19% - BHERE
Nanjing Xuchen Property Co., Ltd. PRC PRC Property development
LEmEERERAT e e 50% - 50% - BHERE
Shanghai Kunhui Property Co., Ltd. PRC PRC Property development
REN K EEEERAA i e 10% - 10% - FHERE
Beijing Dacheng Guangyuan Property PRC PRC Property development
Co, Ltd
MNRBERERAR el i 2% - 2% - BHERE
Hangzhou Chenxu Property Co., Ltd. PRC PRC Property development
EEBRAT] AERLEE ABRAES 13% - 13% - RE#ER
Xu Huang Co., Ltd. BYI BvI Investment holding
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17. REE QTR @)

CEX

1. BE-_Z-MNF+-_A=1t—HLLFE  K&£H
M—BBYE=HEEREIFEENBRRIKRE
AR A 26% R AE - KRS EREBEEE THE#E
BER R LRI TIE - NEEFIEE - A&
E A RE AL TE5%ME - XA FK AR
EEMEE DT

2. LR BIEE R BAEEFFA0% REME &R
¥¥HtREREEAaRAR(MIEREREE])
FH50% c R=_T—MFE+=-_A=+—H%IK
BB E - BE-_T—AFt+-A=1+—HIt
FE  AEEEBEERNBRREVERS B
It - AEEREZEHIERERERIREHIER
BEERSRERRE - 1) - BEE=S - FiE
ERREREERRERESTSHE S HIE -
Hb A ERmER=2ERARI TN
REBHRIIRSE - Bt - AEBEERITELY
LR BB E R ARSI - Bt - SR EE
BEREESAFEN - tRBBERBRAED
¥SMo A —MEHEEAR393,728,0007T

) kNG

3. BE_T-—AF+_A=1+—HILFE  x£H
DRKEIL RS EKEEERR AR RKERA
ZEEBRAAN45%K20%IEETRREH
B - EARY2,910,0007T K A R #6,000,000
T AEBEHZMEAREEATEN  WiE
ATRBART] o ZMEA TEEE B ERH
3B BEENMNBARMR T —AF+=A
=+—HAHE -

REERBERARNREFBTOT

TXFRAEBAEEEAKREARAS
AMFBAREE - TRMBEREES
AEE A TR E RS R R R
RSB R RS -

B2 RNE T RERENZ FERA MBI

RARR °

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes:

1. During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group disposed 26% equity interests
in its non-wholly owned subsidiary, Tianjin Shijixing to an independent third party and
resulting in loss of control over Tianjin Shijixing upon completion of the transaction. After
the disposal, the Group retained 25% equity interests in Tianjin Shijixing which became
an associate of the Group.

2. Beijing Xuhui Dangdai was 50% held by the Group and 50% by the other joint venture
partner, Modern Green Development Co., Ltd. JQtRE K ETEEERAT) (“Modern
Green Development”). It was accounted for as a joint venture as at 31 December 2014.
During the year end 31 December 2015, the shareholders of the Beijing Xuhui Dangdai
signed a memorandum pursuant to which the Group would consent the appointment
of the senior management of Beijing Xuhui Dangdai nominated by Modern Green
Development. In addition, according to the memorandum, all of the strategic financial
and operating decisions must be approved by the simple majority of the board in which
three out of the five directors are nominated by Modern Green Development. Therefore,
the Group no longer have joint control but significant influence over Beijing Xuhui
Dangdai. Beijing Xuhui Dangdai has been reclassified from a joint venture to an associate
amounting to RMB393,728,000.

8. During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group acquired 14.5% and 20% of the
paid-in capital of unlisted companies, Beijing Jinlong Yonghui Property Co., Ltd. (3t ;1%
BEBE AR AR and Tianjin Xingtai Jifeng Property Co., Ltd. (REEIZFHE BELH
BR A F]) amounting to RMB2,910,000 and RMB6,000,000 respectively. The Group had
significant influence on these two companies and so treated them as associates. The
two companies were subsequently disposed of before 31 December 2015 through sales
of subsidiaries disclosed in note 33(a).

Details of the Group’s investments in associates are as follows:

Summarized financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
material associates is set out below. The summarized financial
information below represents amounts shown in the associates

unaudited management accounts prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.
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17. REEE QTR @)
dtRmBEENXR

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
Beijing Xuhui Dangdai

—E-hfF —E—UFE

+=A=t-B +=A=t+-A

At At

31 December 31 December

2015 2014

AR¥TR ARETFT

RMB’000 RMB'000

MEVEE Current assets 2,116,282 447,416
JEMENEE Non-current assets 1,012 79
mEAE Current liabilities 1,234,102 442,041
JEREEE Non-current liabilities 100,000 -
Bz HE

—B-IF e

+=A=t+-8 t=A=+-~

IHEE HFE

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2015 2014

AR¥TR AREBTFT

RMB’000 RMB'000

A Revenue _ _
FABEREZERS B Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year (4,262) -
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17. REEE N BIRVEERS () 17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
EFEEENR () Beijing Xuhui Dangdai (Continued)

Ll ER B EAG S SRR TE  Reconciliation of the above summarized financial information to the
REIEREEE R REEHER carrying amount of the interest in Beijing Xuhui Dangdai recognized in
the consolidated financial statements:

i N

—E-FF —T—uEF

+=A=+—-B +=ZA=+—H

At At

31 December 31 December

2015 2014

ARETR ARBTFT

RMB’000 RMB'000

IERBEE R EEFE Net assets of Beijing Xuhui Dangdai 783,192 5,454
REERERBEE R Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in

HEERELL Beijing Xuhui Dangda 50% 50%

REERILREEE RAER Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
rIBRMEE Beijing Xuhui Dangdai 391,596 2,727
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17. ]‘J'/\\\Hﬁfi% N E@*Eé(%) 17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
mMEEE Hangzhou Longzhuo
i N
—E-hfF —E—UFE
+=A=+—-H +=ZA=+—H
At At
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
AR¥TR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
MEEE Current assets 1,332,555 -
EMBNEE Non-current assets 4,673 _
RENAE Current liabilities 860,245 -
ERBERE Non-current liabilities - -
BZE BHE
—B-IF e
+=ZHA=+—H +=ZA=+—H
ILEFE HFE
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
AR¥TR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
WA Revenue _ _
FABEREZERS B Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year (23,017) -
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17. REEE QRIS @) 17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

MMER (&) Hangzhou Longzhuo (Continued)
P BRI B S S B EHRERFFE  Reconciliation of the above summarized financial information to the
REFMNESEEMREELYE carrying amount of the interest in Hangzhou Longzhuo recognized in

the consolidated financial statements:

i N
—E-HEF —E—E
+=ZA=+—-H8 +ZHA=+—8H
At At
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
AR¥TR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
MINEE R EEFE Net assets of Hangzhou Longzhuo 476,983 -
REBATMNEER Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in
HEEREL Hangzhou Longzhuo 35% -
NEBMNIMNEEEERER Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
FIARMEE Hangzhou Longzhuo 166,944 _
IEME RIS A A T E B R Aggregate information of associates that are not individually
material
BZE =
—B-RF —TmE
+=—BA=+—-8 +=ZA=+—8H
LFE IHEE
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
ARETR ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
AEBE(EEBNEER A% The Group's share of loss and total comprehensive expense (22,121) -
i N
—E-FHE —Z U
+=ZB=+—-8 +=ZA=+—H
At At
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
ARETR AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
REBRZERZE AT Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's interests in
EREEERRE these associates 30,080 15,300
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18. REE XN ER 18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

—E-HF ZTAF
2015 2014
AR¥TRT AR®BFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
NEENEIE FHIRERA Cost of unlisted investments in joint ventures 6,929,474 8,024,368
FE(E U 18 48 R EL 2T s Share of post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
MR E WAL B income, net of dividend received 180,323 (132,584)
1,109,797 7,891,784
N-_E—FRFERK _-_F—pO%E+ - F Particulars of the Group's joint ventures as at 31 December 2015 and
=+—H AEEALDEMEIBEETS] 2014 are set out as follows:
M -
Bz
X302 AEEEERE REEMFREELE
Place of SR B Equity interest Proportion of
BENELR incorporation/  Place of attributable to voting power held ~ FZ 7%
Name of joint venture establishment operation the Group by the Group Principal activities
—2-1f —T-MF ZB-1f _T-MF
2015 2014 2015 2014
HEERERARAF i i 40%" - 40%* - BHERE
Shanghai Shoujia Property Co., Ltd. PRC PRC Property development
HERBERERAA] h h 50% 50% 50% 50% GEitEEREE
Shanghai Luxu Property Co., Ltd. PRC PRC Property development
e ERERRAR P th 50% 50% 50% 50% FiiEmRE
Shanghai Xincheng Xudi Real Estate  PRC PRC Property development
Development Co., Ltd.
FNBABEXERDR (M) h 50% TNER 50% NER BHERE
Suzhou Xubang Property Co., Ltd. PRC PRC N/A N/A Property development
(Note 33)
DEBRERARAR(F:E2) o i TEA 50% TEA 50% AR
Shanghai Xukang Property Co., Ltd. PRC PRC N/A N/A Property development
(Note 32)
FEXBEXERDR(MEE) & h TER 49% TER 19% EiERR
(I E&xE]) PRC PRC N/A N/A Property development

Shanghai Yongpan Enterprise Co., Ltd
(note) {"Shanghai Yongpan')
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18. REEE¥EMNER @

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Baiayg
XLt AREEEERE REEMFREEL X
Place of R B Equity interest Proportion of
BENELR incorporation/  Place of attributable to voting power held ~ FEFE%
Name of joint venture establishment operation the Group by the Group Principal activities
—2-1f —TMF ZB-1F —_TMF
2015 2014 2015 2014
FMNIRBRERER AR i H 50% - 50% - BHERE
Suzhou Beichen Xuzhao Property Co., Ltd PRC PRC Property development
FNBHEZARDA(MER) HE il T~ER 49%° TER 19% EHER%
Suzhou Xuyang Property Co., Ltd PRC PRC N/A N/A Property development
(Note 32)
REBREHERZRRAR  PH hE TER 4751% TER 1151% EiERE
(F¥5E32) PRC PRC N/A N/A Property development
Tianjin Xujin Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. (Note 32)
REMREXERAR (M) +E I TER 50% TER 50% FEiERE
Wuhan Xucheng Property Co., Ltd. PRC PRC N/A N/A Property development
(Note 32)
JAEBR AR (BE))) ABENES TE 50% 50% 50% 50% AR
Xu Bao Co. Limited ("Xu Bao") BVI PRC Investment holding
TBIEBR AR (FEE32) EBRUES HE TER 49%° TER 49% REER
Xu Zheng Co. Limited (Note 32) BVI PRC N/A N/A Investment holding
HEMEREERER AT i HE TEH 50% TEH 5% EiERE
(F5E32) PRC PRC N/A N/A Property development
Hunan Wuhua Investment Co., Ltd..
(Note 32)
8% (Fi3E32) EBRAHE F T~ER 50%" TER 50%* AR
Xu An (Note 32) BVI PRC N/A N/A Investment holding
REMBBHERZERAR & H 50% - 50% - FHERE
Tianjin Xuke Real Estate PRC PRC Property development

Development Co., Ltd.

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR
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18. REELENER @) 18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)
Bl ag
vk i e B (G RE TEBMSREEL X
Place of R B Equity interest Proportion of
BENELR incorporation/  Place of attributable to voting power held ~ FEFE%
Name of joint venture establishment operation the Group by the Group Principal activities
“E-HF —“T-MF —B-EF —T-WF
2015 2014 2015 2014
EREEKREEXBRAR & i 21%* 49%* 2% 49%* BEFERR
Beijing Xuhui Yong Tong Chang PRC PRC Investment holding
Property Co., Ltd.
RERERBRAR(RE]) RERLEE PHE 50% - 50% - REER
Eastime Investment Limited (“Eastime”) BVI PRC Investment holding
EREREEEBRAR i h 49% - 49% - BHERE
Beijing Xutianheng Property Co., Ltd ~ PRC PRC Property development
ERERAIREE h i 30% - 30% - FHERE
HEERAH PRC PRC Property development
Chongging Xuyuan Chuangzhan
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
FMEHERERAR i h 40%* - 40%" - EERE
Suzhou Xuyue Property Co., Ltd PRC PRC Property development
JBRERRA RERUEE PH 35%* - 35%* - BHERE
XuPu Co. Limited BVI PRC Property development
Coastwise Limited (note) (FfzE) RBRELHEE P 50% - 50% - BiERE
(“Coastwise”) BVI PRC Property development
# ZENTREANPEKREARBEEATINE @ These companies are accounted for as joint ventures as at respective period end date as
RBAMRABARASLLYE  ZENFNEIE in accordance with the memorandum and articles of the companies, major financial and
R BN RARYRES 308 - operating policies of these companies require the unanimous consent of all directors.
Mk : R-ZE—AERA+HA - AEBEEHongkong Note: On 15 May 2015, the Group and Hongkong Land China Holdings Limited (“Hongkong
Land China Holdings Limited ([ Hongkong Land"”) entered into a master agreement (“Master Agreement”) with pursuant to a
Land)i]~ BBeimas ([@a s ) - BT — series of transactions in order to jointly hold and develop the Xu Jing project (“Xu
ZYZ G AREZRAE REZRBXER ([1BXIE Jing Project”), which is a property development project located in Shanghai and was
B1) e BRIEE A—BMR LB ZERTIE previously held by Shanghai Yongpan, with an offshore shareholding structure. Upon the
B RIS KEIBINEERFEIES - N completion of the transactions stipulated by the Master Agreement in 2015, the Xu Jing
T FEBEPRITT 2R S5TEME - BERIEER Project is jointly held by the Group and Hongkong Land through Coastwise and Shanghai
A% [E B Hongkong Landi& B Coastwise £ [F Yongpan is acquired by the Group. The aforesaid transactions did not have material
BE MEEKERAEFWRE - x5 E profit and loss impact to the Group.
HAKBEZFBREBEREREAZE -
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18. REELEMNELR &)
AEEREERENREFBEAT

TXAEABERAASREREREEEN
MBERBRE - NAMBERRERRE
2hEREERM GRS ERRRENK
REZEERBATEE °

BECEDNRBDENZFHEAMBR
RARR °

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Details of the Group’s investments in joint ventures are as follows:

Summarized financial information in respect of each of the Group's
joint ventures is set out below. The summarized financial information
below represents amounts shown in the joint ventures’ unaudited
management accounts prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.

Coastwise Coastwise
i i
—E-RE —ZT—F
+t=ZA=+—-H +=—A=+—H
At At
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
ARET T ARBT T
RMB'000 RMB'000
BB E Current assets 6,190,151 -
FEmENEE Non-current assets 31 _
TEBRE Current liabilities 258,378 -
ERBAE Non-current liabilities 338,566 -
BZE HE
—E-hfF —E—uF
+=A=+—-B +=ZA=1+—H
IEEE IHFE
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
ARET T AREETFTT
RMB’000 RIMB'000
WA Revenue = -
FRFMEEEEN AR Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 695,895 -

B (RE)BRARF | —FE—RFFH
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18. REEENER ») 18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)
P ERE B EG S MR TE  Reconciliation of the above summarized financial information to
RHCoastwisett ax AR E £ R - the carrying amount of the interest in Coastwise recognized in the

consolidated financial statements:

i N
—EB-HF —E—UFE
+=ZHA=+—H +=ZA=+—H
At At
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
CoastwiseFy & E #1E Net assets of Coastwise 5,593,238 -
AR EE B CoastwiseHy Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in
HEA LB Coastwise 50% -
7N 5 [E R Coastwise ] Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
REEMREE Coastwise 2,796,619 -
JHE Xu Bao
i I
—E—FE —E—YF
+=A=+—-B +=ZA=1+—H
At At
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
AR¥ET T ARBT T
RMB'000 RMB'000
mEEE Current assets 6,001,800 6,824,290
ERBEE Non-current assets 526 674
mEBE Current liabilities 1,068,277 1,224,082
FREARE Non-current liabilities 1,744,443 2,141,328
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18. REELEMNELR &) 18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

JBEE (%) Xu Bao (Continued)
BZE HE
—E-HF —Z—uF
+=A=+—H +=-A=+—H
IEEE IFFE
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
ARET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
A Revenue _ _
FAEBEBMEHERS B Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year (269,948) (99,897

iR ER I EEG S BT  Reconciliation of the above summarized financial information to
2B B RE 25 Y BE (B ST BE the carrying amount of the interest in Xu Bao recognized in the
consolidated financial statements:

i I

—E-HF —T-F

+t=A=+—H +=-A=+—H

At At

31 December 31 December

2015 2014

AR¥ET T AREFTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

BEMNEEFE Net assets of Xu Bao 3,189,606 3,459,554
REBRBERNBEEELD Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in Xu Bao 50% 50%
REBERBENERMNEREE Carrying amount of the Group's interest in Xu Bao 1,594,803 1,729,777
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18. REELENER & 18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)
REF Eastime
i i
—EB-EHF —E—UFE
+=A=+—H +=-A=+—8H
At At
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
ARET T ARETIT
RMB'000 RMB'000
BB E Current assets 1,835,286 _
IERENEE Non-current assets 43 _
RENAE Current liabilities 352,843 -
FREBAE Non-current liabilities - _
BZE HE
—E-IF Lk
+=B=+—-H +=-A=+—H
IEEE IFFE
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
ARET T AREETFTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
WA Revenue _ _
FREBEEERY 25 Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year (84,378) -

iR SR E RS S K RETRE  Reconciliation of the above summarized financial information to
70 4 B R R 25 1 B TR 30 B the ca_rrying gmou_nt of the interest in Eastime recognized in the
consolidated financial statements:

i N

—E-hF —E—UFE

+=ZA=+—H +=ZA=+—H

At At

31 December 31 December

2015 2014

AR¥TR ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

REMEBEFRE Net assets of Eastime 1,482,486 _
NEFREBIREEAREL B Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in N/A
Eastime Investment 50% TEA

REERRERERMRAE Carrying amount of the Group's interest in Eastime 741,243 -
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18. REEE¥EMNER @
FERERESELENELER

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually

material

Year ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

2015 2014
ARBT T ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000

NEERGEEER The Group’s share of loss and total comprehensive expense
ESENGE L (34,748) (299,746)
i N
—E—RE —Z—UF
+=ZBA=+—-8 +ZA=+—8H
At At
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
ARBT T AR¥ETT
RMB’000 RMB'000

FEBRZSEELENER Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's interests

IRE{ELR in these joint ventures 1,977,132 7,950,476

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR
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19. AHEERE

19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

2R —T@OF

2015 2014

AR%TR ARBTT

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR B E T RIRR AN FE 5 Equity Security listed in the PRC 54,023 54,023

ERE AR EER 2B R/ NERBRDE
BARRAL N ET R E B8 TR R B
BREEEARAR(PHBERE W
RE e

R-E—RAF+-_A=+—H ' x&EE
BEREHREHKA3.06%(=F—Y
F:3.06%) c AARIESFRARELHR
MEBERBIRETER -

BE_Z—AF+_A=+—HLHF
B AEBWEHSMIELTRAREHZK
RE17.5% » & 58 E A K% 3,500,000
T UYREER-_ZFE—RAFE+_A
= t+t—HAZAHE —BEWNBATHE
(FAKIEE33(a) i ER) °

HE_Z-—-NFE+-_A=+—HIF
B AEBWE —FIELTRAREHK
RNE10% - & % E AR ¥ 10,000,000
TL WREABERBENE -

20. FELEWHE
AEBORELEMEHLNTE o B
BREEHEMEHRR AR TSR EE
(ABAE & %) 58E -

AEBR-_ZE—HAFET=-A=1+—8#&K
#H A R ¥ 666,374,000 ( —F — [
4 AR¥4,098,823,0007T) IFEL &
M - AERAEERRITREMER -

184

The above equity investment represents investment in CURA
Investment Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (“CURA Investments”),
an entity established and listed on the National Equities Exchange and
Quotation System.

At 31 December 2015, the Group owned 3.06% (2014: 3.06%) of the
paid-in capital of the investee. The directors of the Company consider
the principal activity of the investee is investment holding.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group acquired
17.5% of the paid-in capital of an unlisted company amounting to
RMB3,500,000 which was subsequently disposed of before 31
December 2015 through sale of a subsidiary disclosed in note 33(a).

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group acquired
10% of the paid-in capital of an unlisted company amounting to
RMB10,000,000, which was subsequently disposed of during the
year.

20. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The Group’s properties held for sale are situated in the PRC. All the
properties held for sale are stated at lower of cost and net realisable
value.

The Group had pledged properties held for sale of approximately

RMB666,374,000 (2014: RMB4,098,823,000) as at 31 December 2015
to secure bank and other borrowings of the Group.
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21. FEAEFYE 21. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

—F-RF —FTOF
2015 2014
ARBTR ARBTT
RMB'000  RMB'000

A COST

F9) At the beginning of the year 9,803,747 13,044,558
NE Additions 13,150,979 9,779,324
W B — R Ff 8 2 &) (B3 5E32) Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 32) 11,580,144 -
T EMEB AR (FEE33) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 33) (604,275) (425,944)
ERTEELEYE Transfer to properties held for sale (13,763,213)  (12,594,191)
FR At the end of the year 20,167,382 9,803,747

FERYEGURTE  BFHEE © The properties under development for sale are located in the
IR T EBEHENRERYE PRC under medium-term leases and represent properties under
development for subsequent sale upon completion.

R-ZE—HAF+-_A=+—H ' i AH Included in the properties under development for sale as at 31
T ERM L ARE10,129,898,0007 December 2015 amounting to approximately RMB10,129,898,000

—Z—F : AR®4,134,830,0007T) (2014: RMB4,134,830,000) which represent the properties expected
IEFEH A RESRBA T _EA%KET tobe completed and available for sale after more than twelve months
RiAIKza k== 0k 740 from the end of the reporting period.

AEBR -_Z—RAF+_F=1+—HM The Group had pledged properties under development for sale of
1 A R113,491,256,0007 (= F —F0  approximately RMB13,491,256,000 (2014: RMB6,070,247,000) at 31
F : AR¥6,070,247,00070)FIFZEFY)  December 2015 to secure bank and other borrowings of the Group.

¥ UERAEBRRITREMMER ©
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22, B RR R B H f FE IRK IR
BERANREA
BHRWFAEIZRELENEIES
WA - BREEMERNREDNREAH
BEEHZENIGFKEAT A tha R g
T F60HE180H AT - RIFHEE W
& HEWARREPXMIERAX -

22. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

Trade receivables mainly arise from sales of properties and rental
income. Considerations in respect of properties sold are paid
in accordance with the terms of the related sales and purchase
agreements, normally with a range of 60 days to 180 days from the
date of agreement. Rental income is paid by tenants within two
months in accordance to tenancy agreement.

—E-HF —T—MmF
2015 2014
AR®BTT ARBTT
RMB'000 RMB'000

B 5 EUGRIE (MR EE) Trade receivables, net of allowance 2,048,163 2,381,005
HoAth W R IR (FNRR B4 ) Other receivables, net of allowance 3,230,515 1,353,501
BNHE Prepaid tax 274,595 168,294
e RIBNFOE Deposits and prepayments 158,196 72,508

5,711,469 3,975,308

AT RARBEMRIZ B RRENE
5 FEMFIR MR e D AT (R HIBR B

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, based on the
date of agreement and net of allowance, at the end of the reporting
period:

—E-HF —T-AF
2015 2014
ARBTR ARETET
RMB'000  RMB'000

FR60E A Within 60 days 1,495,225 1,675,839
612180H 61-180 days 751717 407,496
181£365H 181-365 days 321,883 100,776
1234 1-3 years 153,652 196,894
IFEM L Over 3 years 2,226 -

2,048,163 2,381,005

RERETAEERPH - AEEEARN
MEEHEHEFEEERFPNEERE
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Before accepting any corporate customer, the Group uses an internal
credit assessment system to assess the potential customers’ credit
quality.
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22, FEUBR R R H4th FE W F 1B
RERFEMARE @)

RZZE—RAF+_A=+—H ' Bk
EHAREBHEAER N R LFTIE
BRENEZIRRFEBEEREAENARKE
552,938,000 (ZZT —WMF : AR¥
546,256,0007T ) 5T A 2N £ B #) & UL BR 3K
#E - RECEREEERTESATH
28 - BeBNERATHE -

EEERENREE S REFER - AL
EEZEEZRUFENEEERBNT
RHEEEE B REEREHREREAEMA
28 o ANEASEY EEAENT PR
RRER  BEERRETREEAR

22. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Included in the Group's accounts receivable balance are trade
receivables with a carrying amount of approximately RMB552,938,000
(2014: RMB546,256,000) at 31 December 2015 which are past due at
the end of the reporting period for which the Group has not provided
for allowance as there has not been a significant adverse change in
credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable.

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the Group
considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivables
from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting
period. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the large
customer base unrelated to the Group.

5 MEMEWRFIEBNREEREE SN Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts on accounts and other
T receivables are as follows:

—E-RfF —gF
2015 2014
ARETRT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
FUaEeR Balance at the beginning of the year (5,888) (5,177)
B30 Increase in allowance (2,573) (711)
FRER Balance at the end of the year (8,461) (5,888)

23. WY IEIRIR RS ROR

JEUSEIE R iR RIE A EER - 2B K
TR EKEE -

R-ZZE—NF+_A=+—8 ' BAHK
%AE%M6%3mamm$ﬁ#¢k%
RERERRT - 28 RBRENKE]
9I\ B AEIEA - T;z594%ﬂ’\]l;5¢

PR B RBIRERK(ERE -

24. B EREELE HE
NGBS

U ENEERE HERARKEA

BER 2B RARERER -

B (RE)BRARF | —FE—RFFH

23. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2015, the amounts due from non-controlling

interests were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2014, except for the amount due to a non-
controlling interest of approximately RMB476,963,000, which is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand, the remaining
balance is unsecured, interest bearing at fixed rate of 5.94% per
annum and repayable on demand.

24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO JOINT VENTURES
AND ASSOCIATES

The amounts due from/to joint ventures and associates are unsecured,
interest-free and are repayable on demand.
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25 EEAV/ITER RITEER
REE

R-E—RAF+_-_A=+—8 " it A%
AU BRRARBITEHRERESANZR
H #R 1T 45 82 49 B A R # 678,639,000 7T
—ZT—mF : AR¥569,785,0007T)
MZzEFERENRARIEEFEEREIE
E o

EEMRITEREER TRITERSARS
B GHIRIT R B VR RAVTF 5K
MBRSRBDEE °

RITEHKR LB EBEAEBEAFRE R
JREER B A=A A AT 8B B
RITREBRIZRITHISMERER -

25. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES
AND CASH

Included in bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement
of financial position are restricted bank balances of approximately
RMB678,639,000 (2014: RMB569,785,000) at 31 December 2015,
which can only be applied in the designated property development
projects.

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to banks to secure
short-term banking facilities granted to the Group and are therefore
classified as current assets.

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and demand
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. Bank
balances carry prevailing market interest rates.

—F-RF —T0OF
2015 2014
AR®BTRT AR®KTT
RMB'000 RMB'000

e ERRITERNIEES DM ¢ Analysis of bank balances and cash by currency:
—ARKEE — Denominated in RMB 14,647,743 6,306,573
— AR E — Denominated in Hong Kong dollars 21,614 494,128
—AEITEHE — Denominated in United States dollars 198,379 292,953
14,873,736 7,093,654
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26. BENRREERX

26. ACCOUNTS PAYABLES AND ACCRUED
CHARGES

—E-Rf —ET—@OEF
2015 2014
AR%STR ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000

B O EMIRR Trade payables 3,905,090 2,448,235
H b RIE MY Other payables and accrued charges 3,413,999 2,734,814

1,319,089 5,183,049

BRAZRNBESENFTALEHAXE
REEXNAREMEBEBERAX - %
EXEDRBEAEEAENRBEREX
N°A%%Hﬂﬁm$ﬁﬁ§%%%

o NS BB BIRT M A5 E R E IR IR R
Mﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ KIRHREEHRAE
e

ATARBEMRIZERBNRENE
PN FIRRRER DT -

Trade payables and accrued expenditure on construction comprise
construction costs and other project-related expenses which are
payable based on project progress measured by the Group. The
average credit period of trade payables is 60 days. The Group has
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables
are within the credit timeframe.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables, based on the
invoice date, at the end of the reporting period:

—EB-REF —ZTNOF
2015 2014
ARETRT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000

7608 " Within 60 days 2,047,752 940,624
61Z2180H 61-180 days 473,606 320,690
1812365H 181-365 days 751,51 698,297
1582 1-2 years 510,802 437,291
2E3F 2-3 years 66,438 39,859
IFEM Over 3 years 48,921 11,474

3,905,090 2,448,235

ST AN SR B H A A RRE Ko B ET R ST EY
H A FE 5 R K BT R XX E B IR R RIR
R#ITHE T AR BABSHEMAETE
FHERERIZE ©

B (RE)BRARF | —FE—RFFH

Other payables and accrued charges mainly represent accrued loan
interest, various deposits received from contractors in relation to
tendering and execution of construction contracts.

189



B3 Y R W ik

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

. SRATR EAbERK

27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

—E-HF —TWF
2015 2014
ARBTRT ARKETT
RMB'000 RMB'000

BHEMRTER ()
EAIRIRITE R (PRE()
BERETEER (BT Ee)
Hib EE A E R

R B &R (PRE()

Bank loans, secured (note (d)) 8,930,521 6,858,948
Bank loans, unsecured (note (d)) - 900,000
Trust loans, secured (note (e)) - 310,000
Other loan, unsecured - 500,000
Syndicated loan (note (f)) 2,727,382 934,849

11,657,903 9,503,797

REREHANE TRITRE
B 7

35)%%2%&# BENETHE

LA
BB AP HELR o

fiaE

(a) ERBIEATMEE -

#XJ5  Certain bank and other borrowings as at the end of each reporting
7x|]  period were secured by the pledge of assets as set out in note 35 and
certain equity interest in certain subsidiaries.

Notes:

(a) The borrowings are repayable:

—B-AF —T e
2015 2014
AR¥T T AREBFIT
RMB'000 RMB'000
—FRIRER Within one year or on demand 2,793,500 3,035,362
—FLAE BT HEARF More than one year, but not exceeding two years 3,569,081 4,135,940
LA E - B RBA=F More than two years, but not exceeding three years 3,794,053 1,760,860
ZFLAE BT BIBIYE More than three years, but not exceeding four years 954,700
FFLE More than five years 546,569 571,635
11,657,903 9,503,797
B REBAEE TR FREBHSE Less: Amount due within one year shown under current liabilities (2,793,500) (3,035,362)
—FRE e Amount due after one year 8,864,403 6,468,435
—ZT-hE —Z—mE
2015 2014
AR¥T T AREFIT
RMB'000 RMB'000
INEHEE D OERAT Analysis of borrowings by currency:
—AAR¥HE — Denominated in RMB 9,437,571 8,568,948
—ABTTAHE — Denominated in HKD 1,531,277 486,948
—AETEHE — Denominated in USD 689,055 447,901
11,657,903 9,503,797

(b) R-ZET—RE+=ZA=+—H

CAEAHA (b) Fixed-rate borrowings amounted to approximately RMB1,485,500,000 (2014:

R #1,485500,000 C( T —M4F : ARK RMB2,886,700,000) carry interest ranging from 7% to 9% (2014: 5% to 9.6%) per
2,886,700,0007T ) K E BAEFIEN F7% E9% annum at 31 December 2015 and expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The
HEMRFBE(ZE— EﬁE 5%%9.6%) @ 7 remaining borrowings are arranged at variable rates with the effective interest rates
EEEEHAFENZRRER - 8 T EZIRZEF) ranging from 2.9% to 8.1% (2014: 6.2% to 8.5%) per annum at 31 December 2015, and
RPN E—HAF+-_A=+—H K expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

FHMENT29%ZE8.1%(ZF—MNF : 6.2% =

8.5%) ' RAKBEEHIRSTRFIERR o
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27.

BITREMER @)

fiE - ()

(c)

NEREHRNERFRGENT

27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

The range of effective interest rates at the end of each reporting period are as follows:

—E-RF —Z—EF
2015 2014
ARBT AREBFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
SRITER Bank loans 2.9% — 9% 5.6% —8.5%
EFEER Trust loans TEAN/A 9%
HAibE® Other loans TEFAN/A 5% —9.6%
(d) R-ZZE—RFE+-A=1+—8 ' st AKEERIT (d) Included in the Group's bank loans, amount of approximately RMB650,000,000 as at
BERH & 5N ARE650,000,0007T 5 ANA ) 31 December 2015 is secured by equity interests of the wholly owned subsidiary of
2EMB AR ZRE - A& RBEREER the Company, being 100% equity interests of Hefei Xuyuan Property Co., Ltd (note 35).
AIRA R Z100% REEE A (FFE35) - R=F Included in the Group’s bank loans, amounts of approximately RMB450,000,000 as at 31
—ME+=—A=+—8 ' st AREBRITERN December 2014 were guaranteed by CIFI (PRC), an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary
S EH AR#450,000,0007T AR B MEE of the Company.
AW B A RBERE o
(e) ZEEREZHREAMEQATAETELHEARXET (@) These borrowings are mainly in the form of trust arrangement with trust financing

o BRERERLEAASBEGTERED
RIRT VB e o MBI A R (SRR
Y RRER IR ABERENRE AT
AR AR E - R BEELHNEER
ARER - AR A RRBRERIERR TS
EHER o SRR HFA TMERAERE R B AR
ETHE TEMEREIAR RARRMER AR
17 (FHFESB) (R © AEFEREFNFABBEE -

R=ZZT—=F+ANRB ' KRB(ERERH)
RARRE THENBRAR(EABMSERA)
B A IS (ERER )T IREER D
F(ZT—AFHHEEER]) - —FT—RF
FEHEEERAEBENE TSR ERERE
#8%E#%7156,500,000% 7T * D AME D : ()ET
#5 4 #£75,000,000% 7T ¢ K(i)BLIHE
636,000,000 T - HEEFAR/E T —~F
S HSRE SR ek a] o B iR =4 - WRMmE
$R1T R HE 47 B Rl BRI TR E 7 S F )15.65F
WEFIRE - —T— A FHHREERN=-Z
—NERRHEE -

R=ZZT—NMF+—AWB ' A5EE#EB50%
Wz By — BB D B B — AR SN A R —
HENM ISR LR IR E Bk KR AR E
& - BEASIINE R RVE T EREA
1,440,000,000& TR E EIE KR E © HE&EF|H
BAEREARSB=F - BRENAREHZ
RAARKEGHERE A AR 1,500,000,0007T
ﬁiiﬁ%ﬁév%&ﬂ%ﬁ%%k@%ﬁ%ﬂ

R-T—R&—A=+8  AAFE A
B ER % - BERAE—FET/ ARKE
S HIE 4250475 130,000,0003 T HY TE 2R E BNk
%ﬁ C RBIEFHIA A BIRE R FUE B LR 36
EAH -

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR

companies. The conventional loan trust arrangements are loan agreements entered into
by the Group and trust financing companies. The trust arrangements with obligation
to repurchase equity interest involve either capital increase in, or transfer of equity
interest in project companies with repurchase obligations at the maturity of the loans.
The substance of the latter type of trust arrangements is borrowing, with the equity
interests in the project companies legally transferred as collateral. The borrowings under
trust arrangements are secured by certain property development projects undertaken by
the relevant borrowing subsidiaries and shares of subsidiaries of the Company (note 35).
The trust loan was fully repaid in current year.

On 8 July 2013, the Company as borrower, and certain offshore subsidiaries of the
Company as initial guarantors, entered into a syndicated loan agreement (“2016 due
Syndicated Loan") with a group of financial institutions as lenders. The 2016 due
Syndicated Loan is a dual-currency term loan facility with an aggregate amount of
approximately US$156.5 million divided into two tranches: (i) United States dollars
tranche with an aggregate amount of US$75 million; and (i) Hong Kong dollars tranche
with an aggregate amount of HK$636 million, with final maturity of three years from the
date of the 2016 due Syndicated Loan agreement and interest of LIBOR or HIBOR plus
5.65% per annum. The 2016 due Syndicated Loan was fully repaid in 2015.

On 4 November 2014, a 50% owned subsidiary of the Group entered into an offshore
facility agreement and an onshore facility agreement with a group of offshore financial
institutions and a group of onshore financial institutions. The relevant offshore
agreement is a Hong Kong dollar denominated term loan facility with an aggregate
amount of HK$1,440 million with final maturity of three years from the first utilization
date. The relevant onshore agreement is a Renminbi denominated term loan facility with
an aggregate amount of RMB1,500 million with final maturity of three years from the
first utilization date.

On 20 January 2015, the Company entered into a facility agreement with a group of
financial institutions. The relevant facility is a US dollar/Hong Kong dollar dual currency
term loan facility with an aggregate amount of approximately US$130 million, with final
maturity of thirty six months after the first utilization date.
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28. SENIOR NOTES AND CORPORATE BONDS

a. EEEE a. Senior notes

—E-HF —T—UF
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On 15 April 2013, the Company issued guaranteed fixed rate
senior notes to the public at par with aggregate nominal value of
US$275,000,000 (the “2018 due Original Notes") which carry fixed
interest of 12.25% per annum (interest payable semi-annually in
arrears) and will be fully repayable by 15 April 2018.

On 18 September 2013, the Company issued guaranteed fixed rate
senior notes to the public at premium of 4% with aggregate nominal
value of US$225,000,000 (the “2018 due Additional Notes”) which
carry fixed interest of 12.25% per annum (interest payable semi-
annually in arrears) and will be fully repayable by 15 April 2018.

On 27 January 2014, the Company issued guaranteed fixed rate senior
notes to the public at discount of 0.455% with aggregate nominal
value of US$200,000,000 (the “2019 due Original Notes") which carry
fixed interest of 8.875% per annum (interest payable semi-annually in
arrears) and will be fully repayable by 27 January 2019.
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28. SENIOR NOTES AND CORPORATE BONDS

(Continued)

a. Senior notes (Continued)

On 12 January 2015, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement pursuant to which the subscriber agreed to subscribe for
additional fixed rate senior notes with the aggregate nominal value
of US$200,000,000 (the “2019 due Additional Notes”) which carry
fixed interest of 8.875% per annum and will be fully repayable by 27
January 2019. This batch of senior notes will be consolidated and form
a single series with the 2019 due Original Notes with the same terms
and conditions of the 2019 due Original Notes, except for the issue
date and the issue price.

On 5 June 2015,the Company issued guaranteed fixed rate senior
notes at discounted of 0.5609% with aggregate nominal value of
US$400,000,000 (the “2020 due Notes") which carry fixed interest of
7.75%per annum (interest payable semi-annually in arrears) and will
be fully repayable by 5 June 2020.

The 2018 due Original Notes, the 2018 due Additional Notes, the
2019 due Original Notes, the 2019 due Additional Notes and the 2020
due Notes are listed on the Stock Exchange. They are unsecured,
senior obligations of the Company and guaranteed by certain of the
Company's existing subsidiaries, other than those organized under the
laws of the PRC. The guarantees are effectively subordinated to the
other secured obligations of each guarantor, to the extent of the value
of assets serving as security.
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28. SENIOR NOTES AND CORPORATE BONDS

(Continued)

a. Senior notes (Continued)

For the 2018 due Original Notes and 2018 due Additional Notes at
any time prior to 15 April 2016, the Company may redeem up to 35%
of the aggregate principal amount of the 2018 due Original Notes
and 2018 due Additional Notes at a redemption price of 112.25% of
the principal amount of the 2018 due Original Notes and 2018 due
Additional Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but
not including) the redemption date, with the net cash proceeds from
sales of its common stock in an equity offering, subject to certain
conditions. In addition, at any time and from time to time prior to
15 April 2016, the Company may at its option redeem the 2018 due
Original Notes and 2018 due Additional Notes, in whole but not in part,
at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the
2018 due Original Notes and 2018 due Additional Notes plus the 2018
Applicable Premium as of, an accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but
not including) the redemption date.

“2018 Applicable Premium” means with respect to the 2018 due
Original Notes and 2018 due Additional Notes at any redemption date,
the greater of (1) 1.00% of the principal amount of such 2018 due
Original Notes and 2018 due Additional Notes and (2) the excess of (A)
the present value at such redemption date of (i) the redemption price
of such 2018 due Original Notes and 2018 due Additional Notes on 15
April 2016 plus (ii) all required remaining scheduled interest payments
due on such 2018 due Original Notes and 2018 due Additional Notes
through 15 April 2016 (but excluding accrued and unpaid interest to
the redemption date), computed using a discount rate equal to the
adjusted treasury rate plus 100 basis points, over (B) the principal
amount of such 2018 due Original Notes and 2018 due Additional
Notes on such redemption date.
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28. SENIOR NOTES AND CORPORATE BONDS

(Continued)

a. Senior notes (Continued)

At any time and from time to time on or after 15 April 2016, the
Company may redeem the 2018 due Original Notes and 2018 due
Additional Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to
the percentage of principal amount set forth below, plus accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption date, if
redeemed during the 12-month period commencing on 15 April of any
year set forth below:

BEIE
HAfE Period Redemption Price
—E-RF 2016 106.1250%
—E—+F 2017 103.0625%
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For the 2019 due Original Notes, at any time and from time to time
prior to 27 January 2017, the Company may redeem up to 35% of
the aggregate principal amount of the 2019 due Original Notes and
2019 due Additional Notes at a redemption price of 108.875% of
the principal amount of the 2019 due Original Notes and 2019 due
Additional Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but
not including) the redemption date, with the net cash proceeds from
sales of its common stock in an equity offering, subject to certain
conditions. In addition, at any time and from time to time prior to 27
January 2017, the Company may at its option redeem the 2019 due
Original Notes and the 2019 due Additional Notes, in whole but not in
part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the 2019 due Original Notes and the 2019 due Additional Notes plus
the 2019 Applicable Premium as of, an accrued and unpaid interest, if
any, to (but not including) the redemption date.

“2019 Applicable Premium” means with respect to the 2019 due
Original Notes and the 2019 due Additional Notes at any redemption
date, the greater of (1) 1.00% of the principal amount of such 2019
due Original Notes and 2019 due Additional Notes and (2) the excess
of (A) the present value at such redemption date of (i) the redemption
price of such 2019 due Original Notes and 2019 due Additional
Notes on 27 January 2017 plus (i) all required remaining scheduled
interest payments due on such 2014 Notes through 27 January 2017
(but excluding accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date),
computed using a discount rate equal to the adjusted treasury rate
plus 100 basis points, over (B) the principal amount of such 2019 due
Original Notes and 2019 due Additional Notes on such redemption
date.
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28. SENIOR NOTES AND CORPORATE BONDS

(Continued)

a. Senior notes (Continued)

At any time and from time to time on or after 27 January 2017, the
Company may redeem the 2019 due Original Notes and the 2019 due
Additional Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to
the percentage of principal amount set forth below, plus accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption date, if
redeemed during the 12-month period commencing on 27 January of
any year set forth below:
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June 2018, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate
principal amount of the 2020 due Notes at a redemption price of
107.75% of the principal amount of the 2020 due Notes, plus accrued
and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption date,
with the net cash proceeds from sales of its common stock in an
equity offering, subject to certain conditions. In addition, at any time
and from time to time prior to 5 June 2018, the Company may at
its option redeem the 2020 due Notes, in whole but not in part, at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2020
due Notes plus the 2020 Applicable Premium as of, an accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption date.

“2020 Applicable Premium” means with respect to the 2020 due
Notes at any redemption date, the greater of (1) 1.00% of the principal
amount of such 2020 due Notes and (2) the excess of (A) the present
value at such redemption date of (i) the redemption price of such 2020
due Notes on 5 June 2018 plus (ii) all required remaining scheduled
interest payments due on such 2020 due Notes through 5 June 2018
(but excluding accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date),
computed using a discount rate equal to the adjusted treasury rate
plus 100 basis points, over (B) the principal amount of such 2020 due
Notes on such redemption date.
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28. SENIOR NOTES AND CORPORATE BONDS

(Continued)

a. Senior notes (Continued)

At any time and from time to time on or after 5 June 2018,the
Company may redeem the 2020 due Notes, in whole or in part, at a
redemption price equal to the percentage of principal amount set forth
below, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including)
the redemption date, if redeemed during the 12-month period
commencing on 5 June of any year set forth below:

fEmE
HAfE Period Redemption Price
—E-N\F 2018 103.8750%
—E-NF 2019 101.9375%
EERE RUIPERERMEER - 3 In the opinion of directors, the fair values of the early redemption
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reporting period.

The net carrying amounts of all senior notes are stated net of issue
expenses totalling US$1,266,556,000.

The effective interest rates of the 2018 due Original Notes, 2018 due
Additional Notes, 2019 due Original Notes, 2019 due Additional Notes
and 2020 due Notes are 13.77%, 12.34%, 9.47%, 9.14% and 9.01%
per annum respectively.
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a. BEEE® a. Senior notes (Continued)

FRZZE— NFFHH J? %?T)ﬁ —Z  The movements of the 2018 due Original Notes, 2018 due Additional

—N\FEHBEINTE —NFE JHH Notes, 2019 due Original Notes, 2019 due Additional Notes and 2020

REZE - _ﬁ—hﬁﬁﬁﬂ EZE R -F  due Notes for the year are set out below:
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—H —B/ERAE Carrying amount as at 1 January 4,356,950 3,137,901
THEIMUIE AT E Initial fair values on the dates of issuance 3,680,154 1,174,463
?mi,ﬂa@@f‘ﬁﬁﬁfx Senior note early redemption (174,002) -
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FEMAZ (HE8) Interest expenses (note 8) 737,856 503,932
FENDFE Interest paid during the year (633,382) (479,430)
R+ A=1+—HKEEE Carrying amount as at 31 December 8,275,958 4,356,950
RR2EBMTBRME R_Z—AF The fair values of the 2018 due Original Notes, 2018 due Additional
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—NFHPREZRE - —jLEQJ,HH price available on the Stock Exchange amounted to approximately
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b. 2ATFES b. Corporate bonds
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On 14 October 2015, CIFI (PRC), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, issued corporate bonds of RMB3,495,000,000 (the
“2020 due Original RMB Bond") which listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (“SSE"). 2020 due Original RMB Bond carry interest at
rate of 4.95% per annum and interest is payable annually. 2020 due
Original RMB Bond will mature on 13 October 2020 unless the holders
sell back the bonds to CIFI (PRC) earlier.

On 12 November 2015, CIFI (PRC) issued corporate bonds of
RMB500,000,000 (“the 2020 due Additional RMB Bond"), which
listed on the SSE. 2020 due Additional RMB Bond carry interest at
rate of 5.96% per annum and interest is payable annually, 2020 due
Additional RMB Bond will mature on 11 November 2020 unless the
holders sell back the bonds to CIFI (PRC) earlier.

At the end of the third year subsequent to the inception date, CIFI (PRC)
as the issuer is entitled to adjust interest rate and the holders of 2020
due Original RMB Bond and 2020 due Additional RMB Bond may at
their options (“Options”) to sell back the bonds to CIFI (PRC) in whole
or in part at fair value of their principal amount.

In the opinion of directors, the fair values of the Options are
insignificant at initial recognition and the end of the reporting period.
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28. SENIOR NOTES AND CORPORATE BONDS
(Continued)

b. Corporate bonds (Continued)

The effective interest rates of the 2020 due Original RMB Bond and

2020 due Additional RMB Bond are 5.04% and 6.06% per annum

respectively.

The movements of the 2020 due Original RMB Bond and 2020 due
Additional RMB Bond for the year are set out below:

—F-RF —T0OF
2015 2014
ARBTR ARBTT
RMB'000  RMB'000

RETREMNP A E Initial fair values on the dates of issuance 3,979,613 -
FEMAS (HE8) Interest expenses (note 8) 41,419 _
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K2ELLBRXZAHABME —T=
TFHHRAIARBESFRR=ZZF=-F
FREHEIAREESER-_Z—AF
T_AZ+—"HANAFENEBARE
4,082,890,0007T( =& —PH4F : &) o

200

The fair values of the 2020 due Original RMB Bond and 2020 due
Additional RMB Bond as at 31 December 2015 with reference to the

quoted market price available on the SSE amounted to approximately
RMB4,082,890,000 (2014: Nil).
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29. PERPETUAL CAPITAL INSTRUMENTS

On 26 June 2014, a wholly owned subsidiary (the “Subsidiary”) of
the Company issued perpetual capital instruments (the “Perpetual
Capital Instruments”) with the aggregate principal amount of
RMB578,710,000 by entering into an agreement (the “Agreement”)
with a trust financing company. Subsequently, an addition of
RMB7,000,000 of the Perpetual Capital Instruments was issued by the
Subsidiary on 22 October 2014.

Pursuant to the Agreement, the Perpetual Capital Instruments have no
fixed maturity date and redeemable at the Subsidiary’s option at the
principal amount together with accrued, unpaid or deferred distribution
payments. The distribution rate for the instruments is 12.5% per
annum for the first and second year, then increases to 14% per
annum for the third year and 16% per annum for the fourth year and
years after. If no distribution is paid in that year, the distribution rate
will be adjusted by a 10% premium in the next year and so on. The
distribution rate is capped at 16% per annum. No guarantee or pledge
was made by the Group for the Perpetual Capital Instruments.

The payments of distribution can be deferred at the discretion of the
Subsidiary until declaration of dividend to ordinary shareholders of
the Subsidiary by or the liquidation of the Subsidiary. Therefore, the
Perpetual Capital Instruments are classified as equity instrument and
presented as a part of equity in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group had

repurchased all perpetual capital instruments with nominal amount of
RMB585,710,000.
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30. |RA& 30. SHARE CAPITAL
—E-REF —ZTJUF
2015 2014
AR® TR ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
TETERA Authorized:
10,000,000,0004% ( == — P4 : 10,000,000,000 (2014: 10,000,000,000) ordinary shares of
10,000,000,000/% ) G AR EI1E0.1 78 7T HK$0.1 each (2014: HK$0.1 each)
(ZZ—F : FREBEIEITIN
LA 1,000,000 1,000,000
E?X’_&%’ﬁlﬁﬂﬁz’i : Issued and fully paid:

R-ZEBE—RF—H—H At 1 January 2015 602,658 602,658
TR IR AR 1T (P 5Ta) Issued upon exercise of share options (note a) M -
B &Rt (B 7ED) Placing of shares (note b) 60,000 -
ARG B35 17 (B 3Ec) Issued as scrip dividend (note c) 13,236 -
BB B 17 B s 85 (BT 5Ed) Cancelled upon repurchase of shares (note d) (9,034) -
R-E—RF+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2015 667,601 602,658

—F-RF —FTOF
2015 2014
AR®ET it ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
WRETBHREEY A Shown in the condensed consolidated financial
statements as 537,157 487,896

HIRE -

(a)

202

HE-ZT—AF+-A=1+—BLEEE - ﬁ@
AP TE B AR AERF 297 497,409,0008% (=&

F Em)BREE.10BITHE @K - FA - ,lé%
FRHERITTEB T T-1.66/8 L2 1.68478 T © T
AR E R A RO NS EARFAL

BEZZT-—AF+-A=1+—HIFE ' %2.20
785 JT B {848 3 17600,000,000 88 A% 15  BL & TS
FOBFEEA) 41,304,000,000/8 T (HHERARE
1,028,000,0007T) °

HE-Z-—AFT-A=+—HILFE &2
#9132,360,000% & i% EI{E0. 10,%7za’3ﬂtﬁﬁﬁhz
FH%2.27278 LA B 31T -

HE-Z-—AF+-_A=1+—HILFE  XAF
ST444790,338,000/% 2 f& @A) -

RIBEAR AEBEZMRIFE24.2{F
BRR BRSNS RIS

P RABRE

The movements in share capital are as follows:

Notes:

(a)

(e)

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company issued approximately 7,409,000
(2014: Nil) ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each upon exercise of share options. The exercise
price of the share options during the year ranging from HK$1.55 to HK$1.684. The new
ordinary shares rank pari passu with the then existing shares in all respects.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company issued 600,000,000 shares at a
price of HK$2.20. The net proceeds from the placing is approximately HK$1,304 million
(equivalent to RMB1,028 million).

During the year ended 31 December 2015, approximately 132,360,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.10 each in the Company were issued at HK$2.272 per share as scrip dividend.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company had cancelled approximately
90,338,000 shares repurchased

Pursuant to article 24.2 of the Company's Articles of Association, the Company is
permitted to pay out final dividend from share premium account.
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30. A& 30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

EM2E LM ARREHITRAZEEH A summary of the transactions with reference to the above-mentioned

RSEIMIAT - movements in the Company’s issued share capital is as follows:

BETHR LEREE  ROEE
LEREA LEREE ROEE £H %A 5t
Number Equivalent
of issued Nominal nominal
fully paid value of value of Equivalent
ordinary ordinary Share ordinary share
shares shares premium shares premium Total

TR TET ARETT ARBTRT ARETR
HK$000 HK§'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000

RZE-WE-A—H At 1 January 2014 6,026,579,000 602,658 1,668,952 487,89 1159472 1,647,368
B S () Dividend paid (note (d) - - (421,861) - (333210 (333.270)
WZE—MF+=-A=1+—H  At31 December 2014 6,026,579,000 602,658 1,247,091 487,896 826,202 1,314,098
TERREREIREA Issue of shares upon exercise of share options 709,000 1 14230 593 11,384 1977
IR ARERD Issued of shares for share placement 600,000,000 60,000 1,244,000 47280 980,272 1,027,552
AR B BTG Issue of shares for scrip dividend 132,360,000 13,236 287,485 10430 206,538 236,968
RERRDE T8 Cancelled upon repurchase of shares (90,338.178) (9,034 (113,715 9,042) (95,179) (104,221)
GG EL)) Dividend paid (note (¢) - - (865,418 - (693134 (693,134)
R-E-FZF+-HA=+—H At31December 2015 6,676,009,822 667,601 1,812,673 537,151 1,256,083 1,793,240

EEER(EE)ERAR | —E—AFFR 203
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31. ERERIE

AT RRFABRBNERRERAEE

31. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred taxation assets (liabilities)

(BB RAETE recognized and movements thereon during the years:
AR S
RERNE REWER THEER
(BR)m Atz BaH)
RER i  HHEEE BEEE @;
Temporary
differences on
unrealized  Revaluation
gain {loss)  of investment Temporary
arising from properties differences
inter-company and other Tax on LAT
transactions properties losses provision Total
ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETE
RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
RZE-ME—-F—H At1 January 2014 10,420 (925,731) 29,846 71,639 (813,826)
WEABSREMRENER A Credit charge) to consolidated statement of profit or loss and
(%) other comprehensive income 5,804 60,292 23,624 39,054 8,190
RZE-ME+-A=+-H At31 December 2014 16,224 (986,023) 53470 110,693 (805,636)
REABEREM2EEREA  Credit(charge) to consolidated statement of profit or loss and
(%) other comprehensive income (4539) 32,024/ 9,733 (38.979) 65,809)
WEEMB AR (fi3E32) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 32) - (115,632) - - (115,632)
R=B-EF+-B=1-H At 31 December 2015 11,685 (1,133,679) 63,203 nna (987,077)

REBZESFBNREK - HETELEHRRA
BERBIZHEE - UTRRMEHRSE
TEHHRET RS AAT -

For the presentation purposes on the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred taxation assets (liabilities) have been
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred taxation balances

for financial reporting purposes:

—E-RfF —T—NOF

2015 2014

ARETR ARETT

RMB'000 RMB'000

BB EE Deferred taxation assets 286,753 213,551
EERIBEEE Deferred taxation liabilities (1,273,830) (1,019,187)
(987,077) (805,636)
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31. EEBE
RZZE—RAE+-_A=+—H8 " K
EEHEERDABEEBEHNARK
891,168,000 c ( —FE — M F : AR
558,865,000/t ) A] A K S5 R 2R AE o B
—E-RAFE+-A=+—0 " 2HOA
K #252,812,000;t(ZF—HF : AR
#213,880,0007T) B EERELERIEE
ZE o RN A TERIR R FE AR - R
“E-RF+-A=+—"HBHHERHKT
518 #4) A R #597,357,000 0 ( — & — Y
& AR #¥344,985,0007T ) FERIE TR
HEE - RERBRBEEBBRTIEE
JEm

31. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At 31 December 2015, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately RMB891,168,000 (2014: RMB558,865,000)
available to offset against future profits. Deferred taxation assets
have been recognized in respect of such losses of approximately
RMB252,812,000 (2014: RMB213,880,000) at 31 December 2015.
No deferred taxation asset has been recognized in respect of
the remaining losses of approximately RMB598,357,000 (2014:
RMB344,985,000) at 31 December 2015 due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams. The unrecognized tax losses will expire in the
following years:

—E-RF —T-NF

2015 2014

AR¥TRT AR®BTT

RMB'000 RMB’000

—E—RF 2015 - 1,028
—E—NE 2016 6,234 20,819
—E 4 2017 11,789 16,892
—E—N\&E 2018 20,373 21,142
—E-NF 2019 246,281 285,104
—m—mE 2020 313,680 -
598,357 344,985

R—_ZE—RFF+-_A=+—8  &~&£HE
REEBEEYEN LA FRER S8R H]
TG =28 4) B AR 46,742,00070 (=
T U4« AR¥33,789,0007T) ° AR
NRATRER FER B ADE ] S AT 08
FRRF =R - MW ERZ SN ER =
BERELERIBEE °

BE(PFBRBEMSEE)  BZTEN
F—A—HiE P RKE AR
FEE RS BHBKIERAER - 47
AUMBRRPAERN _E—RHE+=
A=+—HH KB R R R FHE
IHEREF =54 A R#7,823,872,0007T( =
T4 : AR¥6,063,769,0007T ) 1EH
EEFR B - VAR EE LT TR
B = RO BZShESEEE
FAS R AR AT RERE D -

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR

At 31 December 2015, the Group had deductible temporary
differences arising from inter-company transactions in relation to
construction of properties of approximately RMB46,742,000 (2014
RMB33,789,000). No deferred taxation asset has been recognized in
relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is not probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilized.

Under the PRC enterprise income law, withholding income tax is
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not
been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits of the
PRC subsidiaries amounting to approximately RMB7,823,872,000
(2014: RMB6,063,769,000) as at 31 December 2015, as the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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32.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

206

W B B 1B 2 B
BE-_T-RFt-_A=1t—HL
FE - AREREEEBI9%ED
VREEERHMNBBEEXRBRAR
(T&RINBES 1) BRINB1 % A A fE 2
REH R/ ARM51,000,0007T © &
= ES R E

BliRER —FE-—RAF=A=1+—
Bk AEBEFAHMNESE
ERRANAE RS - Hit - ERMBRE R E
BABAEENMEBAR o

BE_Z—RAF+_HA=+—H
IHEE  AEBURKEBHOARE
50,000,000 T EE H B 50% K&
B IBBES0%MHE o FIEE
ERNELE ok

PHWER-_FE-AFRAA=1T—
Bk AEERALEEES
ERRANAERS - Hit - BB E
BB EENHBAR o

HE-_Z—AF+=-_A=+—H
HFEE AEEKRBEEHEBES0%
BEameEtE¥RZEMBREEIN
B50% MR ANAEZ RELHASARE
100,000,0007T * KZBREKX =Y

PalER—FE-AF+—A=1
Bk AEEFAREEER
ERRANAERS - Hit - BUEBIEN A
BB EENBAR o

HE2—_ZT—RF+_A=+—H8H1I1t
FE - AEBWEEHEEI8%ER
VB PERZBEZEMERES
FRA R ([ RZENEZE |)REING2 % A% A
- REX AR ARMS2,000,000
T o RAERTBRWEMHEFAEER -

P ER-—_ZTE—FHEF+ A
=+F—HREKE  AEEFERZE
EEERAEZ - Bt - XEHE
EREBK AR EBHMIBAR]

32.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
acquired additional 51% equity interest of its 49% owned joint
venture, Suzhou Xuyang at a consideration of approximately
RMB51,000,000.Suzhou Xuyang was engaged in property
development.

Upon the completion of the acquisition mentioned above on 31
March 2015, the Group holds 100% equity interest in Suzhou
Xuyang, and so it becomes a subsidiary of the Group thereafter.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
acquired additional 50% equity interest of its 50% owned joint
venture, Shanghai Xukang at a consideration of approximately
RMB50,000,000.Shanghai Xukang is engaged in property
development.

Upon the completion of the acquisition mentioned above on 31
May 2015, the Group holds 100% equity interest in Shanghai
Xukang, and so it becomes a subsidiary of the Group thereafter.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
acquired additional 50% equity interest of its 50% owned joint
venture, Wuhan Xucheng at a consideration of approximately
RMB100,000,000. Wuhan Xucheng is engaged in property
development.

Upon the completion of the acquisition mentioned above on 30
November 2015, the Group holds 100% equity interest in VWuhan
Xucheng and so it becomes a subsidiary of the Group thereafter.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group acquired
additional 52% equity interest of its 48% owned joint venture,
Tianjin Xujin Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (KE/BE
EiERZEERAR) (“Tianjin Xujin”) at a consideration of
approximately RMB52,000,000. Tianjin Xujin is engaged in
property development.

Upon the completion of the acquisition mentioned above on 31

December 2015, the Group holds 100% equity interest in Tianjin
Xujin and so it becomes a subsidiary of the Group thereafter.
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32. BB AR e)

(e)

(f)

(9)

HE_T—RAF+HA=+—HL
FE  AEBWEEEA 0% Em
VEETCENEMEREEREBER
R~al([HAEYE ) FBIMT % AR A1
@ REBEAARK17,000,0007T °
A ENE B KRR o

FRBER—_E-—RF+—A=+
Bk NEERFAHEDE
67 % M AR - FIE  HEMER
HERAREENKHE AT -

HE—_Z—AF+-_A=+—H1t
FE  AEBWEEERIO%ER
V& & ENBIEREINGT % IR AN 4
@= - REHN A AR 432,850,000
7T o MM IBFRIE S ERE R o

PR —E-RAFAA=1H
SRR ARERAMBIEZFRA
fEam o Bt - JEERNEEKRAARE
ErHIE AR o

BEEAREEFE0% KBS KR
RIEFAL0% L - AR EFTA BB
MERCERRBABLRESTE=
DRZZKEE  MAEEEES
RAMKE ABREZLER - R
BB B IS 5 2RI B 31 SRR
HEEHIERYE B#E=-T—F
F+_A=+—HILFE  BELH
BRI A tha ([ fmatzl) -
Bt BREEHRELHES SR
BHEKET BT A IEERZ -
BREVATGE  BLREFSIE
MELZES  MABEKERER
MERBWERBLEETEAREZH
REBE EFHNEEERMEE
ENRBRAEERS —BRERSE °
ARASENBBE 2 BRIZEG
- HRZERARAR KB
Ej °

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR

32. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group acquired
additional 17% equity interest of its 50% owned joint venture,
Hunan Wuhua Investment Co., Ltd. ($iFZEREZRE AR AF)
(“Hunan Wuhua") at a consideration of RMB17,000,000. Hunan
Wuhua is engaged in property development.

Upon the completion of the acquisition mentioned above on 30
November 2015, the Group holds 67% equity interest in Hunan
Wuhua and so it becomes a subsidiary of the Group thereafter.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group acquired
additional 51% equity interest of its 49% owned joint venture,
Xu Zheng at a consideration of approximately RMB432,850,000.
Hangxhou Xukai is engaged in property development.

Upon the completion of the acquisition mentioned above on 30
September 2015, the Group holds 100% equity interest in Xu
Zheng and so it becomes a subsidiary of the Group thereafter.

Xu An was 50% held by the Group and 50% held by the other
shareholder. It was accounted for as a jointly controlled entity
under IFRS 31 as all of the strategic financial and operating
decisions required approval by two-third of the members of the
board of directors in Xu An whereby the number of members
nominated by the board of directors by the Group did not meet
this requirement. During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
shareholders of Xu An entered into a supplemental agreement
(the “Supplemental Agreement”) pursuant to which the
shareholders agreed to amend and supplement the cooperation
framework agreement with respect to the composition of the
board of directors of Xu An. By execution of the Supplemental
Agreement the board of directors of Xu An increased to comprise
of seven directors and all of the strategic financial and operating
decisions must be approved by simple majority of the board of
directors, of which four directors and three directors are to be
nominated by the Group and the other shareholder, respectively.
Since the Group obtained effective control over Xu An, Xu An
became a subsidiary of the Company.
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32. WEHMEAR @ 32. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(g) (&) (9)
PR BB EHBRRAK - F
LR 5 ENEEFEFHL

(Continued)
The above transactions are accounted for as acquisition of
subsidiaries. Details of the net assets acquired of in respect of

W the above transactions are summarized below:
U HE B HR
R
Amounts
recognized
at date of
acquisition
ARETT
RMB'000
XIREAR : Consideration satisfied by:
—FREWRE Consideration receivable within one year 702,850
BUEMB AR #pEEFEATE :  Fairvalue of net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired:
M - BEREE Property, plant and equipment 5,280
BELENREPYE Properties under development for sale 11,580,144
JFEE AT B R K ELAth FE U TR Account and other receivables 4,240,496
RITEBR IR S Bank balances and cash 2,695,302
JEASS BR Sk e ELAth FE A< 5078 Accounts and other payables (3,092,460)
EmEEEES Deposits received from property sales (5,604,558)
FEFIE Taxation payable (257,441)
RITREMER Bank and other borrowings (3,603,287)
RIEFHIEAE Deferred tax liabilities (115,632)
5,847,844
REBAFERAERD N TE Fair value of the equity interests held by the Group 3,901,272
S ANE BT A AR E AR Less: Investment cost held by the Group (3,734,774)
EFTEREDENEE Gain on remeasurement for deemed disposal 166,498
EEBRE  UEMERFIES Consideration transferred, satisfied by other receivables 702,850
BT - EBIEATEYIRM Add: Previous held interest, represented by interests in joint venture
BEbEER at fair value 3,901,272
eI R Non-controlling interest 1,166,952
B ANEENENEEFEATE Less: Fair value of net assets acquired by the Group (5,847 844)
B attles Gain from business combinations (76,770)
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32. WEBHMIEB AR
(g) &)
B EE A HUIR &R AJF R ¢

32. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(g) (Continued)
Net Cash inflow arising on acquisition:

NG
HERNEH
Amounts
recognized
at date of
acquisition
ARBTT
R\VB'000

FRAENRERE
PR SRITRA MR E

(702,850)
2,695,302

Cash consideration paid during the year
Bank balances and cash acquired

EHa FrrMER

Gain from business combinations 1,992,452

NE B EH Y A R 485,922,000 T A
FAFE - FRUABIEAEEE(RA
AR#3,257,377,0007T °

RN EERBRFREE £ RS
BREZz—_"FE—RF+_A=1+—HIt
FEARELEXEBEENRBRABER
BAR18,237,743,0007T * MARER
BERECEXBEENTHSEIAA
FR#2,437,657,0007¢ ° {EZ B RHEHEH
B - 3 FE 5 BA s U B A R A EA e B 46 B
ETKAERT - AEEER SIS
W RIS EEE - T T RIERRKRES
HOTER) o

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR

Included in the profit for the year is RMB485,922,000 attributable
to the Group. Revenue for the year includes RMB3,257,377,000 is
attributable to the Group.

Had the acquisition been effected at the beginning of the year, the
total amount of revenue of the Group from continuing operations for the
year ended 31 December 2015 would have been RMB18,237,743,000,
and the amount of the profit for the year from continuing operations
would have been RMB2,437,657,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purpose only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue
and results of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed at the beginning of the
interim period, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.
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33.

(a)

HEHBEAE
HEHE AR

R —F—AF1+=—A=1—HIFE

(i)

(ii)

(iv)

(V)

210

BE_Z—RAF+-_A=+—H1E
FE  AEEMBIF=FHER
EERENBRAREGMNERRESR
ABRAR([#MNBE ) K2 I
@ + REA ARB00,0007T ° &
MBI SIREE ARG -

HE—_Z—AF+_-_A=+—H1t
FE  AEERBIE=HAHER
SERENBRAREEBMEHE
RBEBRAR([EEMEAM]) B2
iz - RERAKRS,000,0007T °
BEBRNEMERBERS -

HE-_T-—hHAF+=-A=+—8
EFE XEBRBILE=F T
ERAEERENBARILREE
IE=EXABRAF ([ REEIE
RN EHER  REOARARKE
72,000,0007T ° b RBIBIEZRWEE
FEREE RIS B IEARERS -

HE-_FT—AF+=-H=+—H
IEEE AEBRBILIE=FH
EXREBREWEB QAL R EE
EEEESRAR ([t R BIEE
BHHEZ2HEZR  REOARARKE
70,000,0007T ° b R BB EEERE F

BE_ZT—RAF+-_A=+—H1E
FE AEEMBIF=FHER
EEREWNBRARKEEEEHE
FREARAR(TRERHEDHES
#Eam - REX AR AKRMS0,000,000
TC o RIAETBMEWE S YRR -

33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

Disposal of subsidiaries

For the year ended 31 December 2015

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(V)

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group disposed
of its 100% equity interest in its subsidiary, Suzhou Xuying
Investment Advisory Company Limited (&M BRIEELHE
fRAR]) (“Suzhou Xuying”), to an independent third party at a
consideration of RMB500,000. Suzhou Xuying was engaged in
provision of consultancy service.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group disposed
of its 100% equity interest in its subsidiary, Chongging Xuhe
Real Estate Development Company Limited (2252 1B A1 5 i 2= i 5%
B A7) (“Chongging Xuhe") to an independent third party at a
consideration of RMB8,000,000. Chongqging Xuhe was engaged
in property development.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group disposed
of its 100% equity interest in its subsidiary, Beijing Xuhui Shuntai
Property Company Limited (1t /B IEZR & ¥ BBR A R]) (“Beijing
Xuhui Shuntai”) to an independent third party at a consideration
of approximately RMB72,000,000. Beijing Xuhui Shuntai was
engaged in property development and investment holding.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group disposed
of its 100% equity interest in its subsidiary, Beijing Xuhui
Xingteng Property Co., Ltd. (1t R fE3EFLE B 3£ H R A R]) (“Beijing
Xuhui Xingteng”) to an independent third party at a consideration
of approximately RMB70,000,000. Beijing Xuhui Xingteng was
engaged in property development.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group disposed
of its 100% equity interest in its subsidiary, Tinjing Xuwei Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd. (K;2Z/BMEHEFZEER A F)
(“Tinjing Xuwei") to an independent third party at a consideration
of approximately RMB80,000,000. Tinjing Xuwei was engaged in
property development.
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33. HEWB AR @ 33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) HEMEBIRGE (a) Disposal of subsidiaries (Continued)
HE—_ZFE—FF+-H=+—HIFZE Forthe year ended 31 December 2015 (Continued)

(&

PR ZIREENBATAIR - A The above transactions are accounted for as disposal of subsidiaries.
MRS HENEEFEFBHRANT Details of the net assets disposed of in respect of the above

transactions are summarized below:

AR®T T
RMB’000
TRREFR Consideration satisfied by:
Be Cash 149,075
—FREIRE Consideration receivable within one year 81,425
230,500
MR ERFENEERABBENDIT Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:
REEE N R RS Interests in associates 8,910
BIEN SRRy Properties under development for sale 121,138
AHERE Available-for-sale investments 3,500
JFE Ui B R R ELAth R ISR TR Accounts and other receivables 618,153
RITHEBEIRS Bank balances and cash 1,456
FEATBR R EAth PR A5 3R IE Accounts and other payables (530,553)
RITRAMER Bank and other borrowings (211,400)
HEMNEEFE Net assets disposed of 11,204
HEMNE R A TSR Gain on disposal of subsidiaries:
HeRE Cash consideration 149,075
FEWARAE Consideration receivable 81,525
HEEEFRE Net assets disposed of (11,204)
HEEkE Gain on disposal 219,296
HEREEMNRSTAFRE : Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
WERE Cash consideration 149,075
MEMIRITEHRERS Bank balances and cash disposed of (1,456)
147,619
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33.

(a)

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

212

HEMB AT @)
HEMEB Q5 (&)

B2 —F—WF+—_H=+—HIFFE

BE_T-HNF+-_A=+—8H
HEE  XEEUAREHARE
30,000,0007C R — & BILE=F
HEREMBAR LBKIEER
BEEARRAR( L&KL kA
2EREMBLAF LBEEERSE
IRAm ([ E/BMETE ) H 2 aRAANEE
7 o BBKIZA EBIBE S RIS
REERFIEHIEERR S 575 -

HE-Z—WOF+=-A=+—H
EFE  AEEUAREBEOARK
43,747,000 LM — BB E =7
PEREMBRAR LEREEXH
FRAR(T EGEE )2 AR A
o DBEEREFHEREERS

HE-_FT—WOF+=-A=+—H
HEE  AEBUREBEHARE
60,000,000 TR — R BILE =7 H
ERENBARIRIBEEEXS
FRAEN([dEmBHEE ]) &) 2 EBAR A
s o L RBEENRERMERE
ES X

33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a)

Disposal of subsidiaries (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2014

(i)

(ii)

(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group disposed
of its 100% equity interest in its subsidiary, Shanghai Yongli
Assets Investment Management Company Limited (_E/&8Kx 7 &
EXREEEBR AR (“Shanghai Yongli”), together with its wholly
owned subsidiary, Shanghai Xubo Property Company Limited
(E/8BIEBEZAMRAR]) (“Shanghai Xubo”), to an independent
third party at a consideration of approximately RMB30,000,000.
Shanghai Yongli and Shanghai Xubo were engaged in investment
holding and property development respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group disposed
of its 100% equity interest in its subsidiary, Shanghai Xucao
Property Company Limited (E/8/EE B AR A7) (“Shanghai
Xucao"”) to an independent third party at a consideration of
approximately RMB43,747,000. Shanghai Xucao was engaged in
property development.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group disposed
of its 100% equity interest in its subsidiary, Beijing Xuxinglong
Property Company Limited (b RfBE[E & 2 F R A F) (“Beijing
Xuxinglong”) to an independent third party at a consideration of
approximately RMB60,000,000. Beijing Xuxinglong was engaged
in property development.
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33. HEWB AR @ 33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) HEMEBIRGE (a) Disposal of subsidiaries (Continued)

HE—ZFT—pFE+_-H=+—HIFZE Forthe year ended 31 December 2014 (Continued)

(&

P ZIREENBATAR - A The above transactions are accounted for as disposal of subsidiaries.

MRS HENEEFEFBHRANT Details of the net assets disposed of in respect of the above transactions
are summarized below:

AR®T T
RMB'000
TRREFR Consideration satisfied by:
He Cash 13,747
—FREKRE Consideration receivable within one year 60,000
133,747
EAERFENEENBENDIT Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:
ME - R KGR Property, plant and equipment 116
A ERE Available-for-sale investments 10,000
FEHEWMZE Properties held for sales 70,677
BEHERNRE Y Properties under development for sale 74,183
JE W BR R K EL At R UL SR TR Accounts and other receivables 113,526
SRITHESRNIRS Bank balances and cash 1,816
JE A< BR R R EL At FE A< 5RIR Accounts and other payables (198,983)
HEMNEEFE Net assets disposed of 71,335
HEMNE R A TSR Gain on disposal of subsidiaries:
HeRE Cash consideration 73,747
FEWARAE Consideration receivable 60,000
HEEEFRE Net assets disposed of (71,335)
SRS E Gain on disposal 62,412
HEREEMNRSTAFRE : Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
HeRE Cash consideration 73,747
MEMIRITEHRERS Bank balances and cash disposed of (1,816)
71,931
BB (SE)ERAR | —E—RFFR 213
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33. HEWB AR @

(b) HEMBATBDEREALLE
i

HE— T—ﬁ¢+ A=+—HItFEZF

BE_Z—AF+_A=+—HLHF

R $Elllﬁ3l€% A% 4 25 HH & &R N B

H(GLRIBAEEHEAL NESNHTEBA

A1%EZ  RRSTKIE » BHKE
T%% ZRFHAELERE L EHE QT

AR D R MG R Rl -

ﬂﬁ TERKE - BRINTBBK AAERE
B - BMNEBREEERIEE R
mm%ﬁ LR AT ERVTER
SEREELENERREREBKA
RREFMNBAIZEGEER - BUERER
MEERBERT :

33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b) Disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary result in loss of
control

For the year ended 31 December 2015

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group disposed of 1%
equity interests in Suzhou Xubang, previously a 51% owned subsidiary
of the Group, to the non-controlling interest, resulting in loss of control
upon completion of the transaction. The transaction was accounted for
as disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary resulting in loss of control.

After the completion of the disposal, Suzhou Xubang became a joint
venture of the Group. The fair value of the 50% retained interest in
Suzhou Xubang at the date on which control was lost was regarded as
the cost in initial recognition of the Group’s interest in a joint venture.
Assets and liabilities derecognized at the date in loss of control of
Suzhou Xubang are as follows:

AR¥TR
RMB'000
M - BEREE Property, plant and equipment 51
BELENREPYE Properties under development for sale 483,137
H th FEUCKIE Other receivables 8,179
RITHEBRNIRE Bank balances and cash 85,939
FERTBRER R Efh FE S 3R Accounts and other payables (96,995)
EH&Z%%%ET Deposits received from property sales (166,075)
gt &ﬁﬁ*ﬂﬁtﬂ Bank and other borrowings (280,000)
W SRR M Less: non-controlling interests (13,836)
20,400

DN lerT—rﬁE’JBO%f% B AR A RS Less: 50% retained equity interest held by the Group
—DEAAEEMER — classified as interest in a joint venture (20,000)
BERRE Consideration received 400

BE—_ZE—ARF+-_A=+—HI&F
& - KB ARKA400,0007T 2 Wt AFER
T IEPE AR 2 O SRR PGS o
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The consideration of RMB400,000 has been offset by an amount
included in amount due to non-controlling interests during the year
ended 31 December 2015.

CIFI HOLDINGS (GROUP) CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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(b) HEMBATBDEREALLE
iR ()

BE-—F—FE+—H=+—HIFFEF
BHE_Z—NWF+_A=+—H81F
B AREBR—ZBILFE=HHELAH
AEBFIFEZEWNB R R B4 EHA
26% AR BEAR S TKE K
EIEHIHE - ZER HIE L EN B AR
DREDEBHREIEHIEALR - HETK
1&g - KRB 0 EAY A AN B /B2 A
A o REFEHIEE B R RZEM L HA
25%RBERNATFERVTERENE
EI NI e S =T N

MRERZH AL BRI E B LR
MEERBENT :

33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b) Disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary result in loss of
control (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2014
During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group disposed of 26%
equity interests in Tianjin Shijixing, previously a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group, to an independent third party resulting in loss
of control upon completion of the transaction. These transactions
were accounted for as disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries
resulting in loss of control. After the completion of the disposal, Tianjin
Shijixing became an associate of the Group. The fair value of the 25%
retained interest in Tianjin Shijixing at the date on which the control
was lost was regarded as the cost in initial recognition of the Group’s
interest in an associate.

Assets and liabilities derecognized at the date in loss of control of
Tianjin Shijixing are as follows:

AR¥T
RMB'000
FEDEMRED Y Properties under development for sale 351,761
JREE LAT B R e L Ath P LK TR Accounts and other receivables 18,692
RITEBEIRE Bank balances and cash 32,756
FETBR N ELAth FE S 3018 Accounts and other payables (265,336)
RIT M EMER Bank and other borrowings (96,223)
S IESEARRE RS Less: non-controlling interests (10,425)
31,225

B AEERER25%IRB AR Less: 25% retained equity interest held by the Group
—DEA—RKBE AR — classified as interest in an associate (15,300)
EURAE Consideration receivable 15,925

RZE—RAF+-_A=+—H REA
R #15,925,0007T 2 BT o

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR

As at 31 December 2015, the consideration of RMB15,925,000 was
repaid.
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34. RIKBERGTE

RiFHBERBERLER - ARBRH
BB /B8~ R ZR 2 B3t 75 T U HETT B9 R
EHRFGRNEE - AEENTENEA
AR T MERFAREFHREF T H
ETADLLRFSIHR - UstEE R
KENENEE - AEEBBEKET
AEMEREEAREAEELAAHH

=
N

AEBNATEMERERERERER
HMEREEETE o LTSN EERAK
SEEEDH  FRREFAABTENE
& ARERZTEFLNEAISER
HERARE% - MiE 8 IFAIEL RS

e
AN

35. IKHEE
T EER RS HHR F LA LR A
EEBERETRTREMBE

34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
Company's PRC subsidiaries are required to participate in defined
contribution retirement schemes administrated by the local municipal
governments. The Group's PRC subsidiaries contribute funds which
are calculated on certain percentage of the average employee salary
as required by local municipal government to the scheme to fund the
retirement benefits of the employees. The principal obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control
of trustee. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the
scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

35. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The following assets were pledged to secure certain banking and
other facilities granted to the Group at the end of the reporting period:

—E-HFE —T—UF

2015 2014

AR%Tr ARBTT

RMB'000 RMB'000

REME Investment properties 5,519,000 4,931,000
BELENREPYE Properties under development for sale 13,491,256 6,070,247
BIELEWE Properties held for sale 666,374 4,098,823
EHEPIRITIER Pledged bank deposits 31,500 30,000
19,708,130 15,130,070

Mizt : AEERETHAS TEERNBRIELSHMAE
RN AR (BIE LA E) MR ARERS -
B FERERASBERE THRITHE - K
—ZT-RF+-A=1+—0 ZEHBEBRRANE
BEREAAREKT74,160,7707C(ZZ—M4E : A
R #99,352,0007T) °
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Note: The Group's equity interests in certain subsidiaries, which hold certain pledged
properties under development for sale included above, have been pledged to secure
certain banking facilities granted to the Group. As at 31 December 2015, the net assets
of these subsidiaries amounting to RMB74,160,770 (2014: RMB99,352,000).
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AEBMEREHEA
REIERFR - AEBE BBASITHNR
REEBERFKNT

36. LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as a lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with
tenants for the following future minimum lease payments as follows:

—F-RF —T0OF

2015 2014

ARETT ARETT

RMB'000 RMB'000

—FR Within one year 40,747 36,571
BE_FERETF(BREEREMTE) In the second to fifth year inclusive 104,474 52,262
R After five years 28,167 5,345
173,388 94,178

AEEFFHERENREMEEEAH
PHF—2+F(ZT—HF: —E+—
FINERTVEP - REMENENE AR
FAESER - MRAHESAEZAR
BHEEBELETADLLERE

REBEREBEA
RBEMR - ARERE A BEEEE
HHBEREEY R B RRREHE
EfFT

The investment properties held by the Group for rental purpose have
committed tenants from one to ten years (2014: one to eleven years).
Lease of an investment property has clauses of contingent rentals
determined by a certain percentage of turnover earned by the tenant.

The Group as a lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of
leased properties as follows:

—E-RF —T—NF

2015 2014

ARETIT ARETIT

RMB'000 RMB'000

—FE R Within one year 8,169 10,049
FCFEEFRF(BIEEREME) In the second to fifth year inclusive 3,667 10,562
11,836 20,611

KERENREASERE THAE

ERENNES - £HEREL TR
AB—E-F(ZT—NF: —E=F)
HensEHERZABET -

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for
certain of its office premises. Leases are negotiated for an average
term of one to three years (2014: one to three years) and rentals are
fixed at the date of signing of lease agreements.
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37.

i

REHR - ANEREEE T

37. COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following
commitments:

—E-HF —T—NF
2015 2014
AR®T ARETIT
RMB'000 RMB'000
BETAME R B TS HRER AN Expenditure in respect of acquisition of land use rights
BB A BIEE T (P FEAEMRIE  contracted for but not provided for in the consalidated
financial statements 3,225,930 2,853,928

38.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

218

RAREE

REBR-_ZE—FRE+_A=+—
AR FAEECHABEMEERR
MIZIBETERREBEOAREK
3,644,229,0007C(=ZF— M4 : A
R #¥2,761,5637,0007C ) ¥R o &K
RRIZEERE  ANEEZEVHE
RELH D FERV PRI IE
BEX BARRIESRABHGLN
FELMTREME /) - MRETZ
BEREOBER-_Z—AFT=A
=+ —HHGZREV B ARAME

RIEME -

A E B R AN AR NE B A K b
IR NIEE MELMEELER
FIBEIRIINEIZERIRITER - XD
RIYEEAEZEEENEE D
ERBEINNIERNBITERIE AT
AENETRESEFRE IR
ROHEERHER RZZT—AHF
+—A=+—8 ' AEEHEES
BOEMNIRTERREANIRDIER
BN ANRBED 744,234,0007C( =
T-—NE+-F=+—H: AR¥
1,997,278,0007T) °

RRBEFRE  AEEXFHH
ERAON R FERI S HERE L
FEX BARFREZRREHR]
KT RARE RIS/ - BURRT AL
ERENEER _ZF—AF+_H
=t+— BWERA MBI R A E
MBI -

38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

()  The Group provided guarantees amounting to approximately
RMB3,644,229,000 (2014: RMB2,761,537,000) as at 31
December 2015 in respect of mortgage bank loans granted to
purchasers of the Group's developed properties. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the fair values of these financial
guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant at initial
recognition and the directors of the Company consider that
the possibility of the default of the parties involved is remote,
accordingly, no value has been recognized at the inception of
the guarantee contracts and on the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2015.

(i)  The Group's joint venture companies in respect of the
development of Hangzhou Greenland CIFI Glorious City Project
and Shanghai CIFI Park Mansion Project have utilized offshore
and onshore bank loans. The Company provided guarantees on
several basis covering its respective equity shares of outstanding
obligations under the offshore and onshore bank loan incurred
by the joint venture companies developing these projects. As
at 31 December 2015, the Group’s aggregate shares of such
guarantees provided in respective of loans incurred by these joint
ventures amounted to approximately RMB2,744,234,000 (31
December 2014: RMB1,997,278,000).

(iii)  In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair values of
these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant
at initial recognition and the directors of the Company consider
that the possibility of the default of the parties involved is
remote, accordingly, no value has been recognized at the
inception of the guarantee contracts and on the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015.
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39. URBXHRS

a. BRAMRENRGEBIHTE
AEBHE R NFEREANRG LB
(RERBXHR EmWESRELBE)
(TR w8 ) DR - E—2E+—
ARMYBRRARBER —_EE+FH
A+NBRBERZRITANE R
HERTIR EET B o RIBARD SHE S
2 RARERBREFEEMDEES
WAE A AR D TR ([H2EIAR (D | ) B
AEBETEES EREE o R ERE
EWEMARBAERE TREEFE
M BRI 4 T 2R o

RO BEEFE > R —TF+—
A=t —BRENERBRO Y RRA
BEAED LA EXBARRE BITRAN
3.25% * ARAMRAE RN XA £
s T A o SRENA D X R B HIFTIR
BHEARRARARS - BEHATF
(BEEDBFHE)  REBMEAR - BT
1 B 0y 2B A {0 P 25 % 5 #2185 L Il 0
BEEFEENSERFER - ERE
BRARRIREBBHERSMAERDA
R LR EREN—A—R -

R-ZE—ZFF+-_HA=+—8 BEK
MR ERENRBRON A FEER
AR #58,000,0007T * A A FETHEF
REEERTIGEEE - ZEXANEE
2EERMABTL APNEFATER
BETTER - MERDN2ELHREKSE
FEiERE WK EMAI Al B LR
ARIWEL AR ©

HERMDRIRE BB AR - FMEARA
BEER B FLAGESE - WASARARMDE
BRI LR E B IR EKE RS
HAREEMNFERBATEAREAAE
B -REBEE-_T—RF+-_A=+—8H
LEFE  AEERETFTASEETESR
By 52 B AR 10 #E SR 49 A R 51,932,000 7T
—ZT—F : AR¥4,437,0007T) K
io
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39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION

a. Pre-IPO share award scheme

The Group's Pre-IPO share award scheme, as amended in accordance
with the proposed listing on the Stock Exchange, (the “Share Award
Scheme"”) was adopted in December 2010 and then replaced the Pre-
IPO share award scheme originally adopted pursuant to a resolution
passed on 19 May 2007. Under the Share Award Scheme, Mr Lin
Zhong, a controlling shareholder and director of the Company, awards
the Company's shares (the “Awarded Shares”) held by him to certain
employees of the Group. The objective of the Share Award Scheme is
to recognize the contributions of certain employees of the Group and
to incentivize them.

Under the Share Award Scheme, the total percentage of equity
interest in respect of which Awarded Shares had been granted on 31
December 2010 was 3.25% of the issued capital of the Company to
be incorporated in connection with the proposed listing on the Stock
Exchange. The Awarded Shares, subject to a vesting period, are being
held by the trust on behalf of the grantees. The vesting period is four
years, from the beginning of each instalment, during which 25% of
the Award Shares granted to employee will vest on each anniversary
of the first vesting date in equal portions. The first vesting date is 1
January of the year following the Company to be successfully listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The fair value of the Awarded Shares granted under the Share Award
Scheme at 31 December 2010 was RMB58,000,000, and was
determined by using a mix of asset-based and market approach. The
significant inputs into the model were estimated fair value of shares
at the grant date and estimated price-to-book ratio. The price-to-book
ratio is estimated by reference to comparable listed companies on the
Stock Exchange engaged in property development in the PRC.

The Awarded Shares are contingent at grant date and are subject to
the cancellation in the event of resignation of the grantees; and the
vesting conditions of successful listing of the Company’s shares on
the Stock Exchange and satisfactory performance of such employee
based on his or her annual performance appraisal. During the year
ended 31 December 2015, the Group recognized an expense in
relation to the Awarded Shares granted to certain employees of
the Group amounting to approximately RMB1,932,000 (2014:
RMB4,437,000).

21€)



B3 4 1 85 W R W ik

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39. URMBXFANRS @) 39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION
(Continued)
a. BXARBEIRGOEBEE (8 a. Pre-IPO share award scheme (Continued)
FAGFERDOGERRGEERT The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during the year are
as follows:
HZED
RinEE

Number of 53 /& {515
share awards Vesting Conditions

BT e BRRERG 136,500,000 25% B —E—=F—A—AE_ZT—F+-_A=+—HL
—-RZE-ZTF+-A=+—H 25% from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2016

Share Award granted to employees: 25%E—E—NF—A—HRE-_T—tF+-_A=+—Hi1t
—on 31 December 2010 25% from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2017

25%BE_FT—hF—A—HBEE-T-\F+-A=+—HLt
25% from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2018
25%BE_T—R"F-A-BRE_T-AF+_A=+—HL
25% from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2019

EERFARFEARAREIRMODAES) ©  The movements of the Company’s share awards held by employees
during the year:

RENRH 2L B
Number of share awards

RZT—hF RZZE—hF

—A—H +=ZA=+—H
BTSN RERNFEB BITHS
Outstanding Vested Outstanding
FH B as at during as at
Grant date 1 January 2015 the year 31 December 2015
BRI (D —E-EF+-A=+—H 68,250,000 (34,125,000) 34,125,000

Share awards 31 December 2010
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a. BARARBENRMDERBEE (R

39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION

(Continued)

a. Pre-IPO share award scheme (Continued)

REA 2B

Number of share awards
KZ_ZE—MmF RZ-_Z—MmF
—H—H +=A=+—~H
BTSN RENETE BTSN
Outstanding Vested Outstanding
& BER as at during as at
Grant date 1 January 2014 theyear 31 December 2014
BRI —E-TF+_-_A=+—H 102,375,000 (34,125,000) 68,250,000

Share awards

31 December 2010

b. RBRETE
BRERARAR-_ZE—_F+ANLBKRA
R B AR 8l ([ B AERTE)) - B
BELEERESOBETNERESE
Bt HZEREZEL /AT =ZENR
2% (ARARBAARARZEENE
B(ZAAREXR  [EXNBEHEBR
PrERRINFOBRMDWHE () ERB
#) B EA R 5 1R 5 A B X AT B R P51 AR
AR B FHRHE(EEEEAMA
YEZR R B {0 £ BT B (e = 5k A /Y
WHE - MARRERNEL B R A(E
BERAALTM) 0 RC)ANRAR B HE
(=30

BIEBRETERARAMEMEME
REFE S TELOMABREETT
FRATHRITHOROBETSEAS
$£ 577,000,000 | fx A (ZF — MW@ F :

577,000,000 8% 15 ) (18 E R A F ¥ B A7
BEETROHBREMNI0%) + BRIERARFS
1TEUVS SR E AR 37 FIR -

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR

b. Share option scheme

Pursuant to the share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”)
adopted by the Company on 9 October 2012, the directors may invite
participants to take up options at a price determined by the board of
directors provided that it shall be at least the highest of (a) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date on which an offer is made by the Company to the
grantee (which date must be a business day, “Offer Date”); (b) a price
being the average of the closing prices of the shares of the Company
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5
business days immediately preceding the Offer Date (provided that
the offer price shall be used as the closing price for any business day
falling within the period before listing of the shares of the Company
where the Company has been listed for less than five business days
as at the Offer Date); and (c) the nominal value of a share of the
Company.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed
577,000,000 (2014: 577,000,000) shares, representing 10% of the
total number of shares in issue as at the date of this annual report
unless the Company obtains a fresh approval from the shareholders to
refresh the limit.
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39. URHBINNRZ @)

b. BRETEE

BRERERARAIRERE FBITHE
Sh - REMI2E A BER - §A28EE
EITERRERE SRR B RE (R
BEITERMARITEERAE) MERITR
15 FEITHRMDEE LR - TSHBAR
BITIRIDBEAI% ©

ARATEEZENREZENEEE R
MEARANBREDSENTERERA
RIFRE AR AT BRI T (ERE A - %
BIASRE L B 1058 fEm °
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39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION

(Continued)

b. Share option scheme (Continued)

The maximum entitlement for any one participant is that the total
number of the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the Share Option Scheme to each participant
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue
unless otherwise approved by the shareholders at a general meeting
of the Company.

The option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during the option period which may
be determined and notified by the board of directors to the grantee at
the time of making an offer which shall not expire later than 10 years
from the grant date.

Three tranche of share options have been granted during the year
ended 31 December 2015. Fair value of these share options were
calculated using the binomial model. The inputs into the model were as
follows:

RRUAT B IR RO s i

Share options granted on

—EBE=F —E-—=fF —E-—TEF

Z—AZ+"B +A=+hH +A+=H

26 February 29 October 13 July

2013 2013 2015

B A ERE Grant date share price HK$158/87C  HK$15187T  HK$1.77E 7T
1T (E Exercise price HK$1.6848 7  HK$1.55087T  HK$1.77787T
TEERGFHA Expected life Note Fff5E Note Fff&E Note B &E
TEHRR I8 Expected volatility 60% 57% 55%
fi% Bk as & Dividend yield 2.53% 2.65% 6.21%
£ [ B 1 2R Risk-free interest rate 0.624% 0.830% 0.972%

FEE : B RRAEEO TSR R (SR I + 17 (28R, 2
BEREH -
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Note: Expected life of the option is calculated by the formula of (vesting period + exercise
period)/2.
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b. R E s

B B DRI B LB A RS B E R
MESREET - AEREREHE
T - 83 0T B E B9 R T A
P ATRRAIRITAERRENYEM
e

R-ZE—RAF+-_A=+—H ' RiEHE
AR AERT &I B2 B &d R1T 68 A B AR R A
W R IED B A394,991,000f% (==
— PO 4 : 302,400,0008%) © EARRD AR
—E—RFE+_A=+t—HRONHBEHW
6% (—Z—PUF : 5%) °

—=—=

RZE—=F_H=+/"B
Ft+A-t+NAhBER-_ZE—AFtA+=
BREOBRENGBTAFEIBAA
R # 83,349,000 T + A R# 75,912,000
TR AR#39,125,0007T °

BRENITERRENT

39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION

(Continued)
b. Share option scheme (Continued)
Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of
the daily return of comparable companies. The expected life used in
the model has been adjusted, based on management'’s best estimate,
for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.

The number of shares in respect of which options had been granted
and remained outstanding under the Share Option Scheme as at 31
December 2015 was 394,991,000 (2014: 302,400,000), representing
6% (2014: 5%) of the shares of the Company as at 31 December
2015.

The estimated fair values of the options granted on 26 February
2013, 29 October 2013 and 13 July 2015 are RMB83,349,000,
RMB75,912,000 and RMB39,125,000 respectively.

The exercisable period of the share options is as follows:

N-EBE—-=F_ A -+ ~BEHERE

Share options granted on 26 February 2013

5% N_ZE—NFtA—BHEE YB-_T—NFtHA—ARBRE 25%: vested on 1 July 2014 and exercisable from
Z—N\FARA=THATE 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2018

25% : A= 9:\ TF+tA—BBE YE-_T-—HF+tH-BEE 25%: vested on 1 July 2015 and exercisable from
T N\FRA=THATE 1 July 2015 to 30 June 2018

25% : A= 2 NELA—ARE Y- RELA—AKE 25%: vested on 1 July 2016 and exercisable from
—E-\FEXA=ZTHATE 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2018

%% RZZE—+tF+tHA—BEE VBT —+tFtH—BEE 25%: vested on 1 July 2017 and exercisable from
— T \FRA=THATE 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

RZZE—=F+ A+ N BRLHAOERE Share options granted on 29 October 2013

%% : RZE—NF+tHA—BHBE VBT MOF+LHA—HEE 25%: vested on 1 July 2014 and exercisable from
—E-)\FNA=ZFTHATE 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2018

2% R—ZE—hF+tA—HEBE UBE-ZT—hFtA—HREE 25%: vested on 1 July 2015 and exercisable from
—E-)\FAA=THATE 1 July 2015 to 30 June 2018

5% R_E—RFtA—HBHEE YB-_FT—"FtHA—HRBE 25%: vested on 1 July 2016 and exercisable from
—E-\FEXNA=ZFTHATE 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2018

2% R—ZE—+tF+tA—HBEE UBE-Z—+tFtA—HREx 25%: vested on 1 July 2017 and exercisable from
—ZT-N\FEXA=THATE 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

B (RE)BRARF | —FE—RFFH
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39. USRS @ 39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION
(Continued)

b. BRESS(®) b. Share option scheme (Continued)

R-ZE—RFt+ A +=HREOEE Share options granted on 13 July 2015

2% R_ZE—hF+tA—HBEE TBE-ZT—hFtA—HRE 25%: vested on 1 July 2015 and exercisable from
—E-AFEARA=THATE 1 July 2015 to 30 June 2019

25% 7 :% NFEA—ABE YT R"FtH-ARE 25%: vested on 1 July 2016 and exercisable from

—NEXRNA=TAATE 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2019

25% F_%*tﬁtﬁ —BEE WE-T—tFtHA—AEZE 25%: vested on 1 July 2017 and exercisable from
“E-NFANA=ZFTHATE 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2019

25% : E/\\Zg NE+A—BEBE VB N\FtA—HReE 25%: vested on 1 July 2018 and exercisable from
—E-AFEARA=THATE 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019

AEERBE-ZFT—HAF+ZH=1T— The Group recognized the total expense of RMB47,898,000 (2014:

BIEFERAA T&Hj iR EERFA  RMB61,574,000) for the year ended 31 December 2015 in relation to
S B AR 47,898,000t (== —M  share options granted by the Company.
F : AR¥61,574,0007T) °

FEE
BROEZR 1TEEME HEOE:
Number of Contractual life
Options  Exercisable period of options
BE-_FT-=F+-A=+—HL
FERL
Granted during the year ended
31 December 2013:
RYEEREBRE 2400000 25% : RZE—NFLA—HEBEE YE-ZT—OF @HEF
—-RZE—=F"HZ+"H tﬂ REE_ZT—\FRA=TRHAITEE 4years
Share Options granted to directors: 25%: vested on 1 July 2014 and exercisable from
—on 26 February 2013 1 JuIy 201410 30 June 2018

25% MN_Z-—1FtA—BRE UB_T—1F NF
‘tﬁ] EHL:l:_7 /\E/\H THATE  4years
25%: vested on 1 July 2015 and exercisable from
1 July 2015 to 30 June 2018
2% RZE—A"FLtHA—HEE  VBE-T—X~F @HEF
+tA—BBREZE-\FA=+HATTE 4years
25%: vested on 1 July 2016 and exercisable from
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2018
25% : R_ZE—tFLA—BBRBE IBE-_T—+F WF
+tA—BBREZE-\FA=+HATTE 4years
25%: vested on 1 July 2017 and exercisable from
1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018
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39. USRS @ 39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION
(Continued)
b. BRESS(®) b. Share option scheme (Continued)

RS E
Number of
Options

il

Exercisable period

HEAR
FIH)EH
Contractual life
of options

“E-=F+A=+AhH 5,100,000
—on 29 October 2013

BTFREENBRE :

Share options granted to employees:
“R-E-=F"A-+RH 150,000,000
—on 26 February 2013

B (RE)BRARF | —FE—RFFH

25% : R_T-HF+A-RHEE WE_T-NF
+tHA—HRBE-Z )\i/\ﬂ THATE
25%: vested on 1 July 2014 and exercisable from
1 July 2014 to 30 June 2018
25% R_T-—hFt+tHA—BRE YBE_T—1F
+tHA—HEE-T— )\i/\ﬂ_+HTTT1§
25%: vested on 1 July 2015 and exercisable from
1 July 2015 to 30 June 2018
25% : RZE—R"F+tH—AHBE UB_T—~F
+A—HREZE-N\FA=THAUTE
25%: vested on 1 July 2016 and exercisable from
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2018
5% R_T—+F+HA-BBEE WE_T—+F
":H HEZE-ZF )\i/\ﬂ +E|—Jﬁ1§
25%: vested on 1 July 2017 and exercisable from
1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

25% : R_ZE—MFLA—BBE  TBE_T—NF
‘tﬁ] HEZE-_Z—N\FNA=THATE
25%: vested on 1 July 2014 and exercisable from
1 July 2014 to 30 June 2018
25%  R-_ZE—hFtHA—BRE UB_T—1F
tﬂ BRRE=Z—N\FEXA=TRHTIFE
25%: vested on 1 July 2015 and exercisable from
1 July 2015 to 30 June 2018
25% : RZEBE—RNE+A—HHBE UB_T—~F
+tA—BRE-_Z—\F A= +E|—HT1§
25%: vested on 1 July 2016 and exercisable from
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2018
25% : R_ZE—tFLtA—BBBE TBE_T—+LF
‘tﬁ] HREZE-_Z—N\FNA=THATE
25%: vested on 1 July 2017 and exercisable from
1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

I

4 years

P4

4 years

4

4 years

P

4 years

4

4 years

I

4 years

P

4 years

o4

4 years
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39. USRS @ 39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION
(Continued)
b. BRESS(®) b. Share option scheme (Continued)
HEAR
BiEHE T HESER
Number of Contractual life
Options  Exercisable period of options
A\—_E—=F+HZ+hH 144900000 25% : R—ZE—NE+LHA—HBE Y E-T—WF NOF
—on 29 October 2013 +A—-BRE-T )\i/\ﬂ THA{TE  4years

25%: vested on 1 July 2014 and exercisable from
1 July 2014 to 30 June 2018
2% PR_T-AF+A-HARE YT -HF NF
+tA—HEE-Z— )\i/\ﬂ_+HTTT1§ 4 years
25%: vested on 1 July 2015 and exercisable from
1 July 2015 to 30 June 2018
25%  RZE—RF+tA—HBEE WBE-_ZT—XF NF
+tA—BREZZT-N\FA=THATE 4years
25%: vested on 1 July 2016 and exercisable from
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2018
25% R-_Z—+F+tA—BRE UB_T—+F WEF
tﬂ ARE=F )\i/\ﬂ +El—m1§ 4 years
25%: vested on 1 July 2017 and exercisable from
1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

BE_E-RFt-AZ+-HUEFERN:

Granted during the year ended

31 December 2015:
BRYEEMERE - 4600000 25% : R-_E-RAF+AT=ABE ¥YE-T—H NOF
-RZE-AFtA+=H FrA+=HRBEZZT-NFEA=1HT 4years
Share Options granted to directors: 11
—on 13 July 2015 25%: vested on 13 July 2015 and exercisable from

13 July 2015 to 30 June 2019
6% RZE—A"FLtA—HEE YVBE-ZT—X~F @HEF
+A—BBREZZ—NFAA=ZTHAITE 4years
25%: vested on 1 July 2016 and exercisable from
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2019
25% : RZZE—tFLA—BHEBE TBE-T—tF WHF
+A—BBREZZ—NFAA=ZTHAITE 4years
25%: vested on 1 July 2017 and exercisable from
1 July 2017 to 30 June 2019
25% : RZEF— )\itﬂ EI B WAZT—/\F mF
+A—BBREZZ-—NFAA=ZTHAITE 4years
25%: vested on 1 July 2018 and exercisable from
1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019
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b. RBRETH

39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION

(Continued)
b. Share option scheme (Continued)

FEIRIE
BIEHE (TR HESEa
Number of Contractual life
Options  Exercisable period of options
BT REMBERE 95400000 25% : M-_T—AFLA+=HAHE YE_T—H @OF
-RZE—HF+A+=H FHA+=HRBEZZE—NFA=FTHT A4dyears
Share options granted to employegs: 11fE
—on 13 July 2015 25%: vested on 13 July 2015 and exercisable from
13 July 2015 to 30 June 2019
25% : RZE—R"EFLtA—HEE YT F NF
+tA—BREZZT-NFA=THAITE 4years
25%: vested on 1 July 2016 and exercisable from
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2019
25% : R_E—+F+tA—HEE YE-T—+F NF
+tA—BREZZT-NFA=THATE 4years
25%: vested on 1 July 2017 and exercisable from
1 July 2017 to 30 June 2019
25% : RZE—\FtA—HEE VYT \F NF
+tA—BREZZT-NFA=THATE 4years

25%: vested on 1 July 2018 and exercisable from
1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR
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39. USRS @ 39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION
(Continued)

b. BRESS(®) b. Share option scheme (Continued)

TEREESEENEEFERLRERE The following tables disclose details of the Company's Options held

BEFE - by directors and employees:

BE—F—FREF - H=F—HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2015

BREXE
Number of Options
I
R “E-1f
-%-5f =
-A-H =t-A
R AH BRAKE BEAH WAGRE  HBARE HBRETE  BREAR HAGE
Exercise Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding
price at during during during at
Date of grant pershare  Vesting period 112015  theperiod theperiod  the period 31.12.2015
AT
HKS
BhE
Share option
ZE-ZEZAZtA “E-MELA-AE-E-NERAZTH
26 February 2013 1684 1July2014to 30 June 2018 152,400,000 - (3,366.878) - 169033122
“E-=EtBZtnA “E-mELR-AE-E-N\EXRA=TH
29 October 2013 155 1July2014 to 30 June 2018 150,000,000 - (4,042,220) - 145957180
“E-nftAt=R “E-LFLR-AECE-NERAZTH
13 July 2015 177 1July2015t0 30 June 2019 - 100,000,000 - - 100,000,000
HRATE
Exercisable at the end of the period 100,600,000
g EE(EL)
Weighted average exercise price (HKS) 162 1n 161 - 1.66

228
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39. USRS @ 39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION
(Continued)

TRBEEEENEEFEAQRBRE The following tables disclose details of the Company'’s options held by

RS (B) directors and employees: (Continued)
BE T Ef = A=1—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2014
BRI
Number of Options
2
R —F-mE
k3 =7
tA-R =+-H
el BROHEE SEHE WATE  HRRE  BARAR BREXM RAGR
Exercise Qutstanding Granted Exercised lapsed  Outstanding
price at during during during at
Date of grant pershare  Vesting period 172014 the period the period the period 31122014
o
HKS
AR
Share option scheme
“Z-ZE-f-t+iH “E-MELA-RE-S-\FRAZHA
26 February 2013 1684 1July2014t0 30 June 2018 152,400,000 - - - 152400000
ZE-CETAZTAA “E-PELA-BE-E-\ERAZTE
29 (ctober 2013 15 1July 20140 30 June 2018 150,000,000 - - - 150,000,000
BRA
Exercisable at the end of the period 75,600,000
METEREGET)
Weighted average exercise price {HKS) 162 - - - 162

B FEEI > BZEBIRETEIRMIA  Save as disclosed, no other option was granted under Share Option
PR - SRR I A B AR A o Scheme since their adoption.
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40. BB AR Z RiEER 40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES

REEFRNEEBH SETLATEARR  During the year, the Group entered into the following significant

2 ¢ transactions with its related parties:

(a) RE—BEEBATNESKA (a) Rental income from a related company

—E-HF —TWF
2015 2014
ARMTT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000

LERBREBEBRAF Shanghai Jianpu Investment Management Co., Ltd.
(TEggml) (E8HREBIEAMR AR ("Shanghai Jianpu")
(EAMAPELE - MEXRER (company controlled by Mr. Lin Zhong, Mr. Lin Wei
RIS AT B A F]) and Mr. Lin Feng) 2,400 1,400

(b) RE—BEELXN—EHE2AT (b) Project management fee income from a subsidiary of a joint

WIEEEEEWRA venture
—F-RF —FT0OF
2015 2014
AR¥TRT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000
EERREXFRAR Shanghai Xujing Property Co. Ltd.

(I EHEED (B&EREZEAFBR A7) ("Shanghai Xujing")

(R A)E &1 ZECoastwise (wholly owned subsidiary of Coastwise, a joint
ZEMBRAE) venture of the Company) 287,134 -
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40. BB R 5 R&&8R @) 40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)

(c) BARAT—HKREE - —[EBKE AT (c) Deposit received from pre-sales of properties to a director

REZEESNHEALTHEEMEK of the Company, a related company and an associate of the
BWZEE : directors:

—F-RF —FT0F
2015 2014
ARBTR ARBTT
RMB'000  RMB'000

PRI 54 Mr. Lin Feng 6,600 800
REEBR ST A (MRAR JE4E ~ AMESEA K M Lin Xiang Lin (close family member of Lin Zhong,

MRIE S A R 3D Mr. Lin Wei and Mr. Lin Feng) 5,801 -
HEEH Shanghai Jianpu 3,022 200
BEEMEEEREAR AR (HMAP S Shanghai Huaichi Industrial Developmant Co., Ltd

AR EIR A R)) (company controlled by close family member of

Mr. Lin Zhong) 48,930 -

(d) EWEHEEX(AMFELEZESNSD  (d) Particulars of the amount due from Jiaxing Xucai, a
A REFHERIIWOT : company controlled by Mr. Lin Zhong:

—E-RfF —ZTJUF
2015 2014

ARBTR AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000

H h FE Y 5= BB R 5108 Other receivables from Jiaxing Xucai 17,000 17,000
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40. BB AR Z R 40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)
(e) EWREELEREEATNE (e) Amounts due from joint ventures and associates

—E-HFE —T—UF
2015 2014
ARMTRT ARETIT
RMB'000 RMB'000

REBE Tianjin Xuke 682,978 -
BE Xu Huang 471,924 -
BEMBR Chongging Xuyuan 338,400 -
R IBR Nanjing Xuchen 291,093 -
EERE Shanghai Xujing 180,525 -
MMRNE Hangzhou Chenxu 159,681 -
L TERK Beijing Dacheng 146,209 -
MR Suzhou Beichen 130,000 -
igmE Shanghai Kunhui 114,163 -
BE Xu Bao 30,847 -
R 40 B Tianjin Shijixing 21,700 27,700
dErEXE Beijing Xutianheng 13,721 -
fB% Xu An - 455,000
EEBE Wuhan Xucheng - 251,963
JBIE Xu Zheng = 239,100
EREEER Beijing Xuhui Dangdai — 51,471
SRR Y EE Hunan Wuhua - 16,420

2,593,241 1,041,654
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40. BB R 5 R&&8R @) 40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND

BALANCES (continued)

(f) ERESELEREEQTRES) ()  Amounts due to joint ventures and associates (Continued)

—EB-HF —TIF
2015 2014
AR¥TRT AER¥KTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
TBE Xu Huang 1,890,690 -
BE Xu Bao 1,727,260 1,070,537
IERIEEER Beijing Xuhui Dangdai 502,581 -
Coastwise Coastwise 1,488,026 -
ibiiie] Shanghai Xincheng 493,000 420,451
Bnpisrg) Shanghai Luxu 221,443 191,767
BMES Suzhou Xugao 182,500 -
LKA Beijing Yongtong 167,480 39,251
ERMNELE Suzhou Xuyue 131,590 -
LGB1E Shanghai Xubo 52,964 -
LBER Shanghai Shoujia 26,544 -
ERMTBF Suzhou Xubang 10,984 -
Bz Xu An - 1,291,509
JEIE Xu Zheng - 596,369
RAEBE Tianjin Xujin - 541,490
RN MBS Suzhou Xuyang - 465,400
BB Shanghai Xukang - 298,230
Kot 40 Tianjin Shijixing - 11,661
W mE Hunan Wuhua - 60
6,895,062 4,926,725

U ENETAECERBEZ AT The amounts due from/to certain joint ventures and associates are

AN
RAREER - 2R RARERER -

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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40. BB AR Z &R

() REAENEENFERNARES
MAEBEBERE A BMEFINER
BEET1 o

41. EXRARER
AEBETEHEERNABRRAEEETE
BETIRELY  RNEANEEER
PR AR 2 A 8 B IR SR A SR B A B3R o

AEBHNEARBEREFEE  MER
REEM 27 A EERCNERRE KR
T FEY) RARRHEE ARIGIRAER
(BEEETRAE - BERRENE) -

ARBEFTEHRANEARRE - FRZ
Hign HP—R - ARAREEEZEER
AR EZRERBRAMNER - JWRER
BEETHTEEBEANRRE -
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)

(g) The remuneration paid and payable to the key management
personnel of the Group who are also the directors of the
Company for the year is set out in note 11.

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes
the borrowings disclosed in note 27 net of cash and cash equivalents,
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital,
and take appropriate actions to balance its overall capital structure.
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42. TETH

(a) EASHBE

ERRELRMEE SRMABRBRAT
BFTRAMNEASHBE (BIEERN K
) A ENEERKA R WERE
RIS I3 ER

(b) &I AMESH

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies adopted, including the
criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on
which income and expenses are recognized, in respect of each class
of financial assets, financial liabilities and equity instruments are
disclosed in note 3.

(b) Categories of financial instruments

—E-HE —TMF
2015 2014
AR¥TR AREKTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
cMEE Financial assets
AEHERE Available-for-sale investment 54,023 54,023
ERREWZE(BEERES M Loans and receivables (including cash and
RWEEEBY) cash equivalents) 23,662,517 12,004,518
A= A=R Financial liabilities
B Amortized cost 38,957,909 24,219,285

(c) MBEREERERBE
AEENTESRTABEAHIEER
B EHRWFR - HibEIKFIR -
BEHEMRITER  RITEHREES B
W MRS A EERE
NEIFIA - BHEMNFE - EMEMARK
B RITREMER BERBERAF
B - ZEERMITANFHBHARZEM
i Bt ES T AR B ER LN
WK FRBRNBRSSINT - BEE
EIENEEZERR - R LEA R
REVEE 51

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR

(c) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include available-for-
sale investment, trade receivables, other receivables, pledged
bank deposits, bank balances and cash, amounts due from/to non-
controlling interests, joint ventures and associates, trade payables,
other payables, bank and other borrowings, senior notes and corporate
bonds. Details of these financial instruments are set out in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.
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42, €T B

(d) TiEEk
$$@m¥%$£ﬁﬁﬂW AN B e R
FHHmBREREEMERRAR(ZAET
X) o

$EIF$WEQMW%HMIAEE
KErE R A EEKE

B B
m%ﬁﬁf KR ERTT e B A 5 R (IR ARIR
FEARRITATHRA R E A ZBF X
INFESNE AETE ) HIRITH IS N RIKE) -
Bt AN SR B2 3R 2R A R [ g o

REBH A FEF KRR F ZHBIEZETE
PR BRI IEIERERFKIE - RITR
HMEHRARBLEERER - AEER
%Iﬂﬂ%EHMEIAEWQWHE
ﬁmﬂTHE EEERERE
%ﬁﬁﬁikﬂTﬂwo

$El%§ﬁ REEAR BN ER
% HEBERNANERDE SRR EE

—ffi o

FF G

MT% SED M IREIEOTE T AGRTT
REER R RTT R EMER) M EERGESR
DMHBRERBERRAZ MR TA

REBEFRHYRIBMGE - AT EER
A B P EB 0 R 1) 2 R B By = DA 2K 1001
HEB (BT REMERM T ) RFKE0
EE(RBITERME ) BEE - IF
BABESRIEIRITREMERLIEITHE
KA A] e BB R FLAS ©

RIREIR - WFIE EFH TFE100 %
BOMREIE 2B (5 B sLERTT R H A i R SR T
BRME)  MABEMESSESETE -
BAEBHEE-_T—HE+-A=+—
BIEFEMFBEEM RIOAR
#27,198,000 L (Z T —F : AR
30,553,0007T) °
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Market risk

The Group’s activities expose primarily to the market risks of changes
in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and other price risk
(see below).

There has been no significant change to the Group’s exposure to
market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk
over the year.

Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due to the
fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate on bank deposits and
bank and other borrowings which carry at variable rates based on the
interest rates quoted by the People’s Bank of China plus a premium.

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to its fixed rate
amounts due to non-controlling interests, bank and other borrowings
and senior notes. The Group currently does not use any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However, the
management will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities are
detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this note.

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been prepared based on the
exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments (bank
balances and bank and other borrowings). The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis
point increase or decrease for bank and other borrowings and a 50
basis point increase or decrease for bank deposits are used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represent management’s assessment of the possible change
in interest rate in respect of bank and other borrowings and bank
deposits respectively.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates had been increased/
decreased by 100 and 50 basis points in respect of bank and other
borrowings and bank deposits respectively and all other variables
were held constant, the Group's profit would increase/decrease by
approximately RMB27,198,000 (2014: RMB30,553,000) for the year
ended 31 December 2015.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Market risk (Continued)

Foreign currency risk management

The Group collects all of its revenue in RMB and most of the
expenditures including expenditures incurred in property sales as well
as capital expenditures are also denominated in RMB.

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign
currencies, hence exposure to exchange rate fluctuations arises. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management monitors foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had bank balances and cash,
bank and other borrowings and senior notes denominated in foreign
currencies as set out in notes 25, 27 and 28 respectively, which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk.

Foreign currency rate sensitivity

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% increase
and decrease in Renminbi against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% is
the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally
to key management personnel and represents management'’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjust their translation at
the end of reporting period of 5% changes in foreign currency rates. A
positive number below indicates an increase in profit where Renminbi
strengthen 5% against the relevant currency. For a 5% weakening
of Renminbi against the relevant currency, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the profit and the balances below would be
negative.

—ZT-RF —TOF

2015 2014

AR%Tr ARBTT

RMB'000 RMB’000

BT Hong Kong Dollars 75,183 359

ETT United States Dollars 440,013 252,904
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(e) Credit risk management

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’'s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial
guarantees issued by the Group is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognized financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the amount of contingent
liabilities disclosed in note 38. In order to minimize the credit risk, the
monitoring procedures are carried out to ensure that follow up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
regularly the recoverable amount of each individual accounts and
other receivables and amounts due from related companies at the end
of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. The amounts presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position are net of allowances for
bad and doubtful debts, estimated by the Group’s management based
on prior experience and their assessment of the current economic
environment.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating
agencies or state-owned banks in the PRC.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are
deposited with several banks with high credit ratings, the Group has
no significant concentration of credit risk, which exposure spread over
a number of counterparties and customers.

For properties that are presold but development has not been
completed, the Group typically provides guarantees to banks in
connection with the customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans to
finance their purchase of the properties for an amount up to 70% to
80% of the purchase price of the individual property. If a purchaser
defaults on the payment of its mortgage during the period of
guarantee, the bank holding the mortgage may demand the Group
to repay the outstanding loan and any interest accrued thereon.
Under such circumstances, the Group is able to forfeit the sales
deposit received and re-sell the repossessed properties. Therefore,
the management considers it would likely recover any loss incurred
arising from the guarantee by the Group. The management considers
the credit risk exposure to financial guarantees provided to property
purchasers is limited because the facilities are secured by the
properties and the market prices of the properties are higher than the
guaranteed amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(f) Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding generated from operating activities and the flexibility through
the use of borrowings. The directors of the Company closely monitor
the liquidity position and expect to have adequate sources of funding
to finance the Group's projects and operations.

The following table details the Group's expected remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of non-derivative financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows.

In addition, the following table details the Group's liquidity analysis
for its derivative financial instruments. The analysis for the Group's
derivative financial instruments are prepared based on the maturities
estimated by the management with reference to the progress of
property development projects.

R=2-1%

+ZA=1-A KER

HEEE REHEAE

Carrying amount Total

= at 31 December 0Zl60A 61201808 18123658 1225 1235 3EBLE  undiscounted

Interest rate 2015 0-60days  61to180days  181to 365 days 1-2years 2-3years Over 3 years cash flows

ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETT AR%TR ARETT AR®TR

RMB'000 RMBI000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

HTESREE Non-derivative financial liabilities

Tit& Non-interest bearing - 15,118,647 15,118,647 - - - - - 15,118,647

EEIA Fixed interest rate instruments 51%-13.3% 13,782,490 57941 381491 1210376 1,443,069 4352810 10,042,948 17,548,635

FEIA Variable interest rate instruments 29%-86% 10172403 406,914 193592 1,534,263 3,468,855 409,778 1909417 11,609,819

BIBER Financial guarantees - - 3,644,229 - - - 274,34 - 6,388,463
EEER (RBDBR AR | ZF—RAFFR 239



B3 4 1 85 W R W ik

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

42. EFT A )
() "EBHESERGE

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(f) Liquidity risk (Continued)

RZE-RE
+=R=1-A AR
HEEE ReiesE
Carrying amount Total
Hi at 31 December 05608 6121607 18123658 1205 1E3F IEQE  undiscounted
Interest rate 204 (-60days  61to180days  181to 365 days 1-2 years 2-3 years Qver 3 years cash flows
ARBTE  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HTESREE Non-derivative financial liabilities
Titg Non-interest bearing - 10,358,195 10,358,195 - - - - - 10,358,195
FSIE Fived interest rate instruments 56%-123% 6,854,787 508,426 1010832 1392362 1,389,640 597,764 4,673,853 95712811
2EIE Variable interest rate instruments 6.2%-8.5% 7,006,303 1,164,238 2,296,545 3,285,962 4130600 16719577 3013832 15,570,754
BRER Financial guarantees - - 2761537 - - - 1997278 - 4758815
fisE :  fEREREMEFE@ITET A ERATESS  Note: The expected contractual cash outflow upon the maturity of the trust and other loans

HRTRM AL EE - HAREE QA RRAE
S SRS AERD

PR BERENEENEEREER
BFTRERBRAT » AEERBELZHA
ERABNZ2BERSENRSER - R
EEMERRNEAY  AEERREAR
BRLBI RSB - AW - ZfhET
AR T 5 F T IR B ERIE W RIERV AT RE
EMAMRE - MiEH RERN R BRI
HURTA S 3 75 P JE 42 £ 7 755 & W3R IR
HIREEEBAR LN -
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related derivatives are subject to change which are linked to the selling prices or
valuation of equity interest of the relevant project companies.

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the
maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle under the
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed
by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the
end of each reporting period, the Group considers that it is more
likely than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement.
However, this estimate is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is
a function of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.
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43. KRB BB MRRERRAAT 43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
Ei] RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(a) FARFBMRRE : (a) Statement of the financial position of the Company:

—E-RF —TNF

2015 2014

iz AR®BTR ARETE
NOTE RMB'000 RMB'000

FkRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS

M= R NMRE Property, plant and equipment 16 33

REBAFRIRE Investment in a subsidiary 877,538 842,151

RN O] Amounts due from subsidiaries 9,458,058 6,826,116
10,335,612 7,668,300

REBEE CURRENT ASSETS

JE M BR 2k K E A FE UG ZRTE - Accounts and other receivables,

e RIartEIE deposits and prepayments 3,291 2,879
TE & &P IR Amounts due from joint ventures 1,934,052 13,949
IRTTHERNIA® Bank balances and cash 515,662 405,078

2,453,005 421,906
ik B=Ri= CURRENT LIABILITIES
FEA BRI T RIS Accounts payables and accrued charges 26 25
AN EINEIESE] Amounts due to subsidiaries 1,114,637 1,056,441
FERHE ZERIE Amounts due to joint ventures 675,214 546,179
1,789,877 1,602,645
RBEE(EE)FE NET CURRENT ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 663,128 (1,180,739)
REERREBEE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 10,998,740 6,487,561
BEXR#E CAPITAL AND RESERVES
R AN Share capital 31 537,157 487,896
fHiE Reserves 803,564 707,866
RS EE TOTAL EQUITY 1,340,721 1,195,762
FREBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
1BoERE Senior notes 8,275,958 4,356,950
RITEN — —F1&REH Bank borrowings — due after one year 1,382,061 934,849
9,658,019 5,291,799
10,998,740 6,487,561
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43. XA R BMRRTE AT 43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

REE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)
(b) AEQRRERE : (b) Movements of the Company'’s reserve:
LA
BEA  ROEE BRERR Capital ~ ZEHEE
Share Share  Shareoption  contribution  Accumulated ekl
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total

ARBTT ARBTT ARBTR ARMTLE ARETL ARETR
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBO00  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBIOOO0

n-E-EF-A—H At 1 January 2014 487,8% 1,159,472 36,581 33,031 (149,358) 1,567,622
FNEERZERYSE Loss and total comprehensive expense
for the year - - - - (104,601 (104,601)
BB EREE Recognition of equity-settled share-based
BRI TR payments - - 61,574 4,437 - 66,011
ERRE Dividend paid - (333270) - - - (333,270)
RZE-RE+ZA=1—H At 31 December 2014 487,896 826,202 98,155 37,468 (253,959) 1,195,762
FABELZEART 2% Loss and total comprehensive expense
for the year - - - - (381,625) (381,625)
TERREREITRN Issue of shares upon exercise of shares
options 593 11,384 (2.428) - - 9,549
RO AR SRR Issue of shares of share placement 47,280 980,272 - - - 1,027,552
HARREETR Issued of shares for scrip-tividend 10430 (10430) - - - -
REE R (DB T8 Cancelled upon repurchase of shares (9,042) (95,179) - - - (104,221)
BRAR T EREE Recognition of equity-settled share-based
BARMBRH payments - - 47898 1972 - 49,870
BARE Dividend paid - (456,166) - - - (456,166)
R-E-A&+-A=1—-H At 31 December 2015 531,151 1,256,083 143,625 39,440 (635,584) 1,340,721
(c) RMBARNKRE (c) Investment in a subsidiary

=F-RF —F0OF
2015 2014
ARBTR ARBTT
RMB'000  RMB'000

IE TR GRHEERAR) Unlisted share, at deemed cost 877,530 842,151
(d) FEW FE(THIEB A RRIE (d) Amounts due from/to subsidiaries

el TERHB AR IB A - 44 The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and
B R EEEERE o no fixed repayment term.
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(f) RITER

R-ZZE—=FtANH - XRRI({EARE
)R EARRRETFEING B R R (1E
BT ERAN)BE—AMEHE(EAE
HAVEIMN —_ZE— NFEHFEEER -
ZE-AFIHEREERAEKERTE
HRERREE - #% % A 156,500,000
En 0 DBMEIY  VETBH AL
75,000,000 7t : R (i) B a5 A &
636,000,000/ 7T * mEERHAE =
—ANEFIHREER A PET=
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- AFREEFEEEE -

R-ZZT—NF+—AWNA » ~X&EEHEHE
50 % #E 25 H) — 8 B B 2 7] B2 — 4B 55 S B
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(e) Amounts due from (to) joint ventures
The amounts due from (to) joint ventures are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

(f) Bank borrowing

On 8 July 2013, the Company as borrower, and certain offshore
subsidiaries of the Company as initial guarantors, entered into the
2016 due Syndicated Loan with a group of financial institutions as
lenders. The 2016 due Syndicated Loan is a dual-currency term loan
facility with an aggregate amount of approximately US$156.5 million
divided into two tranches: (i) United States dollars tranche with an
aggregate amount of US$75 million; and (i) Hong Kong dollars tranche
with an aggregate amount of HK$636 million, with final maturity of
three years from the date of the 2016 due Syndicated Loan agreement
and interest of LIBOR or HIBOR plus 5.65% per annum. The 2016 due
Syndicated Loan is fully repaid in 2015 with a new 2015 Syndicated
Loan.

On 4 November 2014, a 50% owned subsidiary of the Group
entered into an offshore facility agreement and an onshore facility
agreement with a group of offshore financial institutions and a group
of onshore financial institutions. The relevant offshore agreement is
a Hong Kong dollar denominated term loan facility with an aggregate
amount of HK$1,440 million with final maturity of three years
from the first utilization date. The relevant onshore agreement is a
Renminbi denominated term loan facility with an aggregate amount
of RMB1,500 million with final maturity of three years from the first
utilization date.

On 20 January 2015, the Company entered into a facility agreement
with a group of financial institutions. The relevant facility is a US dollar/
Hong Kong dollar dual currency term loan facility with an aggregate
amount of approximately US$130 million, with final maturity of thirty
six months after the first utilization date.
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44, TEMBE A TFE

—E—mE+= A=+—AHFERS

44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
AAFINEERBARNR -_Z—RHFKR Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2015
and 2014 are set out below:

M -
TEHE
Bl avE L W+=A=+—H
=P FElb kg BERIRARRE K2u%
BENBARZHE Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of direct subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activity
“¥-1f —T-MF
2015 2014
% %
JBRBRAR] RERAHE 100 100 FMER  FE REER
Xu Sheng Limited “E—FRANA 50,0007 Hong Kong Investment holding
BVI ERENETL
9May 2011 Registered USD50,000
paid up capital USD1
REHE
Bl R R+t=ZA=+—H
= Felb kg BREIRARRA KEmd
B AR AR Place and date Equity interest attributable Issuedand fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incarporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“2-1%F —T-MF
2015 2014
% %
FIREBERARRA il 100 100 afiEx  HE FHERE
(Fif3E) “TT=F AR®10000000T  PRC Property development
Beijing Wangxin Property Co., Ltd. +ZANAR BEHER
(note) PRC AZ%10,000,0007C
8 December 2003 Registered
RMB10,000,000
paid up capital
RMB10,000,000
TRERNEERARLA  HE 100 100 AMER  PE MEER
(BzE) “EE-F AK3,0000007  PRC Property management
Beijing Xudong Property BA=1-H BEHEAR
Management Co., Ltd. note) PRC A #3,000,0007T
31 May 2002 Registered
RMB3,000,000
paid up capital
RMB3,000,000
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44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
T5E
TR R Rt+=ZRA=+—8
B FElb kg EROTRERBAE  EEE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
tRIBEBMESARAT  F 100 100 AfER FHERE
Ci9) —T——F AKH1000000007T  PRC Property development
Beijing Xuhui Shunxin Property +-A+=H EHER
Co., Ltd. (note) PRC AR E100,000,0007T
12 December 2011 Registered
RMB100,000,000
paid up capital
RMB100,000,000
FTREBEGAEXERAR  HE 80 80 afiEx  HE FiERE
(PizE) It S 2 AR™1000000007c  PRC Property development
Beijing Xuhui Sunshine Property —A+=H EHER
Co., Ltd. (note] PRC AR E80,000,0007T
13 January 2011 Registered
RMB100,000,000
paid up capital
RIVIB80,000,000
TREBRBEXERAR FE 100 100 afEx  HE FiERE
(P3E) —E——F ARE100000007  PRC Property development
Beijing Xuhui Xingsheng Property ~ATAE BHER
Co. Ltd. note) PRC ARE10,000,0007T
16 June 2011 Registered
RMB10,000,000
paid up capital
RMB10,000,000
AR EEARAR i 100 100 AMER  E FHERE
(K3E) “E-=F ARH200000007T  PRC Property development
Beijing Xuke Property Co., Ltd =A+NnAH BEREAR
(note) PRC A 20,000,007
19 March 2013 Registered
RMB20,000,000
paid up capital
RMB20,000,000

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR
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44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
A%E
TR R Rt+=ZRA=+—8
B FElb kg EROTRERBAE  EEE
HEEENGIES Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
R ERER A e 100 100 AMER  hE FHERE
Ci9) “F-F AR®100000007c  PRC Property development
Beijing Xuxingcheng Property —A+=H EHER
Co., Ltd. (note) PRC ARE10,000,0007T
13 January 2011 Registered
RIMB10,000,000
paid up capital
RMB10,000,000
TREBRENEXERAR  HE 100 100 afiEx  HE FERE
(M) “ETNF AR™1000000007C  PRC Property development
Beijing Xuhui Xingke Property NA+ZH EHER
Co., Ltd. {note PRC AEH100,000,0007C
12 August 2009 Registered
RMB100,000,000
paid up capital
RMB100,000,000
IREBREEXERAR HE 100 100 afEx  HE FiERE
(P3E) “TTNE ARH1000000007c  PRC Property development
Beijing Xuhui Xingteng Property NA+ZH BHER
Co., Ltd. (note| PRC AR E100,000,0007T
12 August 2009 Registered
RMB100,000,000
paid up capital
RMB100,000,000
IRBREEEERAT hE = 100 FHER  E EiERE
(K3E) —E-CF AR#10000000  PRC Property development
Beijing Xuxinglong Property +-A+-H EHER
Co. Ltd. (note) PRC A %10,000,0007C
11 December 2012 Registered
RMB10,000,000
paid up capital
RMB10,000,000
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44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
pie-3:
AR R R R+=—A=+—-H
HEH il BRIRARRE S2HE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
ERKBEEARAA e 100 100 AMER  hE FHERE
Ci9) “TTEE AR®20000007c  PRC Property development
Beijing Yongxu Property mARA EHER
Co., Ltd. (note) PRC AR E20,000,0007T
5 April 2004 Registered
RMB20,000,000
paid up capital
RMB20,000,000
Y SERUEREBRAR + 100 100 SfiER FERE
(Fi3zE) “T—F AR100000000c  PRC Property development
Changsha Dingzun Real Estate +=A~A8 BHER
Development Co. Limited note) ~ PRC AZ%10,000,0007C
6 December 2012 Registered
RMB10,000,000
paid up capital
RMB10,000,000
KO EFERE hE 100 100 AftER HE FiERE
BRARHE) “E——F ARE100000007  PRC Property development
Changsha Lilongchang Real Estate A< A BHER
Development Co., Ltd. [note] PRC ARE10,000,0007T
6 September 2011 Registered
RMB10,000,000
paid up capital
RMB10,000,000
ROBERMEREERAR PE 100 100 AMER  E FHERE
(K3E) —E——F AR#10000000  PRC Property development
Changsha Xuhai Real Estate ~ATH EHER
Development Co., Ltd. [note PRC A %10,000,0007C
10 June 2011 Registered
RMB100,000,000
paid up capital
RMB100,000,000

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR
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44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
pie-3:
AR R R R+=—A=+—-H
HEH il BEARBRRE EEHH
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
EERARMEREERAR PE 100 100 AMER  hE FHERE
(K3) 3 ARH0000000T  PRC Property development
Chongging Xuhe Real Estate +-A=-+=H ERAR
Development Co. Limited (note] ~ PRC AR H8,000,0007T
22 December 2012 Registered
RMB8,000,000
paid up capital
RMB8,000,000
ROHEHEREERLAR HE 100 100 FfER  HE FERS
(K s g3 ARH500000000  PRC Property development
Changsha Xuxiang Real Estate NA=+H BERAR
Development Co., Ltd. (note) PRC A £50,000,0007T
20 August 2007 Registered
RMBA50,000,000
paid up capital
RMB50,000,000
ERIEFUEREERLAR HE 100 100 HER HE FERE
Ci9) “F—fF AR®200000000c  PRC Property development
Chongging Xuchang Real Estate =AtH EHEX
Development Co., Ltd. (note) PRC A #£20,000,0007T
10 March 2011 Registered
RMB20,000,000
paid up capital
RMB20,000,000
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44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
REHE
TR R Rt+=ZRA=+—8
B FElb kg EROTRERBAE  EEE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
EEMEBEHEREERAR + 100 100 AfER FHERE
(K3) “TTRF ARH800000007C  PRC Property development
Chongging Xupeng Real Estate +AmAE EHER
Development Co., Ltd. (note) PRC AR 80,000,007
4 July 2005 Registered
RIMB80,000,000
paid up capital
RIVIB80,000,000
EEMPRHEREERAR FE 100 100 AMER  E FEiERE
(K “T-NF 290,0000003C  PRC Property development
Chongging Xuzhong Real Estate NATNE EHER
Development Co., Ltd (note) PRC 290,000,000% T
19 August 2014 Registered
USD290,000,000
paid up capital
USD290,000,000
BEEERHERAR il 100 100 AMER  HE REER
Ci9) —ZZ% AEH6000000007t  PRC Investment holding
CIFI Group Co., Ltd. (note NA+HA EHEAR
PRC AR 600,000,007
15 August 2000 Registered
RMB600,000,000
paid up capital
RMB600,000,000
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44. TERBARFRE @) 44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
REHE
TR R Rt+=ZRA=+—8
B FElb kg EROTRERBAE  EEE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
JBEREERAT R 100 100 ETER  BE REER
CIFI Enterprises Co. Limited “E——F 1000077 Hong Kong Investment holding
RA+TZH ERERIBTL
Hong Kong Authorized
12 May 2011 HK$10,000

paid up capital HK$1

BNEBFHEREERLR HE 100 100 HHER  HE FiERE
(K3E) “TTNE ARH100000007C  PRC Property development
Fuzhou Wancheng Real Estate +tA+ImA BHER
Development Co., Ltd. note) PRC ARE10,000,0007T
14 July 2004 Registered
RMB10,000,000
paid up capital
RMB10,000,000
MMBEEXERAR i 100 100 HER  H FiERE
(K3E) “T-MEF ARH100000007c  PRC Property development
Hangzhou Xuguang Property ~NAZTH BHER
Co., Ltd (note) PRC AR #£10,000,0007T
20 June 2014 Registered
RMB10,000,000
paid up capital
RMB10,000,000
BEBEFHEREBRAR + 100 100 HER  H FiERE
(P3E) “T——F ARH2000000007c  PRC Property development
Hefei Xubin Real Estate Development  — A+ 1.0 EHER
Co., Ltd. (note) PRC A #200,000,0007T
19 January 2011 Registered
RMB200,000,000
paid up capital
RMB200,000,000
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44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
pie-3:
AR R R R+=—A=+—-H
HEH il BRIRARRE S2HE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
BREBEHEREBR AR + 100 100 HfER FEiERE
Ci9) S AR®500000007c  PRC Property development
Hefei Xuhai Real Estate Development  +—A+=F EHER
Co., Ltd. (note) PRC AR EE50,000,0007T
12 November 2007 Registered
RMB50,000,000
paid up capital
RMBA50,000,000
BREEGFEHEREERAR HE 100 100 afiEx  HE FERE
(K3E) “T-mF ARH100000007C  PRC Property development
Hefei Xuwan Real Estate ~AtH BHER
Development Co., Ltd (note) PRC AZ%10,000,0007C
7 June 2014 Registered
RMB10,000,000
paid up capital
RMB10,000,000
HEEREXZRERRA + 100 100 AftEx A B ERE
(P3E) ZETRE ARH500000007T  PRC Property development
Hunan Longsheng Property TA-tAR BHER
Development Co., Ltd. [note] PRC ARE50,000,0007T
29 May 2006 Registered
RMBS50,000,000
paid up capital
RMB50,000,000
HERSENEREERLR HE 80 80 FER  PE FERS
Cif9) “F—-F ARH350000000C  PRC Property development
Hunan Ronghui Real Estate +ZA+NE BHEK
Development Co., Ltd {note) PRC A #28,000,0007T
18 December 2012 Registered
RMB35,000,000
paid up capital
RMB28,000,000
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4. FERBATAFHERB @

44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
pie-3:
AR R R Rt+=ZRA=+—8
HEH il BRIRARRE S2HE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
REBHEZARLA e 100 100 AMER  hE FHERE
Ci9) —T-F 60000000570  PRC Property development
Jiaxing Xucheng Property Co., Ltd +—-A—-8 EHER
(note} PRC 60,000,000 7
1 November 2014 Registered
USD60,000,000
paid up capital
USD60,000,000
FRRMAEEERAA il 100 100 HMER  HE EiERE
(K3E) —T-E 25500000570 PRC Property development
Jiaxing Xuling Property Co,, Ltd =ZARA EREAR
(note) PRC 25,500,000 7
6 March 2014 Registered
USD25,500,000
paid up capital
USD25,500,000
RAEMEHEERARNA  HE 100 100 HMER  E MEER
(K3) —E——F AR50000000c  PRC Property management
Jiaxing Xumei Business —-A-tH BERAR
Management Co., Ltd. note) PRC ARE5,000,0007C
20 January 2011 Registered
RMB5,000,000
paid up capital
RMB5,000,000
LSRR ERRAR HE 53 53 AftER HE FHERE
(P3E) —TTRF ARE1700000000c  PRC Property development
Shanghai Haiji Real Estate Co,, Ltd. = A+—H BEHER
(note) PRC AR #90,100,0007T
11 March 2005 Registered
RMB170,000,000
paid up capital
RMBJ0,100,000
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44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
REHE
AR R R R+=—A=+—-H
B FElb kg EROTRERBAE  EEE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
PEEERERERERLA TE 100 100 AMER  E REER
(K3) —T——F 10000,000%7c  PRC Investment holding
Shanghai Hanpuka Commercial NA+EH ERAR
Management Co., Ltd. note) PRC 10,000,0005 7T
17 August 2011 Registered
USD10,000,000
paid up capital
USD10,000,000
DBRAREXEARAR(MGE) & 100 100 AMER  E FEiERE
Shanghai Xubang Property Co,, Ltd. —F——%F AR®£30000,000T  PRC Property development
(note) mA+mA BHER
PRC AR %30,000,0007C
14 April 2011 Registered
RMB30,000,000
paid up capital
RMB30,000,000
PRRANEZARARA(ME) +E 100 100 HMER  HE BHERE
Shanghai Xuhe Property Co., Ltd. ~ —F——% ARE10000000c  PRC Property development
(note) +B=+mA EHENR
PRC AZ 10,000,007
24 October 2012 Registered
RMB10,000,000
paid up capital
RMB10,000,000
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44. TEMBRAAFE @) 44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
REHE
AR R R R+=—A=+—-H
B FElb kg EROTRERBAE  EEE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
LBEREXERAA Bl 100 100 HfER  HE EiERE
(K3) —T——F AKH100000007T  PRC Property development
Shanghai Xugiang Property Co., ltd. ~ LA+AR EHER
(note) PRC A %10,000,0007C
19 September 2011 Registered
RMB10,000,000
paid up capital
RMB10,000,000
LRRAREEARAA " 100 100 AMER  hE BHERE
(K ZE-CF ARH50000000T  PRC Property development
Shanghai Xuwei Property Co. Ltd. +=A+E EHER
(note) PRC AR 5,000,0007T
10 December 2012 Registered
RMB5,000,000
paid up capital
RMB5,000,000
DBBHERERAA th 100 100 HfiER FEHERE
Ci) “E-CF AR®50000000c  PRC Property development
Shanghai Xuxiang Property Co.Ltd. ~ +=F+H EHEX
(note) PRC AR 5,000,007
10 December 2012 Registered
RMB5,000,000
paid up capital
RMB5,000,000
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44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
REHE
AR R R R+=—A=+—-H
B FElb kg EROTRERBAE  EEE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
LEREEXERAR Bl 100 100 HfER  HE EiERE
(K3) —T——F ARH440000007T  PRC Property development
Shanghai Xuyu Property Co. Ltd. —A+Z=H ERAR
note) PRC AR 844,000,007
12 January 2011 Registered
RMBA44,000,000
paid up capital
RMB44,000,000
LEAREEARAA " 100 100 AMER  hE BHERE
(K “T-NF ARH50000000T  PRC Property development
Shanghai Xubai Property Co., Ltd —AAA EHER
(note) PRC AR 5,000,0007T
5 January 2014 Registered
RMB5,000,000
paid up capital
RMB5,000,000
LEBBEEEEERAR @ 100 100 AfiEx H FERSE
Ci) —T-RF AR®10000000c  PRC Property development
Shanghai Xuxie Hotel Management ~ TA=R EHEX
Co., Ltd note) PRC AR 1,000,007
3 May 2015 Registered
RMB1,000,000
paid up capital
RMB1,000,000
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44. TEMBRAAFE @) 44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
T5E
TR R Rt+=ZRA=+—8
B FElb kg EROTRERBAE  EEE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
LBBRERERAA i 100 100 AMER  E FHERE
(K3) e Sl AR®10000007T  PRC Property development
Shanghai Xusuo Enterprise Co, Ltd ~ +—AFE ERAR
(note) PRC AR H1,000,0007T
5 November 2014 Registered
RMB1,000,000
paid up capital
RMB1,000,000
LBREERERAA i 100 100 AMER  E FHERE
(K “T-NF ARH10000000  PRC Property development
Shanghai Xugen Enterprise Co, L4~ +—FA R A BERAR
(note) PRC AR1,000,0007T
5 November 2014 Registered
RMB1,000,000
paid up capital
RMB1,000,000
LBEMERERAA i 100 100 HfEx  HE FEHERE
Ci) e S ufS AR®90000007c  PRC Property development
Shanghai Fengxu Property Co., Ltd +-A-1EH EHEX
(note) PRC A 9,000,0007C
25 December 2014 Registered
RMB9,000,000
paid up capital
RMB9,000,000
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44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
REHE
AR R R R+=—A=+—-H
B FElb kg EROTRERBAE  EEE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
BHE2EXERAR Bl 100 100 HfER  HE EiERE
(K3) e Sl AKH100000007T  PRC Property development
Shengyeng Xuguan Property +A-+-8 ERAR
Co., Ltd [note) PRC A %10,000,0007C
21 October 2014 Registered
RMB10,000,000
paid up capital
RMB10,000,000
LERBEEHEERERLA HE 100 755 FfER  FE FERS
(K “TTRF AEH100000007  PRC Property development
Shanghai Tongshuo Real Estate —“A—-H BERAR
Development Co., Ltd. (note) PRC A #10,000,0007T
1 February 2005 Registered
RMB10,000,000
paid up capital
RMB10,000,000
HAMERHEERAR i 100 100 AftEx AH FERE
Ci9) “ZT=F AR™800000007c  PRC Property development
Shanghai Xinbo Real Estate =A+=H EHEX
Co., Ltd [note) PRC A %80,000,0007C
13 March 2003 Registered
RMBB0,000,000
paid up capital
RMBB0,000,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44. TERBARFRE @) 44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
T5E
AR R R R+=—A=+—-H
B FElb kg EROTRERBAE  EEE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
PEEBREXRRAERAR  PTE 100 100 AMER  E FHERE
(K3) —INE AR#300000007T  PRC Property development
Shanghai Xinchen Property MA+mA ERAR
Development Co., Ltd. (note) PRC AR #30,000,0007C
14 April 1998 Registered
RMB30,000,000
paid up capital
RMB30,000,000
DEMBRETRARDR  +E 100 100 AMER  hE MERER
(K “TTRF AEH600000007T  PRC Property construction
Shanghai Xinzhi Construction tA=-+H BERAR
Co., Ltd. (note) PRC A #60,000,0007C
20 July 2005 Registered
RMB60,000,000
paid up capital
RIVB60,000,000
DEBRRABAARLT  H 100 100 afiEn e ALK
Ci9) ZETE ARH1600000007t  PRC Investment holding
Shanghai Xuhui Investment Advisory ~ +— A/ B EHEX
Co., Ltd. (note] PRC A 160,000,007
9 November 2006 Registered
RMB160,000,000
paid up capital
RMB160,000,000
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44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
REHE
AR R R R+=—A=+—-H
B FElb kg EROTRERBAE  EEE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
TRREEEREER " 100 100 AMER  hE MEER
BRAR(H) —T-TF AR#200000000c  PRC Property management
Shanghai Xumei Business ~ANR ERAR
Investment Management Co., Ltd. ~ PRC AR 20,0000007C
(note) 8 June 2010 Registered
RMB20,000,000
paid up capital
RIMB20,000,000
DBREIEXERAR(MEE) +E 100 100 AMER  HE FHERE
Shanghai Xuchuang Property e 3 AR#60000000T  PRC Property development
Co., Ltd. (note) NA+—H EHER
PRC A #60,000,0007C
11 September 2007 Registered
RMBG0,000,000
paid up capital
RIVB60,000,000
LEEREXARAR (M) HE 100 100 HER HE FERE
Shanghai Xuhui Property Co, Ltd. ~ —ZTAE ARH35000000C  PRC Property development
(note) +A+mAE EHENR
PRC A 35,000,007
14 October 2009 Registered
RMB35,000,000
paid up capital
RMB35,000,000
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4. FERBATAFHERB @

(Continued)

44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

T5E
TR R Rt+=ZRA=+—8
B FElb kg EROTRERBAE  EEE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
LBEREXERAA i 100 100 AMER  E FHERE
(K3) —T—F AKH100000007T  PRC Property development
Shanghai Xutong Property NANR ERAR
Co., Ltd. (note] PRC A %10,000,0007C
8 August 2012 Registered
RMB10,000,000
paid up capital
RMB10,000,000
FNBEEEERAT] i 100 100 AMER  E FEiERE
(K —E-CF ARH560000000c  PRC Property development
Suzhou Xu Ming Property TAZtAhA BERAR
Development Co., Ltd. (note) PRC AR H560,000,0007C
29 May 2012 Registered
RMB560,000,000
paid up capital
RMB560,000,000
FNBEEEERAT] i 100 100 AMER  HE FHERE
Ci9) e S ufS AR®200000000c  PRC Property development
Suzhou Xufeng Property Co., Ltd —A-t+=A EHEX
(note) PRC AR 20,000,007
22 February 2014 Registered
RMB20,000,000
paid up capital
RMB20,000,000
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44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

T5E
TR R Rt+=ZRA=+—8
B FElb kg EROTRERBAE  EEE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
#IEESHESAERAR  TE 100 100 AMER  E FHERE
(K3) —ZTNE ARH6490000007T  PRC Property development
Suzhou Xuhui High-Tech +=-A=H ERAR
Property Co., Ltd. (note) PRC AR H649,000,0007C
3 December 2009 Registered
RIMB649,000,000
paid up capital
RIMB649,000,000
FNBBEEERAT] t 100 100 AER FHERE
(K - 3 ARH140000000c  PRC Property development
Suzhou Xuhui Property Co. Ltd. =A+=H BERAR
(note) PRC AR 140,000,007
13 March 2007 Registered
RMB140,000,000
paid up capital
RMB140,000,000
HIEEREXAERAR  TE 100 100 HfEx  HE FEERE
Ci9) “ETNE AR®1910000000c  PRC Property development
Suzhou Xuhui Xingteng Property +-A=H EHEX
Co., Ltd. (note] PRC AR 191,000,007
3 December 2009 Registered
RMB191,000,000
paid up capital
RMB191,000,000
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44. TEMBRAAFE @) 44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

T5E
AR R R R+=—A=+—-H
B FElb kg EROTRERBAE  EEE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
DBRRERARAR(MEE) +E 100 100 AMER  E FHERE
Shanghai Xuming —T-TF AE#100000000  PRC Property development
Property Co., Ltd. {note) +-A=t+N\H ERAR
PRC AR 100,000,007
28 December 2010 Registered
RMB100,000,000
paid up capital
RMB100,000,000
HEREELERAT thE 100 100 AMER  hE FHERE
(K TR AE#300000007  PRC Property development
Shanghai Xupu +—AAA BERAR
Property Co., Ltd. (note) PRC AR %30,000,0007C
5 November 2003 Registered
RMB30,000,000
paid up capital
RMB30,000,000
PEREEHESLERAR F 100 100 AER REEHERRRE
Ci9) ZTTRE AR®10000000c  PRC Provision of property agency
Shanghai Xusheng Real Estate +—A=t+H EHEAR service
Agency Co., Ltd. (note) PRC AR 1,000,007
27 November 2006 Registered
RMB1,000,000
paid up capital
RMB1,000,000
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44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

pie-3:
AR R R R+=—A=+—-H
HEH il BRIRARRE S2HE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
LEREEHEREBR AR + 100 100 HfER  H EiERE
(K3) “TTRF ARH800000007C  PRC Property development
Shanghai Xufeng Real Estate —A-+HA ERAR
Development Co., Ltd. (note) PRC AR 80,000,007
25 January 2005 Registered
RMBB0,000,000
paid up capital
RMBB80,000,000
LERREHERRRRA i 100 100 FfER  H FEiERE
(K ZE-TF ARH59,0000000  PRC Property development
Shanghai Xutai Real Estate Co, Ltd. ~ +—AFA BERAR
(note) PRC AR 559,000,0007T
5 November 2010 Registered
RMBA59,000,000
paid up capital
RMB59,000,000
EKERHEREERLR HE 100 100 AR HE FERSE
Ci9) —T%- AR®80000007c  PRC Property development
Shanghai Yonghui Real Estate MA+AR EHEX
Development Co,, Ltd. note) PRC AR 8,000,0007C
18 April 2001 Registered
RMB8,000,000
paid up capital
RMB8,000,000
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44. TEMBRAAFE @) 44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

pie-3:
AR R R R+=—A=+—-H
HEH il BRIRARRE S2HE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
TRKTDEERARRA  HE 100 100 AMER  hE MEER
(K3) e 3 AR#10000000  PRC Property management
Shanghai Yongsheng Property TA=1-H ERAR
Management Co., Ltd. (note) PRC A %10,000,0007C
31 May 2002 Registered
RMB10,000,000
paid up capital
RMB10,000,000
DBBRRERET i 100 100 AV R AR
BRAR(H) “ET-F ARE1,0000007T  PRC Provision of consultancy
Shanghai Yijian Architectural Design ~ \A+=H BERAR services
& Consulting Co., Ltd. (note] PRC AR E1,000,0007C
12 August 2002 Registered
RMB1,000,000
paid up capital
RMB1,000,000
EILBBE X EiERE i 80 80 AftEx H FHERE
BRAE () “2——F AEE100000007  PRC Property development
Tangshan Xuhui Yiwen Real Estate ~ + A+ H EHEAX
Development CoLtd. note) PRC AR 8,000,007
7July 201 Registered
RMB10,000,000
paid up capital
RMB8,000,000
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44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

pie-3:
AR R R Rt+=ZRA=+—8
HEH il BRIRARRE S2HE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
REBERZEXRER i 100 100 HfER  H EiERE
BRAR(H) —F-CF 20,0000003C  PRC Property development
Tianjin Xu Bin Creative Industrial Park £ A =+ H A ERAR
Managements Limited (note) PRC 20,000,000 7
25 July 2012 Registered
1SD20,000,000
paid up capital
USD20,000,000
RERBEUERLBRAR + 100 100 FfER FERS
(K —F——F AEH1000000000  PRC Property development
Tianjin Xuhai Real Estate N\ATA BERAR
Development Co.Ltd. (note) PRC AR 100,000,0007C
5 August 2011 Registered
RMB100,000,000
paid up capital
RMB100,000,000
REMEBREZABR i 100 100 HfiER RtH AR
=GN (3] “E-mF ARH500000T PR Provision of consultancy
Wuhan Xurun Investment Advisory ~ EA -8 EHEX services
Co., Ltd (note) PRC AR 5000007
29 May 2014 Registered
RMB500,000
paid up capital
RMB500,000
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44. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

pie-3:
AR R R R+=—A=+—-H
HEH il BRIRARRE S2HE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
EFXABRRREBRAR HE 100 100 HfER  HE EiERE
(K3) “NtE ARH450000000C  PRC Property development
Xiamen Yongsheng Enterprise +—A=+tH ERAR
Development Co., Ltd. (note) PRC AR 845,000,007
20 November 1997 Registered
RMBA45,000,000
paid up capital
RMB45,000,000
EFmAAMERBERAR & 100 100 FfER  HE MEER
(K —WN\EF AE#300000007  PRC Property management
Xiamen Yongsheng Property Sevices  +—A+=H BERAR
Co., Ltd. (note PRC AR %30,000,0007C
13 November 1995 Registered
RMB30,000,000
paid up capital
RMB30,000,000
8% (BE)RRAR BiE 100 100 dMER  FE RERR
Xu Ming (HK) Limited —2——F 10,0007 Hong Kong Investment holding
NAZt++H EHEAR
Hong Kong 87T
27 September 2011 Authorized
HK$10,000
paid up capital
HK$1
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REHE
TR R Rt+=ZRA=+—8
B FElb kg EROTRERBAE  EEE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
JBEBRRR RERAES 100 100 afEx  EE REER
XuMing Limited “E——F 50000%7  Hong Kong Investment holding
NA=+H EHER
BvI E
20 September 2011 Registered
USD$50,000
paid up capital
USost
B D8 REBRERAR HE 100 100 AMER  E REER
(K “TTRF AE#200000007T  PRC Investment holding
Xukai (Shanghai) Investment TmANE BHENR
Consultant Co., Ltd. [note) PRC AR #£20,000,0007T
8 April 2005 Registered
RMB20,000,000
paid up capital
RMB20,000,000
MIBEESXARAA e 100 100 HMER  HE BHERE
Ci9) ZTTRE AR®1000000007c  PRC Property development
Zhejiang Xuhui Property Co., Ltd. NA=+=H EHEAR
(note) PRC K 100,000,007
23 August 2006 Registered
RMB100,000,000
paid up capital
RMB100,000,000
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pie-3:
AR R R R+=—A=+—-H
HEH il BEARBRRE EEHH
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
EIMBIRERS i 100 100 HfER  H EiERE
BRAR(H) ZTTN\F AR#200000000c  PRC Property development
Zhenjiang City Xujiang Real Estate ~ — ATIA ERAR
Development Co., Ltd. (note) PRC AR 20,000,007
4 February 2008 Registered
RMB20,000,000
paid up capital
RMB20,000,000
HIMEEENERE i 100 100 FfER  H FERS
BRNE () “T-%F AEE500000007  PRC Property development
Zhenjiang City Xurun Real Estate tA+TNE BERAR
Development Co., Ltd. (note) PRC A £50,000,0007T
19July 2010 Registered
RMBA50,000,000
paid up capital
RMB50,000,000
HEEHEREBRAR Bl 100 100 HER HE FERE
Ci9) ZTTRE AR®1000000007c  PRC Property development
Zhongshi Real Estate Development ~~ +— A+ A EHEX
Co., Ltd. (note) PRC AR100,000,0007T
14 November 2006 Registered
RMB100,000,000
paid up capital
RMB100,000,000
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A58
AR R R R+=—A=+—-H
B FElb kg EROTRERBAE  EEE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
BmE () i 100 50 AMER  HE FHERE
Shanghai Xukang (Note 32) “E-=F ARE100,000000  PRC Property development
RATAH EHER
PRC AR H100,000,0007T
10 May 2013 Registered
RMB100,000,000
paid up capital
RMB100,000,000
MBI (Fi1:E32) t 100 49 AfER FHERE
Suzhou Xuyang (Note 32) “E-—F ARE100,000000  PRC Property development
+ZAZ+Z=A EHER
PRC AR H100,000,0007C
22 December 2012 Registered
RMB100,000,000
paid up capital
RMB100,000,000
FTREBEEESARAR H 100 - HfiER FEHERE
Cif9) —T-RF AR®10000007c  PRC Property development
Beijing Xuhui Delong Property =AZH Registered
Co., Ltd note) PRC RMB1,000,000
2 March 2015
TREBERREERAR  FE 100 - FHER  E REER
(K3E) “T-F1F AR®10000007T  PRC Investment management
Beijing Yueyou Futuo Investment —AZtNH Registered
Co., Ltd (note) PRC RMB1,000,000
28 February 2015
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REHE
AR R R+=—A=+—-H
B FElb kg EROIRERBAE  EE%
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
TREIZARKEERAR  FE 100 - AMER  E REER
(K3) “T-1F AEH10000007T  PRC Investment management
Beijing Chuangfu Chengzhan —AZtNH Registered
Investment Co., Ltd (note) PRC RMB1,000,000
28 February 2015
IREREEREERAR H 100 - afiEAR REER
(K3E) “T-1F AR®200000007c  PRC Investment management
Beijing Deshun Fuxing Investment Co., P9 A/\H BHEXR
Ltd (note) PRC A #20,000,0007T
8 April 2015 Registered
RIMB20,000,000
paid-up
RMB20,000,000
TREEREEXARAR  HE 100 - AMER  BE FHERE
(P3E) “T-F1F ARH200000007c  PRC Property development
Beijing Xuhui Xingpeng Property +A=-t++H Registered
Co., Ltd (note) PRC RMB20,000,000
27 July 2015
tRIBESEREERAR  E 100 - AMER  HE REER
Ci9) “T-RF AKH100000007C  PRC Investment management
Beijing Xuhui Hechuang Investment ~ + A =++H Registered
Co., Ltd (note) PRC RB10,000,000
27 July 2015
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REHE
AR R R R+=—A=+—-H
B FElb kg BRIRARRE S2HE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
LBREEXERAA i 100 - AMER  E FHERE
(K3) “E-1F ARH100000000C  PRC Property development
Shanghai Xuyi Property Co., Ltd ZATRH ERAR
(note) PRC A %10,000,0007C
16 February 2015 Registered
RMB10,000,000
paid-up
RMB10,000,000
LR =EEBRAR hE 3825 - AMER  E FEERE
(K “TTRF AE#200000007T  PRC Property development
Shanghai Xinanting Property =R=1mA BHER
Co., Ltd note) PRC AR 7,650,007
24 March 2005 Registered
RMB20,000,000
paid-up
RMB7,650,000
LEkE(H8) i 100 49 AfiEx A FiERS
Shanghai Yongpan (Note 18) e SufS ARE100000000C  PRC Property development
MA+THA Registered
PRC RMB100,000,000
14 April 2014
LEREERARAR " 100 - HMER  E FHERE
(K3E) “T-1F AR®10000007T  PRC Property development
Shanghai Xudu Enterprise Co., Ltd +—AmA Registered
(note) PRC RMB1,000,000
4 November 2015
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REHE
AR R R R+=—A=+—-H
B FElb kg EROTRERBAE  EEE
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
LBREEZARRA i 100 - AMER  E FHERE
(K3) “E-1F AR®10000000T  PRC Property development
Shanghai Youzhu Enterprise Co., Ltd ~ +—A75H Registered
(note] PRC RMB1,000,000
6 November 2015
HEREERERRAA hE 100 - afEx  HE FiERE
(K3E) “T-1F AR®10000000T  PRC Property development
Shanghai Youdao Enterprise Co, Ltd ~ +— A75H Registered
(note) PRC RMB1,000,000
6 November 2015
RERTEHEBND: th 100 100 AfER ES HIES
BRAE () “E-F ARE1000,0000t  PRC Property information
Tianjin Xuyuan Real Estate TA+H Registered consulting
Information Consulting Co., Ltd ~ PRC RMB1,000,000
(note) 10 October 2014
REMREHEREERAF + 100 - FHER FEiERE
(K3E) —T-R% ARH7000000007T  PRC Property development
Tianjin Xuke Real Estate mA=H BEHER
Development Co., Ltd (note) PRC AR E700,000,0007T
3 April 2015 Registered
RMB700,000,000
paid-up
RMB700,000,000
REMEFHEREERAF + 100 - FER FHERE
(K3E) “T-RF ARH300000007T  PRC Property development
Tianjin Xuxing Real Estate TA=+H Registered
Development Co., Ltd (note) PRC RMB30,000,000
20 May 2015
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pie-3:
AR R R R+=—A=+—-H
HEH il BEARBRRE EEHH
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
REBREHEREBR AR + 100 - HfER  H FEiERE
(K3) “E-1F ARH300000000C  PRC Property development
Tianjin Xuwei Real Estate TA-+H Registered
Development Co., Ltd (note) PRC RMB30,000,000
20 May 2015
REBEFHWEREARAR + 100 - AftEx A FHERE
(P3E) “T-8F ARH300000007T  PRC Property development
Tianjin Xuhao Real Estate TA-1H Registered
Development Co., Ltd {note) PRC RMB30,000,000
20 May 2015
REBZ(M32) i 100 49 AftEx H FERE
Tianjin Xujin (Note 32) “E-=F ARE103,000000C  PRC Property development
ZAZ1+H EHEAR
PRC AR 103,000,0007T
26 February 2013 Registered
RMB103,000,000
paid-up
RMB103,000,000
REERERERERAR  PE 100 - HMER  HE FHERE
Ci9) “T-RF AKH100000007C  PRC Property development
Shenyang Xugiang Business —A—H EHER
Management Co., Ltd (note) PRC AE#10,000,0007T
1 January 2015 Registered
RMB10,000,000
paid-up
RMB10,000,000
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pie-3:
AR R R R+=—A=+—-H
HEH il BEARBRRE EEHH
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-WF
2015 2014
% %
BHERCXERAERAR  PH 100 - HfER  HE TEER
(K3) “E-1F ARH100000000C  PRC Business management
Shenyang Xusheng Business +A+75H Registered
Management Co., Ltd (note) PRC RMB10,000,000
16 October 2015
HABERNEREERAR PE 100 100 AMER  HE FHERE
(P3E) itk AR200000007c  PRC Property development
Nanjing Xuning Real Estate +ZAZF"H EHER
Development Co., Ltd (note) PRC AZ 20,000,007
26 December 2014 Registered
RMB20,000,000
paid-up
RMB20,000,000
AR EREERAR PE 51 49 AMER  BE FHERE
(P3E) —E-mF ARH500000007c  PRC Property development
Nanjing Xucheng Real Estate +-A=+—-H BHER
Development Co., Ltd (note) PRC AR E25,500,0007T
31 December 2014 Registered
RMB50,000,000
paid-up
RMB25,500,000
PREBREERARLRE  HE 100 - HER  HE RERREAER
(K3E) “T-1F AR®10000007T  PRC Investment and investment
Nanjing Ningbo Investment RA+H BEHER management
Management Co., Ltd (note) PRC AR H1,000,0007C
7May 2015 Registered
RMB1,000,000
paid-up
RMB1,000,000
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pie-3 ]
TR B R+=—A=+—H
A il BREIRARRE S2HE
Gt EYNGIE Place and date Equity interest attributable Issuedand fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-1F “T-JF
2015 2014
% %
ERERREEEERAR  HE 100 - FER  HE RERREER
(FzE) “E-1F AEH10000007  PRC Investment and investment
Nanjing Ningkang Investment TA+A EHER management
Management Co., Ltd (note) PRC AR 1,000,007
7May 2015 Registered
RMB1,000,000
paid-up
RMB1,000,000
EREEREEEERAR  HE 100 - HfER  FE RERREER
(F¥7E) “E-1F AEH10000007  PRC Investment and investment
Nanjing Ningzhuo Investment NLA—H Registered management
Management Co., Ltd (note) PRC RMB1,000,000
1 September 2015
BMNEHEEZABRAR  H 100 - HER  H RE#EA
(K3E) “T-1F ARH500000T  PRC Investment consultation
Suzhou Xusu Investment Advisory —A=+hH Registered
Co., Ltd (note) PRC RMB500,000
29 January 2015
FMNBNREZABRAR  HE 100 100 afiEx  HE REHH
(K3E) “T-mF AEH500000T  PRC Investment consultation
Suzhou Xuli Investment Advisory +-A=-+xH Registered
Co., Ltd (note) PRC RMB500,000
25 December 2014
FMNBRREZABRAR  H 100 - FHER RE#EA
(PsE) —E-1F ARE500000  PRC Investment consultation
Suzhou Xuxie Investment Advisory —B=+hH Registered
Co., Ltd (note) PRC RMB500,000
29 January 2015
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pie-3
BalAvE Y RtZA=+—H
=h: b BRIRARRE S2uE
B AR AR Place and date Equity interest attributable Issuedand fully paid ~~ Place of TEEH
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-nf —ZMF
2015 2014
% %
FMNEREZABRAR  FE 100 - FfER  PE REHH
Suzhou Kaihe Investment Advisory ~ —E—TE ARE500000  PRC Investment consultation
Co., Ltd —AZthH Registered
PRC RMB500,000
29 January 2015
EEREEEERAT hE 100 - FHER  E FEiERE
(K3E) —E-RE AEH1000000007T  PRC Property development
Hefei Xurong Property Co., Ltd LARA Registered
(note) PRC RMB100,000,000
5 May 2015
BEREAEEXERAR HE 100 - afiEx  HE FHERE
(M) —2-1F AR®1000000007c  PRC Property development
Xuhui Group Hefei Property Co, td ~ FA+/\H Registered
(note) PRC RMB100,000,000
18 May 2015
MMEREEERAR i 100 - HER  H FHERE
(K3E) “E-1F ARM50000000T  PRC Property development
Hangzhou Xuchen Investment —RAA Registered
Co., Ltd (note) PRC RMB5,000,000
5 January 2015
MNEEREEEBRAR HE 100 - AfER BE REER
(K3E) “E-NF AE®100000c PR Investment management
Hangzhou Zhoude Investment +=A=+/\H BHER
Management Co., Ltd (note) PRC AZ 1000007
28 December 2014 Registered
RMB100,000
paid-up
RMB100,000
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A5
BaupavE Rt+=ZRA=+—8
B FElb kg EROIRERBAE  EE%
kNGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-nf —ZMF
2015 2014
% %
LEREEXERAR Bl 100 - HfER  PE EiERE
(K3) “E-1F ARH10000000C  PRC Property development
Shanghai Xudeng Enterprise == Registered
Co., Ltd [note) PRC RMB1,000,000
9 February 2015
MMBBESERAR i 100 - FMER FHERE
(K3E) “T-8% AR®50000000T  PRC Property development
Hangzhou Xuhui Property mA=1+AH Registered
Co., Ltd note) PRC RMBS5,000,000
20 April 2015
REMNREZATR i 100 - AMER  HE REFKALDT
EAERR(ME) TR ARH500000T PR Investment consultancy
Wuhan Xuhe Investment Advisory +tA+=H Registered corporation
Co., Ltd (note) PRC RMB500,000
13 July 2015
REBEMEESARAR  F 5 - FHER FHERME
(P3E) —T—F ARH2000000007T  PRC Property development
Wuhan Huiyu Yuheng Property JAV; Bt = BEHER
Co., Ltd [note) PRC AZ 110,000,007
2 August 2012 Registered
RMB200,000,000
paid-up
RMB110,000,000
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(Continued)

REHE
BaliZAvE:LE ) Rt+=ZRA=+—8
=p: FElb kg BRIRARRE S2uE
NGRS Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incorporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
“E-nf —ZMF
2015 2014
% %
BUEBAZ (P5E32) i 100 50 SfiER FEiERE
Wauhan Xucheng (Note 32) “E-=F ARE200000000T  PRC Property development
NARA BHEXR
PRC AR E200,000,0007T
5 September 2013 Registered
RMB200,000,000
paid-up
RMB200,000,000
ERNERHEREERAR FE 100 - FHER  HE FEHERE
(K3 e Sl AR#799629007C  PRC Property development
Chonggi Xurun Real Estate +=-A+NH Registered
Development Co., Ltd (note) PRC RMB79,962,900
18 December 2014
fa% (Fizk32) EERAES 50 - AfER REER
Xu An (Note 32) —E-=f 50,0007 PRC Investment holding
—A++tH BERERETL
BVI Registered
17 January 2013 USD50,000
Paid up capital
usn2
LBMAEEERAF i 50 - FMER  E FHERE
Shanghai Xuhong Property Co., Ltd ~ —F—=%F 37000000%C  PRC Property development
+-A-+H Registered
PRC USD37,000,000
20 December 2013
FBIE (Fi5E32) ERRAES 100 49 SfiER REER
Xu Zheng (Note 32) —E--F 50,0007 PRC Investment holding
NLARA EHEKI00ET
BVI Registered
6 September 2012 USD50,000
Paid up capital
Usn100
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(Continued)
r5E
RauIZAvE:LE )4 W+ZRA=t-H
=p FElE kg BETRBRRE  BEHE
HENBAREHR Place and date Equity interest attributable Issued and fully paid ~ Place of TEEK
Name of indirect subsidiary of incarporation to the Group at 31 December share capital  operation Principal activities
~E-1f ZT|F
2015 2014
% %
MNEREHEREERAR TE 100 19 FMER  E FHERE
Hangzhou Xukai Real Estate —E-=F 130,000,000%7C  PRC Property development
Development Co., Ltd NAZ+Z=H Registered
PRC USD130,000,000

22 August 2013

FisE - mARRSATLEEMEAERRY A - R
HX AT A R AN E B8 ) E R XA
BE -

FRIHEEZRA/TIBXEFARER
BRASEEEFEBRBLANARAF
MEBAR - BEERRIHEMHBLRFE
HEETREBNHITE

SN - AR B EFE R U6 FE R B R B
BHEMEAFE 125 A B RN RSB RE
TaHE - EFEREA - BUENRE A FER
WHEAUAREEBE RN IR
Ak - W EpL UL FIE2EMB AR RE
EAIER

45. SHEHRESIE

RZE—RF—AZ+=H  BEHFH
ERBRZETHEAAZETARES([E
HIEARBEITRRNES]) - BHIER
FETEANBFNASCEAARK
2,000,000,0007T - EEAEEREF
499% * FHIR2FE - RBEITHEER -
BEFEEEAZRZMAE  MEEE
BRI 1T E KRBT AB R H I IEARE
ITRNEHFHERE

fBiEER (KRB BRAR | —Z—HFFR

Note: The English names of these companies represent the best effort made by management
of the Company to directly translate their Chinese names as they did not register any
official English names.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

In addition, the directors of the Company made an assessment as at
the date of initial application of IFRS 12 and at the end of the reporting
period. In the opinion of the directors, there are no subsidiaries that
have non-controlling interest individually that are material to the Group
and therefore no information is disclosed for these non-wholly owned
subsidiaries.

45. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 22 January 2016, CIFI (PRC) issued non-public corporate bonds in
the PRC (the “First Non-public Domestic Bonds”). The coupon rate
of the First Non-public Domestic Bonds with a principal amount of
RMB2,000,000,000 has been fixed at 4.99% per annum, with tenure
of two years. At the end of first year after issue, CIFI (PRC) has the
right to adjust the coupon rate, and investors can exercise an option to
require the issuer to repurchase the First Non-public Domestic Bonds.

27



T AF i B

Five Years’ Financial Summary

HET-A=T—-HLFE

For the year ended 31 December

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
—F—% Z®F-f CZF-=Ff ZFBF =B-IF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AR%Tn
E4 RESULTS
WA Revenue 4,008,330 8,143,949 11,909,162 16,179,334 18,230,788
BRI Profit before taxation 2,204,504 2,839,643 2974876 3,324,825 3,804,827
FEREY Income tax expense (742,449) (818,809) (933,743) (1,325,237) (1,334,039)
ERFE Profit for the year 1,462,055 2,020,834 2,041,133 1,999,588 2,470,788
AT AR - Attributable to:
ARAHEEA Owners of the Company 1,336,920 1937127 1,894,231 1,861,149 2,095,464
KABATAHBA Owners of perpetual capital
instruments - - - 35913 38,030
HAIEE R Other non-controlling interests 125,135 83,707 146,902 102,526 337,294
125,135 83,707 146,902 138,439 375,324
1,462,055 2,020,834 2,041,133 1,999,588 2,470,788
BREF - ARET Eamings per share, RVB
BN Basic 030 042 033 031 032
i3] Diluted 0.30 0.42 0.33 0.31 0.32
EERERE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
BEE Total assets 19,224,898 26,856,515 39,106,097 43,538,639 67,451,764
BmEE Total liabilities (15,580,403 (19.915,921) (29,950,702 (31955,721) (52,168,602)
3,644,495 6,940,594 9,155,395 11,582,918 15,283,162
ARRIEEA Equity attributable to owners
MR A of the Company 3.270,628 6,549,528 8,610,953 10,205,049 12,827,097
KABARIA Perpetual capital instruments - - - 585,710 -
HiJEr s Other non-controlling interests 373,867 391,066 544,442 792,159 2,456,065
373,867 391,066 544,442 1,377,869 2,456,065
3,644,495 6,940,594 9,155,395 11,582,918 15,283,162
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